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Strategic Report

Financial Highlights

Statutory Results’

Revenue

2016: £[1,514]m

(Loss)/profit before tax

2016: £202m

Operating (loss)/profit

2016; £[91]m

Profit for the vear®

2016: £214m

Adjusted Measures

Revenue”

2016: £[1,917|m

2016 pro forma®: £{1,604]m

Profit before tax*™

2016: £[260]m

Operating margin**

2016: 14%

2016 pro forma®: [12]%

Earnings per share**

2016: [56.0]p

2016 pro forma”: £/217]m 2016 pro forma®; [52.1]p

*

Farnings per share Dividend per share Cash operating income™* Net debt/EBITDA

2016: [57.8]p 2016: 22.0p 2016; £{254]m 2016: 1.8x

2016 pro forma™ £[172]m

£ miltion FY 2017 FY 2016
{112) 202
Discontinucd opcrations 523 45

Explanation

Exceptional operating charges
Tangible fixed asscts impairment )
\mpafr.r.nent Ells] amortis.éiic;n
Profit on sale of assets

Pension finaﬂcefharge
Oth;r“z.a_éj_';;stments

For explanations i to vill and more detaiied tables please refer to pages x) and x .

I Starutory reverue, cperating profit and profit boefore tax figures are for continuing operations only
{excluthng Luramaneyt The FY 2016 statutory results have boen reclassified accardingly.
Froem cortinueg and discontinued operations.
Sefore exceptiznal Hems, other gains and lasses, impa’ ment of goodwill and intanpdhie assets,
pension figance charges and amartisation of intangible assoty acdsing an business combinations,
see Consalidated Incame Statement on page |961 and the reconciliation i [Note 13] to the Accounts,

R TN N N TN FER YRR IS N TIPS N 3 (5 Lt
el oy BT Y [P I A3 (DR

consistent with the ownership profile during F¥ 2017, See recanciliation on page 28

See (Note 16 Tor details of Net debl.

-]

Go online to www.dmgt,com to find out more
and read our case studies
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DMGT is an international business
built on entrepreneurialism

and innovation.

DMGT manages a diverse, multinational portfolio of companies,
with total revenues of around £1.5 billion, that provide
businesses and consumers with compelling information,
analysis, insight, events, news and entertainment. DMGT is also
a founding investor and the largest shareholder of Euromoney

Institutional Investor PLC and ZPG Plc.
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Maintaining a strong portfolio of businesses

Chairman’s Statement

| am pleased to present the Annual
Report for 2017, a year in which DMGT
demonstrated once again the benefits
of maintaining a strong portfolio of
businesses that have the potential to
deliver attractive long-term returns for
our shareholders. This has been a year
of transformation as we have made
significant changes across the Group. We
have established new strategic priorities
and we are better positioned to deliver
long-term shareholder value. That said,
this year’s financial performance has
been affected by challenging market
conditions and the continued volatility
in the wider media industry, however,
DMGT has benefited from the resilience
provided by its diversified portfolio.
Your Group has also continued to invest
to take advantage of the trends in both
B2B and consumer digital markets.

The strategic focus on operational execution
under Paul Zwillenberg, your CEQ, resulted
in DMGT maintaining a double-digit adjusted
operating margin

We saw encouraging signs of growth from
investments in several initiatives designed
to deliver long-term organic returns, albeit
with reduced expectations for some 828
businesses that are facing particularly
challenging market conditions and which
resulted i impairments that adversely
affected our statutory results

2

DMGT has benefited from the resilience
provided by its diversified portfolio,

during continued challenging
market conditions.

Chairman

We have continued to take a disciplined
approach to capitat allocation, investing to
expand our market positions in key sectors.
During 2017, enhancing our financial
flexibility has also been one of our strategic
priorities, with disposals and healthy cash
flow reducing net debt to [1.4: times EBITDA,
the lowest level for over 20 years. The Board
1s therefore pleased to recommend a 3%
increase in the final dnvidend per share for
2017, giving a total dvidend for the year

of 22.7 pence per share, an increase of

3% continuing DMGT's long-standing
commitment to delivering sustainable
annual real dividend growth.

In Consumer Media, ¢mg media’s
performance demonstrated that it 1s
possible for a modern news media company
to prosper in a digital world. Our Mail titles,
in print and online, have continued to
produce highly valued content for their
global audience Providing quality, popular
Journalism has resulted in circulation
outperformance. In addition, an unparalleled
cross-media advertising proposition in

print and digital formats across the Mail

and Metro titles has benefited performance.
While print advertising continues its secular
decline, MailOnline continues to win
audiences across each platform it partners
with, delivering strong levels of digital
advertising growth.

The Viscount Rothermere

In our B2B businesses, the requirement to
have fully integrated data analytic solutions
has become an increasing priority across all
industries and our operations are already at
the forefront of this trend. A major milestone
was reached this year with the launch of
Risk Modeler on the RMS(one) platform,
DMGT's first truly enterprise class soluticn
This was achieved alongside the release

of an unprecedented number of new risk
models. Qur Education Technology (EdTech)
business, Hobsons, is bringing predictive
analytics and improvements to the customer
experience across its Naviance, Starfish and
Intersect platforms. Our European property
information businesses are using their
modelling expertise with large data sets

to launch new products which will enable
faster decision-making in the insurance and
banking sectors. Continued investment in
our events business has supported a streng
launch programme where innovative organic
growth is being pursued internationally.

Beyond operational execution and
enhancing financial flexibility, one of the
main considerations of the Board 1s to
ensure cur poartfolio is in optimal shape to
harness market growth dynamics as well as
withstand market volatility. During the year,
DMGT unlocked significant value by reducing
its holding in Euromoney Institutional
Investor PLC (Euromoney) to around 49%.
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We have established
new strategic
priorities and we

are better positioned
to deliver long-term
shareholder value.”

This has alsc given Euromoney the financial
flexibility to pursue its own strategy.
Refecusing and disposals within our
Consumer Media and B2B divisions have
enabled us toc focus on the most attractive
growth opportunities. Going forward,
although we recognise the benefits of
spreading risk across a diversified portfolio,
there are clear advantages of operatingin
fewer sectors, especially in terms of resource
allocation and our ability to expand our
market shares in the most attractive sectors.

© Read morein CEQ Review,
pages[10]to[13]

The implementation of our Group strategy
is overseen by the Board of Directors, which
maintains the high standards of governance
our shareholders expect. The Governance
Report sets out the framework for operating
performance and shareholder value that

1s central to the growth of DMGT.

I'would like to thank our Non-Executive
Directors for their contribution over the past
year with the Group benefiting from their
skills and experience at both an individual
business and Board level This year there
have been several changes to the Board.

I am pleased that Tim Collier joined as the
Group Chief Financial Officer duning the year.
Tim’s prior experience working for portfolio
companies in 82B information, events and
media sectors with a significant US presence
15 aligned with DMGT’s businesses and

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

overall Group focus. I am confident

he will help to lead DMGT to further success
In addition, Francois Morin joins DMGT’s
Board as a Non-Executive Director, Francois
brings an international perspective relevant
to the Group’s global operations and
experience of regulatory matters across
arange of areas.

Sadly, following a short illness, Nicholas
Berry, Non-Executive Director, died in
December 2014. Nichoizas had served on
the DMGT Board for nine years, providing
invaluable advice and insights across

a wide range of areas, particularly our
leadership programmes.

& Read morein Governance Report,
pages [40] to [56]

Throughaut its history, DMGT has relied
upon the talent, experience and skills of its
employees through their innovation and
entrepreneurial drive We also recognise
that the talent development in critical skills
must keep pace with our strategic ambitions
both through leveraging our existing teams
as well as supplementing our abilities

with leading-edge external experience.

For more detailed informatien on our talent
development programmes please refer to

the Qur People and Our Communities section.

As Chairman of the Board, | want to thank
all our employees for their dedication,

hard work and significant contrnibution to
the Group as well as their wider community.
Sadly, this came into sharp focus in 2017,

as DMGT employees supported the relief
efforts following the Grenfell Tower fire and
Hurricane Harvey, tragedies that struck at
the heart of communities where our people
live and work

&) Read morein Our Peopleand Qur
Communities, on pages [32] to [34]

At the senior management level,
remuneration and incentives drive focus
on performance aligned te our strategic
priorities. Our vaiue creation metrics
and related payments are set out In the
Remuneration Report

@ Read morein Remuneration Report,
pages [57]to[s]

The Board and | remain confident in
DMGT’s prospects far long-term growth,
Qur focus In the coming year s to continue
ta execute against the new strategic
framework, which will position DMGT

for the next wave of growth, as well

as manage expected continued market
volatility We remain confident that through

Revenue by business FY 2017 (%)

@ RMS 14
@ dmginformation 32
@ dmgevents 7
@ Euromoney! 6
& dmg media 41

1 Revenue for 3 months to December 2016

Dividend per share

The Board's policy is to maintain
dividend growth in real terms over the
long term and for this to be supported
by earnings per share growth

25 ~ B
22.7p
20
L -
0 _
5 8.5p
5.8p

0

1997 2017

Dividend @ inflation

our strong entrepreneunal and innovative
capability DMGT will be able to benefit

from the opportunities being brought by the
increasing pace of change and complexity

in our industries. Through harnessing our
growth opportunities and investing in

the best ideas we remain confident that
DMGT will deliver good leng-term returns

to shareholders,

The Viscount Rothermere
Chairman

uoday ySajens
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Who we are

DMGT at a glance

DMGT’s diversified portfolio of companies operating across B2B and consumer
markets has continued to evolve as we position ourselves for long-term growth.

B2B
RMS Revenue Operating profit*
Produces risk models, software applications, and provides analytical
data services used by the global risk and insurance mdustry to quantify £ 233 l I l £ 33 I I I
and manage catastrophic risks.
2016: £205m 2016; £36m
dmg information Revenue Operating profit*
An international prowider of B2B information, analysis and software
for the property information, EdTech and energy infermation sectors. £ 531 l l I £ 69 I I I
2016: £438m 2016: £77m
dmg events Revenue Operating profit*
An international B2B exhibitions and canferences crganiser, focusing on
the energy, construction, interiors, hotel, hospitality and leisure sectors. £ 1 17 l I I £ 1 l l l
| 2016: £105m 2016: £29m
Consumer
dmg media Revenue Operating profit*

A modern news media company with two of the UK's most read
paid-for newspapers, MallOnline, which attracts an average 15 million £ 683 l I I £ 77 l I l
unique browsers each day, and one of the world’s most popular

free newspapers. 2016: £706m 2016: £77Tm

JVs & Associates

Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC became a £.49% associate i Shareof Operating profit*
interest in January 2017 (see below). DMGT also owns a ¢.30% interest

in ZPG Plc, Other JVs & Associates include DailyMail TV, Real Capital £ [69] m
Analytics and Wowcher.

2016: £23m
2016 Pro forma™; £[61]m

In December 2016, DMGT reduced its stake in Euromoney from ¢.67% to ¢.49% and Euromoney ceased to be a subsidiary of DMGT
and became an associate. To allow a like-for-like comparison, FY 2016 pro forma results have been presented based on a ¢.67% stake
in Euromoney during the first quarter of the year and a c.49% stake during the final three quarters, consistent with the actual holding
during FY 2017. Underlying revenue and operating profit growth rates exclude Euromoney, The results of Euromoney are described
within the JVs & Associates section of this Annual Report on page [24].

*  These are adjusted results, see pages [35] and 36 for mare detailed tables and explanations

@ Go online to www.dmgt.com for more information about our businesses.
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DMGT is making significant steps to focus and simplify the portfolio.

B2B

1ioday J8ajenls

Insurance Risk
RMS produces nisk models, software applications, and provides analytical data services
used by the giobal risk and insurance industry to quantify and manage catastrophic risk.

® Read more page[17]

Property Information Londmark F{CELIGENT
CGur Property Information companies provide technology, data and workflow solutions SEARCH
to clients involved in commercial and residential property markets as well as risk and @EDR! “FLOW
valuation services to the Commerciat Mortgage-Backed Securities (CMBS) market. .
© Reat 19 Trepp &2
ead more page . .
siteceMpLU

Education Technology (EdTech) ! HOBSONS, & INTERSECT
Hohsons 1s the leading provider of college and career readiness, enrclment ANAVIANCE “(‘Starfish
management and student success solutions in the US through its Naviance, ‘ retention solutions
vStarfish and ntersect platforms. !
€) Read more page [19] |
Energy Information GENSCAPE-
Genscape provides data, workflow tools and predictive analytics to improve market
transparency and efficiency across several energy and power asset classes to better
manage volatility and increase supply chain efficiency.
& Readmore page [20]
Events and Exhibitions GLOBAL
dm ; i ; ) ADIPEC il LT

g events 1s an Internaticnal B2B exhibitions and conference organiser, focusing e weloce com SHOW
on the energy, construction, interiors, hotel, hospitality and leisure sectors, oo
operating across several geographies, Gastech ﬁ? v

-

Read more page[21] )

© pagel ¢INDEX
Wetikr NSPILATIIN TrRI et hate| ~ .o
Consumer
Consumer Media | DailpasmMail  The 2 Blail
dmg media 1s a modern news media company with two of the UK’s most read paid-for .
newspapers, MailQnline, which attracts an average 15 million unigue browsers each day, - MWailOnlne m
and one of the world’s most popular free newspapers. ! .
pop pap Daily Mait com METROem

€ Read morepages[22]to[23]

JVvs & Associates

DMGT holds two significant associate interests in Euromoney (c.49%; and ZPG (¢.30%).
Other JVs & Associates include Real Capital Analytics and DailyMailTV.,

€ Readmore page [24]

Eurotnoney
Insututional
Tnvestor pLC

Q

0ZPG
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How we create value

Our Business Model

Intelligent Insights.
Consumer Connections

DMGT creates first-choice products,
combining data, technology and
consumer know-how to connect
people with intelligent insight and
engaging content.

Proprietary Innovative
data technology

Cansumer
know-how

Compelling
caontent

3
]

Which we monetise
through five
revenue models

Subscription

Our B2B businesses have a strong subscription revenue
component with high renewal rates demonstrating the
strength of our client relationships.

Advertising

Qur Consumer Media business generates advertising
revenue both in print and digital formats. Growth in

our digital advertising revenues continues to help offset
structural declines in print advertising. Enhanced user
engagement drives advertiser interest in increasingly
sophisticated advertising formats.

Circulation

Circulation revenues are generated from sales of the
Daily Mail and The Mail on Sunday newspapers, which
continue to hold strong market-leading positions in the
context of declimng industry votumes.

Events attendance and sponsorship
Exhibitor fees, delegate fees and sponsorship revenues
are earned from the growing portfolio of B2B shows
run by dmg events.

Transactions
Revenues from property information businesses
are influenced by property transaction volumes.

€ Financial Review, pages (25} to [31]



Supported by our values

Entrepreneurialism

As a home for entrepreneurs, working at the cutting
edge of technology, DMGT fosters constant innovation,
growth and talent development across our
international businesses,

e @

Purpose
Long-term perspective and businesses with a clear
sense of purpose for their customers and society.

S

Excellence

Commitment to guality, craftsmanship and
delivering excellence We seek the best talent,
leadership and expertise.

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

Enabling us to
create value for all
of our stakeholders

For shareholders

We have a track record of generating a pasitive return on
investment with strong cash flow. Our active portfolio
management aims to achieve sustainable long-term earnings
and dividend growth.

Total shareholder return FY 2012 - FY 2017

[9% CAGR]

For employees

We nurture entrepreneurial talent and encourage our people
to make their own mark on DMGT, a diverse international
pertfolio with over 120 years of heritage.

Employees worldwide

7,395

For customers

Our deep understanding of customer needs enables us
to constantly innovate and create content, products and
solutions that provide our businesses with a competitive
edge and make us even more relevant to our customers

Organic investment as a percentage of revenues FY 2017

[9]%6

For our communities

DMGT businesses have developed strategic partnerships
with a number of charitable organisations, with a focus on
making a difference in the communities where our people
work and live.

Amount donated to charity FY 2017

£817k

1i0day ndayens
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Adapting to continuous change

Market Overview

DMGT comprises a portfolio of businesses working across diverse
marketplaces. While each has its own individual characteristics,
some common features exist:

+ Fast-paced and evolving to adopt new technology and business models
» Technology-enabled with high degrees of innovation

- Enduring and resilient

« Content and information-driven

Increased Political 8 Cyber
volatility uncertainty security
Context to DMGT Context to DMGT Context to DMGT
+ As a provider of proprietary, hard-to- - Political policy decisions have direct + As a provider of business-critical data,
obtain information, DMGT benefits from and often unexpected impacts on the analytic tools for global industries and
growing uncertainty in the world as its geographies and industries in which news media, DMGT is exposed to cyber
customers rely more heavily on data DMGT operates and will continue to security risks across its operations.
and analysis to inform critical decisions. shape where and how DMGT pursues

! . . L Market trend
Market trend . commercial and strategic opportunities. "+ Cyber security threat is a permanent
» Global economic uncertainty, political i Market trend . business nsk in the digital age
tensions and supply and demand « There is stili long-term geopolitical and Governments and regulatory bedies

disruptions continue to nfluence our economic uncertainty for UK companies’ | have awakened to the threat posed to
customers and their markets in what s operations abroad Furthermore, the . indiduals and society by data breaches.
becorr?ing a ‘new normal’ level of market rise (?f populist policies and changing i . Customer confidence is easily eroded,
volatility. Extreme Weathf?r events, political landscapes throughout the enforcing the highest possible cyber
commodity price fluctuations and world each add to 'ghe chimate secunty standards 15 critical for
continued exchange rate swings have of political uncertainty.

N maintaining customer and market trust
directly impacted the economic and

sacial environments for both investment
and business operations.

Our approach
= DMGT closely follows political changes
 and implications for the geographies
Our approach | and industries in which It participates.
« Qur diversification provides beneficial ! In many instances, the uncertainty

Qur approach

« DMGT continues to strengthen
its information secunty controls with the
formation of a new Information Security
Steering Committee, the recruitment

offsets |ndant|ncrea5|r';gl)f/ V?latl'bl‘e world: of changing political and r'e%ulator{ " of a Group Chief Information Officer

as or;-le indus ir;y ma;)ife actl"rllgf eadwinds, normshprlesents commercial opportunities, and in October 2017 a Chief Information
another may benefit from the forces as we help our custgmer; anticipate Secunity Officer, together with regular
of volatility. implications for their business.

cyber security audits.
+ Inthis sustained-volatile environment,
DMGT 1s providing its customers with
fundamental data, analytics and insights
that enable them to move away from
instinct-driven decision-making and
to embrace market-retevant data as
a means to navigate uncertain times.

« RMS has developed a cyber risk
management tool that seeks to provide
insurers with a framework to capture
and report on all cyber exposure and
facilitate risk transfer in the market.
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Our businesses are constantly looking towards the future te identify and manage current and future trends. The most significant

of these are identified here.

€) Moredetailonthetrends affecting the Group canbe found in the Principal Risks section, pages [36] to[39]

Continuous
innovation

Context to DMGT

Technological change and the speed
at which customers are adopting
new technologies in our key markets
are accelerating at a pace never
seen before, irrevocably changing
and erasing more traditional
business models.

Market trend

The speed of technology evolution i1s
increasing the capital intensity of IT
investment and product development
such that business investment horizons
have changed compared with previcus

Context to DMGT
« An ever-growing number of

machines are producing, using,

and communicating with virtually
immeasurable amounts of information.
Machine learning is what makes
machines appear ‘intelligent’ by
enabling them to understand concepts
in their environment and also to learn.
Through machine learning, a smart
machine can change its future
behaviour. These developments
create opportunities for DMGT

and its businesses.

A competitive
talent pool

Context to DMGT

Across the global workforce but
especially with millennials, top
talent is drawn to companies that
offer a compelling employee value
proposition, incorporating purpose
beyond profit, ongoing learning and
development opportunities as well
as competitive remuneration.

Market trend

Demand for top talent s always fierce,
however, In the critical areas of big data
analytics, artificial intelligence and data
science, demand in many labour markets

woday 33atens

economic cycles, outstrnips supply.

» Machine learning gives nse to a spectrum

. Our approach
of smart machine implementations rp

Our approach

« As an entrepreneurial Group focused ' » In competing for key employees,

on digital growth, DMGT stays ahead
by continually fostering innovation
and embracing new 1deas. This is best
reflected by DMGT's expectation

of investing at least 5% of revenue

In organic initiatives each year.

As a company with a family heritage
which encourages long-term thinking,
DMGT can invest for the future.
Threughout DMGT’s history, innovation
and diversification have been essential
elements of how we do business, and
have given us a wealth of experience
to draw on In order to adapt to

market changes

DMGT's investment approach enables

us to remain close te customers through
our portfolio of businesses, gaining
greater insight and understanding

into exactly what our customers value,
engage with, and ultimately, want to buy.

helping to unearth insights in discrete
datasets that were previously impossible
to see.

Market trend
i
|
|
I

i Our approach
« DMGT's businesses help therr customers

to identify which information provides
strategic value, access data from different
sources and explore how algorithms
leverage the Internet of Everything to

fuel new business designs, This area is
evolving quickly, and DMGT’s businesses
are embracing the opportunity.

BuildFax uses different machine learning
models, for instance, to estimate roof age
from property charactenstics where the
business does not have high-confidence
roof age data, and another medel 15

used to estimate property conditions.

We are developing products and services
across a number of our businesses,
including sensing technology at
Genscape and statistical analytics

at Hobscns and RMS

especially critical technology talent,
DMGT I1s committed to enhancing its
Group-wide employee proposition,
defining the jobs of the future, for
instance through its groundbreaking work
in data science and predictive analytics

DMGT supports training and development
in order to enhance employees’ capabilities

and transfer skills throughout the
businesses. We also provide Group-wide
intiatives such as our talent development

programmes and workshops to encourage

rising talent within DMGT.
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Delivering on clear strategic priorities

CEO Review

Overview

In spite of challenging market conditions
DMGT has delivered a resilient
performance in 2 year of transformation
at the Company.

During the reporting period, we
strengthened our balance sheet by reducing
our holding in Euromoney; we agreed to
divest assets such as Elite Daily, Hobsons
Admissions and Hobsons Solutions; and

we delivered cost savings through
operational efficiency.

At the operating level, dmg media
outperformed in its markets and many

of our B2B companies delivered a robust
performance, with the exception of Genscape
and Xceligent As a long-term investor,
we continued to invest through the cycle,
particularly at RMS, which successfully
launched Risk Modeler on RMS{one), and
dmg iformation. The Consumer Media
business delivered good underlying profit
growth, reflecting the progress made at
MailGnline, which moved into operating
profit during the final quarter. Adjusted
operating and pre-tax profits declined
year-on-year, mainly due to the reduced
stake in Euromoney

The challenging conditions in many of our
markets served as a further reminder of the
need to transform our business. This work
has begun as part of our Company-wide
Performance Improvement Programme,
which we are rolling out to better position
us for consistent long-term growth

Already, we have made good progress on

the strategic priorities laid out at the start

of the year: improving operational execution,
increasing portfolio focus and enhancing
financial flexibility.

We have delayered management, reduced
overheads, enhanced our talent and
refocused each business’s prionities. We have
sharpened our focus on our strongest brands
and our financial flexibility has improved
with net debt to EBITDA now at 1 4 times,
the lowest level in over 20 years.

I am confident that our programme of action
will deliver long-term sustainable growth
and shareholder returns.

10

Key Strategic Priorities

Delivering on our potential

Improving operational
execution

We are building on strong foundations, as
shown by aspects of our performance in the
past financial year. For the year covered by
this report, operational highlights include
the sustained strong revenue growth and
transition to profitability of MaiOnline
following a multi-year nvestment strategy,
the successful delivery of RMS{one) in the
Insurance Risk sector, and the restructuring
and refocusing of our EdTech business,
Hobsons, into a more growth oriented
maodet focused on student success.

Another focus area has been to strengthen
our management team, both at the centre
and throughout the businesses, ensuring we
have the right talent to improve performance
and position DMGT for the future,

We also managed our portfolio more
actively, initially with the reduction inour
stake in Euromoney and subsequently with
the sale of Elite Daily in Consumer Media and
the Admissions business within the EdTech
sector. This, coupled with a renewed focus
on cash generation, has lowered our debt,
strengthened our leverage ratios, and
ultimately given us the financial flexibility
to take advantage of opportunities as

they anse.

The carrying values of Genscape, the Energy
Information business, and two early-stage
US Property Information businesses,
Xceligent and SiteCompli, were impaired.
This decision reflected a more cautious
outlook for each of these businesses

At Genscape, which faced chailenging market
conditions during the year with low levels of
price volatility, a sustained low oil price and
changes to solar energy distribution channels
in the US, the carrying value of the business
has been reduced to £[141° million, resulting
in an impairment charge of £{140] million.

Increasing portfolio
focus

Enhancing financial
flexibility

Expansion into the national market has been
slower than previously expected at Xceligent
and SiteCompli, notably Xceligent’s revenue
growth in New York, which it launched into
during the year Given the further investment
required in Xceligent and the long path to
cash generation, the prudent decision has
been taken to incur a full impairment charge
of £[65] million in respect of bath businesses.

I am confident, however, that DMGT 15 on
track te becorming a higher performance
business with a strong batance sheet to
deliver on our long-term potential We are
laying the groundwork to position the
Group for further success Above all,

our commitment remains tc deliver

on DMGT’s full patential,

Financial Performance

Group revenues grew by 1% on an underlying
basis, reflecting good growth from our digital
consumer business, MaillOnline, and modest
progress elsewhere in the Group, Operating
profit declined by an underlying [2)%, I
primarily due to our investments in the

B2B businesses and amortisation costs at
RMS. There was encouraging underlying
profit growth at dmg media, driven by

good cost control and increasing MaitOnline
profitability. This was offset by profit
declines at dmg information and RMS.

The performance of dmg infermation

was adversely affected by the challenges

at Genscape and Xceligent.



Reported results were impacted by the
reduction in our stake of Euromoney to

€ 49% in December 2016, whereupon

it became an assoclate for the final nine
months of the financial year. Pro forma
reported revenue, adjusting for the
Euromoney transaction, increased by [3]%,
reflecting the benefit of the stronger US
dollar versus the British pound. The Group’s
pro forma operating profit was up [2]%,
with an operating profit margin of {12]%.

Group adjusted profit before tax and earnings
per share were down [13]% and i1 %
respectively, although up by ‘4 % and |7)%
on a pro forma basis, and the recommended
dividend per share was up [3]%.

The Board remains committed to delivering
dividend growth in excess of inflation,
conststent with our dividend policy

¢

FY 2017 saw a major
focus on strengthening
our management
teams, enhancing

our performance
management system
and eliminating red
tape to ensure that

we are faster and
more agile.”
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In FY 2017, we started to deliver on the clear
strategic priorities laid out at the start of the

year; improving operational execution,
increasing portfolio focus and enhancing
financial flexibility.

Statutory operating profit and profit
before tax were adversely affected by
the iImpairments at dmg information but
statutory earnings per share increased
69]% due to the gain on the Euromoney
transaction

Year end net debt of £{464] million was

£214° milhen lower than in FY 2016,
reflecting the net operating cash inflow and
disposal proceeds. The net debt to EBITDA
ratio of [1 4 times was comfortably below
the Group’s preferred upper imit of 2.0 times.

The strengthening of the balance sheet was
an important achievement during the year.

In the Financial Review (pages [25] to (317},
Tim Collier, Group Chief Financial Officer,
describes our financial performance in
further detail. Key Performance Indicators
[KPls) are used to measure DMGT’s
performance at 2 Group level and there 15 an
update on how these have progressed during
the reporting period on pages [14° and [19]

of the Strategic Report.

2017 Strategic Priorities

In December 2016, | outlined three strategic
priorities that will help position DMGT for
the future. While there 1s much more to do,
we have made good, clear progress

with the launch of our Performance
Improvement Programme.

Improving operational execution

The first prionty of improving operational
execution included enhancing our
performance management system and
eliminating red tape to ensure that we are
faster, fitter and more agile. These areas
will help us deliver on our investments,
ultimately driving value creation across
the Group.

As part of this we remodelled and
strengthened our central management team,
drawing heawily on existing BMGT talent

Paul Zwillenberg

voday J8ajens

Key internal promotions included a

Group Head of Strategy & Performance
Management, Group HR Director, Group
Chief information Officer, and Group Head of
M&A alongside the external appoimtment of
a new Group CFO. Among our businesses, we
also made a number of senior appomtments
including new Presidents, CEQs and Chief
Gperating Cfficers, supplementing internal
talent with external hires to broaden the
industry expertise within the Group.

We have reduced the complexity of the
management structure in the B2B portfolio,
bringing the individual operating compames
closer to the central management team
Above all, our aim has been to give each
company the resources they require to fulfil
their strategic ambitions, whilst supporting
the extraordinary entrepreneurnial spirit and
talent that drives our success. In addition,
we have increased our focus en nurturing
and develaping rising talent as well as
bolstering skills critical for our future such
as technology, customer solutions and

data science capabilities.

From a business perspective, the operational
improvements have driven significant
progress In three particular areas.

Firstly, RMS executed the successful launch
and roliout of the Risk Modeler application
on RMS(one), the new platform for digitising
risk for the insurance industry. RMS alse
delivered RiskLinki7 and an unprecedented
array of modelling solutiens, with major
updates to its core models and the release
of several entirely new models. With the
gradual client migration to RMS{one) and
continued strong model development, RMS
1s porsed to deliver good long-term growth
and returns in support of the Insurance Risk
sector’s digital transformation.

11
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Delivering on Clear Strategic Priorities

CEO Review

Secondly, we have been encouraged by
continued strong growth from MailOnline,
where revenues reached £[119] million,

Up an underlying 20%,. The performance
was driven by 1ts growing global audience,
content and distribution partnerships with
global platforms Google, Facebook and
Snapchat, and strong performance in
programmatic advertising in the US and
UK. The increased scale of the business,
combined with a deep focus on aperational
efficiencies, resulted in MailOnline moving
into operating profit during the final quarter
of the financial year.

Finally, in the EdTech sector, Hobsens
made good progress on strengthening

its high growth Student Success solutions
for US High School and College students

following a refocusing and restructuring

of the business. In particular, the
madernisation of the Naviance platform to
improve customer experience IS progressing
well and will continue to be a core focus of
Hobsons’ activity this coming year. Looking
forward, we are optimistic about the future
growth prospects for its Naviance, Intersect
and Starfish products

Increasing portfolio focus

By increasing our portfolio focus, DMGT 15
seeing the benefits of a more streamlined
structure, in FY 2017 we began & major
strategic review, working through every
business in the portfolio to understand
its potential growth and returns and the
resources required to achieve this.

A clear strategy and bold vision for the future

The first significant step in delivering
increased portfolio focus was the reduction
In our stake in Euromoney in December 2016
to c.49%. This was followed by the disposal
of Elite Daily and closure of 7 Days in the
Consumer Media sector. Within EdTech,

we split the Hobsons business into the faster
Erowing Student Success and the more
mature Admissions and Solutions businesses
to enable a distinct approach to managing
the two parts. Both the Admissions and
Solutions businesses were disposed of, in
September and October 2017 respectively.

The disposal of EDR, the US Property
Information business, Is currently underway
and will further sharpen DMGT's focus.

12

We have defined a new strategic vision for DMGT entitled
‘Inteligent Insights. Consumer Connections’. Due to the Group's
strengths and capabilities across B2B and Consumer Media,
DMGT has a competitive advantage from two important
converging trends across these sectors Firstly, in 82B sectors,
customers increasingly expect to have the same quality of user
interface as they do with consumer products. Secondly, the
most successful consumer products are built on robust use of
data and analytics to gain insight. The agility, speed to market,

© Read moreinour Operating Reviews, pages [} to[+]

B2B

Proprietary data
Advanced analytics
Integrated with processes
Scaleable and retiable

Consumer

Addictive content
Personalised and responsive
Accessible everywhere
Intuitive experience

NV

user engagement and audience understanding demonstrated
by MailOndine can be applied within our B2B businesses. The
advanced analytics and resilient and secure technology required
in our B2B sectors can be applied to Consumer Media digital
businesses. DMGT’s strategy will be focused on seeking
opportunities, either through organic initiatives or acquisition,
which can exploit the converging trends across the B2B and
Consumer Media sectors.

Intelligent simplicity

Deep understanding, intuitive soluticns
Continuous evolution

need analyt stant refinement

Speed and agility

Timely insights, fast-to-market products

High value content, great user experience
Capture attention, and keep it
Community enabled

Physical cannections, enriched digitally



Investment Criteria

We have conducted a ngorous evaluation
of all our businesses as part of our strategic
review. We aim to position DMGT for the
future and, in particular, for what we refer
1o as a ‘Digital 4.0° world, where artificial
intelligence, machine learning on big data
and the use of predictive analytics play an
increasingly important role.

In maintaining a diversified portfolio,

with a more focused investment approach,
we can allocate resources according to each
individual business's growth charactenistics
and funding requirements. The five broac
investment criteria used are shown here:

Enhancing financial flexibility

Through our improved operational execution
and increased portfolio focus, we have
achieved a stronger balance sheet. At the
year end, net debt was £{464] million with
anet debt to EBITDA ratio of 1 4] times, the
lowest it has been in over [20] years, as a
result of dispesal proceeds and continuing
healthy cash generation. We now have more
flexibility to invest behind our businesses,
bath organically and via acquisition, to
support long-term growth and value creation.

In pursuing a balanced capital allocation
approach, we remain committed to
increasing shareholder returns through
sustainable real dividend growth.

Strategy update

A new strategic vision has been defined
based on the convergence of trends within
B2B and Consumer Media and the strong
position that DMGT 1s1n given the breadth
of expertise across the Group

We have begun to execute an the
Performance Improvement Programme,
which will deliver results against our three
key strategic priorities. Bulding on the solid
foundations established through recent
operational initiatives, DMGT's performance
and execution will be improved through
upgrading businesses’ technelogy, sales
force effectiveness and pricing capabiiities.
The Tncreasing focus of the portfolio wall

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

Investment criteria What we consider

Attractive and value creating

Scalability

tong-term competitive advantage

Affordability

Achievability

Expected future revenue, profit
and cash flow to deliver value

1oday nganens

End market size, growth rate
and competitive position

Value of proprietary data
and services

Investment to achieve
full potential

Ability and resources of current
business to execute

Diversified portfolio, with more focused investment approach

be driven by the Group’s strengths,

notably where the convergence of B28 and
Consumer Media gives DMGT a competitive
advantage DMGT will also ensure it has the
financial flexibility to pursue opportunities
as they arise, notably to build scate in those
sectors that can deliver focused growth.

Qutlook

We have started the new financial year

with our businesses performing in line

with our expectations. FY 2018 will be an
important year of transition for DMGT as we
continue to lay the necessary groundwork
for the future.

The markets in which we operate continue
to be disrupted by new technolegies, volatile
demand and changing consumption habits
among the audiences we serve.

In B2B, the financial performance will

be adversely affected by disposals.

Despite challenging market conditions, we
nevertherless expect B2B to deliver modest
underlying revenue growth, reflecting

the benefits of increased focus Onthe
Consumner Media side, digital revenues are
expected ta grow further, helping to offset
anticipated circulation volume and print
advertising declines, with advertising market
conditions likely te remain volatile The
Consumer Media operating profit is expected
to reflect lower overall revenues, continued
cost efficiencies within the newspapers and
MailOnline being profitable.

The Board remains confident that DMGT
has good long-term prospects, supported
by a more flexible balance sheet and by the
entrepreneurialism, purpose and passion
that are so distinctive in the Group.

| am confident that the Performance
Improvement Programme wili generate
long-term sustainable growth. And it will
help us to navigate near term challenging
trading conditicns. This will, in turn, enable
us to maintain our progressive dividend
policy, with a commitment to growing
shareholder returns

We look forward to delivering on DMGT's
potential

Paul Zwillenberg
CEQ
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Measuring our performance

Key Performance Indicators

The Board seeks to deliver sustained long-term growth for DMGT'’s shareholders.

DMGT is a portfalio of different companies. Many Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that are targeted by our individual businesses,
such as revenue per client as well as non-financial measures including customer numbers and audience reach are not appropriate at a
consolidated Group level, The KPis shown below, however, are considered to be good indicators of the Group’s overall progress against
its strategic priorities.

A new KP, Group adjusted cash operating iIncome, has been introduced, reflecting the focus on improving the cash generation of the
individual businesses within the portfolio over time. International revenues as a percentage of total revenues is no longer a KP1 as DMGT
1s not targeting a specific change to the existing mix

Description Relevance Perfermance Narrative Strategic prinrity
Underlying Underlying revenue 2017 PO Underlying revenue growth @
Browth compares
revenue revenues on a like-for-like 2016 +0% | O
growth basis and 1s an important O
indicator of the health 2015 +1%
and trajectory of the k 2016: +0%
mdividual businessesand = 2014 +5%
the Group as a whole The stable underlying revenue
2013 +2% performance reflects the resilience
! of the B2B and consumer
businesses despite challenging
market conditions in many sectors
Group DMGT actively manages | [BYSRI £ m . Group adju_sted profit
adijusted 1ts portfolio and allocates | . before tax"
) capital to increase | 2016 £260m
profit adjusted profit before
before tax tax over the long term J 2015 £281m m
| 204 £281m | 2016: £260m
‘ 2013 £267m 2016%; £217m
! Group adjusted profit before tax
' declined by £[34}m, although
increased by £[9]m on a pro ferma®
. bass, reflecting the reduced profits
. from RMS and increased investment
I at Xceligent, offset by reduced
| cerporate costs.
Adjusted Management seeks 2017 Adjusted earnings per share*'
earnings sustained long-term P
g growth in adjusted 2016 56.0p
per share earnings per share to .
maximise overall returns 2015 59.7p
for DMGT’s shareholders 2016: [56.0]p
2014 55.7p 2016%([52.1]p
2013 49.9p Adjusted earnings per share declined
by [1]%, reflecting the Euromoney
transaction although increased by
[71% on a pro forma® basis
Group This metric adds back 2017 £ m | Group adjusted cash operating
. depreciation and | income®
adJUSted amartisation and 2016 £254m 1
cash deducts caprtal
operating expenditure from Group 2015 E£278m l I I
. adjusted operating profit
mcome and reflects the cash 2014 £26Tm 2016: £[254)m
generation of the 2013 c263m 2016% £[172]m @
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Group’s businesses

Group adjusted cash operating
income dechned by £[55]m, reflecting
the Euromoney transaction, although
increased £[27)m en a pro farma®
basts, refiecting the improving

cash generation from RMS



Key strategic priorities

Improving operational execution

Increasing portfolio focus

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017
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Erhanang financial flexibility

Description Relevance Performance Narrative Strategic prierity
Net debt®/ Management aims \ 2017 X i Net debt/EBITDA
. to maintain a strong
EBITDA ratio balance sheet and retain ‘ 2016 1.8% ‘
DMGT's investment- . x
grade status and 2015 1 8x ‘
consequently targets 2016: 1.8x
the net debt/EBITDA 2014 1.5x
ratio to be né more than ‘ Through increasing portfolio focus,
2013 1.6x strong operational cash flows and
2 0 times throughout |
the year tight control of werking capital,
the net debt/EBITDA ratio remains
‘ comfortably below our preferred
! | upper limit of 2 0 times and did
I 50 throughout the year.
Dividend The Board's policy 1s SB Dividend per share
h to maintain dividend | 227p
per share growth in real terms o
and, in the medium- | .
term, to distribute about 15 - -
one-third of the Group’s | 19 | 2016:22.0p
adjusted earnings - o :
! & | 5 8.5 We have proposed a full-year
Bl 5.2p =P | dividend of 22.7 pence, up by 3%
0 ' i frem last year, continuing our strong
1997 2017 track record of dividend growth
and delivering a 7% cumulative
Drwadend @ Inflation annual growth rate over the past
| 20years
Organic Investing back into the 2017 o I Organic investment
. businesses to suppart as a % of revenues
3
investment product innovation 2016 9% |
asa and effective use of 0
technology Is key to 2015 T%
ercentage &
pf & delivering DMGT’s O
of revenues S‘:état'ﬂe}’ r::%g;e;m 2014 ™% | 2016: 9%
W ar
gxpects at least 5% of 2013 T% DMGT continued to reinvest
in the businesses during the year,

revenues to be used
for organic investment.

notably in RMS and dmg information

& Readmorein Financial Review, pages [25] to [31]

* Underlying revenue growth1s on 2 like tor like basis, adjusted for constant exchange rates, the exclusion of disposals and closures and for the inclusion of the year an-year organic growth trom
acquisitions For events, the compansons are between events held i the year and the same events held previously For dmg media, underlying growth rates exclude the benefit of an additional
53rd week from the FY 2016 results and excludes low-margin newspnint resale activities See pages «l and »|

§ SeeNote - for details of net debt

#  From continuing and discontinued operations

*  Before exceptional items, other gans angt [osses impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, pension finance charges and amortisation of Intangible assets arising on business combinations
see reconciliation on page 30

0 ProlormaFY 2016 figures have been restated totreat Furamoney as a ¢ 67% owned subsidiary during the first three months and as a ¢ 49% owned associate duning the nine months to
September 2016 consistent with the ewnership profile during FY 2617 See reconciliation on page 24

¥y Organic investment 1s expenditure thats incurred with the objective of delivening long-term growth It includes expenditure on product development, whether capitalised ar expensed directly
and the adjusted operating losses from early stage businesses

15



Strategic Report

Operating Business Reviews

B2B

Summary

Our B2B companies operate in five sectors, namely Insurance Risk, Property Information,
Education Technology (EdTech), Energy Information, Events and Exhibitions.

2017 Pro f:fn::“ Movement Underlying*
Total B2B £m £m % %
Revenue® [976] [899] +[91% +2]%
aperatir\g profit* [152] {160] [{5)]%0 1(15)]%
Operating margin® [1645] [181%%

4 Revenue from continuing and discontinued operations

Adjusted operating profit and operating margin, see pages -| and [+ for details
~  Underlying growth rates give a like-far-like comparison, see pages |-| and [« for details

o]

Pro forma FY 2016 higures have been restated to treat Euromoney as a ¢ §7% owned subsichary dunng the first three months

and as a ¢ 49% owned associate during the rune months to September 2016. consistent with the ownerstup profife during

FY¥ 2017 See reconciliation on page 28

Euromoney

In December 2016, DMGT reduced its stake

in Euromoney and the company ceased to
be a subsidiary of DMGT and became an
associate. To allow a tike-for-like comparison,
2016 pro forma results have been presented
based on a c.67% stake in Euromoney during
the first quarter of the year and a c.49%
stake during the final three-quarters,
consistent with the actual holding during

FY 2017. Underlying revenue and operating
profit growth rates exclude Euromaoney

The results of Euromoney are described
within JVs & Associates on page [24].

Performance

Revenues from B2B totalled £{976] million,
up [9]% on a pro forma basis, including the
benefit of the stronger US dollar versus
the British pound. On an underlying basis,
B28 revenues grew [2]%, with growth from
Hobsons, dmg events, RMS and Genscape
and stable revenues from the Property
Information businesses, B2B adjusted
operating profits, excluding any allocation

Revenue (%)

@ Insurance Risk 24
@ EdTech 12
@ Property informatian 34
@ Cnergy Information 9
& Cvents and Exhibitions 12

Euromoney 9
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of Group corporate costs, were £[152]
miltion, a reduction of {5)% on a pro forma
basts and an underlying decline of [15]%,
largely driven by RMS, where amortisation
costs increased, and within dmg information,
by Xceligent and Genscape. The overal! B2B
operating margin declined to (16]%, down
from 18% on a pro forma basis in FY 2016,
reflecting lower margins across each of RMS,
dmg information and dmg events.

dmg information restructure
DMGT has historically reported the results
of Property Information, EdTech and
Energy Information businesses within

dmg information. In FY 2017, DMGT
undertook a management delayering
project to reduce complexity and move the
operating companies closer to decision-
making by the Group’s central management
team, For the purposes of this Annual
Report, these businesses will appear as
part of dmg information and from FY 2018
will be presented as part of the overall B2B
portfolio, with dmg information no longer
in place.

Outlook

QOur B2B companies are coliectively expected
to deliver low single-digit underlying revenue
growth in FY 2018, although revenues will be
adversely affected by the disposals that have
taken place in the past year and the planned
disposal of EDR In the Insurance Risk sector,
RMS will continue to expand the client

base for the RMS{one) software platform

and associated applications, laying the
groundwork for revenue acceleration

in FY 2019 and beyond. In the Property
Information sector, the European businesses
are expected to continue to experience
relatively subdued market conditions and
the remaining US businesses to continue

to deliver growth. Following the disposal

of Hobsons' Admissions and Solutions
businesses, the remaining EdTech business
is expected to benefit from increased focus
and to continue to deliver growth In the
Energy Information sector, Genscape is also
expected to deliver growth across most of its
sub-sectors, albeit the challenging market
cenditions are expected to persist. Despite
challenges in some Events and Exhibitions
end markets, notably the energy sector and
some Gulf Cooperation Council countries,
and the expected reduction in revenues
from Gastech, refiecting the change in
location in 2018, dmg events Is weil
positioned to continue delivering underlying
revenue growth.

There continues to be a focus on Improving
operational execution, combined with laying
the foundations for long-term growth. The
adjusted operating profit margin for B2B is
expected to be in the mid-teens in FY 2018,

B2B Sectors
RMS Insurance Risk
dmg Praperty Information
infermation  ¢qrech
Energy Information
dmgevents  Events & Exhibitions
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Insurance Risk: RMS

Revenue

Operating profit

£[233m | £[33]m

2017 2016 Movement Underlying®

£m £m % %

Revenue [233] 2058] +14]% +[2]%
Operating profit* [33] 28] (9)]9 [(25)1%
Operating margin® 114]% 118'% i i B

T Adjusted operating profit and operating margin 5e€ pages s

and » for details

*  Underlying growth rates give a like-for-like comparisan see pages |+] and |+ for details

RMS is focused on execution and
investment for organic growth, in both
its core modelling business and the new
risk management platform, RMS{one).
RMS has delivered an unprecedented
level of modelling solutions in FY 2017,
with updates to the North American
Earthquake and North American
Hurricane models, new medels for Asian
earthquakes and typhoons, and further
expansion into new lines of risk with the
second release of our cyber models.

The release of the second RMS(one)
application, Risk Modeler, was also a key
milestone for the business in FY 2017.

Business model

RMS offers models, data, services and
software to insurers, brokers and reinsurers
Its solutions are also increasingly in demand
from capital market entrants into the nsk
and insurance market.

Revenues are derived mainly from annual
subscriptions to its models and data
intellectual property RMS also offers

a variety of analytical, managed and
hosted services,

Performance highlights

RMS produced underlying revenue growth
of [2]% Reported revenues were up [141% at
£[233] milhon reflecting the benefit of the
stronger US doliar versus the British pound.
The business achieved this solid revenue
performance, in hne with expectations,
despite the continuing adverse impact of
some client consclidation, There was good
demand for RMS core subscription services,
with renewal rates remaming above (95)%.

As previcusly indrcated, capitalisation of
RMS({ane) development activities ceased
and the amortisation of the RMS{one) asset
started in August 2016. Consequently,

operating profit declined by an underlying
25]% to £[33] milhon with an operating
margin of [14]%, broadly in line with the low
teens guidance provided in December 2016
RMS continue to invest strongly In its
modelling business to underpin its market
position and long-term growth trajectory.
Excluding the benefit of the £13im of
RMS(one) caprtabisatien in the prior period,
as well as depreciation and amortisatian, the
EBITDA margin was [24]%, an improvement
on the 17% in FY 2016.

RMS continues to lead in the risk modelling
market. In Aprit 201/, RMS released
RiskLink17, which included updates to five
modets, notably North American
Earthquake, and three new models: South
East Asia Earthquake, Taiwan Typhoon and
South Korea Typhoon

A major milestone was achieved in Apnl 2017,
with the release of Risk Modeler, the second
application to run on the RMS({one) nsk
management platform, and over a dozen
clients are now using applications on
RMS{one) Given the enterprise acceptance
testing required during the clients’ adoption
processes and the relatively slow roll-out,
the revenues from RM5S{one) are expected

to have a more significant impact on

RMS's averall revenue growth and margin
improvement In FY 2019 and beyond

The increasing pace of digitalisation across
the risk and insurance market combined
with the requirement for real-time risk
assessment on one rnisk modelling evaluation
platform that has integrated data analytics
is expected to create progressive demand
for the RMS{one) platform.

The appointment of a new President,
reporting to the CEQ, to lead RMS
market-facing activities has increased the
chient focus during 2017, especially in the
areas of client service and delivering
high-value solutions to clients

Key developments

+ Risk Modeler released in April 2017
- the second application to run on
the RMS(one) risk management
platform with clients starting to
migrate onto the new system.

woday 2dajens

Release of RiskLink1T with an
unprecedented model release
programme delivering updates to
five models, notably the North
American Earthquake model, and
three new models covering natural
disasters in Asia.

+ Management team strengthened
with a new RMS President
appointed,

Priorities in the vear ahead

The main areas of focus for the RMS
management team in FY 2018 will be on

the continued successful development

and delivery of its core and new models to
clients and managing the gradual migration
of clients to the RMS{one) platform

The RMS madel pipeline remains strong,
reflecting an ongoing commitment to
strengthen the business’s market-leading
position., The model pipeline for 2018 covers
a wide range of perils, including North
America Flood, Central and Western
European Storm, Indian Flood, Japanese
Earthquake and Typhoon and North
American Wild Fire The pipeline includes
high definition {HD) models, which
provide increased granularity, as a key
differentiated offering.

Goonlineto read the RMS case study
www.dmgt.com
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dmg information

£[531m | £]69]m
Introduction

dmg mformation 1s a portfolio of companies with market-leading positions in the Property information, EdTech and Energy information sectors.

EdTecll

2017 2016 Movement Underlying#
£m £m } % ) %
Revenué'
Pirraperty Information - [328] 307 % +[O]cy_n
114 115 +[0]% +9,%
Energy Information (88 % +[16 % %
Total dmg infermation B 1531) 488 +[7]0_/o TWL
Operating profit” g9l 77 [10)]% l(13)1%
r ’ 130% [151%

Operating margin®

Adjusted operating profit and operating margin, see pages.- and «
A Underlying growth rates give a like-for-like companson, see pages -

Property Information -

key developments
+ Stable underlying revenues despite
challenging market conditions.

» Good revenue growth from US-based
companies, despite subdued
commercial property market,

+ European property information
delivered profit growth despite
revenue decline.

+ The carrying values of Xceligent and
SiteCompli were both fully impaired,
reflecting disappointing progress
with expansion plans.

« Good product development and
expansion into insurance sector
by Landmark.

For the purposes of this Annual Report
for FY 2017, these businesses will appear
as part of dmg information and from

FY 2018 will be presented as part

of the overall B2B pertfolic, with

dmg information no longer in place.
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EdTech -

key developments

« Refocus and restructure of
Hobsons with disposal of
Admissions and Solutions
businesses in September and
Cctober 2017.

« Continued strong growth from
Naviance, Starfish and Intersect.

+ More challenging trading
conditions for Admissions.

+ Development underway to upgrade
Naviance platform.

« Appaintment of new CEO
in May 2017,

Performance summary

dmg information revenues were

£[531] million, up [7)% on a reported basis
and [2]% an an undertying basis. Growth
from the US Property Information, EdTech
and Energy Information businesses was
partly offset by a decline In revenues
from the European Property Information
businesses Operating profit decreased

Energy Information —

key developments

+ Robust performance from core
Energy areas of power, oil and
natural gas, despite sustained low
oil prices and low price volatility
impacting customer budgets.

+ Solar business faced challenging
market conditions,

« Continued investment in building
gloval product offerings and in
providing analytics and forcasts.

« Difficult market conditions resulted
in an impairment to the carrying
value of Genscape.

by an underlying [13] % to £[€9] million,
with an operating margin of [131%.

The decling in profit compared to

the previous year was due in large part to
investment in the roll-out of Xceligent, one
of the US Property Information companies.
More detail on the performance of each of
the sectors can be found in the following
Operating Business Reviews.
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dmg information

B2B

Property Information

Revenue

£[328m

Business model

The Property Information portfolio operates
in the US, UK and Germany. Companes
within the portfolio derve their revenues
from providing services that use technelogy,
data and workflow to streamline and help
reduce the risk associated with commercial
and residential property transactions.

In addition, Trepp in the US provides risk,
valuation and data sclutions for the CMBS
market. Revenues are generated from
subscriptions as well as velume-related
transactions.

Performance highlights

The Property Information portfolio’s
revenues grew by [7]%, including the benefit
of the stronger US dollar and Euro relative to
the British pound, and were in line with the
prior year on an underiying basis The five
US-based businesses collectively delivered
underlying revenue growth of [5]%, offset
by a {3]% dectine in underlying revenue in
Europe. Adjusted operating profit declined
by [41% on a reported basis and [9]% on

an underlying basis, reflecting planned
investment in Xceligent, which mare than
offset operating profit growth from the
European businesses

Us

Trepp, the securised mortgage data and
analytics business, delivered another year
of underlying revenue growth, reflecting
continued Investment in Its core services.
EDR, which is a leading provider of data and
workflow for US commercial real estate due
diligence, was adversely impacted by lower
real estate transaction volumes and the
business experienced an underlying decline
in revenues in the year, EDR 15 pursuing
growth opportunities in managed services,
an area the market Is expected to transition
towards. Service industries are not a
preferred area of growth for CMGT and
consequently a process 1s underway to
dispose of EDR to a more appropriate owner.
This will further increase the focus within
the portfelio and enhance DMGT's financial
flexibility. The earlier stage businesses,
Xceligent, SiteCompli and BuildFax,

continued to grow in the year Xceligent’s
revenue growth in new markets, notably
New York, has been slower than previously
expected and, given the significant further
investment and time required to achieve full
national coverage, a decision has been taken
to reduce the carrying value of the business
to zere, resulting in an mpairment charge of
£[42] million. Similarly, SiteCompl’s planned
expansion into the national retail market has
proved more challenging than previcusly
expected and an impairment charge of

£.24] million has been taken in respect of

1ts carrying value, Xceligent now has a new
management team in place and a strategic
review of the business 15 in progress, whilst
the SiteCompli management team are
focussing on growth opportunities

Europe

The European Property Information
businesses, which include Landmark

and SearchFlow in the UK and On-Geo in
Germany, experienced a modest underlying
revenue decline as lower residential
property transaction volumes and mortgage
approvals adversely impacted trading.

In the legal property market, SearchFlow
delivered a major upgrade of its ordering
platform while Landmark continued to
deliver enhancements to its range of
conveyancing searches. In the mortgage
lending market, Landmark successfully
deployed its new Valuation Risk Hub with the
first lender and surveyor clients Landmark
has also made sigruficant first steps into
the UK househald insurance market with
long-term agreements to provide its risk
models to leading providers in the industry.
At the same time, Landmark has continued
to focus on operational efficiencies,
delivering operating margin improvement
despite lower revenues, and evolving its
cost base as the business develops.

Priorities in the vear ahead

In the US, there will be continued investment
in several growth initiatives across the
portfolio. There will alsa be ongeing product
development at Trepp to enhance its

market- leading position In Europe,
Landmark expects to continue with its
dynamic new product development and
launch programme

Goonlineto read the Property
Information case study
www.dmgt com

EdTech

Revenue

£]114m

Business model

Hobscns operates in the education
technology market and 1s a leading provider
of college and career readiness and student
success solutions in the US Hobsaons helps
students identify their strengths, explare
careers, create academic plans and match
these to educational opportunities.
Hobsons’ revenues are mainly derived

from subscription contracts with a wide
range of educational institutions.

Performance highlights

Hobsons produced another year of
underlying growth with revenues up [9]%
There was continued strong growth from its
K-12 career and college planning platform,
Naviance, Its college matching business,
Intersect and its higher education student
retention business, Starfish, Hobsons’
Admissions business was operating in

an increasingly competitive environment
and experienced declining revenue.

Following a strategic review of Hobsons,
the business underwent a refocusing and
restructuring programme. Hobsons was
splitinto two distinct areas to provide a
dedicated management team for each,
namely the fast-growing student success
businesses for college and career readiness,
matching and retention (Naviance, Intersect
and Starfish} and the more mature
Admissions and Solutions businesses.
Following this restructure, the Admissions
and Solutions businesses were sold

in September and October 2017
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dmg information

B2B

Qperationally, Hobsons made good progress
in strengthening its core preducts and
services, The first phase of Naviance
platform modernisation was launched,
improving the user interface and mobile
responsiveness of the student-facing
compenents of Naviance. Naviance was
aiso successfully transitioned to a cloud
computing platform during the year A new,
centralised modern platform for Intersect
was built. Two new products were delivered
on the platform and progress 1s underway
to incorporate all existing matching
products into the new platform. In July 2017
Hobsons released Starfish 7 which includes
predictive analytics based on the research
and methodclogies developed by PAR
Framework, a business acquired in 2016,
that will deliver useful data to advisers

and institutional leadership teams. This
product 1s expected to help support the

continued growth of this early-stage business.

A major project to upgrade the sales force
was also undertaken, A more structured,
focused and data-driven approach has
been adopted to enhance team capabilities
and better profile and target customers.

Priorities in the year ahead

FY 2018 will be another year of transition
for Hobsons as it continues to refocus

and strengthen its high-value, high-growth
core products and services. Operational
Improvements are expected to flow
through as the cost base Is streamlined and
an agiie methodology 1s adopted across core
internal processes. Hobsons will continue
with its long-term objective to become

the trusted partner for institutions and
communities using digital solutions to
drive student success.

Goonlinetoread the

EdTech case studies
www.dmpt.com
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Energy Information

5[8 8]m

Business model

Genscape delivers innovative solutions to
improve market transparency and efficiency
across several asset classes including oil,
power, natural gas and liquid natural gas,
agriculture, maritime and renewables
Genscape provides its customers with
fundamental data, intelligence and real-time
alerts, workflow tools and predictive
analytics to better manage volatility,

make complex decisions and imcrease the
efficiency of their supply chains Revenues
are mainly subscription based through
annua! and multi-year client contracts

Performance highlights

Genscape delivered underlying revenue
growth of [1]% in the year. The core
businesses operating in the power, oil

and gas sectors continued to grow despite
the sustained low ol price and low price
volatility environment, reflecting good
ongoing product development and client
expansion. The solar business, Locus Energy,
experienced challenging market conditions,
with sales of monitors adversely affected
by a market shift in distribution channels.

There was a solid profit performance in core
Energy areas which was more than offset by
weaker trading performance at Locus Energy
and our planned investment in building new
products and enhancing existing services.
Genscape 1s brnging transparency to global
energy markets by building global preduct
offerings and continuing to move up the
value chain by prowviding analytics and
forecasts. For example, Genscape Power
has expanded its services to deregulated
markets in Mexico and Japan Genscape

1s developing a real-time, comprehensive
and accurate global crude cil supply and
demand product and 15 expanding i1ts
proprietary sensor network to momitor
industrial facilities.

Given the continued chalienges facing the
Energy Information sector, notably solar, and
the Likely time required before the business
becomes a major cash generater, the
carrying value of the Genscape business

has been reduced to £.141] million, resulting
in an impairment charge of £{140] million

Priorities in the year ahead

Under Genscape’s new management team,
the business will continue to invest in new
oroducts and service development and its
long-term growth trajectory remains strong,
despiie the current challenging market
conditions. One of the key priorities will be
to reposition the Locus Energy product suite
given recent market changes in distribution.

After delivering some pricing model
improvements this year, Genscape will
continue to drive operational improvements,
particularly around pricing and an enhanced
go-te-market strategy.

Go onlinetoread the Energy case study
www.drmgt.com
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Events and Exhibitions: dmg events

B2B

Revenue

£[117]m

2017 2016 Movement underlying

£m £m % %

Revenue T [1171777 7 105 +11]% +[3]%
E}-p_eratmg profit* 31] 29 +61% [{7)1%
Operating margin® [26)% 28% o o

Before exceptional items, impairment and amortisation of intangible assets anising on business combinations, see

Consobdated Income Statemenl on page »

dmg events is focused on seeking new
opportunities for customers in emerging
markets, leading to 10 new events

being launched in FY 2017 with five
more planned for FY 2018. dmg events
hosted over 50 events attracting over
300,000 visitors and exhibitors from
more than 100 different countries.

Business model

dmg events 1s an orgzniser of B2B exhibiticns
and associated conferences with industry-
leading events in the energy, construction,
interiors, hotel, hospitality and leisure
sectors The strong market and brand
positions, emerging market experience and
entrepreneunal culture create opportunities
for growth through geo-cloning existing
events into new locations and by creating
spin-off sections to become standalene
events. The key branded events are the Big 5,
ADIPEC, INDEX, Gastech, and The Hotel Show
which all provide opportunities to develop
our spin-off and geo-clone strategy.
Revenues are derived from exhibitor,
sponsorship and delepate fees and over

60% of revenues are generated from the

top five events.

and the reconciliabion Note = to the Accounts

Performance highlights

dmg events produced a resilient
perfermance in FY 2017, delivering [3!%
underlying revenue growth, despite the
continued weakness in the oil price.
Reported revenues grew by {11]% due to
the strength of the US dollar relative to
the British pound,

The key branded events of the Big 5,
ADIPEC and Gastech all produced good
levels of visitor and exhibitor growth
Gastech produced double-digit levels of
revenue growth due to a larger conference
programme, increased populanty with
sponsors and exhibitors and the positive
effect of changing the location to Japan, the
world’s largest liquefied natural gas market.
The Global Petroleum Show, however, was
impacted by the tough Canadian energy
sector which has experienced strong
headwinds during FY 2017.

dmg events continued to geo-clone shows
by launching into new locations, mcluding
two South African events, The Hotei Show
Africa and Qil & Gas Africa, as well as East
Africa Big 5 and Saudi Stone A number

of new spin-off events launched into
adjacencies from the existing construction,
energy and hospitality sectors

Operating profit declined by [7]% on an
underlying basis reflecting the tough
conditions in the Canadian energy events
market and investment in the strong launch
programme for both FY 2017 and FY 2018.
Action was taken to address the challenging
market conditions, through dispesing of five
events and closing three events during the
year. Operating margins were, however,

a healthy [26]% due to strong cost control,
low overheads and a more effective digital
marketing approach.

Key developments

+ Robustrevenue growth despite
challenging energy event market
conditions Gastech revenues in
Japan grew by over 20% on the
previous event.

+ Geo-cloning: strong performance
of new geo-clones in key sectors.

+ Spin-offs: successful development
of spin-off events.

+ Prioryear acquisition of Exhibition
Management Services drove two
new launches in FY 2017; Oil & Gas
Africa and The Hotel Show Africa.

Priorities for the year ahead

dmg events will remain focused on
developing its key large-scale market-leading
events These events have the potential to
continue to grow and are key brands capable
of future gec-cloning and generating new
spin-off events. The teams will continue to
create new relevant event content whilst

also focusing on enhancing the customer
experience through the increased use of
maobile technology and data analytics.

The five launches planned for 2018 in North
Africa, the Middle East and South East Asia
iltustrate the continued strong commitment
to organic growth.
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dmg media

Consumer Media

Revenue

Operating profit

£[683m | £[77]m

2017 2016 Movement Underlying#
£m £m % %
Revenue_i 683 706 [(3)]% 1%
Operating prafit* 77 77 +61% +[107%
Operating margin” R 11%

©  Adjusted pperating profit and operating margin, s€e pages - and . for details
*  Underiying growth rates give a ke for-like comparisan, see pages |» and [+' for details

dmg media has continued to focus on
delivering quality, popular journalism

to a large audience on a global basis.

A multi-year investment programme,
pesitioning dmg media as a modern news
media company, has ensured that the
business has prospered in an increasingly
digital-oriented consumer market.

The combined strength of the Mail and
Metro brands creates opportunities to
position dmg media’s proposition to
advertisers through a sophisticated

and targeted omni-channel approach,

Business model

dmg media’s portfolio of news media
businesses includes two of the UK’s most
read paid-for newspapers, the Daily Mail
and The Mail on Sunday, and MailCnline,
which attracts an average 15 million unique
browsers each day. The Mail brand has the
targest reach of any commercial news media
brand in the UK and has achieved scale in
other geographic markets, including the

US and Australia. Metro, dmg media’s

free newspaper, has the largest weekday
newspaper readership in the UK each month.
Combined, the Mail and Metro brands reach
71% of the UK's adult population each
month. dmg media’s revenues are generated
mainly from advertising and circulation
revenues. While the newspaper businesses
continue to generate strong profits and cash
flow, the digital businesses are the driver

of dmg media’s future growth.
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Performance highlights

dmg media delivered an encouraging
performance in the year. Revenues were up
"1]% on an underlying basis, with the decline
in print advertising revenues of |5%] being
more than offset by digital advertising
growth, up {18]%, and a stable circulation
performance

Revenues were £(683] million, representing
an absolute decline of [3]%, with the benefit
of the strong US dollar and the inclusion of
MailOnline Australia’s revenue being offset
by the disposal of Elite Daily in April 2017
and the decline in revenues from reselling
newsprint. The disposal of Elite Daily has
enabied dmg media to cancentrate its
digital resources on MaillOnline.

Adjusted operating profit was £[77] milion,
an underlying increase of [10]%, reflecting
prowth in digital revenues, good progress
on MaitCnline’s path to profitability and
cost savings In the newspaper businesses,
primarily the closure of the Didcot printing
plant. These were partially offset by the
decline in print advertising revenues

The operating margin remained relatively
healthy at [11]%.

Mail businesses

Revenues for the combined newspaper angd
website businesses {the Daily Mail, The Mail
on Sunday and MailOnline) were in ine on an
underlying basis, at £{[574] million, despite
continued challenging conditions in the print
advertising market. The [10%] underlying
decline In print advertising revenue to

£[131] million was offset by the strong
performance at MallOnline, which grew
revenues by an undertying {20]% to

£[118] million, whilst circulation revenues

of £{208] million remained stable on an
underlying basis.

Key developments

« Another vear of good performance
with multi-year investment
programme driving results.

- Strong digital advertising growth
drove underlying increase in
dmg media’s profits.

+ Mail Advertising, dmg media’s
cross-media partnership for
advertising solutions, is gaining
traction.

Circutation and advertising
outperformance of the market for
the Daity Mail, The Mail on Sunday
and Metro.

-

Disposal of Elite Daily in April 2017
to focus digital resources on
MailOnline.

» Cost reduction initiatives continue
with the closure of the Didcot
printing plant facilities,

Successful launch of DailyMailTV joint
venture In the US in September 2017

Total advertising revenues from the Mail
titles were £[248, million, up £[7]m,
representing an increase of 2%] on an
underlying basis. Whilst the UK newspaper
advertising market continued to deciine,
Mail Newspapers outperformed the market.
Print advertising decreased by an underlying
[10]9%, compared to the 13% decline during
FY 2016

The Daily Mail and The Mail on Sunday
continue to outperform their markets,
holding significant market shares, averaging
[23 41% and [22.1]% for the year respectively.
The robust revenue performance was
achieved due to the full-year benefit of cover
price increases in FY 2016 and FY 2017
offsetting the declining circulation volumes.
Since the year-end the cover price of The Mail
on Sunday increased from £1 70 to £1.80

In October 2017.



Daily Mail and General Trust pic Annual Report 2017

MailOnline generated strong levels of
underlying revenue growth in FY 2017 of
20]%. In the US, MailOnline's revenues

grew by an underlying [36]%, reflecting the
increased traffic, further product innovation
and the partnerships with Facebook and
Snapchat. The audience on the core sites
continues to grow, with 14.9 million average
daily global unique browsers during the year,
up 4%, and the site attracted on average
227 milhion monthly globat unigue browsers
during the year.

Engagement levels have also increased
which, alongside the growth in global
audiences and ahility to provide
programmatic advertising solutions with
data analytics, creates a compelling offering
for advertising clients. MaillOnline has
continued te focus on increasing the size
and engagement level of its global audience,
particularly in the US and Austrahan
markets. The growth strategy 1s far-reaching
and includes providing new video advertising
formats, working in collaboration with

our key commercial partners, Facebook,
Snapchat and Google It also includes
DailyMailTV, a joint venture which launched
successfully in the US in September 2017 and
which attracted an average of 1 3 million
viewers 3 night by 1ts 8th week This makes
DailyMail TV the highest-rated debut of a
national news magazine show since 2007.

In the UK, the Mail Advertising team has
created a compelling, multi-channel
advertising selution which continues to
gain traction and has supported continued
market outperformance. dmg media’s
approach has created a more effective,
creative and increasingly targeted
proposition to advertisers which 1s vital

in the dynamic market conditions in which
we operate.

Metro

Metro delivered a strong revenue
performance in the context of a declining
print advertising market, growing underlying
revenues by [7)% over the year. The
performance reflects increased circulation
in London as well as taking on four regional
franchises from Trimity Mirror i January
2017 Metro has the largest circulation of any
weekday newspaper in the UK, 15 read by an
average of 3.1 million people each day and
has the largest Monday to Friday advertising
market share by volume. The challenging
print advertising market conditions are
expected to continue and Metro will

remain focused on defending 1ts profitability
whiist ensuring that the quality of the
newspaper and its creative approach

to advertising remamns,

Priorities in the yvear ahead

dmg media will continue to harness the
value of the Mail brands for both readers and
advertisers and invest in the quality of its
popular journzlism to drive and engage its
global audiences. Cperating efficiently with
a relentless focus on an agile cost base,
combined with inttiatives like the partnership
advertising team, will also be important
priorities Significant investment has been
made to establish MaillQnline as a global
market leader aver the last few years and

it 1s expected to achieve its first year of
profitability in the coming year.

Outlook

Consumer Media is expected to continue

to benefit from digital advertising growth
and to experience circulation volume

and print advertising declines, although
advertising revenues will remain volatile,

In FY 2018, the underlying rate of decline of
dmg media’s revenues Is expected to be in
the mid-single digits. The operating margin
is expected to be around [10)% in FY 2018,
compared to the [11)% delivered in FY 2017,
with the revenue reduction being partty
offset by the benefit of continued cost
efficiencies within the newspapers and by
MailOnline achieving profitability for the full
year in FY 2018.

Goonlinetoreadthe

dmgmediacase study
www.dmgt.com
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JVs & Associates

Share of adjusted
operating profit

£69m

2016
2017 Pro forma Movement
£m £im B
Euremoney Institutional Investor PLC ) 47 42 +11%
ZPG Plc 25 21 +15%
Other 2) (3) (18)%
Total share of operating profit 69 61 +14%

0 Proforma FY 2016 figures have been restated to treat Euromaoney as a ¢ 67% owned subsidiary during the first three manths
ahd as a € 49% owned associate during the nine manths to September 2016, consistent with the ownership profile dunng

FY 2017 See reconciliation on page 28

As well as a diverse portfolio of operating
businesses, DMGT holds two large
associate interests, in Euromoney
Institutional lnvestor PLC (Euromoney)
and ZPG Pic, formerly Zoopla Property
Group Pic. Euromoney and ZPG are

both UK listed companies and as at

30 September 2017 had a combined
market value to DMGT of £1,101 million.

Other current JVs & Associates include:

« Insurance Risk - £.30% stake in Praedwcat,
which 1s dedicated to improving the
underwriting and management of
casualty risk;

Property Information - €.40% stake in
Real Capital Analytics, an authonty on
the deals, the players and the trends
that drive the US commercial real estate
investment markets;

+ Consumer Media - ¢.24% stake In
Excalibur, which operates the online
discount businesses Wowcher and
LivingSocial UK; and

« Consumer Media - ¢.50% stake in
DarlyMailTV

In FY 2017, the Group's share of adjusted
operating profits from i1ts JVs & Assaciates
was £[69] million, including £[47] million in
respect of Euromoney for the mine months
to September 2017, following the reduction
in the Group’s stake in Euromoney te c.49%.

24

Euromoney ~ DMGT holding ¢.49%
Euromoney was founded in 1969 by the then
City editor of the Daily Mail and has grown
into a FTSE 250, international husiness-to-
business information and events group.

The portfolio consists of over 50 speciaiist
businesses, spread across primary

sectors including:

« Asset management - provides
independent research, critical news and
data and runs networks and conferences
for the asset management industry
- e.g. BCA Research, Ned Davis Research,
Institutional nvestor;

Pricing, data and market intelligence

- provides information and analysis
critical to clients’ business processes
and workflows across the metals and
mining, telecoms, insurance, arrline and
banking industries - e.g. Metal Bulletin,
TelCap, CEIC;

- Banking and finance - provides market
intelligence, news, traimng arnd
conferences to the global finance industry
- e.g. Euromoney, IMN, Global Capital, and

« Commodity events - teading conferences
In the metals, agriculture and energy
sectors - e g. Indaba, Global Grain.

Following the reduction in stake to
©.49%, Euromoney’s balance sheet is
now independent of DMGT’s, increasing
Euromoney’s financial flexibility to

be acquisitive and to accelerate the
implementation of its strategy

In April 2017, Euromoney completed the
acquisition of RIS, the leading price
reporting agency for the global forest
products market, for $125 million.

ZPG - DMGT holding ¢.30%

ZPG was founded in 2007 and has a highly
experienced management team The group
has a multi-brand, muiti-channel approach,
with its portfolio consisting of:

« Zoopla - the UK’s most comprehensive
property website that combines hundreds
of thausands of property listings with
market data and local information;

« PrimelLocation - one of the UK’s leading
property websites, helping the middle
and upper tiers of the market explore
dream homes from the top estate and
letting agents;

« uSwilch - the UK’s leading comparison
website for home services switching,

- Property Software Group - the UK’s
largest supplier of software and workfiow
solutions to the property industry; and

« Hometrack — the UK's leading provider
of residential property market insights
and analytics

The share of adjusted cperating profits from
ZPG increased to £{25] million, In O¢tober
2017 ZPG acquired Money.co uk, one

of the UK’s leading financial services
comparison websites.

Goonlinetoread about
Euromoney and ZPG
www.euromoneyplc.com
www.zZpg.co.uk
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Focusing on driving long-term shareholder value

Financial Review

DMGT’s long-term perspective and
financial strength have enabled
continued investment to support future
growth opportunities.

The Financial Review details DMGT's
performance during a year of transition,
where new strategic priorities were
established and investment to drive
long-term growth continued.

The statutory results reflect the exclusion of
discontinued operations, namely Euromaney,
frem revenue, operating profit and profit
before tax. As a result of the impairment of
the carrying value of goodwill and intangible
assets associated with Genscape, Xceligent
and SiteCompli, businesses in the Energy
Information and Property Information
sectors, DMGT made an operating loss in
the year. Profit for the year was £342 million,
an increase of [60]% on the prior year,
benefiting from gains on dispasals and,
simifarly, earnings per share grew 63]%
Good progress was made strengthening
DMGT's balance sheet during the year as
borrowings reduced by [32]% and the
Group’s defined benefit pension schemes’
position improved, as they ended the year
with a net surplus. The recommended total
dwdend for the year of 22.7 pence s up 3%
on the prior year, continuing DMGT’s track
record of delivering annual real dividend
growth and reflecting the Board’s confidence
in the Group's ability to deliver long-term
earnings growth.

DMGT is making progress towards
becoming a higher performance

business with a strong balance sheet and
the foundations for long-term growth.

The Board and management team use
adjusted results and measures, rather than
statutory results, to give greater insight to
the financial perfermance of the Group and
the way 1t is managed. Simiiarly, adjusted
results are used in setting management
remuneration. Adjusted results exclude
certain items which, (f included, could distort
the understanding of performance during
the year and the comparability between
penods and businesses. Consequently, the
rest of this Financial Review focuses on
adjusted measures. The explanations for

the different types of adjustment and the
reconciliations to statutory results are shown
on pages 128] to [31]. Similarly, when
assessing revenue and operating profit
growth, the Board and management focus
on underlying growth rates as the most
meaningfu! like-for-like comparison between
the current year and the prior year Amore
detailed explanation and the calculations are
shown on page [31..

There has been good progress against the
three strategic prionties dunng the year, with
the reduced stake in Euromoney, from ¢ 67%
to €.49% in December 2016, being the first
significant step in increasing our portfolio
focus Euromoney consequently changed
from being a subsidiary to being an
associate. To give a more meaningful
year-on-year cCOmparison, prior year pro
forma figures have been prepared assuming
the same holding profile as during FY 2017,
as shown an page [29].

Tim Collier
Group Chief Financial Officer

Financial Highlights -
Statutory Results

Revenue

£[1,564]m

2016 £[1,514]m

Operating (loss)/profit

£[(129)m

2016: £[31m

{Loss)/profit before tax

£[112]m

2016 £202m

Profit for the year*

£[342]m

2016. £[214]m

Earnings per share

[97.8]p

2016: [57 8lp

Dividend per share

22.7p

2016 22 0p

Goonlinetoread more
aboutour Financial highlights
www.dmgt.com
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Well positioned to drive shareholder value

Financial Review

Financial Highlights:
Adjusted measures*

Underlying" revenue growth

+[1]%

2016: +0%

Underlying” operating profit decline

[2)1%

2616: (11)%

Operating margin

[12]%

2016% [12]%

PBT growth

+[4]%n

2016 [(7)]%

Cash operating income growth
0
+[16]%

2016 (%)%

EPS growth
+[7] % {1

2016. [(6)]%

Net debt®

£[464]m

2016: £679m

Net debt’/EBITDA

[1.4]x

2016: 1.8x

Foatnotes are defined on the inside front cover with

the exception of that below

# Underlymg adjusted revenue or adjusted gperating
profit grawth Is on a fike-for-hke basis, See pages (s,
and {s] Underlying results are adjusted for constant
exchange rates, the exclusion of disposals and
closures and for the inclusion of the year-on-year
orgamic growth frem acquisitions For events, the
€OMmparsons are betwean events held m the year
and the same events held the previous time For
dmg media, underlying growth rates exclude the
benefit of an additional 53rd week from the FY 2016
results and underlying revenues cnly include the
profit but not the gross-up, equivalent to the cost of
sales, fram low-margm newsprint resale activities

Performance highlights
Performance in the year was broadly in ine
with our expectations, delivering underlying
revenue growth, highlighting the benefit of
a diversified portfolio in challenging market
conditions. Operating profit declined on an
underlying basis, however, as a result of the
combination of these conditions for some
of the B2B information businesses and our
planned investment in long-term growth
opportunities.

The Group’s revenue grew [1]% on an
underlying basis including an encouraging
|5]% for subscriptions and [3]% for
advertising, with digital growth driven by
MallOnline outstripping the decline in print.
Transaction revenues declined by an
underlying (4)%, reflecting challenging
market conditions for European Property
Infarmation and the solar part of the Energy
Information business. Revenues from events
and training continued to grow whilst
circulation revenues remained stable
Revenues grew ,31% on a pra forma®” basis
and benefited from the stronger US dollar
relative to the British pound.

The [2)% underlying decline in Group
adjusted operating profit was principally
due to the increase in RMS{one) related
amartisation costs, increased losses from
dmg information’s Xceligent business and
reduced profits from Genscape, where the
solar energy business had a particularly
challenging year Adjusted profit before
tax and ad|usted earnings per share were
adversely affected by the Euromoney
transaction but grew by [4]% and (7!%
respectively on a pro forma® basis.

DMGT increased the strength of the balance
sheet over the year, with the year-end net
debt to EBITDA ratio reducing to [1 4],
significantly below the Group’s preferred
upper limit of around 2 0 times. The
improved financial flexibility reflects the
benefit from disposal proceeds and
continued good cash flow generation.

Revenue performance

Group revenues in the financial year grew
11]% on the prior year on an underlying basis.
On a pro forma® basis, revenues rose by [3.%
to £71,660] million reflecting the stronger

US dollar relative to the British pound

The average exchange rate during the year
was £1:51.27 compared with £1 51.42 in the
prior year.

Revenues from B2B businesses grew 2]%

on an underlying basis, to £{976. million.
Within dmg information, continued
underlying growth was achieved by the
EdTech, US Property Infarmation businesses
and by the subscription based units within
the Energy information company, Genscape
This was, however, largely offset by decliming
transaction revenues from European Property
Information and Genscape’s solar business,
reflecting challenging market conditions.
RMS and dmg events also continued to
deliver underlying revenue growth. Reported
revenues benefited strongly from favourable
exchange rates as described above.

Revenues from the Consumer Media
business, dmg media, were £{683] million,
up [1)% on an underlying basis, with strong
growth from MailOnline more than offsetting
the decling from print advertising, whilst
circulation revenues remained stable.

The charts on page [27] demonstrate DMGT's
diverse revenue profile.

® Further detail on each operating
business’s revenue performance can
be found on pages|[16]to [23].

Operating profit performance

In the financial year, adiusted operating
profit of £[198] million was down by [2]% on
an underlying basis with the reduction being
largely attnbuted to the lower margin, as
axpected, at RMS and increased losses from
Xceligent, and grew by [2]% on & pro forma®
basis. The reported operating profit
benefited from the stronger US dollar, as
previously indicated The overall operating

Business performarice

Revenues [Pro forma®)

Operating profit* (Pro forma®)

FV17 FY16 Growth FY17 FY16 Grawth

£m £m Reported Underlying® £m £m Reported  Underlying®
B2B ] __
RMS 233 205 +14% +2% [33] 36 [{9)]% {[25])%
dmg information 531 498 +7% 2% [69] 77 [(10)1% {[13))%
omg events 117 105 +11% +3% [31] 29 +[6]% (I7%%
Euromoney 95 a0 +6% N/A 19 18 +6% N/A
Consumer 7
dmg media 633 706 (3% +1% [77] 77 +10]% +10]%
Eorporate costs [{31)) 42) +[26]% +[26]%
DMGT 1,660 1,604 +3% +1% [198] 195 +[2]% [(2}]%
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By business (%)

@ RMS 14
@ dmginformation 32
@ dmgevents 7
@ Euromoney 3

4 dmg media 41 i

margin was [121%, in line with the pro forma®
margin in the prior year.

The overall profit of the Group's B2B
operations was [£152! million, down from
£,160] milion, on a pro forma® basis, with the
reduction being attrnbutable to RMS{one)
amortisation, Xceligent losses and Genscape
The profit from dmg media was £[77) million,
an underlying increase of [10]%, and
corporate costs reduced by £[{11] million to
£[31] million.

Cash operating income

Cash operating income 1s a performance
metric used by DMGT to assess the cash
generation of its businesses. It 15 calculated
by adding back depreciation and
amortisation expenses, which are non-cash
items, to adjusted operating profit and then
deducting capital expenditure, In the
financial year, cash operating income for the
Group as a whole was £/199] million, [up]
£(27) million or [16]% on a pra forma® basis,
reflecting an improving profile at RMS

JVs & Associates

The Group's share of the adjusted operating
profits* of its JVs & Associates benefited by
£43m from the inclusion of Euromaney as an
associate for nine months of the year and,

Cash operating income

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

By type (%)

@ Subscriptions kil
@ Circulation 19
@ Events, conferences and training 8
@ Digital advertising 9
“% Print advertising 12

Transactions and other 21

as a result, increased by £[46] million to
£69] milbon. The increase was [14]% on a
pro forma® basis

Further information on our JVs & Associates’
performance can be found on page [24] of
this report

Financing costs

Adjusted net finance costs increased by [5]%
to £[42] millicn. DMGT benefited from lower
average net debt levels during the year but
the interest payable was adversely affected
by the stronger US dollar and an increase in
the share of asscciates’ interest payable to
£i5] million, from £[3] million in the prior
year.

The pension finance charge, which 1s
excluded from adjusted results, was £[5)
million for the year, in line with the prior year

Results before taxation

Adjusted profit before tax was £]226] million,
[4]% growth on a pro forma® basis, with the
increased finance costs partly offsetting the
growth in operating profit and the share of
profits from JVs & Associates

Taxation

The adjusted tax charge for the year, after
adjusting for the effect of exceptional items,
was £[29] millien, see note 11, compared to

@
g

By destination (%) ,
ol
L]
=
o
=

@ UK 49

@ North America 33

@ Rest of the World 18

£30 million in the prior year on a pro forma®
basis, The adjusted tax rate for the year of
"12 8.% reduced slightly from the pra forma®
basis 13.9% in FY 2016, reflecting the
increased use of historic UK tax losses,

and was lower than previously anticipated
due to the expected enactment of new UK
legislation restricting the use of losses not
taking place until after the yearend Dueto
new legislation and to the geographical mix
of profits, the effective tax rate 1s expected
to Increase to nearer [18}% in FY 2018 and
to increase further over the next few years,
to over 20%.

The statutory tax charge for the year was
£765) million. This excludes the charge of £[4]
million in respect of discontinued operations
and £[5 millien in respect of joint ventures
and associates. There were tax credits of
£.30) million in respect of the amortisation
and impairment of intangible fixed assets,
tax charges of £109] million in respect of
tax losses that can no longer be recognised
as deferred tax assets and tax credits of
£[35] milhon on other adjusting items

Profit after tax
Adjusted Group profit after tax and minority
interests was £,196] million, [7]% growth on
a pro forma® basis

£ million Source FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2016°
Adjusted Group operétmg p}c;flt Tables on page [29] - [198] |277] [185]
Add- Depreuatloin of tangible fixed assets Note 3 - [35] [36° [25]
Add AmOFtISBtEOf mtanglbie assets (e g products and software) Note3 - T [a41 128, 24]
Less Purchase of tangible fixed assets Cashflow B [(21)] 20l [24)]
Less' Expenditure onintangible assets (e.g. products and software) Cash flow [(58]}] [161)] [{59)
Add. Proceeds from tangible fixed assets B T Cash flow [1} - 2, T 12)
DMGT Cash operating income [199) [254] [172]
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Earnings per share

Adjusted basic earnings per share were
[55 6] pence, [T1% growth on a2 pro forma®
basis. The weighted average number of
shares inissue during the year was

[353 1] miliion, down shightly from

353 4 million in the prior year.

Net debt and cash flow

Net debt at the end of the year was

£[464) million, a decrease of £[214] million
during the year, and the net debt:EBITDA
ratio was [1.4]. The Group generated
operating cash flows of £[175] million, a
conversion rate of [88]% of operating profits,
compared with 729 in the prior year.
Operating cash flows included £{46] million
of exceptional operating items and £[79;
million of capital expenditure. During the
year there were also payments mace

for £[78] million of dividends, £[35] million
of interest, £{13) million of pension funding
and £[13] million of taxation.

Net proceeds from disposals, including
expenditure on acquisitions, were £[271]
million, and included £[218] million from the
reduction of the stake in Euromoney, after
adjusting for the de-consolidation of £36
million cash on Euromoney’s balance sheet.

At the end of the financial year, the Group
had £[424] milion of bonds with £[216]
million maturing in December 2018, £[10]
mithon maturing in April 2021 and £[197}
million maturing in June 2027. At the
year-end, the committed bank facilities were
£[611) million, of which £[565] million was
unutilised, and cash balances were £[7:
million, Bond debt constitutes less than half
of the debt available to DMGT.

DMGT's ratio of year-end net debt to
adjusted profits before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) was
[1.4] times, significantly below the Group'’s
preferred upper imit of 2.0 times, DMGT

has retained its BBB- investment grade
corporate credit ratings from each

of Standard & Poor's and Fitch.

Pensions

The Grpup’s defined benefit pension
schemes provide retirement benefits for UK
employees, largely in dmg media, These
schemes are closed to new entrants. The
financial position of the Group’s defined
henefit pension schemes, on an accounting
hasis, Improved from a net deficit of

£246 million at the start of the year to a net
surplus of £62 million at 30 September 2017
{calculated in accordance with {AS 19
(Revised). During the year, the value of the
assets increased and there was a reduction

in the value of the defined benefit obligation.
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Action was also taken to further reduce the
exposure to future investment, interest rate
and inflatian risk.

Funding payments into the main schemes
were £/13] million in the year and are
expected to continue, since the schemes
remain in deficit on an actuarial basis. The
agreed funding plan includes payments of
approximately £13 millon p.a. to FY 2019
and £16 million p.a. from FY 2020 to FY 2027.
Contributions may be discontinued should
the schemes’ actuary agree the schemes are
neo longer in deficit The next formal actuanial
valuation 1s scheduled for 31 March 2019,

Dividends

The Board aims to deliver sustained dividend
growth 1n real terms The recommended
final dividend 1s [x] pence which, if approved,
would make the total dividend for the year
'x) pence, an increase of [.]% over the prior
year. The recommended full year dwidend 15
equivalent to [.|% of adjusted earmings per
share and continues DMGT’s track record of
increasing the dividend in excess of inflation.
The Board's decision to recommend
increasing the dividend, in real terms,
despite the decline in adjusted earnings
during the year reflects the Group's dvidend

Pro forma®

policy and the Board's confidence in the
Group’s ability te deliver future long-term
earnings growth, The dividend policy is to
grow the dividend in real terms and, in the
medium term, to aim te distribute around
one-third of the Group’s adjusted earnings
This policy reflects the combined objectives
of delivering a reliable and precictable
dividend growth trajectory while also being
sufficiently prudent to retain the flexibility
to make significant investments in the
long-term future growth of the business.

Exceptional items, impairments
and amortisation

As explained in more detail below, certain
items, including exceptional costs,
impairments and some amortisation, are
excluded from adjusted results. Exceptional
operating costs were £[50] million in the year,
compared to £58 million in the prior year,
including our £7 muilion {2016 £4 million)
share of JVs and Associates exceptional
operating costs . There were £17) million
(2016 £25 milion) of severance costs,
incluging £]11] mitlien {2016 £4 million} in
respect of dmg information, and £[8) million
(2016 £2 millien} of restructuning costs,
including £{4] million in relation to the

In December 2016, DMGT reduced its stake in Euromoney from ¢.67% to c.49% and
Euromoney ceased to be a subsidiary of DMGT and became an associate. Euromoney
is therefore treated as a discontinued operation and its performance is excluded from
statutory results, other than earnings per share. DMGT's adjusted results include 100%
of Euromoney’s revenues and operating profits whilst it was a subsidiary during all of
FY 2016 and the first quarter of FY 2017, Thereafter, from January to September 2017,
the performance of DMGT'’s ¢.49% stake in Euromoney is only included within

JVs & Associates, which is reflected in the adjusted profit before tax and adjusted
earnings per share figures. Therefore, to allow for a like-for-like comparison, FY 2016
pro forma results have been presented based on treating Euromoney as a c.67%
owned subsidiary during the first quarter and as a c.49% owned associate during the
remaining nine months of FY 2016, consistent with the actual holding during FY 2017.

FY 2016 Pro forma
£ million FY 2017 Reported Revision Proforma Growth
Reveriue [1,660] 1,917 (313 1,604 +3)%
Operating profit [198] 277 (82) 195 +2]%
income from JV's & Associates [69] 23 38 61
Net finance costs [(42]] (40) 1 (40)

Profit before tax [226] 260 (43) 217 +[4]%
Tax charge [{29)] (37) 7 {30)
Minority interests T Hm {24) 22 )
Group profit [196] 1938 {14) 184
Earnings per share [55.6]p 56.0p (3.9p  52.1p +7]%
Revenue: B2B [a76] 1,212 (313) 899
Operating profit: B2B } [152]) 242 82) 160
Earnings per share [55.61p 56.0p [(39)p i52.1p




closure of the Didcot printing piant. Other
exceptional costs comprised £{14] millien
{2016 £2 million) of legal fees, principally in
respect of the defence by Xceligent, the US
property information business, of a complaint
filed by a competitor, and £[5: million

{2016 £10 mullion) of consultancy charges.

The charge for amortisation of intangible
assets arising on business combinations,
including the share from jont ventures and
associates, reduced by £72] milhon to

£/50] milhion The Group also made an
impairment charge against goodwill and
intangibie assets of £ 231) million, pnimarily
in respect of the Energy Information
business, Genscape, and two of the US
Property Information businesses, Xceligent
and SiteCompli. This does not affect the
Group’s cash flows.

Genscape faced challenging market conditions
during the year, due to the sustained low o1l
price, a low price volatility environment and,
most notably, a change in distribution
channels for the US residential solar market.
Given the continued challenges, particularly
for solar, and the likely time required before
Genscape becomes a major cash generatar,
the carrying value of the business has been
reduced to £{141] miilian, resulting in an
impairment charge of £[140] million.

Xceligent expanded into New York, the

US's largest commercial real estate market,
during the year and the revenue growth has
been significantly slower than previously
expected and, given the significant further
investment and time required to achieve full
national coverage, a decision was taken to
reduce the carrying value of the business to
zero, resulting in an impairment charge of
£[42] million. Similarly, SiteCompli’s planned
expansion into the national retail market has
proved moere chailenging than previously
expected and a full )impairment charge of
£[24" million has been taken in respect of

its carrying value.
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In accerdance with provision C.2.2 of the 2014 Corporate Governance Code, the
Directors have assessed the prospects of the Company. The Board used a three-year
review period. The next refinancing of our bank debt facitities and 5.75% bonds is within
the next three years {April 2019 and December 2018 respectively). Three years is also
consistent with the Group’s business planning cycle.

The Board's assessment of the Company’s future prospects and viability determined
the Group's averall risk capacity by considering banking and bond covenants, other
financial commitments, and borrowing capacity to determine the maximum loss from
risk events that the Group could endure whilst remaining viable. The assessment has
also been made with reference to the Group’s current position and prospects, the Group
strategy, the Board's risk appetite and principal risks, which the Directors review at
least annually. The key factors affecting the Group’s future prospects and viability are:

« DMGT manages a portfolio of cperating companies with diversity across sector,
revenue stream and geography. See page [+] in the Financial Review for the Group’s
revenue profile,

Financial flexibility through a strong balance sheet with continued good cash flow
generation and net debt to EBITDA ratio comfortably below our preferred upper limit.
The Group’s ability to restructure quickly through the portfolio management of
operating company subsidiaries and investments in JVs and Associates.

The long-term view of the Company afforded by the family shareholding.

Group forecast revenue, operating profit, EBITDA and cash flows were subject to robust
downside stress testing over the assessmertt period, which involved maodelling the
impact of a combination of hypothetical and severe adverse scenarios, This was focused
on theimpact of a number of the Group’s principal risks crystallising, including:

The impact of successive key product investment failures across the Group.

The impact of a significantty accelerated decline in print advertising and lower
arowth in digital advertising affecting profits from the Consumer Media businesses.
The impact of a significant decline in UK housing transaction volumes affecting
orofits of the European Property Information businesses and ZPG.

The impact of a severe cyberattack resulting in the loss of high volumes of personal
data, considering both the reputational impact, recovery costs and regulatory fines.
The impact of macro-economic factors including large foreign exchange fluctuations,
significant increases in interest rates and corporation tax increases.

Mitigations considered as part of the stress testing included a number of cost reduction
programmes and disposals of operating company subsidiaries and dilution of the
Group's stake in JVs and Associates.

Based on the analysis described above, the Directors confirm that they have a
reasonabie expectation that the Group will continue to operate and meet its liabilities
as they fail due over the next three years.

Joday 2i8aens

The explanation for each adjustment 1s
as follows

and measures, rather than statutory results,
to give greater insight to the financial
performance of the Group and the way it1s
managed. The tahles on page [+] show the
full list of adjustments between statutory
operating profit and adjusted operating
profit by business, as well as between
statutory profit before tax and adjusted
profit before tax at Group level for both

FY 2017 and FY 2016

The Group also incurred a £{41] million
impairment charge in respect of the Didcot
printing plant which was closed during

the year

Discontinued operations: the adjusted
results for FY 2017 include the pre-
dispesal results of discontinued
operations, namely Euromaney, in
which DMGT reduced its stake from
c.67% to c.49% in December 2016,
whereas statutory results only include
continuing operations

Note [«] on page [} shows the full list of 1. Exceptional operating costs businesses
adjustments between statutory and occasionally incur exceptional costs,
adjusted results. The table on page '+ shows including severance and consultancy

a summansed version of the reconciliation fees, in respect of a reorgarusation that
from statutory profit before tax to adjusted 15 incrermental to normal operations
profit before tax, Similarly, for the Group’s B2B businesses,

The Groaup recerded other net gains on
disposal of businesses and investments

of £[530] million, compared tc a net gain
of £[138] millien in the prior year DMGT
recognised £509 mullion of gains in respect
of the reduced holding in Euromoney,
including the gain on the revaluation

of the retained c.49% stake.

Adjusted results
As explained earlier, the Board and
management teamn use adjusted results
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there may be legal costs in respect of
litigation that are outside the ordinary
course of business and sufficientty material
to be treated as an exceptional cost

These are excluded from adjusted results.
Impairment of plant: occasionally the
carrying value of an asset in the balance
sheet js considered to be greater than the
value in use or fair value less costs to sell
and it s appropriate to impair it. The
associated charge is excluded from adjusted
results since 1t is unrelated to the ongoing
cost of doing business. The ongoing
depreciation and amortisation of tangible
assets and software, including products,
is, however, an everyday cost of doing
business and is included in both statutory
and adjusted results. A reorganisation may
also result In the write-off of the carrying
value of tangible fixed assets, as was the
case during FY 2017 when dmg media
closed its Didcot printing plant, and this
expense is excluded from adjusted results.

iv. Intangible impairment and amortisation:

when acquining businesses, the premium

paid relative to the net assets on the
balance sheet of the acguired business

15 classified as either goodwill or as an
intangible asset ansing on a business
combination and is recognised on DMGT’s
balance sheet. This differs to organically
developed businesses where assets such
as employee talent and customer
relationships are not recognised on

the balance sheet. Impairment and
amortisation of intangible assets and
goodwill arising on acquisitions are
excluded from adjusted results as they
relate to historical M&A activity and future
expectations rather than the trading
performance of the business during the
year. An example is the impairment in

FY 2017 of the goodwill and intangible
assets associated with the US Property
Information business, Xceligent.

. Profit on sale of assets: the Group

makes gains or losses when disposing of
businesses, for example on the disposal
of Euromoney shares when DMGT reduced

Vi,

v

its stake from c.67% te ¢, 49% These items
are excluded from adjusted results as they
reflect the value created since the business
was formed or acquired rather than the
operating performance of the business
during the year.

Pension finance charge: the finance charge
on defined benefit schemes 1$ a formulaic
calculation that does not necessarily
reflect the underlying economics
associated with the relevant pension
assets and babilities. It1s effectively a
notional charge and 1s excluded from
adjusted results.

. Other adjustments: other items that are

excluded from adjusted results include
changes in the fair value of certain
financial instruments and changes to
future acquisition payments They are
considered to be unrelated to the ongoing
cost of doing business. The share of joint
ventures’ and associates’ tax charges is
included in statutory profit before tax but,
since It 1s a tax charge, is excluded from
adjusted profit before tax. The share of

Reconciliation of statutory operating profit to adjusted operating profit: FY 2017

dmg dm, dmg  Corperate Jvs &
£ million RMS information events Euromoney media costs  Associates Group  Explanation
Statutory operating profit 30 (157 28 - 6 (33) 71 (129) i
Discontinued operations - - 13 - - W] - '
Exceptional operating costs 27 3 1 9 2 7 50 I
Impairment of plant - - - 42 - - 42 n
Intangible impairment and amortisation - 239 - 5 1 - 36 282 W
Exclude Jvs & Associates i 59 (59)
Adjusted operating profit 33 69 31 19 77 {31) 198
Reconciliation of statutory operating profit to adjusted operating profit: FY 2016

dmg drmy dmg  Corporate Vs &
£ million RMS information events Euromoney media costs Assoclates Group Explanation
Statutory operating profit 33 47 27 - 28 (50} 5 91
Discontinued operations - - N - - (2) 39 i
Exceptional operating costs i 6 1 13 24 } 9 4 58 i
Impairment and amortisation 24 1 a6 25 N 11 107 W
Exclude Jys & Associates B N 17 (17)
Adjusted operating profit 36 77 29 100 77 (a2) ! 277
Pro forma®™ adjusted operating profit of £18 million for Euromoney and £195 million for Group
Reconciliation of statutory profit before tax to adjusted profit before tax
£ million FY 2017 FY2016* Explanation
Statutory profit before tax (112} (202,
Discontinued operations 523 [45] i
Exceptional operating costs o 50 [58] i
Impairment of plant ) 42 [-] _ i)
Intangible impairment and amortisation 282 [107] w
Profit on sale of assets i (530} (138} v
Pension finance charge 5 5] vi
Other adjustments {33) [(19)] vii
Adjusted profit before tax 226 [260}

Proforma Fy 2016 adjusted profit before tax of £217 rmillion
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Joint ventures’ and associates’ interest
charges I1s reclassified to financing costs
inthe adjusted results

Underlying growth

When assessing the performance of the
different businesses, the Board considers
the adjusted results. The year-on-year
change in adjusted results may not, however,
be a fair like-for-like comparison as there

are a number of factors which can influence
growth rates but which do not reflect
underlying performance.

When calculating underlying growth,
adjustments are made to give a like-for-like
comparison. For example, the adjusted
results in FY 2017 benefited from the
strengthening of the US dollar relative to
the British pound. To calculate underlying
growth, the prior year comparatives are
restated using the FY 2017 exchange rates

Similarly, adjustments are made to
completely exclude disposals from both
years When businesses are acquired,

Underlying performance

Daily

the prior year comparatives are adjusted
to include the acquisition.

The timing of events can also be a distortion.
To give a fair like-for-like comparison when
calculating underlying growth, the FY 2016
comparative 1s amended to include the
revenues and profits from the previously
held events for each FY 2017 show.

In FY 2017, DMGT's revenues grew by 3]%
on a pro forma® basis and the adjusted
operating profit grew by [2]% on the same
basis. The growth rates benefited from the
stronger US dollar. After adjusting for this
factor as well as others, such as acquisitions
and disposals, the underlying growth rates
were 1]% for revenues and a [2]% decline

in adjusted operating profit, as shown in
the table below.

Outlook

DMGT's financial results for the year reflect
the difficult market environment faced

by some of our businesses, particularly

in the Energy Information and Property

Mail and Generat Trust plc Annual Report 2017

Information sectors and print advertising
market Nevertheless, the Group’s relatively
resilient performance demonstrates the
henefits of our diversified portfolic and the
strength of our market-leading businesses.
Looking forward, we will remain focused on
prudent financial management to maintain
our strong balance sheet, alongside delivering
on the long-term revenue, profit and cash
flow potential which the Group has
developed In 2018, in line with our strategic
prionties, we will continue to deliver further
operational efficiencies, increase the gortfolio
focus and enhance our financial flexibility to
invest in our chosen segments and markets
while increasing shareholder returns.

Tim Collier
Group Chief Financial Officer

FY 2017 FY 2016 |
Exchange Underlying
£ million Reported MEA Other* Underlying Reported ME&A rates Other Underlying growth
Revenues ) '
RMS [233] - - [233] 205 - 125) - [230] : +[2]%
dmg information [531] [(33)] - [498] 458 ({49 [41] - [490 +2]%
dmg events [117] o T o 105 oy W a4 %
Euromoney 95 {95) - - 403 {403] N - N N/A
dmg media [683] [(5)] [(34}] [645] 706 [{18)] |4] [(52)] [640] +11%
DMGT [1,660] [{133)] [(34)] [1,493] 1,917 [1471)] 179] [i53)] [1.473] +[1]%
Qperating profit
RMS [33] - - [33} 36 - i8] - |44 {[25])%
dmginformation [69] 121 = [57] 77 [(16)] 5 z " ls6. {[13])%
dmp events [31] - [(0)] [30] 29 0] (3} [0] [33] {[7)%
Euromoney 19 {19) - - 100 (100) - - - N/A
dmgmedia 111 s1 - 82 17w @ e sl «10%
Corporate costs [{31)] - - [{31)] {42} - - - (42}! +[261%
DMGT [198] [{27)] (0) [172] 277 [{109]] 14] 1(6)) 1175] ([211%
* Other underlying adjustments include the timing of events, the exclusion of low-margin newsprint reselling and the additional 53rd week for dmg media in FY 2016
Statutory resuits’
£ million FY 2017 FY 2016 Movement
Revenue L o _ [1,564] 11,514] +3%
Operating {loss)/proht B o 7 B o [(129)) (91} 77[(7242]!%
(LOi);’ErPflt bgf_ore tax . T ) . [Tﬁ?)] _1202] EGJ)%
Profit for the year [342] [214] +|60]%
Earnings per share [97.8]p [57.8]p +[691%
Dividend per share o o Llp [22 0lp +[+]%
Net assets [919] 1529] +[741%
Borrowings o - - [480] [?05} {32)%
Pension surplus/(defl-cn) h [62] [(246}] _(Hsﬁ

Statutory revenue, operating praht and profit before tax figures are for continuing operations only {excluding Euromoney] The FY 2016 statutory results have been reclassified accordingly
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Entrepreneurialism, Purpose and Excellence

Our People and our Communities

DMGT encourages curiosity and
innovation amongst our people.

We value people who stretch themselves
to achieve high standards, who also act
with a clear sense of purpose and who
value the communities in which they live
and work. In turn our people can expect
an environment that allows them to
reach their full potential with the support
of experienced leaders, high-quality
learning and development tools and the
career opportunities afforded by working
within a diverse, international portfolio
of businesses,

Our values

The way DMGT thinks about its
business and its people 1s embodied
in our three overarching values.

Entrepreneurialism
Purpose

Excellence

Entrepreneurialism

Entrepreneurs have been a driving force
for DMGT’s business since brothers Alfred
and Harold Harmsworth invented popular
journalism with the launch of the Daily Mail
In 1896,

DMGT is dedicated to backing great ideas
and the people who make them a reality,
from home-grown success stories like
MailCnline and Euromoney to early
investrments in innovative businesses like
RMS, Haobsons and Trepp.

DMGT seeks out entrepreneurs renowned

in their industries for growing businesses
and provides them with the backing and
resources of a multinational public company.
Many of DMGT’s operating businesses
continue to be led by the entrepreneurs

who founded them, a testament to DMGT’s
culture of nurturing and developing

talented entrepreneurial people
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Purpose

Alongside our commitment to
entrepreneurialism, DMGT’s businesses
and our people operate with a clear sense
of purpose, beyond prefit.

DMGT is able to invest for long-term
sustainable growth and quality, and in
businesses that share our ethos, whether
that’s providing insights that make it
possible to ‘insure the uninsurable’, driving
towards ever-greater transparency across
property markets, enriching connecticns
between businesses and communities
with industry-leading exfubitions or
holding authonity to account through
high-quality journalism.

DMGT is a respansible business,
dedicated to its people and communities,
and operates to a clear set of principles
and ethical standards. Through a range of
local partnerships within the communities
our businesses serve and Group-wide
programmes such as our CR Champions
network, DMGT supports and encourages
purpose within aur commurnity.

& Read more about our communities
programme on page [34]

Excellence

DMGT I1s committed to excellence,
demonstrated through its dedication
to creating the highest quality content,
proprietary data and product.

Our aim is to be at the forefrant of cutting
edge technology and within new, exciting,
high-potential growth sectors,

As a driver in technolegical innovation,
DMGT is defirung the jobs of the future
through its ground-breaking work in data
science, artificial inteligence, machine
learning and predictive analytics found
across businesses including Genscape,
Hobsons and RMS

DMGT holds a wealth of top leadership
talent and sector expertise at Group level
and across its cperating companies.

Our people are supported by a range of
tailored {ocal and Group-wide tearning
and development programmes.

In FY 2017, the Group initiated a programme
to leverage our scale and the expertise of cur
people and improve sharing of best practice
across the Group, The aim is to support

the Group's operating companies through
Centres of Expertise.

DMGT established and upgraded a number
of business functions including Group HR,
M&A and performance management,
building on expert knowledge and best
practice from around the Group.

Our People Agenda

DMGT’s people agenda plays a key role

in helping the Group to deliver against its
strategic priorities, particularly improving
cperational execution

HR centre of expertise

(n FY 2017, led by the Group HR Director,
DMGT embarked on a fundamental
re-shaping of its central HR function to
ensure that the Group’s operating companies
have access to a world-class people operation,
backed by the scale and expertise of OMGT.

The HR centre offers a set of services across
talent, reward and communications that
support the operational HR business
partners with leadership, employee
development and best practice with the aim
of achieving:

» Better connectivity across our business;

» Anincreased level of support for HR
services within operating companies; and

» A more efficient structure for delivering
key HR services across the business.

Keeping our people informed

One of the challenges of a geographically
diverse organisation Is ensuring that we

can effectively communicate with al! of our
people. This year we have launched a new
global employee portal with increased
functionality, enabling easier employee
connectivity, which complements local
Intranet sites. We began our employee
engagement programme to help ensure that
our colleagues have the opportunity to have
their voice heard. We also operate DMGT
Dally, our daily email news bulletin and we
have a number of topic-specific employee
networks such as the Cyber working group,
bringing people together from across

the Group to discuss common themes,
share our strengths and improve local
operational practices.



Talent

The DMGT talent centre provides talent
acquisition and development support for
the Group’s operating businesses including
carrying out executive talent reviews and
identifying and delivering a learming and
development curncutum

Reward

The reward centre provides operating
companies with access to accurate salary
benchmarking as well as managing
employee benefits across the Group

Communications
The DMGT communications centre provides

arange of support services including internal

communications, media relations and
corporate branding.

Global Mobility

fn line with our commitment to support
and reward exceptional employees,
creating internaticnal opportunities, DMGT
promoted a number of internal candidates
to Group-level leadership, including roles

in Performance Management & Strategy,
Coporate Development and M&A, HR and
Technology and we will continue tc develop
our capabilities at the HR Centre to support
global employment advancement
opportunities. DMGT offers short-term
secondment opportunities such as the
Guest Auditor Programme. (See case study
for mare details.)
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Responsible business

DMGT is a responsible business that adheres
to strong ethical standards with a clear,
robust Code of Conduct

Our Code of Conduct sets the standards

for our corporate and individual conduct
The code includes standards for equal
opportunities, anti-bribery, conflicts of
interest, share dealing and fair competition
among other topics Many of the topics in
the Code are supported by detailed policies
and procedures.

In a cimate where employees, customers
and other stakeholders are increasingly
interested in the way companies do
business, the things we do to encourage
responsible business practice across the
Group contribute to the credibility and value
of DMGT'’s reputation and employer brand

These include:

« Strong governance and leadership which
premote responsible business attitudes
and actions across the Group;

» Ensuring DMGT employees understand
key legal and reputational 1ssues;

« Operating effective risk management
and internal controls; and

+ Business level participation in CR and
community support.

Our Communities

As a diverse, international business,

DMGT focuses its community efforts on

a combination of Group-level partnerships
that allow It to make the most of Its

scale and size, and support for local
community initiatives and relief efforts,
through its CR Champions network,

Total charitable donations duning the year
were £817k Funds donated are in addition

wodsy xi8aiens

to initiatives which encourage our businesses

to allow employees to volunteer their time
to support local charities.

Following the terrible fire at Grenfell Tower,

over 80 employees volunteered their time

to help victims of this tragedy, cocrdinated

by DMGT’s local charity partner the K&C

Foundation. DMGT responded with a £150,000

donation to the Grenfell Tower Appeal and
matched indwvidual employee donations.

Following Hurricane Harvey, which hit

the US Gulf Coast at the end of August this
year, colleagues from Genscape, Hobsons,
RMS and Xceligent all helped cut with the
relief effort. Volunteers assisted at food
banks and DMGT and Hobsons matched
individual fundraising denations

wrth $50,000

Guest Auditor Programme

Run by OMGT’s internal audit function.
The aim 15 to offer an opportunity for
employees from finance and IT across all
our businesses to join the internal avdit
team on a review of another operating
company within the DMGT portfolic

The benefits of this programme are
multifaceted. It offers the individual

a development opportunity, exposing
them to a different operating company.
It helps them compare, contrast and
suggest new or improved processes
that could be implemented in their
own team. The programme also assists
with sharing of knowledge and best
practice, and professional networking
across the Group

“The Guest Auditor Programme is

a brilliant initiative. I took part working
with the DMGT internal audit team at
our RMS office based in Califorma,

[ spent a week with the managers of
RMS understanding their business,
processes and controls alongside a
high-performing internal audit team.
1 had the opportunity to share

my experience whilst utilising ideas
from RMS that could apply to my
own job. I would highly recommend
the programme to anybody wanting
to broaden their financial skillset™.

James Traynor (Commercial Analyst, dmg events)

At a Group level, the programme helps

to further highlight and promote the
importance of a controlled financial and

IT Security environment. The business
under review gains an understanding of its
importance, at the same time the guest
auditor will return te their home business
and cascade information on the
importance of maintaining this control.
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Entrepreneurialism, Purpose and Excellence

Our People and our Communities

CR Champions Network

A network of individuals representing each operating business who meet by video f
call each quarter to discuss CR at a grassroots level.

The CR Champions share ideas and lessons (earnt from CR initiatives they have

carried out to encourage best practice. They promote Group initiatives such as the Fran Sallas
Community Champions Awards and coordinate efforts for unexpected events and Company Secretary
disasters in communities where our businesses operate. & Head of CR Champions

Networi, DMGT

g €38¢30

Michael Collins John Boanno John Whitaker Kate Gregory Alexandria Elia Carrie Patterson
Data Specialist and Human Resources Digital & Data PAtoCEO & CR Champion, Communications Application
Corporate Responsibility  Administrater, EDR Director, dmg evenis Landmark Executive, Administrator,
Officer, BuildFax dmg media dmg media Finance Services
' @ a ‘ ;
« '
NikiLee Premila Braganza Rebecca Spitzer Susan Hotchkiss Dan Via Merabeth Martin

Vice President, Head of HR, Head of Corporate Social Director, Human Head of Chief People Officer,

Human Kesources, dmeg events— Responsibility, Resources, EDR Adminastration, Genscape
Trepp Middle East & Asia RMS Xcefigent

Victoria Halfhide Karen Farrelly @ Tofind out more aboutthe CR Champions network go to
PAto Company Finance Controller, www.dmgt.com/corporate-responsibility
Secretary, DMGT Harmsworth Printing
dmg media
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Community Champion Awards

The DMGT Community Champions Awards are designed to recognise
some of the outstanding work DMGT’s people do to support the
communities they work and live within, The awards attracted over
100 nominations from across the Group with winners for the 2017
awards selected by members of the DMGT CR Champions Network.

Community Champions Awards winners 2017

Personal Achievement Award -

Susan Caesar & Community First

Susan €aesar, Head of Customer Service,
dmg media, secured the Personal
Achievement Award for her work with
Community First UK. Susan supported
founders Carol Malone and Pauline Lockhart
to formally set up Community First UK, a
not-for-profit social enterprise that facilitates
projects and initiatives that act locally

Community First is a start-up. Carol and
Pauline came up with the concept of
Community First in 2014 as they were
delivering digital support within the county
of Angus, Scotland.

Susan provided essential business advice

in helping them identity and decide on

the structure and requirements of a
not-for-profit social enterprise. With Susan's
wealth of knowledge and business acumen,
this advice was invaluable in formalising
the company.

The funds raised by Community First will
be going towards two main objectives:
creating an employability and digital
training programme which will produce a
talent bank to connect delegates with focal
employers; and creating public training
courses to promote digital inclusion in the
{ocal commurity.

Team Award - Jade Woodall and Bjorn
Sirum, Livingstone Tanzania Trust (LTT)
Jade Woodall, Project Manager, and

Bjorn Sirum, Commercial Sales Manager,
dmg events, were the winners of this year's
Team Award. dmg events have been
supporting the LTT for over six years,

and Jade and Bjorn helped the charity with
a project to fund and build the Sawe Primary
School in Tanzania

The project will give hundreds of young children
every year the opportunity to receive an
education in a safe environment and in total,
they raised funds for the Sawe School Project.

Green Award - RMS Green Team
The RMS Green Team won the Award
for their work during RMS Green Week.
They ensured the changes they made
were sustainable throughout the year.

Across six RMS offices it is estimated that
a totat of 120 hours were used to plan
and participate in environmentally
friendly activities.

Actwvities included various events and
several e-waste collections throughout
the offices, employees signing on pledge
boatds and hosting a clothing drive for
an organisation that helps provide outfits
to low-income individuals, enabling them
tc make a good impressien at their

Job interviews.

During a trp in 2017 to Tanzania and the Sawe
village, they worked alongside buitders and
volunteers from the community to complete
the foundations of three classroems.

Commenting on theirwin, Jade and Bjorn
said, *The Livingstone Tanzara Trustis a
charity we are very passionate about, so
finding out we had won was a reatly exciting
moment! We have been overwhelmed

with everyone’s support at DMGT and feel
extremely proud to have received as many
nominations as we did, let alone actually win!
We are excited to see the Sawe Primary
School Project progress to the next stage.”

In a few RMS offices, guest speakers were
invited to lecture on

« Waste Management, which covered the

various ways in which to recycle and

reuse waste products;

Sustainable Textiles and the environmental

and social impact of buying a certain

plece was given by one of the RMS

flood modellers;

+ Ways to compensate for greenhause
gas emissions, and

« Thinking about diet! Explanation on
how a vegetarian or vegan diet helps to
reduce CO, and methane gas emissions

Rebecca Biestman, Head of Internal
Communications & Corporate Social
Responsihility, RMS, said, “Ensuring

that our company 1s conscious of our
environment and continues to be ‘green’

& Theschemeisdetailed at
www.dmgt.com/corporate-responsibility
® Videosofthe Awards
ceremoenies can be found at
www.youtube.com/user/dmgtplc

Susan said, “This 1s amazing! I'm so pleased
to be able to gift £5,000 to Community First
from DMGT, they deserve the recognition
and will be able to change more people’s
lives for the better. A massive thank you

to everyone who voted for me”

is one of the pillars of our C5R teams
across the company. The prize reflects
the work we have done and centinues to
motivate us in our efforts This initiative
benefits our earth and rerminds us to
stay cognitive of what 1s necessary to
maintain and improve the environment
around us We will continue to try to
make smart choices.”
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Strategic Report

Actively monitoring and managing our risks

Principal Risks

A robust and detailed assessment of the Group Risk Register and the Group’s
risk management processes was carried out by management and overseen

by the Audit & Risk Committee.

The Group’s risks are categorised as either strategic or operational Strategic risks are linked to the Group’s strategic priorities and impact

the whole Group. Operational risks are those ansing from the execution
the principal businesses.

of the husiness functions and typically impact on one or more of

€ Further details of the Group’s risk managemaent process, the governance structure surrounding risk and the Aud it & Risk Committee

can be found in the Governance Report on pages [50] to [55].

Strategic risks

Oescription and impact Ex

Market disruption

Market disruption creates opportunities as well as risks. Disruption
enables us to move into new markets and geographies to grow

the business.

te

Failure to anticipate and respond to market disruption may affect
the demand for our products and services and our ability to drive
long-term growth

.

Success of new product launches and internal investments
A lack of Innovation in response to competitive pressures or failure

to successfully develop our products and services may compromise
their appeal.

Some may fail to achieve customer acceptance and yield expected
benefits. This could result in lower-than-expected ravenue and/or
impairment losses.

Uncertainty also results from geographic expansion into new and
emerging markets

Portfolio management®
Increasing portfolio focus is key to the Group’s strategy. This could be
compromised by portfolio changes not delivering expected benefits,
acquisitions and investments not delivening as expected or not
divesting from non-core businesses at the right time,

.

o Referred to as ‘Acquisitions and disposals’ 1n the 2016 Annual Report
Economic and geopolitical uncertainty
The Group performance could be adversely impacted by factors beyond

our control such as the economic conditions n key markets and sectors,
and political yncertainty,
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amples

Market disrupters include changes to custamer behaviours and demands, new

chnologies, the emergence of competitors or structural changes to markets

Examples from the operating companies include

Consumer Media, dechine in print advertising revenue and fast-changing
digital advertising environment;

Insurance Risk: convergence of reinsurance with capttal markets and
consolidation in nsurance industry 1in RMS;

EdTech pelitically driven change to public school funding and/or the
regulation of post-secondary education, and

Energy Information: rapidly evolving solar industry,

The Group 1s continually investing In our products and services, developing
new lines and enriching existing products and services. Examples include

Consumer Media increased monetisation of our online user base and
execution of DalyMailTV;

[nsurance Risk: client adoption of RMS{one] and the launch of new models,
Property Information geographical expansion of Xceligent across the US
and Trepp's entrance into Collateralized Loan Obligations market,

Energy Information Genscape launch of new real-time power generation
platform and maritime voyages service, and

+ Events and Exhibitions: the geo-cloning of events across new locations.

Growth opportunibies and potential synergies tost through failure to
identify or succeed with acquisition and investment targets
Underperforming acquisitions and investments may lead to reduced return
on capital and/or impairment losses.

Underperforming acquisitions and investments could result in a diversion
of management time

Optimal value may not be achieved from divestments.

Property Information volatility in residential and commercial property
transactions could impact revenue.

Consumer Media: a weakerung of the UK economy, particularly if
consumer-led, couid accelerate the decline im print advertising revenue
Energy Infarmation: fluctuations in the global commodities markets
could impact Genscape's revenues.

Insurance Risk sustained low interest rates could weaken the sector's
overall performance and impact RMS,

Events and Exhibitions' fluctuations in the global o1l markets could
impact revenue from associated trade shows if discretionary revenue
from delegates, exhibitors and sponsorships decline Political
uncertainty, particularly in the Middle East, could Impact execution

of events in the region.



Changes in principal risks during the year
The risk of ‘Major change projects’ disciosed last year pnimarily related to the execution of simplification and reorgarisation initiatives,
which are largely now implemented. For this reason the risk i1s not currently considered a principal risk for the Group. The operating
companies continue to undertake operational change projects and the associated risks are tracked on the Group’s risk register

1.

6 Risk increased

risk prcfile.

e Risk did not change 0 Risk decreased

Daily Mail and General Trust pic Annual Report 2017

. The principal risk examples below do not include Euromaney’s risks as they are no longer consolidated into the Group’s overall

Mitigation

The Group’s diverse and balanced portfoho of businesses and products reduces the
overall Group impact

Orgamic investment ritiatives across the Group to itnovate our products and services
and to remain competitive in the markets we serve Organic investment was 9% of total
revenuesin FY 2017

The Executive Committee, supported by the Performance Management and Strategy
function and operating companies’ management teams, monitor markets, the
competitive landscape and technotogical developments

Analysis of the performance management dashboard and detailed financial
management information for each operating company to tighlight and react to early
indicatars of market disruption,

DMGT executive membership of operating business boards

The autonemodus culture of the Group encourages an entrepreneurial approach to
identifying growth opportumties and new products

The Executive Committee, supported by the Performance Management and Strategy
function, provide oversight of progress from the centre Analysis of the performance
management dashboard and detailed financial management information to monitor
achievement of key milestones

Performance Management and Strategy function partners with eperating company
senior management teams to support achievement of key milestones where necessary
Significant investments are approved by the tnvestment & Finance Committee and/or
the Board

.

The Executive Committee conducted (and cantinues to conduct) a nigorous evaluation
of the Group’s portfolio In order to allocate resources according to indwidual business
growth charactenstics and funding requirements

Investments and divestments are approved by the Investment & Finance Committee
Extensive due diligence conducted pre-acquisition and comprehensive integration plan
implemented post-acquisition by dedicated function

The Executive and Investment & Finance Committees, supported by the Performance
Management and Strategy function, monitor post-acquisition perfermance, and support
proactive intervention if performance milestones are not being met

DMGT executive membership of operasting business boards and associate boards
{Euromoney and ZPG)

@

This risk increased over FY 2017 que to the increasing
number of transactions particulally divestments,

in the portfolio in the year including the reduction

in Euromoncy helding

The Group's diverse and balanced portfolio of businesses and products reduces the
overall mpact of any one disruption or change

Analys:s of the performance management dashboard and detailed financial management
mformation by the Executive Commuttee and operating companies’ management teams
to highlight early trends and impacts from economic and geopolitical uncertainty

@

Thes risk increased over FY 2017 reflecting the
continued uncertainty in politicai and economic
\andscapes in which we oporate
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Actively monitoring and managing our risks

Principal Risks

Strategic risks continued
Description and impact

Examples

Talent*
Our ability to identify, attract, retain and develop the right peogle for

senicr angd business-critical roles could impact the Group’s performance.

¥ Referred to as 'Securing and retaiming talent’ 1n the 2016 Annual Report

.

Entrepreneurship and leadership skills are a prionity for the Group and
key to the continued success of many of our operating companies
Technology and software development skills remain crucial to many of our
businesses, particularly RMS, Genscape and MaillOnbne where collectively
there s significant iInvestment i product development

The strategy te build out our data analytics capabiities places focus on
developing and attracting data scientists and specialists in machine
learning, artificial intelligence and other emerging technologies These
skills are in high demand which makes attracting and retaining people with
these skills more competitive

Enterprise sales and operational execution expertise with market and
product knowledge are vital, particularly in our businesses with significant
expansion plans

Operational risks
Description and impact

Examples

Information security breach or cyberattack

An information secunty breach, including a failure to prevent or detect
a malicious cyberattack, could cause reputational damage and financiat
loss The mvestigation and management of an incident would result

in remediation costs and the diversion of management time

A breach of data protection legislation could result in financial penalties
for the business affected and potentially the Group.

The risk 1s relevant to all businesses n the Group due to the nature of products

and services across the portfolio Examples which could impact the Group include-

+ Loss or unauthorised access to persenal information and sensitive client data,
- Unavaiability or disruption of anline products and services;

« Integnity of online products, services and data compromised,

« Disruption to cntical systems which support business operations; and

- Theft of intellectual property.

Reliance on key third parties

Certain third parties are critical to the operations of aur businesses.
Afailure of one of our critical third parties may cause disruption to
business operations, impact cur ability to deliver products and services
and resutt in financial less. The reputation of our businesses may be
damaged by poor performance or a regulatory breach by critical third
parties, particularly outsourced service providers

Key third parties include:

Data centre and cloud service providers,

iT development support;

+ Data providers for core product,

Newsprint, flexographic plate and ink suppliers;
Newspaper distribution and wholesale, and
Event venues.

.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group operates across multiple jurisdictions and sectors.
Increasing regulation increases the risk that the Group is not complant
with all applicable laws and regulations across all of the junisdictions
in which it operates, which could result in financial penalties and
reputational damage

Increasing regulation also results in increasing costs of compliance.

Partcular areas of focus for DMGT businesses are;

Data protection, including the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR}
and the prepossd ePrivacy Regulation,

Competition and anti-trust legislation;

EU Market Abuse Regulation;

Libel legislation,

Tax compliance,

UK Bribery Act,

Trade sanctions, and

Entering regulated markets or sectors

Pension scheme deficit

Defined benefit pension schemes, although now closed to new entrants
were In operation across the newspaper business, certain other UK
businesses and DMGT head office The schemes remain ultimately
funded by DMGT, with Pension Fund Trustees (Trustees) controdling the
investment allocation.

There is a risk that the funding of any deficit could be greater than
expected,
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Future pension costs and funding requirements could be increased by

« Adverse changes in investrment performance,
« Valuation assumptions and methadology; and
« Inflation and interest rate risks
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Mitigation

+ The Group has established a centre of expertise for HR specialising on recruitment,
succession planning, critical skills planning, identifying and developing internal tatent,
and reward.

+ Executive management 1s involved in the recruitment of all operating company leadership
roles and therr angoing development.

« Retention of key management in businesses

« Payment of competitive rewards for key senior roles, developed using industry benchmarks
and external specialist input.

« Empioyee engagement initiatives including Group-wide employee survey with follow-up
action plans in place in each operating company

Trend

@

The tisk increased over FY 2027 as 2 result of the

reorganisetional changes implemertea As these

changes are embedded in the operating companies
¢ W expoct the risk to stabilise

Mitigation

» Establishment of an Information Security Steering Committee led by the CEO to provide
oversight of iInformation security initiatives 1n the Group.

- Appointment of a Group Chief Information Officer and a Group Chief Information
Security Officer

« Commuissioned by the Information Secunty Steenng Committee, 8 Group-wide
independent review of information secunty pesture within the operating compames

« This review has resulted in actionable roadmaps for improvement where necessary,

= Group information security policy and detailed information secunity standards with
regular reviews against these standards reported to the information Security Steering
Committee Periodic reviews of the standards themselves are performed to ensure they
keep pace with best practice.

» Working group with representatives from across the Group meeting regularly and sharing
information secunity best practice.

« Information secunty 1s reviewed as part of every internal audit of an aperating company

= Cyberinsurance policies in place

Trend

@

This risk mcreased over FY 2017 as the nherent threat of
an information secunty breach or cyberatiack continues
o increase This s partial y offset by continuous
improvermert it mformation securty controls

+ The Group's diverse and balanced portfoho of businesses and products reduces the
overall /mpact of the failure of an indnadual third party

« Operational and financial due diligence 1s undertaken for key suppliers on an
ongoing basis

- Clese management of key suppher relationships including contracts, service levels
and outputs.

« Robust business continuity arrangements for the disruption to key third parties.

+ Dedicated newsprint-buying team

« Event cancellation and business interruption insurance policies.,

+ Changes in laws and regulations are menmitcred and potential impacts discussed
with the relevant persons, Beard, or Committee, or escalated as appropriate.

+ Developments in the legal and reguiatory landscape are reviewed by the Audit &
Risk Committee

+ Implementation and monitoring of Group-wide policies to address new legislation
and regulation where applicable

» Group-wide working groups in readiness for key emerging comphance areas, such
as the GDPR

= The agreed funding plan gives certainty over the finanaial commitment unti FY 2019,

« Monitoring and management of pension risks is performed by the DMGT Pension
Sub Committee

+ Company-appointed Trustees

o

This risk has decreased over FY 2017 as the Group s
defined benefit schomes arc an surplus, and cxposure
to future investment and inflation ris« was further
reduced
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Governance

Governance

Board of Directors
and Company Secretary

Key to Board and Committees

@ Audit & Risk Committee

~+ Remuneration & Nominations Committee

Francisco Balsemao, Nicholas Berry, Stephen
| Dantith, John Hemingway, and Suresh Kavan
+ each served on the Board for part of the year

. Investment & Finance Committee
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1. The Viscount Rothermere
Chairman e

ApEomlerﬁo the Board 1995
Appointed Chairman, 1998

Shalls and experience:

Lord Rothermere brings significant expernience
of media and newspapers. He worked at the
International Herald Tribune in Pans and the
Mirror Group before moving to Northchffe
Mewspapers in 1995 |n 1897 he became
Managing Director of the Evening Standard

Other appointments: Euromoney Institutional
Investor PLC Board and Nominations Committee
untit Novernber 2017

2. P A Zwillenberg
CEQ »
Appointed to the Board and CEQ:; 2016

Skills and experience:

Paul Zwillenberg has over 25 years’ expenence
across the media industry He has a breadth of
experience across DMGT's portfolio and a broad
knowledge of the Group, having set up the digital
division of dmg media {formerly Associated
Newspapers digital) in 1996 Prior to joining
DMGT, Paul was the Globat Leader Med:a Sector
and Senior Partner and Managing Director at
The Boston Consulting Group and befere that
founded an early interactive media company and
launched a European technology services firm

Other appointments: Euromoney Institutional
Investor PLC Board, Remuneration and
Nominations Committee until November 2017

3. T G Collier
Group Chief Financial Officer #

Apbantedg the Board ant Gfoup Chief Financial
Officer 2017

Skills and expenence:

Prior to joining DMGT, Tim Collier was Chief
Financial Officer of Thomson Reuters Financial
and Risk Business where he was responsible for
driving financial and risk performance, eptimising
resources and enhancing growth through
organic and strategic investments Tim’s
experience has spanned media and business
infermation Industries and functions including
banking, corporate finance, treasury, msurance,
internal audit, accounting and M&A

Other appointments: Euromeney institutional
Investor PLC Board, Nominations and Audit
Committee from November 2017

4. K ] Beatiy
Executive Director

Appomt-ed 10 the Board 2004
Skills and experience:
Kevin Beatty brings a number of years' media
industry experience He s CEC of dmg media

He was Managing Director of the Scottish Daily
Record and Sunday Mail Kevin has been Managing
Director of The Mail on Sunday, the Evening
Standard and London Metro, COC of both
Associated New Media and Northcliffe Newspapers

Other appointments: ZPG Flc, and Euromoney
Insbtutional Investor PLC Board, Nominations and
Remuneration Committee from November 2017
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3. P M Dacre

Executive Director

Appointed to the Board 1998

Skills and experience:

Paul Dacre brings unparalleled experience of

the UK newspaper industry He joined the Group
as US Bureau Chiefin 1979 Appointed Editor

of the Evening Standard 1in 1990, he has been
Editor of the Daily Mail since 1992 and Editor-in-
Chief of Associated Newspapers since 1998, years
which saw the launches of Metro and MallOnling,
respectively.

6. Lady Keswick

Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board 2013
Skills and experience:

Lady Keswick’s extensive career 1s based in public
policy and internatonal affairs, particularly in
Asla Sheis Deputy Chairman of the Centre of
Policy Studies and was a Special Policy Adviser

to the Rt Hon Kenneth Clarke QC MP, working

at the Departments for Health, Education and
Science, the Home Gffice and HM Treasury She
previcusly worked in advertising and journalism
In September 2013, Lady Keswick was elected

as Chancellor of the University of Buckingham

7. A H Lane

Non-Executive Director @ @

Appornted to the Board 2013

Skills and experience:

Andrew Lane brings a range of experience of
dealing in complex legal and regulatory matters.
He Is a partner at Forsters LLP and specialises

in private client law

Other appeintments: Trustee of the Pension
Fund of the Royal Agncultural Society of England

& F L Morin

Non-Executive Director
{Canadian)

A;pm;;xi to the Board ZE

Skills and expertience:

Frangois Mann brings a broad range of
experience and skills te the Board ansing from
his role as Partrer at the Canadian law firm
Borden Ladner Gervais He s a qualified lawyer
admitted to the Quebec Bar. In particular, he
brings aninternational perspective relevant to
the Group's glokal aperations and expenence
of regulatory matters across arange of areas
Frangois also has a strong record of community
involvement including as directer on a number
of chantatle boards

9. D11 Nelson

Non-Executive Director & @

Appointed to the Board 2009

Skills and experience:

David Nelson provides the Board and Audit &

Risk Commuttee with relevant financial expertise,
gamed through a career In accounting, He 1s Senior
Fartner at Bixon Wilson, Chartered Accountants,
and a Non-Executive Director of a number of
family companies He 1s an adwviser to UK-based
families and their businesses, advising on financial
and tax matters in the UK and overseas Heisa
trustee of a number of substantial UK trusts

10. K A H Parry

Independent Non-Executive Director # #
Appointed to the Board. 2014

Skills and experienee:

Kevin Parry 1s a chartered acccuntant who brings
a broad range of experience and skills to the
Board He serves on a number of listed company
boards and has previously been a Non-Executive
Director of Schroders plc and Knight Frank LLP.
He has extensive experience chairing zudit

and risk committees and being a member of
remuneration and nominations committees.

He was Group CEQ of Management Consulting
Group PLC and the managing partner of KPMG's
information, communications and entertainment
practice in London

QOther appointments: intermediate Capital Group
ple, Nationwide Building Society, Standard Life
Aberdeen plc and Royal National Children’s
SpringBoard Foundation

11. ] H Roizen
Independent Non-Executive Director
{American)

2JUBUIADD

Appomnted to the Board' 2012

Skalls and experience:

Heidi Roizen provides the Board with experience
in digital media, entrepreneunal growth and
business development in beth public and private
companies inthe US She teaches entrepreneurship
at stanford University Heidi was Vice President

of Worldwide Developer Relations for Apple
Computers, as well as being CEO and co-founder
of pioneering consumer software company T Maker.

Other appointments: DFJ

12, D Trempont
Independent Non-Executive Director
(American) e

Appointed to the Board, 2011
Shilks and experience:
Dominique Trempont brings expenence as a Chief
Executive Gfficer, Chairman and Independent
Board Director In large multinational high-tech
companies and start-ups He has extensive
knowledge of enline B2C and B2B markets

He Is currently on the board of one US public
company {Real Networks) and one private
company (ON24), focusing on disruptive
innovation and emerging markets

Other appointments: ON24, Real Networks

F L Sallas
Company Secretary

Appointed as Company Secretary: 2017

Skills and experience:

Fran Sallas s Secretary to the Board, Audit &
Risk Committee, Remuneration & Nominations
Committee and the Investment & Finance
Committee Fran s a Fellow of the institute

of Chartered Secrctarics and Administrators

Claire Chapman stocd down as Company
Secretary in July 2017
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Chairman’s Statement on Governance

Strong governance is essential to the | would like to thank John Hemingway and
way we operate throughout the Group. Francisco Balsemao for their contribution
Itis a key factor in cur ability to achieve to the DMGT Board as they both stood down
growth in a profitable, responsible and at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) in
sustainable manner and in how we February 2017. | would also like to pay tribute
maximise sharehoider value over the to Nicholas Berry for his contribution to the
long term. In practice, this means that Board, who sadly died in December 2016

the Board establishes a framework
within which our businesses operate
and deliver shareholder value. DMGT’s
approach to governance is distinctive,
as in addition to typical corporate
procedures, we are able to rely on and
utilise the significant benefits from the
family shareholding and the long-term
view that this permits.

This year we have continued to focus the
Governance Report on the key information
for shareholders in order to encourage

clear and concise reporting. More routine
mnfarmation such as our investor Relatrons
calendar and the Committee responsibilities
and Terms of Reference can be found on
our wehsite.

Chairman

www.dmgt.com/about-us/

In this st}ectlon The Board continues t_° be fully supportive board-and-governance
Ch;zrman s Statement eal of the strategic objectives set out by

onGovernance U Paul Zwillenberg as described in the CEO’s o

Corporate Governance  [46] Review on page% 110 to [13] Areas of The Viscount Rothermere
Executive Committee Report _ [51] particular focus for the Board include our Chairman

Investment & approach to our portfolio of businesses

Finance Committee Report (52] and their continued growth, as well

Audit & Risk Committee Report 58] as divestments, rigorous financial

Remuneration & management, balanced capital allocation

Nominations Committee Report  {58] and managing a strong balance sheet ‘

Remuneration Report o [e0] Additionally the Board has focused on our ‘

Statutory Information  _~ [84] people agenda and leadership capabilities.

Annual General Meeting 2018: Strong governance
Resolutions 88] Qur Board was strengthened by the

appointment of Tim Collier as Group Chief iS essential to the
Financial Officer in May 2017 and Frangois

Morin as a Non-Executive in February 2017 way we Operate

as detailed on page [3]. throughout the

Group.”

42



Committee structure
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The Board Committee structure 1s set cut in the diagram below.

DMGT Board
Collectively responsibie for the long-term success of the Company.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee meets reguiarly to discuss all
aspects of the Group’s performance and strategy,
particularly performance management, capital allocation

and senior talent considerations

Investment & Finance Committee

The Investment & Finance Committee evaluates investment
opportunities and financing proposals and monitors returns
on investments made.

@IUBUIADD

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee has responsibility for:
= The Company’s financial reporting,

= Narrative reporting;

« Whistleblowing arrangements;

« The Internal and External audit processes; and
« The signing off of external disclosures

Remuneration & Nominations Committee

The Remuneration & Nominations Committee ensures that
remuneration arrangements support the strategic aims of
the husiness and enables the recruitment, motivation and
retention of senior executives in a manner that is aligned

to shareholder interests, while also complying with the
requirements of regutation It also reviews the structure and
composition of the Board and its Committees, in particular

The Committee also oversees:

» The Group’s system of internal controls and risk

management;

+ The Group’s risk register, risk appetite and tolerance,
including as part of the Viability Statement; and
+ Developments in relevant legislation and regulation.

Time s allocated at each meeting for both Audit and Risk |

matters, to ensure that all items are adequately addressed.

Family shareholding

Rothermere Continuation Limited (RCL)
is a holding company incorporated

in Bermuda. The main asset of RCL 151ts
holding of DMGT Ordinary Shares RCL1s
owned by a trust (Trust} which is held for
the benefit of Lord Rothermere and his
immediate family, Both RCL and the Trust
are administered in Jersey, in the Channel
Islands The directors of RCL, of which
there are seven, included twe directors
of DMGT during the reporting period:
Lord Rothermere and Frangols Morin.

RCL has controlled the Company for many
years. RCL maintains that the Company
should be managed in accordance with high

standards of corporate governance for the
benefit of all shareholders, this has been the
case throughout the period of RCLs control.

RCL has again indicated to the Company that
its intentions for the Company’s governance
are long-term in nature and that it will
discuss with the Board of the Company

any material change in its intentions n
particular, RCL has confirmed its intention
that the Company will:

+ Continue to observe the Listing Principles
In their current form;

+ Continue to maintain a securities dealing
code for certain of its employees,

the skills, knowledge and experience of Directors.

Time 15 allocated at each meeting for both Remuneration
and Nominations matters, to ensure that all items are
adequately addressed.

+ Continue to voluntarily observe the UK
Corporate Governance Caede on a ‘'comply
or explain” basis, and

« Have an appropriate number of
Independent Non-Executive Directors
on its Board.

It 15 also intended by RCL that the Company’s
independent Directors would take decisions
on behalf of the Company in relation to any
proposed transaction between the Company
and RCL, or between the Company and an
associate of RCL, where any such proposed
transaction would have been a related party
transaction under Chapter 11 of the

Listing Rules
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UK Corporate Governance Code

The UK Corporate Governance Code (Codej
1s an impartant part of how we operate.

It allows a ‘comply or explain’ approach to
achieving best governance practice. We have
chosen to explain our governance practices
if these do not fully meet the provisions of
the Code. This allows us to recognise our
requirements under the Code and the
benefits of our shareholding structure.

Our explanations where we deviate from
the code are set out In the relevant sections
of this Corporate Governance Report.

Information required under DTR 7 2.6 is
provided on page [84; and forms part of
this Report.

Leadership

The Board has a duty to promote the
long-term success of the Company for its
shareholders. This includes- the review and
monitoring of strategic objectives; approval
of major acquisitions, disposals and capital
expenditure, financial performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s
systems of internal controls; governance;
risk management; and training and
development.

Persons Discharging Managerial
Responsibility

As part of the Company’s continuing
obligation to ensure compliance with the
Listing Rules and related regulations, we
have identified that Directors and other
senior executives who have regular access to
inside information and the power to make
managerial decisions affecting the future
development and business prospects of the
Company are those on the Board, Executive
Committee and regular attendees at the
Investment & Finance Committee.
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How the Board operatcs

There is a schedule of matters reserved to
the Board. This details key matters in respect
of the Company’s management that the
Board does not delegate. This can be seen

at www.dmgt com/about-us/board-and-
governance If any Director had any concerns
about the way the Board was operating,
these would be recorded In the minutes.

No such concerns were raised during the
reporting period. Day-to-day management
of the Company 15 the responsibility of the
Executive Committee and of the executive
management of the operating businesses.

Delegation of authority

The Board has delegated certain activities
to Board Committees, under formal terms
of reference, details of which are set out
on pages [51] to [59].

Full Terms of Reference can be found
on DMGT’s website at www.dmgt.com/
about-us/board-and-governance.

Division of Chairman and CEQ
responsibilities

In accordance with the Code, the roles of
Chairman and CEO are separate. The
Chairman is responsible for leading the
Board and overseeing operations and
strategy The CEOQ is responsible for the
execution of the strategy and the day-to-day
management of the Group and is supported
by the Executive Committee

Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors, as members
of the Board and 1ts Committees, are
responsible for ensunng the Company has
effective systems of internal controls and
nsk management and additionally, for
momtoring financial performance. All
Committee Chairmen report to the Board on
Committee activity at each Board meeting

Senior Independent Director

The Charrman has an interest in all the
Ordinary Shares of the Company through
the Trust and so there is no need for a Senior
independent Director to represent Ordinary
Shareholders. Accordingly the Board has not
appointed a Senior Independent Director as
recammended under Code provision A.4.1,
The Remuneration & Nominations
Committee (without the Chairman being
present) annually assesses the Chairman’s
performance. Other Directors consider that
they can represent themselves freely to the
Chairman. However, when a situation arises
that would best be handled by an indwidual
Independent Non-Executive Director, the
most appropriate person is appotnted by
the Board (with or without the Chairman
being present, as appropriate).

Independence

The Board has determined that Lady
Keswick, Kevin Parry, Heidi Roizen and
Dominique Trempant are iIndependent
within the meaning of the Code

David Nelson, Andrew Lane and Frangois
Monin are not considered to be independent
within the meaning of the Code, as they are
each adwvisers to the Chairman and to RCL.
Nevertheless, the Board believes that these
Non-Executive Directors make an important
contribution to its deliberations and have
Invaluable expenience of the Company,

its business and its employees.

The Board believes that its current
composition is appropriate taking into
actount the heritage of the Group, the
interests of our operating businesses
represented on the Board, and that a good
balance i1s achieved from the Board's
Non-Executive Directors in terms of skill

and independence. The Board keeps this
under review. Less than half of the Board are
Independent Non-Executive Directors, which
15 hot in line with prowvision B 1.2 of the Code.



Effectiveness

The Board reviewed its effectiveness within
the context of the provisions of Section B of
the Code. in addition to 1ts review of
independence and the Board evaluation
process, discussed separately, the Board
discharged its Code duties as follows:

» Appointments: the Remuneration &
Nominations Cornmittee 1s responsible for
referring potential appointments to the
Board for approval and is assisted by the
CEQ. Further details are in the
Remuneration & Nominaticns Committee
Report on page [58];

» Time: the time commitment of each
Non-Executive Director Is set out in his/her
Letter of Engagement. Each Letter of
Engagement 1s renewed annually following
a review by the Remuneration &
Nominations Committee and the
shareholder vote at the AGM;

+ Multiple commitments: the Remuneration
& Nominations Committee recognises
that Board members may be directors
of other companies and that additional
experience 1s likely to enhance discussions
at the Board. Details of any additional
directorships are on pages [42) and [43]
Executive Directors are generally
permitted to hold non-executive
directorships as long as 1t does not
lead to conflicts of interest or time;

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

« Development and information: on joining,
Directors receive a comprehensive,
tailored induction programme, which
includes time with the Company Secretary
and the Legal Adviser, the Executive
Directors and a range of senior managers
across the Group. During the year, the
Board has received updates on key areas
of finance and governance as well as areas
of the business; and

» Re-election in line with the Code,
all Directors are eligible to stand for
re-election annually and will do so at
the 2018 AGM.

Relations with shareholders

Any concerns raised by shareholders in
relation to the Company and its affairs are
coemmunicated to the Beard through regular
briefings. Summaries of analysts’ reports
are circulated to the Board Feedback

from meetings held with the executive
management, or the Investor Relations team
and institutional shareholders, are also
communicated to the Board

DMGT understands the importance of
considering a company’s responsibilities to

a broad stakeholder group, When making
decisions, the Board considers the impact on
Its employees, customers, the communities
in which we operate, its shareholders and

its supphers,

The Company’s website, www.dmgt com,
provides the latest news, historical financial
information, details about forthcoming
events for shareholders and analysts, and
other information regarding the Group.

Board Evaluation

In 2017, the Board undertook a review
of its own performance and those of
its Committees, which built on the
results of the 2016 review. The review
was conducted through an internal
process facilitated by the Company
Secretary. A questionnaire was used
focusing on the remit and key 1ssues
facing the Board. In particular, the
Board considered how It was
discharging its strategic remit and
reviewed key 1ssues facing the Group
and its businesses.

Completed questionnaires were
submitted and reviewed by the
Chairman. A summary of findings was
presented to the Board in a manner
that did not identify individuai specific
responses, ensuring that the
follow-up discussion with the entire
Board was open. The responses
showed that the Board welcomed the
process and that overall, the Board
was content with the progress during
the year and that the Board and its
Committees continue to function well

There was a continuaus monitoring
programme to ensure that items
addressed in the FY 2016 evaluation
were addressed during the year.

Actions arising from the evaluation
included ensuring that time on the
Board agenda was allocated for:

= Reviews of major projects and
lessons learnt during the year;

« Continued review of the
composition of the Board through
the Remuneration & Nominations
Committee;

+ Continued follow-up on key matters
and actions arising at Board
meetings; and

+ Continued reviews of strategy, with
close alignment of the Board and
the Executive Committee agenda.
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Board composition and diversity DMGT Board - membership
We have continued to review the Member for
composition of the Board during FY 2017 Member the full period Meetings held Meetings attended
to ensure that we have the right mix of Chairman Yes 5 5 o
members to contribute effectively to the The Viscount Rothermere
develepment of our strategy and how we CEQ Yes 5 5 S
operate. We consider diversity In its broadest P A Zwillenberg
sense in revieving how the Board operates Group Chief Financial Officer No 3 i 3
and its composition. T G Collier Joined After
Frangois Mornn and Tim Collier were —_— R _ Ozjosporr  o2jospolt
appointed to the Board on 8 February 2017 Executive Directors . -
and 2 May 2017 respectively to ensure the K J Beatty Yes 5 5 -
mix of skills and expertise represented P M Dacre I . Yes 5 s .
complements our strategic goats. Non-Executive Directors ) o
Stephen Daintith and Suresh Kavan stoed Lady Keswick ves 3 > -
down as Directors during the year AHlgne Y 5 5 _
F L Monn No 4 4
The split of the Group’s profits between our Joined after
US and other bustnesses, the global nature 08/02/2017 08/02/2017
of our operations and the range of activities DHNelson . Yes 5 ’ s
undertaken across the Group has been KAH Parry ; Yes 5 5 -
reflected over recent years in our Board - — —_—
N J H Roizen Yes 5 5
appointments. Maintaining this broad range —_— Y — — —_— _—
of appropriate skills, international and DTrempont Y 5 _ 5
specific sector experience will continue tobe ~ Former Board members —
afactor in our Board successson planning. F P Balsemio No 1 0
Nan-Executive Director until Befora
The Board 1s aware of and takes into account 08/02/2017 08/02/2017
the principles regarding diversity of its senior Berry No 1 0 -
management. This is considered as part of Non-Executive Director Until Before
the senior management appointment 25/12/2016 25/12/2016
process. Further details on our approach are s w pamuth No 2 1 ¥
in¢cluded in the Remuneration & Nominations  Finance Director Untdd Before
Committee Repart on page (58] 06/04/2017 06/04/2017 o
J G Hemingway No 1 1
Non-Executive Director Until Before
08/02/2017 08/02/2017
S Kavan No 2 1
Executive Director Untl Before
31/02/2017 31/03/2017
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The Board’s focus in 2017

Board members have visited, received presentations and functional area updates from
DMGT's operating businesses on a rolling basis. During the year, as part of the
Directors’ engoing development, these updates were a combination of presentations
to the whole Board and smaller groups as deemed appropnate and detailed below.

Portfolic management and strategy

« Astrategic review of our portfolio.
« Future size and shape of the Group.

« Non-Executive Director Dominique
Trempont attended RMS Exceedance
in Miam1 in May 2017.

» Presentations by the majority of
operating businesses.

= The New York Board meeting
incorporated site visits to RMS, Trepp
and MailOnline

Risk management

= The Group’s risk appetite for 2018
as part of the Viability Statement
approvat process.

= With the support of the Audit & Risk
Committee, review of principal risks,
other key rnisk areas and performance
against risk appetite.

« Approval of the appointment of the
Group Chief Financial Officer and
Non-Executive Director.

« Discussions regarding senior
appointments and succession
planning.

+ Updates on talent management.

Board oversight of risk
management and internal controls
The Board delegates day-to-day oversight of
management's operations of internal
controls and nsk management to the Audit &
Risk Committee. The Board considers that
the Audit & Risk Committee possesses the
requisite skilis and experience to meet its
obligations and previde the relevant
assurance to the Board Operating and
investment decisions are delegated to the
Investment & Finance Comrmittee. Further
details of the activities of these Committees
are on pages [51] to [59]

Finance and capital

Assessment and monrtoring on a
regular basis, performance against
agreed financial targets, budget
and returns on investment.

-

Approval of authority limits and
process for investments.

Assessment and monitoring of
approach to pensions and tax policy.

Governance

Regular updates throughout the year
including on Market Abuse Regulation,
Tax Policy publication, failure to
prevent criminal faciliation of tax
evasion, Payments Practices
Reporting, Gender Pay Gap Reporting,
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking,
General Data Protection Regulaticn as
well as from the Committee Chairmen.

Approval and changes to updated
versions of Terms of Reference
and matters reserved to the Board.

Review of the quality of the
External Audit.

The Board has overalt responsibility for
establishing, momitoring and maintaiming
an effective system of nsk management
and internal controts. This system provides
reasonable rather than absolute assurance
that the Group’s business chjectives will
be achieved within the risk tolerance levels
defined by the Board

The Group’s aperating businesses have

a level of autoncmy regarding the
establishment of nsk management and
internal control systems, but are overseen
by a central management team which
reports to the Board Certain functions
are undertaken centrally, ncluding Group

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

accounting, investor relations; strategy; risk;
internal audit, corporate tax, treasury;
insurance; and HR,

The Board has established an ongoing
process for entifying, evaluating and
managing the principal nsks faced by the
Company This process has continued
throughout the year and up to the date
of approval of the financial statements.
Monitoring 1s an cngoing process and
principal risks are formally reviewed

at haif-year and year-end

Risk management function

The Group has separate Risk and internal
Audit functions, The Board believes that

this separation minimises the threat of
self-review across our ‘three lines of defence’
modet (see page [50.} The Risk function
provides an increased focus on priority risk
areas. It 1s responsible for maintaining the
Group risk management process, facilitating
change for selected nisks, evolving our
approach to operational compliance,

and working with other Group functions.
The Risk function engages specialist
externalexpertise to maintain best practice
approaches. To ensure an open discussion
of emerging nisks, the Chairman of the

Audit & Risk Committee meets separately
with the Head of Risk independent of
operational management.

JIUBLIDADG

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit function undertakes

an agreed programme of independent
assurance reviews The function sources
external expertise as required from specialist
suppliers. This mix of internal and specialist
resource works well. Internal Audit seeks to
comply with relevant professional standards,
notably those 1issued by the Institute of
Internal Auditors.

The Internal Audit Charter (The Charter) sets
out the purpose and objectives of Internal
Audit. The Charter takes a systematic and
disciplined approach to the evaluation and
improvements in control and governance
processes It strengthens the function’s
independence and objectivity by means of
the function’s reporting lines and access

to all records, personnel, property and
operations of the Group. To ensure his
independence from management, the
Director of Internal Audit reports directly to
the Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee
The Charter confirms the high-level
responsibilities of operational management
{first line of defence) and ensures that the
Internal Audit function undertakes its third
line of defence duties, aveiding any first or
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second line duties. The Charter 1s reviewed
annually and updated as required to take
account of changing practices and
standards. The Audit & Risk Committee I1s
satisfied that the provisions of the Charter
have been achieved in the year

The Board formally evaluated the system of
risk management and internal control in
conjunction with the Audit & Risk Committee
during the year {see pages {51 to [57]} This
evaluation focused on matenal controls
relating to principal risks and entity-level
controts, as well as additional controls and

Three lines of defence table

processes required to support the
Company’s Viability Statement (see page
[35]1). The evaluation also considered any
control weaknesses identified by Internal

or External Audit, or as a resulit of incidents
of fraud. Controls over the recarding of
amounts in the Group's consolidated
financial statements relating to investments
have also been assessed and considered

as appropriate.

Although DMGT does not have the ability to
dictate or modfy controls at its materal
assoclates, namely Euromoney and ZPG,

the Directors review the effectiveness
of the systems of risk management and
internal control at these entities via
Board representation.

Monitoring and oversight

The Group operates a ‘three lines of defence’
madel The benefits of this approach are
shown in the table below, The Board
delegates day-to-day responsibility for
internal controls to operational management
with oversight by the Executive Committee
and the Audit & Risk Commuttee.

First line of defence

Secend line of defence

Third line of defence

Each operating business 1s responsible for
the identification and assessment of risks,
understanding the Group’s risk strategy and
operating appropriate controls.

Risk, supported as appropriate by other
functional areas, particularly legal, tax and
finance, reviews the completeness and
accuracy of nisk assessments, reporting

and adequacy of mitigation pians.

Internal Audit provides independent and
objective assurance on the robustness of
the nisk management framework and the
effectiveness of internal controls

Benefits

+ Ownership and responsibility remains
close to the operating businesses and
their attendant performance.,

» Promotes a strang culture of adhering
to limits and managing risk exposures
in accordance with each business's risk
appetite and the regulatory environment.

» Promotes a healthy risk culture and
long-term approach to risk management.

Benefits
» Understand aggregated risk positions

+ Objective oversight and challenge to the
business areas and internal control and
risk management framework used in the
first tine.

« Provide ongoing training and support
on Group-wide risks to the operating
businesses.

Benefits
+ Independent assurance on the system
of nsk management and internal controls.

+ Assessment of the appropriateness and
effectiveness of internal controls.

Internal Audit provides assurance to the
Audit & Risk Committee.

Key features of the risk management
and internal controls system

The main features of the system of risk
management and internal controls in
relation to the financial reporting process are
described below:

1. Confirmation of key internal controls,
and the fraud and bribery assessment
Each operating business confirms the
operation of key internal controls to Group
Finance and Internal Audit annually The
purpose of the assessment 1s to confirm the
operation of a framework of internal
controls, including anti-fraud controls, which
are expected to be in place in each business
unit. These internal controls are intended to
provide standards against which the contro!
environments of DMGT’s business units can
be monitored. An annual fraud and bribery
risk assessment is completed
simultaneously, detailing risks and mitigating
coentrols. In each case, the Internal Audit
team reviews and follows up on these
submussions, as appropriate.
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2. Review of relevant and timely
financial information

Each of the operating businesses and DMGT
executive management regularly review
relevant and timely financial information
This is produced from a financial information
system operated across the Group Itis
supported by a framework of forecasts as
well as annual budgets that are approved
by the Executive Commuittee and confirmed
by the Investment & Finance Committee.

3. Senior Accounting Officer sign-off

The Group Chief Financial Officer is the
Senior Accounting Officer and 1s required, by
HMRC, to certify that the Company, and

its subsidiarigs, have established and
maintained appropriate arrangements to
ensure that tax iabilities are calculated
accurately in all material respects

Fair, balanced and understandahle
One of the key governance requirements

of a group’s Annual Report is for it to be

fair, balanced and understandable. The
coordination and review of Group-wide input
into the Annual Report is a specific project,

with defined time frames, which runs
alongside the formal audit process
undertaken by the External Auditor. The
Audit & Risk Committee’s and the Board’s
confirmations of satisfaction with the
process and the statements being made
15 underpinned by:

+ Comprehensive guidance being provided
to the operating businesses in respect of
each of the requirements for, and each of
their contributions to, the Annual Report;

A verification process in respect of the
factual context of the submissions made;

» Comprehensive sign-off process by
owners of all statements made; and

» Comprehensive reviews undertaken
at different levels of the Group with
the aim of ensuring consistency and
overall balance

As a result of this process, the Audit &

Risk Committee and the Board are satisfied
with the overall fairness, balance and
understandability of the Annual Report



Board Committees

The Executive Committee is
responsible for the day-to-day

operation of the Group in line
with the overall strategic aims

Daily Mail and Genera!l Trust plc Annual Report 2017

The Investment & Finance
Committee evaluates the
benefits and risks of investment
opportunities and financing

proposals up to a value

threshold with the Board. The

set by the Board.
Membership
Member for
Member full period
The Vlggc_)_gnt_Ro_t_hermere Yes L
PA Zwﬂlepberg Yes

Investment & Finance Committee
provides regular updates to the
Board including monitoring
returns on investments made
and progress against agreed

Key activities

» Reviewing all acquisitions,
disposals and capital expenditure
within its remit, including
presentations made by operating
businesses to request supportin
line with strategic objectives,

+ Reviewing performance against
budget and plan including
reviewing debt position, tracking
perfarmance against the original
investment case and assumptions
for acquisitions and investments.

« Oversight of the Company’s pension

JJUBUIBAOD)

TG Collier No scheme planning, including
Elkz):’r(;:,(’jzol'f targets. discussions with the various
Scheme Trustees and their advisers
K J Beatty ves . and the latest triannual vatuations.
Former members Membershlp .
C Chapman No There were 7 meetings held in the year. * Reviewing th,e .Chompany s dividend
Until 01/07/2017 planning activities.
W M i i o Member for 3 : H
S W Daintith Ur;m 06/04/2017 Member the full period . Eewewmg, and approving the
< Kavan No The Viscount Rothermere Yes ompany’s tax strategy.
h . iewl i !
Until 31/03/2017 {Chairman) Rewe\."\nngthe Committee's
P A Zwillenberg Yes effectiveness.
The Executive Committee meets regularly. TG Collier T;ned
It has a broad remit covering strategy 02/05/2017 Governance
and 1ts execution, and operational AH Lane Yes Thel &F c tt
performance oversight. + The nvestment & Finance Committee
D H Nelson ) Yes reviewed its membership and approved
K AH Parry” No that Lord Rothermere continue as its
Key activities Joined Chairman,
. . . . 01/04/2017
+ Business reviews with all operating Farmer mertors — « The Investment & Finance Committee
businesses at least twice yearly, reviewed its Terms of Reference.
N W Berry” Ne
+ Performance management review Until » The Investment & Finance Committee
and analysis. 25/12/2018 confirmed that it had compled with its
+ Talent acquisition and S W Daintith No Terms of Reference thrgughout the year
management until and reviewed Its effectiveness.
& ) 06/04/2017
+ Review of key investment and J G Hemingway No
divestment opportunities and Until
capital allocation decisions. 08/02/2017
« Budget approval and tracking * Independent
against budget.
The Investment & Finance Committee has

Governance

The Executive Commuttee 1s designed to
represent key businesses. It ensures that
there 15 appropnate support for and
challenge to all of the operating businesses.

been supported in its activities duning the
year by the Deputy Finance Director, Directar
of Performance Management & Strategy,
Group Head Carporate Development and
M&A, and the Technology Advisor to the

Chairman and CEO
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In the context of our changing business, we focus our audit work an
judgemental areas of accounting and auditing, and our risk work an

high impact possible events.

There is a comprehensive process to review significant business risks
to the Group including financial risk, operational risk and compliance
risk that could affect or impact the achievernent of the Group's strategy

and business objectives.

The following pages set out the

Audit & Risk Committee’s Report

for the financial year. The Report

is structured in four parts:

= How the Audit & Risk Committee
operates: membership, key
responsibilities, governance,
effectiveness and operating
practices;

Review of the year: key activities
and the significant financial
reporting and auditing issues;

= Oversight: Risk and controls, and
Internal Audit; and

« External Auditor; appointment,
independence, effectiveness
and objectivity.
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Dear Shareholders

I am pleased te present the Audit & Risk
Committee Report

The combination of the former Audit and
Risk Committees has progressed well
with care being taken to give appropniate
emphasis to both aspects of our work

in line with the financial reporting cycle.
To recognise the extra workload, we
introduced an extra meeting in July that
concentrated on risks.

Risk has hardly been out of the news over
the last 12 months. We have addressed
macro-risks such as Brexit, the minority
UK government and sanctions, as well as
corporate risks such as cyber-crime and
data protection legislation.

The Group changed significantly during the
year with the partial disposal of the stake
In Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC
{(Euromoeney) which 1s now no longer a
subsidiary. As part of the transitional
services agreement, Internal Audit continued
to provide its services for the first half of the
financial year. As the Group no longer has
management responsibility for Euromoney,
the work of Internal Audit in respect of that
business i1s not addressed in this report,

but will be described in the Annual Report
of Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC.

The Audit & Risk Committee spent time
at the half-year and year-end reviewing
and challenging the effectiveness of the
communication of the Group’s results
in the light of Euromoney becoming an
associate company.

The completion of the scheduled triennial
external review of Internal Audit was
timely in the hght of the de-scoping of its
responsibility to the Euromoney Audit
Commuttee. The independent review

has resulted in a blueprint for the future
development of the function that has been
embraced by both the Director of Internal
Audit and the Audit & Risk Committee,
Further details are set out in the
oversight section.

Kevin Parry
Audit & Risk Commuttee Chairman

Membership

Member for Meetings Meetings
Member fuliperiod held attended
K AH Parry (Chairman}* Yes 5 5
AHLane Yes 5 5
D H Nelson Yes 5 5
ET?empont’ - Yes 5 5
Forme} members T )
N W Berry* No 1 1

Untl 25/12/2016 _ Unal25/12/2016 __

J G Hemingway No

Unot 08/02/2017

1 1
Until 08/02/2017

Independent




The Audit & Risk Committee meets at least
four times a year. This year the Committee
met five times to incerporate a meeting to
focus specifically on risk matters.

All members of the Audit & Risk Committee
are Non-Executve Directors and two are
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The
Committee members continue to represent
the necessary range of financial, risk, control
and commercial expertise reguired to
provide an effective level of challenge to
management. Kevin Parry is a former senior
audit partner, former chief financiat officer
and has extensive experience as an audit
committee chairman. David Nelson 1s the
senior partner of an accounting practice.
Domimique Trempont is a former chief
financial officer and has extensive
experience as an audit committee chairman
and member. Consequently Kevin Parry,
David Nelson and Dominique Trempont

are designated for Code purposes as the
financial experts with competence in
accounting and auditing.

Key responsibilities

The Audtt & Risk Committee’s terms of
reference are on our website at www.dmgt.
com/about-us/board-and-governance.

Governance

The integrity of the Group’s financial resuits
and internal control systems are important
to the Directors and the shareholders
Consequently, the Audit & Risk Committee
encourages and seeks to safeguard high
standards of integrity and conduct in
financial reporting and internal control
The Committee tests and challenges the
results and controls in conjunction with
management and the Internal and
External Auditors.

The Committee has fulfilled its
responsibilities during the year and confirms
the Group 15 in compliance with the Statutory
Audit Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive
Tender Processes and Audit Committee
Responsibilities) Order 2014, The Committee
15 permitted to obtamn its own external
advice at the Company’s expense. No such
advice was sought during the year
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Andrew Lane and David Nelson are

advisers to the Harmsworth family and not
independent Directors. This is a deviation
from Code Provision C.3 1. The Board
considers that their membership adds to the
deliberations of the Audit & Risk Commuttee
and i, as the Committee Chairman confirm
there was no conflict of interest during

the year.

Effectiveness

The Audit & Risk Committee reviews its
Terms of Reference and effectiveness
annually The review confirmed that the
Commuttee 15 effective at meeting its
objectives, the provisions of the Code
and the needs of the Group.

The Committee embraced greater
emphasis being placed on cyber nisks
and restructurings of businesses

and management,

Operating practices

During the year the Audit & Risk Committee
meetings were scheduled to take place just
prior to Board meetings to maximise the
efficiency of interactions, Reports are made
to each Board meeting on the activities

of the Committee, focusing on matters of
particular relevance to the Board in the
conduct of its work.

The Committee has been supported inits
activities during the year by the CEQ, Group
Chief Financial Officer, Risk team, and
Director of Internal Audit as well as the
External Auditors. These individuals
generally sponsor Committee papers, which
are typically distributed one week prior to
meetings. The Committee works with ail
contributors to discuss judgemental issues
at an early and relevant opportunity.

The Group Chief Financial Officer, the Deputy
Finance Director, the Group Financial
Contralier, the Director of Internal Audit,

the Risk managers and the External Auditor
are invited to each meeting but are recused
when appropriate. This approach results in
informed decisions based on quality papers
and discussion which provides 2 thorough
understanding of facts and circumstances.

The Committee met regularly and separately
with the External Auditor, Director of
Internal Audit, the Group Chief Financial
Officer and Head of Risk, without cther
executive management being present,

Review of the year

Key activities

Key activities undertaken by the
Audit & Risk Committee durning the
year included:

Audit

Agreeing the scope of internal and
external audit work.

Challenging management’s
accounting Judgements

Commissioning an external
effectiveness review of the Internal
Audit function.

Reviewing and discussing Internal
Audit reports to maintain their
contribution to improving the control
environment.

Reviewing the disclosure of the
Group tax policy.

Auditing the basis of alternative
performance measures.

Reviewing the effectiveness of
external audit.

Risk

Reviewing the Group’s nisk
management processes and the
Group risk register.

Robust challenge to the assumptions
supporting the Group’s Viability
Statement

A roiling programme of focused risk
topics including information security
and cyber resilience.

Recommending the establishment
of a dedicated Information Security
Steering Committee reviewing the
output of associated benchmarking
undertaken by a consultancy
specialising in the prevention

of cyber-crime.

Preparing for comphance with
the General Data Protection
Regulations (GDPR).

Compliance with legisiation relating
to anti-bribery and corruption; trade
sanctions, health and safety, modern
slavery and whistleblowing,

Business continuity and incident
management.
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Financial reporting and auditing issues
The Audit & Risk Committee considered and discussed the significant matters relating to financial reporting and accounting, as set outin

the table below.

The is5ue and its significance

Focus of work

Comments and conclusion

Financial reporting

The content of the Annual and
Half-Year Reports and trading
updates needs to be
appropriate, complying with
laws and regulation

We reviewed the reports to improve their clarity,
focusing particularly on disclosures in connection
with the partial disposal of Euromoney and
impairment charges.

We specifically reviewed:

« All accounting policies for continued
appropnateness and consistency of application;

= All sections of the Annual Report having
particular regard for the Audit & Risk
Committee’s responsibilities for the financial
statements;

» Reports from financial management, Legal,
Risk and Internal Audit which confirmed
compliance with regulations; and

+ The financial risks and papers to support the
going concern basis of accounting.

A materiality threshold of £]5] million has been set
for exceptional items unless there was continuation
of an actwvity previously disclosed as exceptional

There were no significant changes to accounting
policies. Based on our enguiries with management
and the External Auditors, we concluded the policies
were being properly applied.

We were satisfied that judgemental matters were
explained.

We were satisfied that the Group complied with
reparting requirements.

We designed additional disclosures in connection with
the disposal of Euromoney to atlow the performance
of the Group to be readily understood.

Taken as a whole, the Annual
Report needs to be fair,
halanced and understandable
sa that It 1s relevant to readers.

We continued our practice of comparng our
Annual Report with those of other relevant
companies and asked our External Audrtors
for improvement recommendations.

Drafts of the Annual Report were reviewed by
both the Audit & Risk Committee and the Board.
We used the Executive Directors’, the External
Auditors’ and the Committee’s knowledge to
determine the overall fairness, balance and
understandability of the Report, prior to its
¥inal approval by the Board.

We receved confirmation that individuals’
responsibilities had been fulfilled and confirmed that
the overall Report was consistent with the Directors’
knowledge This allowed the Audit & Risk Committee
and the Board ta be satisfied that the Annuzl Report
takert as & whole is fair, balanced and understandable
We were satisfied that the information presented in the
Strategic Report was consistent with the performance
of the business reported in the financial statements.

In particular, we were satisfied that the estimates,
outloek and quantified nisk disclosures in the financial
statements are consistent with those identified in

the Strategic Report. The Committee concluded

that appropriate judgements had been applied

in determining the estimates and that sufficient
disclosure has been made to allow readers to
understand the uncertainties surrounding outcomes.

We were satisfied that the Viability Statement should
be over a three-year period, consistent with the
Group’s business planning c¢ycie and the next
refinancing of our short-term bank debt facilities,

We will cantinue to monitor feedback for future
enhancements to the Annuat Report

The Annual Report includes a
number of non-GAAP
measures, See Note {+] and
pages [« and [+].

In addition to the disclosure of operating profit,
before and after specified adjustments, other
non-GAAP measures (known as alternative
performance measures) are disclosed in the
Annual Report, ¢.g. underlying revenue growth,
net debt to EBITDA ratio. We commissioned
internal Audit to review other alternative
performance measures to ensure whenaver
possible that they were third-party sourced or
otherwise robustly compiled.

We also sought to ensure that equal prominence
was given to statutory measures and that
explanations accompanied all alternative
measures including pro forma figures guoted
throughout the accounts.

We decided to continue to adjust operating profit for
intangible asset amortisation a2nd for compensation
payments which were capital in nature because they
are akin to investment payments which are capitalised
Additional adjustments have been made to exclude
the impact of exceptional costs, impairments and
other fair value adjustments. These adjustments assist
understanding the cutcome for the reporting period.

We enhanced the prominence of GAAP numbers
and improved the reconciliation of APMs to GAAP.

We determined that the published data was of a high
quality and helps shareholders understand progress
{particularly in the digital arena). Sources of data

are disclosed.
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The issue and its significance

Focus of work

Accounting judgements
The Group has capitalised
software development costs,
other intangible assets and
goodwill associated with
acquisitions. Goodwill and
intangible assets represent
[401% (2016 185%) and [23]%
{2016 94%) respectively of net
assets, The carrying values
need to be justified by
reference to future economic
benefits to the Group (see
Notes [«] and {s]}

The Group carries deferred
tax assets in respect of
brought-forward losses and
deferred interest that represent
'71% (2016 32%) of net assets
{seec Note [s]).

We ensured capitalised costs were separately
identifiable and met the requirements of relevant
accounting standards.

We considered whether there have been events
triggering an impairment review, Where there was
such an event and whenever impairment testing
was otherwise reguired, we reviewed papers
prepared by executive management to determine
whether an impairment event had taken place.
As there were significant impairments in the
second half we specifically reassessed the timing
of the recognition of the impairments to ensure
that they were recognised in the correct penod
We focused on facts, assumption, methodologies
and discount rates. We received input from

beoth operational and financial management and
also reviewed relevant external commentaries
and valuations

Comments and conclusion

* We were satisfied that costs that had been ca pitalised
were appropriately held on the balance sheet

Our reviews embraced sensitivities to changes in
assumptions which allowed us tc understand the
materality of conclusions in the context of our
financial reporting.

We focused on RMS, Genscape, Hobsons, Xceligent
and SiteCompli.

We were satisfied with the impairments in respect of
goodwill, capitalised software, and other intangibles
were charged in the appropriate period and in
approprrate amounts

The Audit & Risk Committee noted that the conclusions
were sensitive to future outcomes. Some combined
downside sensitivities could trigger impairments if
they occur in the future, Appropnate disclosures were
included in financial statements

At the year end, the Group recognised deferred
tax assets of £'61.5, million (2016 £169 3 million}
in respect of brought-forward losses and
deferred interest

We ensured deferred tax assets were reduced

in line with the reduced trading outlook in the

B2B businesses, notably those which triggered
impairment reviews

We reviewed papers prepared by executive
management In respect of overseas tax losses that
¢an no longer be recognised as deferred tax assets.

The assets on the balance sheet were recognised
following a detailed review of how the brought-forward
tax losses would be utilised and we were satisfied that
changes to tax laws internationally did not adversely
impact the carrying value of the total assets.

Where required tax assets were written off in the year.

The Group actively manages its
pertfolio of investments and
consequently Is active in
making acquisitions and
disposals. Transactions that
contain unusual terms and/or
Innovative structures would
require the accounting
treatment to be carefully
considered

During the year, £[26.7, million
was incurred on acquisitions
and £[215 8] million was
realised on disposals (see
Notes [17] and [18]).

The Audit & Risk Committee carefully considers
Judgemental accounting and the carrying value
of intangible assets and goodwill

The Committee considered the accounting
treatment for both the seil-down of Euromoney
and the dilution of DMGT’s stake in ZPG We
considered the complexity of the Euromoney
sell-down and the adequacy of the explanation
of its new status as an associate

We reviewed the valuation of fair value of the
Group’s remaining ¢.49% stake.

The Internzl Audit team audits all significant
acquisitions within 12 months of the relevant
acquisition where consideration exceeds

£10 million.

The Investment & Finance Committee oversees all
acquisition and disposal activity There are three
common Committee members. We were satisfied with
the judgements made in the year

We performed a robust review of the treatment of
disposals during the year and were satisfied with the
treatments and calculations.

The Audit & Risk Committee reassessed the timing
of reviews of acquisitions by Internal Audit and
approved revised practices.

The Group has multiple sources
of revenue, including
subscriptions, scftware sales,
display and native advertising,
branded and pre-roll videos
and licence fees. Cansequently
revenue recognition can

be intricate.

We reviewed the accounting policies for
revenue recognition and determined their
appropriateness. We also reviewed deviations
n the applications of policies and sought to
eliminate differences in preparation for the
adoption of [FRS 15 in the year ending 30
September 2018

Internal Audrt wisits all businesses on a rotational
basis taking account of changed circumstances

and perceived risk. Therr work includes the testing

of revenue recognition.

Cne immatenal difference was identified as a result
of the review
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Other financial matters

In adchition to the significant matters
addressed above, the Audit & Risk Committee
maintains a rolling agenda of items for its
review, including: capital strategy; financial
and treasury management; feedback from
analysts and investors; reconciiiations of
reported financial results with management
accounts; tax management; and litigation
Nething of significance arose in respect of
those reviews during the year There was

no interaction with the Financial Reporting
Council’s (FRC) corporate reporting team
during the year.

There was no disagreement gver accounting
or reporting outcomes with management

or the External Auditors during the
reporting period.

Oversight

The Audit & Risk Committee has oversight
responsibility for risks and controls and
direct responsibility for the operation of the
Internal Audit function.

The Committee approves separate annual
audit and risk pians that are flexible enough
to embrace intra-year changes due to
changed circumstances, such as acquisitions,
disposals, extensive management change
etc. The plans changed durnng the year

to extend from a one-year to a flexible
three-year planning cycle.

At each Committee, the Risk Managers and
the Director of Internal Audit address key
matters which have arisen, focusing on the
most significant findings. Additionally,
common themes are drawn out so that
management can make early enguiries of
businesses not recently visited by the
assurance functions with a view tc heading
off potential issues.

in addition to formal reporting, the Audit &
Risk Committee Chairman meets with the
Risk team and the Director of internal Audit.

Risk and controls

A Group-wide risk assessment pracess is
managed biannually by the Risk function,
revievang risks to the achievement of
business plans in operating businesses. This
process assists management in identifying
internal and external threats and prioritising
responses to them. The results are collated
and an overall Group-wide risk plan 1s
derived from these results which is approved
by the Audit & Risk Committee The work
evaluates whether the system, including
reporting and controls, adequately supports
the Board in its risk oversight The Audit &
Risk Committee focuses on insights into
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material changes and trends In the risk
profiie For example, the complexity of cyber
risks and data governance and security risks
increased during the year. The principal

risks and mitigating actions are set out

on pages [*] to [».

The Committee’s view is that financial risks
are not the principal risks that the Group faces
but it places emphasis on the maintenance of
high standards for controlling financial risks.
In additron to an annual confirmation from
financial officers that the environment has
operated effectively, it gamns independent
assurance from internal audits. During the
year the Committee reviewed the top financial
risks facing the Group, including: foreign
exchange and interest rates; iquidity; credit;
counterparty and capital management.
Further, two reports were received on
proposed developments in the systems for
financial control and reporting

During the year a new Group Chief Financial
Officer, Tim Collier was appointed. To
simplify reporting lines all operatianal CFOs
report to him directly in addition to their
CEQs. The Committee monitored and
participated in his induction and was
satisfied that the more direct reporting ine of
operational companies to the central finance
function improved transparency. The Audit &
Risk Commuttee closely monitored changes
in financial management and reviewed the
competence and quantity of the financiat
management resource in discussion with the
Group Chief Financial Officer. The Committee
was also satisfied that the Company
remained able to fuifil its first line of defence
duties and that there 1s a culture of
continuous impravement.

The Commuttee reviewed the whistleblowing
arrangements in place, which enable
employees to raise concerns in confidence,
The Committee received analysis of the
types of concerns raised by employees.

No significant matters were reperted in the
year and the number of reports made was
consistent with prior years of operation.

Internal Audit

The Audit & Risk Committee reviewed and
approved the Internal Audit Charter,
Amendments were macde to adopt a
three-year cycle and maintain compliance
with evolving best practice.

The scope of Internal Audit work is considered
for each operating company {including Head
Office) and takes account of assessments of
risk, input from senior management and the
Committee, and previous findings Some
thematic audits are undertaken for the
Group as a whole. For example, this year

there was a further Group-wide emphasis on
cash collection management, information
security (including the General Data Protection
Reguiation}, cyber-crime and anti-fraud and
bribery procedures. Other issues selectively
audited included revenue recognition and
payroll At each meeting, the Cammittee
assesses recommended changes to the annual
plan to ensure that total coverage meets jts
requirements and that the budget and
resource levels are adequate.

Throughout the year, there was a range of
outcomes from internal audits, The Audit &
Risk Committee welcomes the identification
of areas for improvernent and places higher
emphasis on actions taken as a result of
review points than on particular findings at
the time of review. Whenever deficiencies or
apportunities for improvements are identified,
the Audit & Risk Committee’s emphasis s on
the appropriateness of the reaction to the
identified issue The Committee looks to
management to take timely and proporticnate
steps to eltminate weaknesses, The Audit &
Risk Committee monitors their adherence to
agreed timescales.

During the year, as planned, the Audit & Risk
Committee commissicned an external review
of the effectiveness of the Internal Audit
function The review was conducted by
Deloitte LLP in February 2017 and their gveral!
assessment was that in delivenng its remit,
the Internal Audit function s providing an
effective service to DMGT.

Recommendations for future developments
were welcomed by the Director of Internal
Audit and the Committee and provide a
blueprint for development over the next three
years. Some changes have already been
intreduced, such as audit analytics and use
of audit technology.

External Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) 1s the External
Auditor. The Group lead audit partneris

Neil Grimes, who has led the audit since the
beginning of the relationship. Its first audit

of DMGT was 1n respect of the year ended

30 September 2015. The Audit & Risk Committee
has responsibility for making recommendations
to the Board on the reappointment of the
External Auditor, for determining its fees and
for ensuring its independence of the Group and
management. The External Auditor stand for
reappointment at the Annual General Meeting,
but absent concerns aver the quality of their
service or opinion, we anticipate retaining PwC
as our auditors for at least the next two years,

Auditor independence
The Audit & Risk Committee considered the
safeguards in place to protect the External



Auditor’s independence In particular, the
Committee has ensured that the Company’s
policy on the External Auditer’s
independence 1s consistent with the Ethical
Standard set out by the FRC in the UK, PwC
reviewed its own independence in line with
this criteria and 1ts own ethical guideline
standards PwC confirmed to the Committee
that following this review it was satisfied
that it had acted in accordance with relevant
regulatory and professicnal requirements
and that its cbjectivity is not compromised.

To ensure no conflicts of independence
ansing from Auditors being responsibie for
non-audit work, the Audit & Risk Committee
reviewed and approved the policy on
non-audit services. The review included
consideration of the process to manage the
engagement of PwC, regulatory changes and
good practice

The audit fee payable to PwC amounts to
£3.0 million {2016 £2 7 million) The Audit &
Risk Committee 1s satisfied that the fee s
commensurate with permitting Pw{ to
provide a quality audit Inaddition to the
Group's policy, PwC has confirmed that any
non-audit work commissioned by the Group
is reviewed for compliance with its internal
policy on the provision of non-audit services.
The cap on non-audit service fees 15 set at
70% of the average audt fees for the
preceding three years. The total non-audit
fees paid to PwC amounted to £0.8 million
{2016 £0.8 millizn) which 1s wittin the 70% of
audit fees, The Commuittee is satisfied that
PwC was selected based on individuals’
particular expertise, knowledge and
expenence and that the work did not impair
PwC’s independence as External Auditor (see
Note [+] to the accounts,). All non-audit work
undertaken by PwC was approved by the
Committee unless 1t was de minimis and not
prohibited under our pelicy.

The Cammittee, having taken account of
PwC'’s confirmations, is satisfied that PwC
1s independent of DMGT and its subsidiartes.

Audit quality and materiality

The Audit & Risk Committee places great
importance on ensuring that there are high
standards of quality and effectiveness in the
external audit process

The Committee has reviewed the guality

of PwC’s audit by way of interviews and
completion of a questicnnaire by Audit &
Risk Committee members, by regular
attendance at Audit & Risk Committees and
by financial management. The Audit & Risk
Committee 1s satisfied that its reguirements
were met with some improvement actions
in respect of communicatiens being noted
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In addition, the Committee reviewed Pw(C's
scope and approved the external audit plan
to ensure that it is consistent with the scope
of the external audit engagement. The
Committee discussed significant and
elevated risk areas that are most likely to
give nse to a material financial reporting
error or those that are perceived to be of a
higher risk and requiring audit emphasis
(including those set out in PwC’s Repart on
pages [+] to [+]}. it considered the audit scope
and materiality thresheld This included the
Group-wide risks and local statutory
reporting, enhanced by desktep reviews for
smaller, low-nsk entities, 79% (2016 75%) of
the revenue and 76% (2616 71%;) of adjusted
profit was fully audited; 8% (2016 8%) of
revenue was subjected to specific procedures
and the balance of revenue and profit was
covered by desktop reviews As scheduled
this year's audit included Genscape.

We have discussed the accuracy of financial
reporting (known as mateniality) with PwC,
both as regards to accounting errors that will
be brought tc the Audit & Risk Commuittee’s
attention, and as regards to amounts that
would need to be adjusted so that the
financial statements give a true and fair view.
Errors can arise for many reasons, ranging
from deliberate errors (fraud), to good
estimates that were made at a point in time
that, with the benefit of more time, could
have been more accurately measured. Overalt
audit materiality has been set at £9 million
(2016 £10.0 million). This equates to
approximately [4]1% (2016 4%) of adjusted
pre-tax profit, as reported in the income
statement This s within the range that audit
opinions are conventionally thought to be
reliable. The absolute decline in matenality
results from Euromoney no longer being a
subsidiary. To manage the nisk that aggregate
uncorrected errors become material,

we agreed that audit testing would be
performed to a lower materiality threshold
of £'6 8] million (2016 £7 5 million). PwC has
drawn the Committee’s attention to all
identified uncorrected misstatements greater
than £]0 5] millon The aggregate net
difference between the reported adjusted
profit before tax and the Auditor’s jJudgement
of net adjusted profit before tax was less than
£1.2 million which, was significantly less than
audit materiality The gross differences were
attributable to vanous individual companents
of the iIncome statement. No audit difference
was material to any line item in either the
Inceme statement or the balance sheet.
Accordingly, the Committee did not require
any adjustment to be made to the financial
statements as a result of the audit differences
reported by the External Auditor

Asin the prior year, we asked PwC to write ta
us to explain how they would respond te the
findings of the Audit Quality Review team

of the FRC in its annual review of their firm
{in so far as comments are relevant to DMGT).
Additionally, the Committee Chairman, Group
Chief Financial Officer and Group Financial
Controller discussed with PwC in detail the
work it carried out on the audit of DMGT's
Annual Repert The Audit & Risk Committee
was satisfied with the specific responses to
both sets of enquiries.

PwC has outlined to the Audit & Risk
Committee the professional development
programme applicable to the partners and
employees engaged on our audit, has
reviewed key judgements taken during the
course of the audit, and confirmed the audit
complies with thelr internal independent
review procedures, We have reviewed the
professional skills, knowledge and scepticism
of key members of the audit team including
the Group team and partners responsible
for the divisional audits
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We have reviewed PwC's latest available
transparency report We have enquired
whether the audit of DMGT was subject to
either a quality assurance process undertaken
internally by PwC or externally by the FRC.

The Audit & Risk Committee met in private
with PwC at the conclusion of the audit to
confirm that they had received a high level
of cooperation from management and to
receive private feedback on the gquality

of financial management

During the year, the Audit & Risk Committee
reviewed the quality of the 2016 audit, taking
account of PwC’s Internal assessment,
management’s assessment and the
Committee’s assessment The Committee was
satisfied with the robustness of the opinion
and with the audit service, In particular the
Audit & Risk Committee was pleased with an
overall improvement in service scores, whilst
asking PwC to put added emphasis on the
service provided to some US subsidiaries.
Based on the information currently available,
which draws on the enquiries outlined above
and informal soundings of management, the
Audit & Risk Committee anticipates it will
conclude there has been a robust, high-
gualrty audit for the year ended 30 September
2017, both in respect of PwC’s opimon and
service. The Committee has conseguently
recommended that PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP be reappointed as Auditor at the 2018
Annual General Meeting

Kevin Parry
Audit & Risk Committee Chairman
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The Remuneration & Nominations Committee meetings are held together.
Remuneration items are taken separately to the Nominations items.

The Remuneration eiement of the Committee is described within the Remuneration Report
on pages [60] to [B3]. The Nominations element of the Commuttee keeps under regular review
the structure and compasition of the Board and its Committees, particularly the skills,
knowledge and experience of the Directors to ensure that these remain aiigned with the
Group’s developing requiremnents and strategic agenda.

Membership

The Remuneration & Nominations Committee has been supported in its activities during the
year by the CEO, the Group Chief Financial Officer, the Reward Director and the Global HR
Director. Membership and meetings are shown below.

Member for Meetings Meetings
Member full period held attended
The Viscount Rothermere (Chairman) Yes 7 6
D H Nelson ~ Yes 7 ) 7 _
JHRoizen* Yes 7 7 o
Former members i
N W Berry” No 2 1
untl
25/12/2016
Independent
Governance Following the death of Nicholas Berry

+ The Committee confirmed that it had
complied with its Terms of Reference
throughout the year,

« The combined Remuneration &
Nominations Committee reviewed and
updated its Terms of Reference to take
effect from 30 November 2017.

» The Committee paid particular attention
to extending the term of any Non-Executive
Director that has served a term in excess
of six years.

+ The Committee reviewed the
independence of its Non-Executive
Director members and agreed to
recommend that Heidi Roizen continued
to be considered independent
in accordance with the Code Provisions.

» The process for appainting Directors
depends on which role 1s being filied.
External recruiters and other methods
have been used to identify potential
candidates.

= Inline with Code Provision A 4.2 the
Non-Executive Directors met with
the Chairman without the Executive
Directors present.
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the Committee reviewed its composition.
Independent Non-Executive Director
Dominique Trempont was appointed

on 1 November 2017

The Chairman of the Committee 15

Lord Rothermere and the majonity of its
memnbers are not considered to be
independent under the Code. Although
this does not meet Code Provision B.2.1,
as holder of all the Ordinary Shares of the
Company through the Trust, the Board
considers that Lord Rothermere’s interests
are fully aligned with those of other
shareholders. Additionally, the Committee
15 confident that its membership ensures
that it carries out all aspects of its role
with proper and appropnate regard to
leng-term shareholder interests.

Key activities of the

Nominations element

of the Remuneration &

Nominations Committee

» Reviewing potential candidates
far Board appointments including
Tim Collier and Francois Morin.

Reviewing the Letter of Engagement
with each Non-Executive Director
ta ensure the provisions remain in
line with best practice, following
shareholder approval at the AGM.

« Re-engaging the service of
Non-Executive Directors for a further
period of a minimum of one year.

Reviewing time commitments
required by Non-Executive Directors
and confirming that it was satisfied
that the Directors had met or
exceeded the time commitment
required.

In line with the Code, recommending
that all Directors stand for
re-election at the AGM.

Discussing Board and Committee
composition and longevity of
service, and Board independence.

« Reviewing Committee's
effectiveness and governance
activities against best practice.

Looking ahead, the Committee’s key
activities for the forthcoming year are:

+ Reviewing the composition of the
Board to ensure that the right skills
and experience to support the
Group’s strategy are represented;

Reviewing Committee membership
to ensure that there is a balance
of skills reflected;

« Continuing to review succession
planning for the Executive Directors;
and

Reviewing the Committee's
effectiveness.

The Viscount Rothermere
Chairman
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In accordance with the Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups
{Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended), shareholders

are provided with the opportunity

to endorse the Company’s
Remuneration Policy through a binding
vote. The current palicy was agreed

at the Annual General Meeting (AGM)
on 8 February 2017 and the policy

has been operated, as described,

from that date.

Chairman’s statement
on remuneration

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to
present the Directers’ Remuneration Report.

Pay for performance continues to be a key
objective for the business and we believe
that the refinements we have made to both
our short and long-term incentives this year
will ensure that we achieve this, We continue
to focus on standardising bonus terms and
conditions for senior executives across all
our global operations whilst recognising

the different countries, sectors and stage

of development of each business

Our incentive schemes across our business
are designed to reward sustainable
profitable growth and we focus on ensuring
that performance targets are in line with
our long-term strategy and the creation

of sustained shareholder value

Faecutive Directors’ bonus pay ments
for FY 2017

In FY 2017 we broadened the metrics used
in the Executive Bonus Plan to include

a revenue and cash flow component in
addition to a profit metric. The previous
weighting given to strategic objectives has
been removed In FY 2018 1tis our intention
to refine this further and to use two metrics,
revenue and cash operating income. Cash
operafing income {operating profit plus
depreciation and amortisation less capital
expenditure} 15 a metnic that captures both
profit and underlying cash generation of
the business.

The FY 2017 plan introduced an adjustment,
to ensure that participants do not benefit
from, and are not penalised by, short-term
currency fluctuations beyond their control
This will continue in FY 2018

({4

The purpose of the Executive Bonus Plan

15 to focus the participants on delivering
sustainable profitable growth. In this

year of transformation, the Committee
considered it was fair and appropriate to
use Its discretion to apply adjustments to
account for strategic re-structuring decisions
during the year. These decisions were taken
to set the business up to deliver long-term
shareholder value but which impacted

on the ability to meet the performance
parameters of the plan. As such, the
Commuttee was satisfied that an outcome of
85% of target was reflective of overall DMGT
financial and non-financial performance

Kevin Beatty's bonus, as CEQ of dmg meda,
reflects the relatively strong performance

af the consumer media business in a
challenging environment Paul Dacre does
not participate in the annual bonus scheme.

FIUBUIIAOD

Details of the Executive Directors’ bonuses
can be found on pages [-] and [+].

Pax Review for FY 2018

We regularly review the competitive position
of remuneration for the Company’s Executive
Directors. Base pay increases in the last few
years have been modest and in line with
increases for the general DMGT workforce
and the relevant external market. Salaries for
FY 2017 were frozen for all Executive Directors
and there was a targeted and modest salary
increase for other empioyees across the
Group. The Committee 1s keeping base pay
under review and retains the discretion

to authonise subsequent increases.

Pay for performance continues to be
a key objective for the business and
we believe that the changes we have
made to both our short and long-term
incentives this year will ensure that

we achieve this.”
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Key strategic priorities

Improving operational execution

2016 Long-term incentive award

Cur new Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan
was Introduced in 2017 The performance
period in respect of the 2016 award will be
from FY 2017 to the end of FY 2029. The plan
1sintended to:

= provide a direct link between pay and
performance of the business - with the
opportunity for exceptional levels of
reward linked to truly exceptional business
performance; and

+ reward the delivery of sustainable
long-term growth and capital efficiency

To achieve this, the pian has been designed
to give participants a share of profit growth
before tax above a minimum growth
threshold - ensuting that the award 1s
appropriately challenging and an Executive
Director is not rewarded unless a minimum
performance threshold is reached.

To ensure that shareholders’ capital 1s used
efficiently, a capital charge {or credit) will
be applied, business-by-business for any
additional capital used (or released) relative
to the starting tevel. The total reward for
each participant 1s subject to a cap.

At the same time we have also increased
the shareholding guidelines for the CEO
{and Chairman) to 500% of base salary.

The outcome of the 2016 LTIP award will be
delivered in shares upon vesting at the end
of FY 2019.

In FY 2018 we intend to make LTIP awards
on the same basis
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J Increasing portfolio focus

Long-term incentive awards vesting
it FY 2017

The vesting of the award made in
December 2012 was measured against
the following priorities:

« growing B2B business;

« investing in strong brands of digital
consumer media, particularly MailOnline;

= growing sustanable earmings and
dividends; and

+ increasing the Company’s exposure to
growth economies and international
opportunities

We have continued to make progress against
these priorities Over the last five years,

B2B revenues {excluding Euromoney)
achieved an average increase of 7% on an
underlying basis; MailOnline revenues have
grown from £28m in FY 2012 to £119min

FY 2017 and made good progress on Its

path to profitability, dividends continued

to grow In real terms and international
revenues increased from 37% to 51% of total
revenue. Given this, the Committee has
determined that the award should vest in
full in December 2017. For more mformation
see pages ] and [«].

The award made in December 2014 to
Paul Dacre is measured against the
following priorities:

« ensuring the financial stability of the Mall
Titles; and

« nvesting in strong brands of digital
consumer media, particularly MailOnline

We have made good progress against these
prienties and the Committee has determined
that the award should vest in full in
December 2017. For more information see
pages [+l and [+].

Enhancing financial flexibility

The award to Kevin Beatty made in
December 2010 under the 2008 Long Term
Incentive Plan which vested at 53 9% in
September 2013 became fully realisable
in December 2016. For mare information
see page [+}.

Changes to the Executive Directors
Stephen Daintith and Suresh Kavan both
stood down from the Board during the year
and | would like to thank them for their
centribution to the business

Under the terms of his service contract,
Suresh Kavan was entitled to a pro-rated
bonus for FY 2017. On resignation, Stephen
Daintith was not eligible to participate in
the bonus for FY 2017 and unvested share
awards were forfeited in full. Further details
can be found on page [+).

Tim Collier was appointed as Group Chief
Financial Officer in May 2017, Details of his
compensation arrangements can be found
on page :+}. His appointment terms are in
line with DMGT's Remuneration Policy and
include a one-off award of DMGT shares.
The award 1s intended to compensate him
for the forfeiture of unvested incentives from
his previous employer. The award will vest

in two tranches in December 2018 (188,284
shares) and December 2019 {136,681 shares),
subject to continuing employment

Reflecting our emphasis on pay for
performance, the fixed pay (base salary and
pension allowance) agreed for Tim Collier 1s
lower than his predecessor’s, with a greater
focus on variable pay elements.

The Viscount Rothermere
Chairman
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Y 2017 Remuneration outcomes for the Executive Directors
The table below summarises the remuneration for the Executive Directors in FY 2017:
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The Viscount PA T6 Kt PM sw
- Rothermere Zwillenberg Collier Beatty Dacre Daintith S Kavan Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00D E00D £000
Salary 2017 837 750 207 744 1,448 368 275 4,629
Bonus (Including deferred amounts) 640 446 124 04 - - - 1,514
As a% of salary 76.5% 59 5% 58 5% 40 9% - - -
Taxable benefits 55 29 & 29 68 7 - 194
Pension benefits 310 225 52 275 - 111 - 973
LTIP awards vesting in year - - - 976 855 - - 1,832
Total remuneration FY 2017 1,842 1,450 389 2,328 2,372 486 275 9,142
Tetal remuneration FY 2016 1,961 458 - 2,571 1,514 2,605 328 9,437
g
The key elements of remuneration for the Executive Directors E
The key elements of remuneration applicable for the current Executive Directors in FY 2017 are described below: §
2
Annual bonus
Salary opportunity Annual bonus deferral LTIP Pension Benefits
The Viscount £837,000 180% of salary None applies Percentage of eligible Allowance of Car allowance
Rothermere (including maximum profit with calibrated 37%of salary  and driver
- f €.90%
Euromoney 90% of salary on-target value of ¢.20% Family medical
Board fees} of salary vesting after
on target insurance, Life
three years
Assurance
PA £750,000 140% of salary Any amount above target  Percentage of eligible Allowance of Car allowance
Zwillenberg (including maximum deferred into nil cost profit with cahbrated 30% of salary  and driver
Euromoney 70% of salary aptions for two years on-target value of Family medical

Board fees)
TG Collier  £500,000

{£206,522 since

appomntment)

on target

© 140% of salary

maximum

70% of salary
on target

Any amount above target

deferred into nil cost
options for two years

¢ 100% of satary vesting
after three years

Percentage of eligible
profit with calibrated
on-target value of c.90%
of salary vesting after
three years

insurance, Life
Assurance

Aliowance of
25% of salary

Car allowance

Family medical
nsurance, Life
Assurance

K J Beatty £744,000 60% of salary Any amount above target Percentage of eligible Allewance of Car allowance
maximum deferred into nil cost profit with cabbrated 37% of salary  and driver
- Q,
30% of salary options for two years on-target value of ¢ 60% Family medical
of salary vesting after
on target insurance, Life
three years
Assurance
P M Dacre £1,448,000 - - Award with a value - Company car and
equivalent to 70% of driver, car allowance
salary vesting after three Fuel banefit
years subject to
performance conditions Family medical
Insurance
Note

1 Suresh Kavan stood down from the Board on 12 January 2017, Stephen Dantith stoad down from the Board on 6 April 2017 and Tim Collier joined the Board on 2 May 2017
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Annual Report on Remuneration
Remuneration and Nominations Committee role and activities
The Committee’s responsibilities with respect to remuneration include:

= Group remuneration policy; and

+ Setting the remuneration, benefits and terms and conditions of employment of the Company’s Executive Directors and other senior
executives.

The Committee’s Terms of Reference are available on the Company’s website, The Committee is chaired by Lord Rothermere with Committee
members David Nelson and Heidi Roizen. Dominigue Trempont was appointed with effect from 1 November 2017

The UK Carporate Governance Code (the Code} recommends that a remuneration committee should be composed entirely of Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Board considers that, as the beneficiary of the Company’s largest shareholder, Lord Rothermere’s interests are
fully aligned with those of other shareholders The Comrmittee 1s confident that its make-up ensures that it carries out all aspects of its role
with proper and appropriate regard to long-term shareholders’ interests and that this alignment 1s, in fact, stronger as a direct consequence
of its membershup. The Non-Executive Directors meet regularly and independently outside of the formal meetings.

The Committee spends a large portion of its time reviewing the remuneration and incentive plans of businesses which are diverse both in
geography and sector There are a variety of incentive plans requiring significant consideration and oversight, which are designed to reflect
each business type and stage of development, the market it operates in and aims to incentivisation of the delivery of 1ts strategic plan,

The Committee’s objective 1s to combine the necessary attention te short-term financial performance, through annual bonus plans,

with a stronger focus on the fundamentals that drive long-term growth, through long-term incentive schemes.

Committee Performance and Effectiveness
In September 2017, the Committee conducted a formal review of its effectiveness and concluded that it had fulfilled its remit and had been
effective in the year

Risk and reward
During the year, the Committee reviewed and confirmed that the plans in operation throughout the Group did not incentivise excessive risk
and, in particular, that the remuneration incentives in the Company are compatible with its risk policies and systems

Advice to the Remuneration Committee
The Committee received advice from members of the senior management team curing the year. KPMG also provided advice in relation
ta valuation of subsidiaries for the purpose of long-term incentive schemes Fees paid to KPMG amounted to £16,000 during FY 2017.

Remuneration Committee discussion topics

Date Agenda items

b e » Vesting of FY 2012 DMGT LTI awards
Nov?m r 2016 « Approval of FY 2017 DMGT LTI structure.
(2 meetings) » FY 2016 outcome of executive bonus schemes.

- Approval of FY 2017 executive bonus targets.
« Suresh Kavan leaving arrangements.

ru + Approval of 2017 DMGT LTI participants and awards.
Feb ary 2017 + Developments in Reward and Corpcrate Governance.
« Approval of CFO recruitment terms.
. Preparatlon for Gender Pay reportmg

Apl'il 2017 - Operating busn nesses compensation and appointments.

Operating businesses compensation and appointments.

June 2017

September 2017 + Review of Remuneration Committee Effectiveness.

= Annual Salary Review.
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Table 1: $ingle {igure of remuneration paid to Executive Directors for FY 2017 (Audited)
The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Executive Director in FY 2017 and FY 2016 Detals of
the calculation of the annual honus figure for FY 2017 can be found in the section vanable pay awards vesting in FY 2017, on page [+].

Salary and Taxable Pension Total Annual  Total annual Total

Financial fees' benefits® benefits fixed bonus® remuneration LTIP* remuneration

year £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 E000 £000 £000

The Viscount Rothermere 2017 837 55 310 1,202 540 1,842 = 1,842

2016 837 58 310 1,205 756 1,961 - 1,961

P A Zwillenberg 2017 150 29 225 1,004 246 1,450 - 1,450

2016 250 7 75 3132 126 458 - 458

TGCollier 2017 207 6 52 265 124 389 - 389

2016 - - - - - - - -

K J Beatty 2017 734 29 275 1,048 304 1,352 976 2,328

2016 744 29 275 1,048 211 1,259 1,312 2,571

P'M Dacre 2017 1,448 68 - 1,516 - 1,516 856 2,372

2016 1,448 56 - 1,514 - 1,514 e 1,514

$ W Daintith 2017 368 7 111 486 - 436 - ass

2016 714 16 214 944 384 1,328 1,277 2,605

S Kavan® 2017 15 - - 275 - 275 - 275
- 2016 221 4 1 226 102 328 - 328

Total o 2017 4,629 194 973 5,796 1,514 7,310 1,832 9,142

2016 4,214 180 875 5,265 1,579 5,848 2,589 9,437

Notes

1 Salary shown for The Viscount Rothermere and Paut Zwillenberg inciudes fees of £43,333 as Directors of Euromoney which increased from £30,000 p a to £50,000 p 2 dunng the year The salary
shown for Suresh Kavan is for the peniod from 1 October 2016 to 11 January 2017 whilst he was 2 Board member

2 Taxable benehts cornpnse car or equivalent allowances which are £34,000 p a for The Viscount Rothermere E18,000 p a for Paul Zwillenberg, £16 D00 p a (pro-rated) for Tim Colber, £14,000
p a {pro rated) for Stephen Daintith, and £16,000 p & for Kevin Beatty Paul Dacre has acompany carwrth a taxable value ol £33,775 p 2 plus a car allowance of £10,000 p a  Paul Dacre also
recerved a fuel benelt 0f £15,433p a The Wiscount Rothermere, Paul Zwillenberg, Kevin Beatty and Paul Dacre also received benefits in respect of home-to-work travel which was not included
n the 2016 repert Amounts ,ncluding tax paid by the company, are £18,042, £7,371, £9,898 and £6,745 respectively for 2017 The taxable benefits amounts for 2016 have alse been adjusted to
reflect the amount relaung to this benefit during the year Each of the Executive Cirectors recesved medical benefits with a cost to the Company of approumately £2,000 p a

3 The bonuses shown inciude amounts that will be deferred mto shares but do not have any further performance conditions attached A deferral applies for Kevin Beatty in FY 2017 Details of the
caleulation of the bonus and deferral are shown on page -«

4 Awards made in December 2012 under the 2012 Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan vest 1n full in December 2017 The award made to Paul Dacre under the 2012 Long-Term Executive tncentive
Plan in December 2014 also vestsin full in December 2017 The value of the award shown 1s calculated using the average share price for the fourth quarter FY 2017 which was £6 30
Under the rules of the 2012 Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan, participants are entitied to the value of the dividends that they would have received between the award date and the exercise
date, the amount shown inciudes accrued payments of £155,744 for Kevin Beatty and £100, 848 for Paul Dacre in 2017 In 2016, the award for Kevin Beatty realised at a share price of £7 6§ with
a cash dividend equivalent payment of £141,508 and for Stephen Dainuth, the award realised at & share price of £7 76 with a cash dividend equivalent payment of £140,905

5 Payments to Suresh Kavan have been converted at a the average rate for the year of £1 5127
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Variable pay awards vesting in Y 2017

Table 2.1: Annual bonus weightings, opportunity and outcomes {Audited)

The details of the weightings and opportunity relating to the annual benus paid to Executive Directors for the year ended 30 September 2017
and included in the single figure table 1 on page +} are shown below. The performance measures for FY 2017 are a combination of revenue,
profit and cashflow. The resulting bronus amaounts are shown in the table below:

Weaightings Opportunity as a % of salary Actual Actual

- - outcome % autcome

Revenue  Profit Cashflow Threshold Target Maximum of salary £000

The Viscount Rothermere 40% 40% 20% 0% 90% 180%  765% 640
P A Zwillenberg I 40% 40% 20% 0% 0% 140% 56.5% 446
TG Collier! ' 40% 40% 20% % 70% 140%  59.5% 124
K J Beatty? 40% 40% 0% 0% 305 60%  409% 304
S Dantith? % 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% o0
S Kavan" 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0

Note

1 TimCollier's bonus was pro-rated

2 Kewin Beatty s bonus is weighted 70% aganst targets specific 1o dmg media and 30% against DMGT targets

3 Stephen Damntith did not participate i an annual benus in FY 2017

4 Apro-rated on-target bonus was paid to Suresh Kavan on leaving which is detailed in the payments to past directors section on page(-

Table 2.2: DMGT annual bonus targets [Audited)

Strategic meaures were removed as measures in FY 2017. The financial measures are split into three categories and weighted appropriately

to the role of the Executive Director {shown in table 2.1} Kevin Beatty’s bonus 1s weighted 70% against targets specific to dmg media and 30%
against DMGT targets

The Board considers the performance targets for the measures to be commercially sensitive as it would disclose information of value

1o competitors, and they will not be disclosed. The final targets were adjusted to reflect the final USS/£ average exchange rate over the year.
The purpose of the Executive Bonus Plan 1s ta focus the participants on delivering profitable growth. The Committee considered it was fair and
appropriate to use its discretion to apply adjustments to account for strategic restructuring during the year and was satisfied that an cutcome
of 85% of target was reflective of overail DMGT performance.

The following tables illustrate performance against DMGT and dmg media bonus targets and the corresponding outcome:

Below Threshold Target Maximum Qutcome as
DMGT bonus targets {All) 0% 0% 100% 200% a % of target
Revenue T * o 35.7%
Profit B . 107.2%
Cashflow . 138 3%

Below Threshold Target Maximum Outcome as
dmg media bonus targets (Kevin Beatty Only} _ 0% % 100% 200% a% of target
Revenue o o < 99.6%
Profit * 118.8%
Cashflow ] ! e 114.6%

Table 3: Deferred annual bonus (Audited)
The Committee agreed the following deferral requirements would apply to the annual bonus with ne further performance conditions except
for continued employment:

A

deferred deferred

FY 2017 as a% of

Deferral requirement Type of deferral £000 FY 2017 bonus

The Viscount Rothermere NI ‘ None 0 0%

P A Zwillenberg Amounts above target bonus deferred for two years Nil cost options 0 0%

7 G Collier Amounts above target bonus deferred for two years Nil cost options 0 0%
S W Daintith! Amounts above target bonus deferred for two years Nil cost options 0 0%

K] Beatty Amounts above target bonus deferred for two years Nil cost options 81 27%

5 Kavan Amounts above target bonus deferred for two years Nil cost options 0 0%

Note
1 Stephen Daintith did not participate in the annual bonus scheme in FY 2017
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Awards made under share schemes

Table 4: 2010 LTIP award, core award and matching shares {Audited)
The table below sets out the details of the 2010 LTIP core awards and matching shares which became realisable for Kevin Beatty with no
further restrictions in December 2016 1n accordance with the 2001 Plan rules. The value shown was calculated using the average share price

for the fourth quarter of FY 2013.
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Award date Dec 2010 Dec 2010 Dec 2010 Cec 2010 Dec 2010
Award type B Core Matching Matching Matching Matching
Relating to 2010LTIP 2010LTIP 2010 LTIP 2010 LTIP 2010 LTIP
Vests Sep 2013 Dec 2013 Dec 2014 Dec 2015 Dec 2016
Realisable in Dec 2016 Dec 2016 Dec 2016 Dec 2016 Dec 2016 ) i

Status of awards Vested Vested Vested Vested Vested

Value at 30

Total September 2013

realised during (£7.62 per share)

E_xﬂ'_c_ised,‘reil_ised du_n_ng year - o the year £000

K J Beatty 39,017 18,508 19,508 19,508 19,508 117,049 892

Shaded celumns show options that have vested

Notes

1 The Committee determined that the award for Kevir Beatty vested at 53 9% 1n September 2013 The award was realised on 21 February 2017 at a share price of £7 24 Detauls of perfarmance
measures for the vesting award can be seen in the 2013 Annual Report

Table 5: Nil cost options (Audited}

The table below sets out the details of all outstanding awards of nil cost aptions as part of the deferred bonus plan. Following the exercise
of an award, a cash payment with a value equivalent 1o the sum of all of the dividends declared for the award between the grant date and the
date of delivery of the shares 1s made No further performance conditions are imposed except for continued employment. The Award price
used each year s the closing price on the last working day of November,

The Award made in December 2014 vested in December 2016 and were exercised during the year by Kevin Beatty and Stephen Daintith.
There were no deferrals in relation to the FY 2016 bonus outcomes. A deferral applies to Kevin Beatty’s bonus for FY 2017.

Award date Dec 2010 Dec 2011 Dec 2012 Dec 2012 Dec 2013 Dec 2014 Dec 2015
Award type NIl cost Nil cost Nil cost Nil cost Nil cost Nil cost Nil cost
aptions _options options options opticns options options
Relating to 2010 2011 2012 2012 2013 2014 2015
Bonus Bonus Bonus Bonus Bonus Bonus Bonus
Exercisable from Dec 2013 Dec 2014 Cec 2014 Dec 2015 Dec 2015 Dec 2016 Deczoir
Expiry date Dec 2017 Dec 2018 Dec 2019 Dec 2019 Dec 2020 Dec 2021 Dec2022
Status of awards Vested Vested Vested ~  Vested Vested Vested Cutstanding
Award price £5.39 £3.98 £5.27 £5.27 £9.16 £8.29 £7 06
Total
outstanding
Qutstanding awards - during the year
The Viscount Rothermere - 110,464 - 129,635 - - - 240,099
K J Beatty - - - - - - 12,804 12,804
Total outstanding - 110,464 - 129,635 - - 12,804 252,903
Total
exercised
Exercised during year during the year
The Viscount Rothermere 187,581 - - - - - - 7717877,5817
S W Daintith - - - - 23,257 2,416 - 25,673
K J Beatty - 34,970 17,069 19473 - 16,795 25,585 - 113,892
Total exercised 222,551 17,069 19,473 - 40,052 28,001 - 327,146
Total
foreited during
Forfeited during year the year
S W Daintith! - - - - - - 15,666 15,666
Total exercised - - - - - - - 15,666

Shaded columns show options that have vested

HNotes

1 [he award made to Stephen Dantith in December 2015 of 15,666 shares forfeited in full on fus leaving date

2 Ng awards under the deferred banus plan have been made to Paul Zwillenberg or Tim Collier

3 Under the rules of the deferred hanus plan, participants are entitled to the value of the dividends that they would have received between the award date and the exercise date Kevin Beatty
recewed cash dividend equwalent payments of £106 696 1n relation to the exercise of awards made under this plan in bY 2017 Dividend equivatent payments 1o Stephen Daintith and Martin
Morgan for awards exercised dunng the year are detalled on page |- Lord Rothermere exercised his award in September and dividends were received in October 2017
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Table 6.1: Awards made under the 2012 Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan (LTIP) (Audited)
Outstanding awards subject ta performance conditions under the 2012 Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan are summanised in the table
below. Awards are share based The Board considers the performance targets for the measures to be commercially sensitive as it would
disclose information of value to competitors, and they will not be disclosed.

The 2012 LTIP award made to Kevin Beatty vested in full during the year based on an evaluation by the Committee of the performance against
the measures detailed below. Following the realisation of an award, a cash payment with a value equivalent to the sum of all of the divwdends
declared for the award between the grant date and the date of delivery of the shares 1s made. No further performance conditions are imposed

No further awards are being made under this plan

2011 LTIP 2012 LTIP 2013 LTIP 2014 LTIP 2015 LTIP

Award name award award award award award
Award date Feb 2012 Dec 2012? Dec 2013 Dec 2014 Dec 2015
Performance period ends Oct 2016 Oct 2017 Oct 2018 Oct 2019 Oct 2020
Standard award as a % of salary 100%  100% 100% 100% 100%
Award price ‘ £4.37 £527 £9.16 £8.29 £706
: £6 95 £6.30 N/A NAA N/A

Price at vesting

Perfarmance measures

« Grow B2B business.

« Continue to invest in strong brands of digital consumer media, particularly MailOnline

+ Grow sustainable earnings and dividends.

.« Increase the Company's exposure to growth economies and to international opportunities.

Status of award Vested Vested Outstanding Qutstanding Qutstanding
Maximum percentage of face value 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
that could vest
Total
outstanding
Qutstanding awards ) during the year
KJ Beatty - - 130,246 77,226 87,937 105,382 400,791
Total outstanding - 130,246 17,226 87,937 105,382 400,791
Total
realised
Realised during year during tt}e year
S W Daintith 145,453 - - - - 146,453
K J Beatty 152,494 - - - - 152,494
Total exercised/realised during year 298,947 - - - - 298,947
Total
forfeited during
Forfeited during year the year
5 W Daintith? - 125,085 74,167 84,439 101,133 384,824
Total lapsed during year - 125,085 74,167 84,439 101,133 384,824

$haded columns show options that have vested

Notes

1 The awards for Stephen Daintith in 2013, 2014 and 2015 of 74,167, 84,438 and 101,133 shares respectively lapsed in full under the rules of the plan
2 Thevalue of the 2012 LTIP award at vesuing was £820,550 for Kewin Beatty calculated using the average share price for the fourth quarter Fy 2017 which was £6 30 This award was made under the

ruies of the 2012 LTIP

2 Underthe rules of the 2012 LTI plan, participants are entitled to the value of the dividends that they would have received between the award date and the exeraise date Stephen Daintith
and Kevin Beatty receved cash dividend equivalent payments in relation to the realisation of awards made under this planin FY 2017
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Table 6.2: Awards made under the 2017 Executive Incentive Plan (EIP) {Audited)

Outstanding awards subject to performance conditions under the 2017 Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan are summarised in the table
below Awards are made annually in line with policy and will be equity settled Following the realisation of 2n award, a cash payment with
avalue equivalent to the sum of all of the dividends declared for the award between the grant date and the date of delivery of the shares s
made. No further performance conditions are imposed. The 2016 LTIP awards made to Lord Rothermere, Paul Zwillenberg and Kevin Beatty,
made in December 2017, were hased on a 1 December 2017 market closing price of £7.88.

Award name 2016 LTIP

Award date Jun 2017 B o
Perfermance period ends Oct 201% 7

Performance penod Starts Oct 2016 B
Award price o £7 BB/ET 17° a o o

Status of award Qutstanding

Basis on which award Percentage share growth in eligible profit over the performance period, converted at the end of the performanc_é__ |
1s made period to shares based cn share price immediately before start of performance period

Percentage recervable if " Ifthe performahce levelis on target or above, The Viscount Rothermere and Paul Zwillenberg would receive 1 25%
maximum performance and Tim Collier and Kevin Beatty 0 75% of eligible profits No amounts are payable if there are no eligible profits.
achieved

There 15 a cap on the maximum amounts payable which 1s 5 times base salary at the time the award was made with
the number of shares being calculated by reference to the award price above.

Performance Measures Outcomes are linked to stretching targets for cumulative growth in profits over a minimum growth threshold, subject
to fair adjustment for any change in capital usage

Maximum shares Shares vesting
that could vest at target!
The Viscount Rothermere 531,091 95,178 -
PA Zwilienberg ) 7‘74‘?5,888 - 95,178 o h T ) h
T G Colher 280,851 52,762 o o o
K J Beatty 318,655 57,107

Notes

1 The value of the 2016 at target LTIP awards at 1ssue was £750,000 for Lord Rothermere and Paul Zwilienberg and £450,000 for Tim Collier and Kewvin Beatty

2 The awards made to Lord Rothermere, Paul Zwillenberg and Kevin Beatty were based on the average share price for the first three days foliowing the release of FY 2016 financial results of £7 88,
the award made to Tim Collier was based on the clesing share price on fus employment start date of £7 17

Table 6.3: Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan {LTIP) Awards to Paul Dacre (Audited}

The outstanding awards subject to performance conditions made to Paul Dacre are summarised in the table below. Awards are share-based
and made annually in {ine with policy The Board considers the performance targets for the measures to be commercially sensitive as 1t would
disclose information of value to competitors, and they will not be disclosed The 2016 LT!P award made to Paul Dacre, made in December 2017,
was based on a 1 December 2017 market closing price of £7.88.

The 2014 LTIP award made tc Paul Dacre under the 2012 Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan vested in full during the year based on an
evaluation by the Committee of the performance against the measures detailed below. Following the realisation of an award, a cash payment
with a value equivalent to the sum of all of the dividends declared for the award between the grant date and the date of delivery of the shares
1s made, No further performance conditions are imposed

2014 LTIP 2015 LTIP 2016 LTIP

Award name award award award

Award date Dec 20147 Dec 2015 Feb 2017

Performance period ends Oct 2017 Oct 2018 Oct 2019

Standard award as a % of salary 70% 70% %
Award price £8 29 £706 £7.88

Price at \;es-tmg T a T £6.30 N/A N/A

Performance measures - + Continue to invest Inrstrong brands of digital consu mer media

+ Ensure the financial sustamnability of the Mail Titles,
particulatly MailGnline

Status of award o Vested Outstanding Outstanding
Maximum percentage of face value that could vest 100% 190% 100%
Total
outstanding
Outstanding aw?rds during the year
P M Dacre 119,819 143,569 128,625 392,017
Total outstanding 119,819 143,569 128,629 392,017

Shaded columns show options that have vested

Naotes
1 Thevalue of the 2016 LTIP awards at 1ssue was £1,013,600 for Paul Dacre This award was made under the rules of the 2017 EIP
2 Thevalue of the 2014 LTIP awards at vesting was £754,860 for Paut Dacre calculated using the average share price forthe fourth quarter FY 2017 which was £6 30
This award was made under the rules of the 2012 LTIP 65
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Paymentis Lo pasi Directors (Audited)

Martin Morgan

1, Vested share options and awards

The Committee were satisfied that the performance conditions had been met for the award made to Martin Morgan in December 2012 of
176,243 shares under the DMGT 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the ‘2012 LTIP’).

in accordance with the rules of the plan, following the exercise of an award, a cash payment with a value equivaient to the sum of all of the
dividends declared for the award between the grant date and the date of detivery of the shares 1s made. Martin Morgan received £175,185
in FY 2017 in relation to exercises of vested awards made under the Nil Cost Option Plan that were exercised during the year.

Payments for loss of office (Audited)

Suresh Kavan

Suresh Kavan left the Company during the year. In his role as CEQ for dmg information and dmg events, he helped to diversify the Group
into the B2B sector Suresh Kavan stepped down from the Board of BMGT on 12 January 2017 but remained an employee of DMGT until
31 March 2017 during which time he continued to receive salary and benefits. Suresh Kavan’s notice period was 12 months and ran from
12 January 2017,

Payments for loss of office reflect the transition arrangements that were put in place After he stood down from the Board on 12 January 2017,
Suresh Kavan received US$274,917, in respect of salary for the period until 31 March 2017, US$31,250 in respect of holiday accrued but not
taken and US56,593 in respect of benefits for the period until 31 March 2017 when he was still employed by the Company.

1. Termination payments

in accordance with his service contract he received a payment in lieu of notice of US$806,533 In respect of his salary for the period from the
termination date of 31 March 2017 to 30 September 2017. Suresh Kavan also continues to be covered under the existing medical and dental
plans far a period of 18 months. In addition he received a lump-sum payment of $4,145 to cover the cost of life insurance for a 12 month
period

2. FY 2017 bonhus
Under the terms of his service contract, Suresh Kavan received a bonus for the 2017 financial year, scaled back on a time-apportioned basis
by reference t¢ the termination date of 31 March 2017 The amount of bonus was agreed at U$$350,000 and was paid immediately after the
termination date

3. Unvested Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan Awards

The Remuneration Comrmittee determined that outstanding share awards under the DMGT 2012 Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan {the
2012 LTIP’) over a total of 320,942 shares would vest on thewr normal respective vesting dates between December 2017 and December 2018.
The proportion of the Award which vests would be determined by the Committee based on achivement of the Performance Conditions and
the proportion of the Performance Period which has been completed at the Terrmination Date The award vesting in December 2017 has not
exceeded the threshold of its performance conditions and will not vest.

4, Vested Share Options and Awards

In accordance with the rules of the relevant plan any outstanding share options and awards which have vested and are already exercisable
remained exercisable following the Termination Date for a period of six months An amount of £163,492 was received in relation to options
exercised durihg the year.

Stephen Daintith

1. Termination payments

No terminatioh or bonus payments were made to Stephen Daintith in FY 2017, Stephen Daintith received £5,492, in respect holiday accrued
but not taken.

2. Vested share options and awards

In accordance with the rules of the relevant plan any outstanding share options and awards which had vested were exercised before the
termination date, Options and Long-Term Incentive Awards which were unvested at the Termination Date lapsed In accordance with the rules
of the plan, following the exercise of an award, a cash payment with a value equivalent to the sum of all of the dividends declared for the
award between the grant date and the date of delivery of the shares 1s made. Stephen Daintith received £15,395 during FY 2017 in relation

to exercises of vested awards made under the Nil Cost Option Plan.
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Table 7: Executive Directors’ accrued entitlements under DMGT Senijor Executives’ Pension Fund {Audited)

The defined benefit scheme 1s closed for future accrual 1t is the Company’s policy that annual bonuses, payments under the Executive Bonus
Scheme and benefits in kind are not pensionahle.

The Company does not make any contributions on behalf of Paul Dacre Suresh Kavan participated in 2 US 401(k) retirement plan No
Executive Directors are now accruing further pension in the DMGT Senior Executives’ Pension Fund The normal retirement age under the
Fund for this group is 60

Defined benefit: Accrued annual Defined benefit: Weighting of

benefit as at 30 September 2017 Defined Additional value pension benefit

based on normal retirement age benefit: normal of benefits if early value as shewn

) £009 retirement age retirement taken in single figure table
The Viscount Rothermere 7 78 3 Decernber 2027 - Cash allowance’ L00%
P Zwillenberg N/A - - Cash allowance:; 97%,
o o Defined centribution 3%

T G Collier N/A - - Cash allowance: 97%;
Defined contribution. 3%

K 1 Beatty’ N/A S - - Cash allowance. 100%
P M Dacre 708 14 November 2008 N/A N/A

Note
1 Kevin Beatty transferred his deferred pension to a persenal retirement plan in Septe mer 2016

Tabhle 8: Singie figure of remuneration paid ta Non-Executive Directors

The tabie below sets out the single total figure of remuneration for each Non-Executive Director in FY 2017 and FY 2016. The Non-Executive
Director fee increased to £50,000 p.a. effective L July 2017. Additional fees are paid for membership and chairmanship of sub-committees and
subsidiary boards

Travel allowances are paid of £4,000 for each Board meeting which requires a single (one way) flight of between 5 and 10 hours and £10,000 for
each Board meeting which requires a single {one way) flight of more than 10 hours,

2016 2017

Travel o o Travel ) -

Fees allowance Total Fees allowance Total

o ,,E.EDD o £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

FPBalsemac - 37 4 41 13 - 13
N W Berry 98 - % 24 - 24
J G Hemingway 76 4 80 T - 27
Lady Keswick 35 4 39 39 - 39
AH Lane ' 78 - 78 78 - 78
F Mcrin - - - 20 20 _ a0
DHNelson B 195 4 199 138 - 138
KAH Parry 123 4 127 92 - 92
H Roizen! o 99 a8 147 161 30 191
DTremport 87 48 135 56 50 106
Total 828 116 944 648 100 748

Note
1 Feesshown above include the fees and trave| allowances for Board and Remuneration Committee participation
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Table 9: Percentage change in remuneration of the CEQ
The table below sets cut the remuneration delivered to the Chief Executive compared to tatal employee remuneratian.

%% increase/decrease

Chief Executive remuneration | 2017 £1,450 _9 %

{excluding LTIF)! ’

£000 . 2016 £1,586

Totalemployee 2017 £523,300

remuneration '10%
£000 2016 £578,80C

Average 2017 £63
£57 /

remuneration®
£000 2016

Notes
1 Total employee remuneration includes salanes, wages and incentives, but excludes pension benefits
2 [The change in average employee remuneration 15 partly due to movement in the USS$ exchange rate |

Chart 1: Comparison of overall performance and remuneration of the CEO

The chart compares the  —— DMGT —— MediaUK —— FTSEL00 (all rebased to 100)
Company’s TSR with

the Media Sector Total -
Return Index and the 400
FTSE 100 Index over the
past nine financial years,
assuming an initial
investment of £100,

The Company is a
constituent of the Media
Sector Total Return Index
and, accordingly, this is
considered to be the
most appropriate
comparison to
demonstrate the

Company’s relative 80

performance.

Seurce Thomson Reuters 0 FY2008 FY2009 FY 2010 FY 2011 Fy2012 FY2013  FY2014 FY2008 FY 2016 FY 2017
Datastream
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FY 2009 FY 2010° FY 20113 FY 20124 FY 2013°% FY 2014% FY 20157 FY 2016" FY 2017°
Financial year ending £0060 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Total remuneration (single figure) 2312 2,961 1722 2803 2949 2,021 1944 3342 1,450
Annual varnable pay (% maximum)  63% 98% 40% 63% 8% 54% 589% 63%  42.5%
LTIP achieved (% maximum) 0% 25% 25%/100% 52.5% 37.5% 40% - 160% -

Notes

1 InFY 2009 maximum bonus opportunity was 2604 of salary No | TiP awards were made in thal year or vested in that year Maximtum bonus oppartunity was 100% of salary until FY 2017 when it

increased to 140%

w o

{£3 68, 15 used for the 2008 transitsor award which vested 100% i September 2011

No LTIP vested in FY 2015

RN NI

The single figure shown combines the penod of his service to 31 May 2016 and his successor Paul Zwillenberg from 1 June 2016

Chart 2: Relative importance of spend on pay in ihe financial year

The chart sets out the £millions

relative importance of o0 T~
spend on pay in the . o
financial year. 00

Total employment pay

-14%

In FY 2010 the price on 31 Decermber 2008 (F4 14) 15 used for the 2003 | TIP award which vested 75% out of a maximum 300% in December 2009
Two awards vested in FY 2011 The price on 31 December 20104£5 72) 15 used for the 2004 award which vested 75% out of a maximum 300% i December 2010 The price on 30 September 2011

in FY 2012 the price on 30 September 2012 {£4 82} 1s used for the 2009 award which vested 52 5% out of a maximum 100% in September 2012
InFY 3013 the price on 30 September 2013 (£7 62 15 used for the 2010 award which vested 37 5% out of a8 maximum 100% 1n September 2613 and the 2006 award lapsed
in FY 2014 the price an realisation an 23 June 2014 [£8 31) ts used for the 2007 award which vested at 120% out of a maximum 300% in December 2013

InFY 2016, awards made to Martin Morgan in February 2012 under the 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan vested in 2016 The average share price for the last of quarter of FY 2016 15 used (£6 95)

FY 2017

705

Fy 2016

-5%

FY 2017

L]
6

-13%

260

FY2016

® Buy-back @ Buy-back

@ Dnadend

Dividend

FY201T  FY2016

Adfusted profit before tax
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Table 11: Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (Audiied)

The number of shares of the Company in which Executive and Non-Executive Directors or their families had a beneficial ar non-beneficial
interest during FY 2017 and details of Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTI} interests as at 30 September 2017 are set out in the table below The
shareholding guideline for Executive Directors 1s 5x (500%] for Lord Rothermere and Paul Zwillenberg and 1.5x {150%) of salary for ali others.
The value as a muttiple of salary has been calculated using the 30 September 2017 share price of £6.49.

Beneficial

LTi interests 1Tl interests - ) o

notsubjectto  notsubjectto LTl interests
perfermance performance Value {as subject to Total
A Ordinary conditions! conditions? a multiple Guideline performance outstanding
As at 30 September 2017 Ordinary Non-Voting Vested Unvested of salary)? met conditions® interests*
The Viscount Rothermere 19,890,364° 61,644,654 240,009 - 534 Yes 531,001 771,190
P A Zwillenberg - 24,642 - 109,569 12 No 475,888 585,457
T G Collier C - 14250 - 324,565 4.2 Yes 280,851 605,816
K J Beatty - 299,166 - 12,804 27 T TNo | 719446 732,250
P M Dacre - - - - - No 392,017 392,017
SW Daintith s B - - - - n/a nfa n/a
5 Kavan - 271,624 o - 17 n/a n/a n/a
KA H Parry - 5,711 - - n/a n/s o ”n}aﬁ S n,Fa
19,890,364 62,260,087 240,099 447,338
Non-beneficial
The Viscount Rothermere - 4,880,000
DHNelson - 212,611
5092611 T

Total Directors’ interests 19,890,364 67,352,698
Less duplications - (212,611)

19,800,364 67,140,087

Notes

1 The LTI interests not subject to performance conditions {vested} are the ril cost options awarded as the bonus deferral, full details can be found in table 4 on page -

2 The LTI interests not subject to performance conditions {unvested) are the mil cost options awarded as the bonus deferral, full details can be found intable 4 on page + The LTI nterests not
subject to perfarmance conditions {unvested) also includes the recrutment awards made to Paul Zwillenberg and Tim Colhier of 109,569 and 324,965 shares respectively These were awarded
under the 2017 LT plan as Conditional Share Awards

2 The value as a multiple of salary includes LT} interests not subject to perfarmance conditions

3 The LTI interests subject to performance conditions are detailed intable 6 on page - and include those shares which have vested but are not realisable as well as those that are outstanding
Detalls of these awards arewn tables 6 1,6 2and 6 3 on page + Awards shown for S Kavan were made in December 2015 befare he joined the Board

4 Total outstanding interests are the sum of the LTI interests {both subject to and not subject to performance conditions) and options subject 1o performance conditions

5 The Company has been notified that under Sections 793 and 824 of the Compames Act 2068, Lord Rothermere was deemed to have been interested as a shareholder in 19,890,364 Ordinary
Shares at 30 September 2017

& None of the other directors held any shares in the Company, either beneficial ar non-beneficial

At 30 September 2017, Lord Rothermere was benehcially interested in 756,700 Ordinary Shares of Rothermere Continuation Limited, the Company’s ultimate holding company

The figuresin the table above include shares purchased by participants of the DMGT 2010 Share Incentive Plan For Paul 2willenberg and Kevin Beatly, purchase of shares were made between
30 September 2017 and 30 November 2017 These purchases increased the beneficial holdings of these Executive Directors by 45 shares for Paul Zwillenberg and 37 shares for Kevin Beatty
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‘Table 12: Direclors’ interests in Euromoney (Audited)}
Executive Directors’ beneficial shareholdings in Euromaney were as follows.

30 Sep 2017
The Viscount Rothermere . a
Total Directors’ interests o

Disclosable transactions by the Group under IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, are set out In Note 45 on pages « and [+]. There have been no
other disclosable transactions by the Company and its subsidiaries with Directors of Group companies and with substantial shareholders since
the publication of the last Annual Report

Table 13: Voting at general meeting
The table below shows the advisery vote on the 2017 Remuneration Report and the binding vote on future policy at the February 2017 AGM,
The Committee consults with major shareholders prior to any major changes.

Votes for % Votes against L) Abstentions Y%

Remuneration Report 19,890,364 100 - % - 0%

Non-Executive Directors’ appointment

The Non-Executive Directors are appointed for specified terms under the Company’s Articles of Association and are subject to re-election by
ordinary shareholders at the AGM following appointment. The Non-Executive Directors are subject to annual re-election at the AGM Fach
appointment can be terminated before the end of the one-year period with no notice or fees due. The dates of each Non-Executive Director’s
original appointment and latest re-appointment are set out below:

SIUBUIBADD

Non-Executive Director Appuointment commencement date Latest reappointment date

Lady Keswick " 22 September 2013 & February 2017

AH Lane - 6 February 2013 § February 2017

F Morin 8 February 2017 T nfa ) o

D H Nelson 1 July 2009 8 February 2017 T
KAHParry o 22 May 2014 8 February 2017

H Roizen o 26 September 2012 8 February 2017

D Trempont 9 February 2011 ’ ) g February 2017

Directors’ service contracts/letters of appointment are available for inspection at DMGT"s registered office.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This part of the report sets out the Company’s policy for the remuneration of Directors {Policy). The Policy was last approved by shareholders
at the AGM on 8 February 2017. The Committee has reviewed the Policy and is satisfied that it remains appropriate. The original policy can be
found on the Company website.

The Policy, as set out on pages [+] to [], 1s intended to apply for a three-year period from the date of the 2017 AGM The Committee will
continue to review the Policy on an annual basis.

Policy overview

The Committee aims to structure remuneration packages which motivate and retain Directors, drive the nght behaviours and pay at market,
The Commuttee considers that a successful rermuneration policy needs to be sufficiently flexible to take account of commercial demands,
changing market practice and shareholder expectations. Our approach 1s to align base salary with reference to market levels of pay and to
ensure that a significant part of executive pay is variable and linked to the success of the Company.

The new Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan was approved at the AGM 1n February 2017, The plan directly inks payouts to business
performance by awarding management a share of profit growth, over and above a minmum threshold, after deducting a charge for additional
capital. The new Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan provides for exceptional pay in cases of truly exceptional performance, while nat
over-rewarding average performance

The Committee regularly reviews remuneration structures to ensure they are aligned to business strategy. The Policy incorporates a degree
of flexibility to allow the Committee to manage remuneration over the next three years

Policy applied to Executive Directors

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Opportunity

Performance metrics

Base salary

To recruit, retain and
reflect responstbilities of
the Executive Directors
and be competitive with
peer compames.

The basic salary for each Executive
Director 1s reviewed annually for the
following year taking into account
contractual agreements, general
economic and market conditions and
the level of increases made across the
Group as a whole.

Given the location of the Company's
principal operations, a parhicular focus
is put on US and UK market conditions,

Benchmarking based on media and other
relevant comparnies s performed
penodically and the Committee’s intention
is to apply judgement in evaluating market
data.

Annual increases are normally
in ine with average UK and
US-based employees, subject
to particular circumstances,
such as changes in roles,
responsibilities or
organisation, or as the
Committee determines
otherwise based on factors
listed under ‘Operation’,

The maximum salary level for
each Executive Director is set
at a level the Committee
considers appropriate taking
account of the individual’s
skills, experience and
performance, and the external
environment.

Current salary levels are set
out an page ]

Not performance related

Pension

To recruit, retain and
reflect responsibilities of
the Executive Directors
and be competitive with
peer companies.

Executive Directors may participate in a
defined contribution pension scheme or
may receive a cash allowance in heu of
pension contribution. Any contributions
paid to the Company pension scheme
will be offset from the cash allowance.

For executives who
participated in the defined
benefit scheme the pension
allowance has been set at

a higher level {up to 37%)
30% or less for new recruits

Not performance related
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Purpose and Link te strategy

Benefits

To recruit, retain and
reflect responsibilities of
the Executive Directors
and be competitive with
peer campanies,

Operation

apportunity

Performance metrics

Benefits typically include cash allowances
and non-cash benefits such as medical
and car benefits Where appropriate, the
Committee may also offer allowances

far relocation or ather benefits where it
concludes that 1t 1s in the interest of the
Company to do so, having regard to the
particular circumstances and to market
practice.

Allowances do not form part of
pensionable earnings.

Executives are also eligible to participate
n the DMGT SharePurchase+ plan, an
ali-employee Share Incentive Plan, on
the same basis as other employees.

Annual bonus

To focus Executive
Directors on the delivery
of financial performance
and strategic objectives
which create value for
the Company and
shareholders.

To reward individual
contribution te the
success of the Company.

The annual bonus 1s based on in-year
performance against financial objectives
The performance targets and measures
are determined annually by the
Committee and may change from year
to year.

= Up to 100% of total bonus cpportunity
1s based on financial perfermance at
corporate and business unit level; and

« A proportion of total bonus oppartunity
may be based on performance against
strategic non-financial objectives.

The bonus weightings applied for each
of the Executive Directors may vary from
time to time and may include financial
measures and targets relating to the
Group as weli as their specific business.
The weightings that apply to the borus
may vary if the Committee determines
that It is appropnate in order to achieve
the strategic aims of the business.

Performance 1s measured separately for
each item as shown in tables 2.2 and 2.3
on page [+].

Annual incentive payments do not form
part of pensionahle earnings,

Annual bonus plans are discretionary and
the Committee reserves the right to make
adjustments to payments up or down If it
believes that exceptional circumstances
warrant doing so

Bonuses are subject to malus prior to
payment, and to clawback for two years
after payment, in aircumstances including
a material misstatement i results, an
error in calculating/assessing satisfaction
of any condition, the participant causing
matenal reputational damage to any
member of the Group or serious
misconduct by the participant causing
loss to any member of the Group.

Benefits may vary by role and
individual circumstances

The cost of benefits changes
periodically and may be
determined by outside
providers

Benefits are not performance
related.

The DMGT SharePurchase+ plan is
not performance related.

Maximum opportunity 1s as
follows:

For The Viscount
Rothermere, 180% of salary,
For Paul Zwillenberg,
140% of salary;

+ ForTim Collier 140% of
salary; and

« For Kevin Beatty, 60% of
salary

Paul Dacre does not
participate in the annual
banus plan.

The maximum level for new
recruits will not exceed 200%
of salary

The achievement of stretch
targets results iIn maximum
payout. On-target bonus s
normally 50% of maximum.
There 1s normally no payout
for perfermance below
threshold. Payout between
threshold and targetison a
straight-line basis.

The performance range sets
a balance between upside
opportunity and downside
nisk and is normally based

on targets In accordance with
the annual budget.

Bonuses are subject to the
achievement of financial measures
set prior to grant by the
Committee. The measures for
determining the annual benus in
FY 2017 were profit; revenue and
cash flow. These measures may be
varied from year to year.

IIUBLIIROYG

Targets are against budget The
performance required for a
maximum payout is set at a stretch
performance level that i1s above
the level of the Company’s
forecasts. If performance s in line
with forecast, then typically an
on-target level of the annual bonus
will be paid.

The weightings that were applied
to the FY 2017 bonus targets are
as reported in table 2 1 on page]

[+].

The Board considers the specific
targets and relative weightings for
each measure to be commercially
sensitive and they will not be
disclosed. Performance against
targets in the year that bonus
awards are made wiil be disclosed
along with the relevant weightings
in the Annual Report following
the payment,
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Purpose and link to strategy

Bonus deferral

To provide an element
of retention and align
Executive Directors’
interests with those
of shareholders

Operation

Opportunity

Awards are delivered through a grant of nil
cost options.

A proportion of some Executive Directors’
annual bonus 1s deferred for a peried of
Two years.

Annual bonus deferral requirements are
reported in detail in table 3 on page [+].

Following the exercise of an aption, a cash
payment with a value equivalent to the
sum of all of the dividends declared for the
award between the grant date and the
date of delivery of the shares will be made.

Clawback of vested and unvested awards
15 possible n the event of material
misstatement of information or
misconduct.

Alt Executive Directors (with
the exception of The Viscount
Rothermere) are required to
defer any above-target annual
bonus mto nif cost options for
two years.

Long-term incentives
To focus Executive
Directors on the delivery
of strategic prionties
creating sustainable
long-term value for the
Company ard
shareholders, thereby
aligning Executive
Directors’ interests with
the interests of the
Company and
shareholders.

Specifically, the key
objective Is to Incentivise
Executive Directors to
grow Company profits in
ah appropriate manner,

Please see the notes to
this tabie for further
details about the link
between the Executive
incentive Plan (EIP) and
the Group’s strategic
goals.
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The Company adopted a new Long-Term
Executive incentive plan, following
shareholder approval at the AGM, known
as the DMGT Long-Term Executive
incentive Plan 2017. This plan will be used
to grant long-term incentive awards to
Executive Directors.

There will be an annual grant of awards,
which may be in the form of conditional
share awards, options, restricted shares or
cash at the discretion of the Committee.
Awards may vest attheend of a
performance period of a minimum
duration of three years, subject to
achievement of performance targets

and continued service

In exceptional cases (e.g recruitment)
awards may be made without
performance conditions if the Committee
considers this appropriate.

Awards will typically be paid out in shares,
calculated by reference to the share price
as at the date of grant, in order to ensure
further alignment of the Executive
Directors’ interests with those of
shareholders The Cammittee may
determine that awards will alternatively
be settled in cash if it considers this
appropriate.

Awards may be granted on terms that

the value of any dividends paid to
sharehotders on their shares in the period
between the date of grant and the date

of vesting {or exercise) is paid to the
individual following the end of that period.

In order to incentivise and
allow the potential to
appropriately reward
Executive Directors for truly
exceptional performance, the
maximum annual value of
shares at grant and which can
vest is capped at 500% for
each Executive Director

Performance below threshold
results in zero payout.

Paul Bacre will remain on his
existing arrangements with
a maximum award of 70%
of salary and an on-target
full vesting.

The Committee may set different

Performance metrics

Mo further performance cenditions
are imposed except for continued
employment. This 15 reflective of
market practice.

performance measures, in terms of
type of measure and the weighting
given to each measure, for awards
granted on different dates,
provided the Committee considers
that such measures are aligned
with the Company’s strategic

goals and with the interests of

its shareholders.

Performance conditions may also
be set on an indvidual basis to
reflect a particular individual's role.

The performance measures are
designed ta reflect progress
towards the achievement of key
strategic goals which may vary
from year to year

For awards granted to Executive
Directors under the EIP, current
performance measures link awards
to cumulative growth in Group
profits over a minimum growth
threshold, subject teo fair
adjustment for any change In
capital usage The minimum
growth threshold feature is
designed to ensure that the awards
are appropriately challenging

and Executive Directors are not
rewarded unless they achieve a
minimum performance threshold.
The capital chargefcredit feature s
designed to ensure that Executive
Directors use capital efficiently
over the long term, by requiring
higher profits to be made if more
capital s used.
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Purpose and Link to strategy Cperation - Qmjrtunity Performance metrics

Long-term incentives The Committee has discretion, within the For Paul Dacre performance is

continued rules of the EIP and the 2012 LTIP, to currently measured against the
make adjustments taking into account delivery of strategic objectives for
exceptional factors that distort the Mail titles.

underlying business performance, such as

The Committee sets th licable
{for example) matenai M&A activity ’ © appica

performance targets prior to or at

EIP awards are subject to malus prior to the time of the grant of awards in
vesting, and to clawback for three years accordance with its strategic
after vesting, In circumstances including a planning. The Board considers the
materiai misstatement in results, an error specific performance targets for
in caiculating/assessing satisfaction of each measure and the relative
any condition, the participant causing performance measure weightings
matenal reputational damage to any to be commercially sensitive.
member of the Group or serious Perfarmance against targets and
misconduct by the participant causing the relative weightings will be by
loss to any member of the Group. disclosed at the time the §
Awards under the 2012 LTIP are subject awards vest. é
to clawback (whether vested or unvested) Y
in the event of matenial misstatement of
information or misconduct.
All awards are subject to the rules of the
plan {as may be amended from time to
time in accordance with the rules} and
any other terms and conditions
applicable to the awards as the
Committee may determine.

Shareholding Executive Directors are encouraged to The Committee recommends Not performance related

requirement builld up a substantial shareholding in a minimum sharehotding of

To align the interests the Company. 500% of base salary for the

CEQ and the Chairman, and
150% for all other Executive

of Executive Directors

and shareholders. Shares which have been awarded subject

to satisfaction of performance measures

are not included in the calculation of the Directors.

value of the Executive Director’s There 15 no time frame over

shareholding. which the guidelines should
be met

Hedging by Executive Directors of any
shares held in the Company is prohibited.

Notes to the policy table

Differences i remuneration policy for all employees
- Basesalary

Base salary increases elsewhere in the Group are set at a business level taking into accaunt ecanomic factars, competitive market rates, roles, skills, experience and indwidual performance

The change in wages and salaries for the Company as a whole is reported in chart 2 on page »|

Pensian

— Employees in the UK are auto-enrolled into the Company defined contribution pension seheme There are a number of schemes in aperation, all of which offer levels of employer matching
contnbutions

- Employeesin the US are typically offered 401(k) retirement plans.

Benefits

Allowances and benefits for employees reflect the local 1abour market in which they are based

Annual bonus

- Many empioyees participate in some form of cash-based annual incentive, bonus or commission plan

- The annual incentive plan for the Executive Directors forms the basis of the annual incentive plan for the head effice Executives Plans across the Group are designed and tailored for each
business, with the purpose of incentivising the achieverment of their annuat targets

Borus deferral

Mest annual incentive plans around the Group do not include a requiremertt for deferral

Long-term incentives

- The EIP for the Executive Directors forms the basts of annual awards for the head office Executives

- Plans for Executives in ather businesses across the Group are considered and approved by the Commuttee Plans are designed to be appropriate to the stage of development of the business
and to incentwise the achieverment of the mid to long-term strategic aims of the business in which they operate

Shareholding requirement

There s no shareholding requirement for employees below Executive Director level
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Pay scenario charts

e

Chart 1: Ilustrations of application of Executive Directors’ remuneration policy
The elements of remuneration have been categonsed into three components: {i) Fixed, (il) Annual variable; and (1) Multiple reporting period
variable, which are set out in the future policy tabie befow:

£000s

_ 6,876
7,000

6%

65%

23%

11% o
33%
78%
Mirumum  On-targer Maximum Minimum  On-target Maximum
The Viscount Rothermere P AZwillenberg TG Collier

~ Minimum On-target Maximum

Minimum  On-target Maximum Mimmurn  On-target Maximum . Mimmum  On-target Maximum
K JBeatty P M Dacre $ Kavan
@ Fixed (Salary) @ Fixed{Benefits) @ Annualvariable (Bonus incl, deferral) Multiple reporting variable {LTIP)
Nates

Potential reward opportunities illustrated above are based on this Palicy, applied to the latest-knownh base salaries and incentive opportunities

Minimum in the graphs above 1 fixed remuneration only (salary, pension and benefits) On-target assumes that the standard lang-term incentive award and target bonus have been awarded
as stated in the policy table

Maximum assumes that the standard long-term incentive award and the maximum bonus have been awarded as stated in the policy table

Share awards valued at share price at date of award No allowance s made for potential share price changes Future share price changes form a key part of the remuneration linkage to
performance and aignment of long-term shareholder returns

Amounts for Suresh Kavan are converted from US dollars at $1 27 = £1
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Implementation of Remuneration Policy in FY 2018

Executive Directors’ basic fees There are no intentions to increase base salaries for Executive Directors during FY 2018.

and salary

Executive Directors’ pension

Benefits in kind

Executive Directors’
annual bonus

No change to prior year. Pension allowances are reported in the single figure table 1 on page [+] with further
details in the Pension entitlements and cash allowances section in table 7 on page [+].

No change to policy since prior year Allowances and benefits for FY 2017 are reported in detail in the notes
to the single figure table 1 on page [+

Annual bonus payments for FY 2017 are reported in detail in tables 2.1 and 2 2
Awards in FY 2018 will be measured against two metrics: Group level revenue and cash operating income.

In addition to Group level performance, Kevin Beatty will be measured on the performance of his division
against the same metrics jweighting 30% Group, 70% Divisicnal).

The Board considers the specific targets and relative weightings for each measure to be commercially
sensitive and they will not be disclosed.

Bonus deferral

There were no nil cost option awards made under the plan for FY 2017. The cash amoiunts that appl)rf;)r th;
FY 2017 bonus are shown in table 2 1 on page [-].

Bonus deferral requirements for FY 2018 remain as stated in table 3 on page [+].

Executive Directors’
long-term incentive

Executive Directors’
service contracts

A new Long-Term Executive Incentive Plan (approved by shareholders at the AGM), was introduced in

FY 2017 which directly links pay outs to business performance by awarding management a share of profit
growth, over and above a minimum threshold, after deducting a charge for additional capital The new
Executive Incentive Plan provides for exceptional pay in cases of truty exceptional performance, while not
over-rewarding average performance.

Further details of the applicable performance ¢ritena are included in the policy table

Individual award amounts will be determined at the time of the award and witl be subject to the
performance conditions cutlined i the new policy. In addition, subject to approval, the Chairman will
be eligible to participate in the Executive Incentive Plan.

Paul Dacre will rermain on his existing long-term incentive arrangements
Stephen Daintith and Suresh Kavan did not recewve a long-term incentive award in FY 2017

Outstanding awards will continue to vest according to the Rules of the Plans they were awarded under
Details of outstanding awards and their status are shown in detail in tables 6.1,6 2 and 6.3 on pages [+]
and [».

The Board considers the specific targets and relative weightings for each measure to be commerciaily
sensitive and they will not be disclosed

No changes to service contracts are planned for FY 2018.

External appointments

The Company allows 1ts Executive Directors to take a very imited number of outside directorships.
Individuals retain the payments from such services since these appointments are not expected to impinge
on their principal employment. The Viscount Rothermere and Paul Zwillenberg are on the Board of
Euromoney pic and Kevin Beatty 1s on the Board of ZPG.

Executive Directors’
shareholding guidelines

For FY 2017 the guideling increased to 500% of base satary for Lord Rothermere and Paul Zwillenberg.
All others will remain unchanged at 150% of base salary.

Directors’ interests are reported in detait in table 11 on page [+].

Executive Directors’ pension

Pension allowances for any new Executive Director will be limited to a maximum of 30%.

Pension allowances are reported in the single figure table 1 on page |¢] with further details in the Pension
entitlements and cash allowances section in table 7 on page [+

Recruitment Award

In accordance with the terms of his recruitment Tim Collier will receive a one-off award of 324,965 DMGT
shares as at 2 May 2017, which will vest subject to his continuing employment and foliowing release of
audited year-end results, 188,284 in December 2018 and 136,681 in December 2019.

Exit Pay?nents

Stephen Daintith and Suresh Kévan left during FY 2017, their exit payments are details on pages [+}.

7
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Executive Directors’ service contracts
The Executive Directors are employed under service contracts, the principal terms of which are summansed below

Effective date Notice period Compensation on termination by employer
Executive Director Pasition of contract Employer [by either party)  without notice or cause -
The Viscount Chairman 17 October 1994 Daily Mail and General 3months Basic salary, benefits, pension
Rothermere Trust pic entitlement ang, as appropriate,

a prorated benus payment for the
notice period.

P A Zwillenberg CEQO 1 June 2016 Daily Mail and General 12 months Basic salary, pension allowance, car
Holdings Limited allowance and cash equivalent value
of other benefits for the notice
peniod. Compensation (s subject to
mitigation if the Director obtains an
alternative remunerated position.

T G Collier Group Chief 2 May 2017 Daily Mail and General 12 months Basic salary, pension allowance, car
Financial Officer Trust plc allowance and cash equivalent vaiue
of other benefits for the notice
period, Compensation is subject to
mitigation if the Director obtains an
alternative remunerated position

K J Beatty Executive Director 19 May 2002 Associated Newspapers 12 months Basic salary, benefits, pension
Limited entitlement and, as appropriate, |
a prorated bonus payment for the
notice period.

P M Dacre Executive Director 23 July 1998 Associated Newspapers 12 months Basic salary, benefits, pension
Limited entitlement and, as appropriate,
a prorated bonus payment for the
notice period.

External appointments

The Company allows 1ts Executive Directors to take a very imited number of outside directorships Individuals retain the payments received
from such services since these appointments are not expected to impinge on their principal employment. Lord Rothermere and Paul
Zwillenberg are Directors of Euromoney plc and receive fees of £50,000 per annum which are included in the single figure table shown on page
[x]. Kevin Beatty is a Director of ZPG plc for which there 1s no fee

Legacy arrangements

Far the avoidance of doubt, in approving this Palicy, authority is given to the Company to honour any commitments entered into with current
or former Directors prior to the approval and implementation of this Policy (such as payment of pensions or the vesting/exercise of past share
awards), provided that such commitments complied with any Remuneration Policy in effect at the time they were given

Approach to recruitment remuneration

When appointing or recruiting a new Executive Director from outside the Company, the Commuttee will normally aim to set remuneration at

a level which is consistent with the remuneration policy in place for other Executive Directors and in particular the Executive Director who
previously filled the relevant role, although 1t 1s recognised that, in order to secure the best candidate for a role, the Company may need to pay
a new Executive Director more than it pays its existing Executive Directors. Pre-existing contractual agreements for internal candidates may
be maintained on promotion to an Executive Director role.
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The Committee may make use of any of the below components in the remuneration package

Component Appreach Maximum annval grant level

Base salary Base salary will be determined by reference to the individual’s role and respc)nsibimires, Not applicable
location of employment, and the salary paid to the previous incumbent.

Pension The appointed Executive Director will be eiigible to participate in the Group’s defined 30% of base satary
contribution pension plan and/or receive a cash pension allowance.

Benefits New appomtments may be eligible to receive benefits in line with the Policy for current  Not applicable
Executive Directors as well as benefits relating to relocation such as {but not limited to)
cost of living, housing and tax equalisation support.

Annual bonus The appointed Executive Director will be eligible to participate in the Company’s annual ~ 200% of base sala ry
bonus plan in accordance with the Policy for current Executive Directors and may be
required to defer some or all of any bonus granted in accerdance with the Policy.

Long-term The appointed Executive Director will be eligible to participate in the Executive 500% of base salary at the time
incentives Incentive Plan in accordance with the Policy for current Executive Directors, save that the award is made
the Committee may provide that an initial award under EIP {within the salary multiple g
limits on page [+]} is subject to a requirement of continued service over a specified s
penod, rather than the usual performance conditions, §
Replacement if in Joining DMGT a new Executive Director would forfeit any existing award under Not applicable, B
awards variable remuneration arrangements with a previous employer, the Committee will

consider on a case-by-case basis what replacement awards (If any) are reasonably
necessary to facilitate that individual’s recruitment, taking into account all relevant
factors such as performance achieved or likely to be achieved, the proportion of the
performance period remaining and the form of the award due to be forferted

Exit payment policy
The Company normally sets the notice period of Executive Directors as 12 months, but may decide tc vary this in circumstances it deems
appropriate

On termination, the Company will normally make a payment in lieu of notice (PILON) which 1s equal to the aggregate of: the basic salary at the
date of termination for the apphicable notice period; the pension allowance over the relevant penod; the cost to the Company of prowiding all
other benefits {excluding pension allowance and bonus) or a sum equal to the amount of benefits as specified in the Company’s most recent
Annual Report, and a bonus payment calculated in accordance with the service contract of the Director. The treatment of awards under the
Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plans on termination wilt be in accordance with the rules of the Plan and, where appropniate, at the discretion
of the Commuttee.

The Company may pay the PILON either as a iump sum or in equal monthly instalments from the date on which the employment terminates
until the end of the relevant period. If alternative employment (paid above a pre-agreed rate} is commenced, for each month that instalments
of the PILON remain payable, the amounts, in aggregate (excluding the pension payment), may be reduced by half of one month’s basic salary
in excess of the pre-agreed rate

In the event that a participant’s employment 15 terminated, treatment of outstanding awards under the Group’s incentive plans will be
determined based on the relevant plan rules, which are summarised below:

Incentive plan Treatment of awards

DMGT SharePurchase+ All leavers have to exit DMGT SharePurchase+ and either sell or transfer their shares |f identified as a
‘Good Leaver’, under the rules of DMGT SharePurchase+, no tax or National Insurance Contributions are paid

Annual bonus If identified as a ‘Good Leaver’ for the purposes of the bonus, the Committee may determine that the leaver’s
contribution was significant in early or high achievement of targets, in which case, it may decide to make
a payment which is equivalent of up to a fuli year bonus.

Deferred bonus plan If identified as a ‘Good Leaver’ under the deferred bonus plan rules (including those identified at the
discretion of the Committee}, outstanding awards shall vest in full on the normal vesting date or on such
earlier date as the Committee may determine

Long-term incentive plans If identified as a 'Good Leaver’ under the rules (including those identified at the discretion of the Committee),
outstanding awards will vest, either on the normal vesting date or on such eariier date as the Committee
may determine, to the extent determined by the Committee taking into account the performance conditions,
the proportion of the performance period which has elapsed at the date of termination and any other factors
it considers appropriate If, in the judgement of the Committee, greater progress towards achievement
of targets has been made as a result of the performance of the leaver, it may, at its abselute discretion,
decide to vest up to 100% of the outstanding award.
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The Committee may make payments it considers reasonable in settlement of potential legal claims, e.g. unfair dismissal or where agreed
under a settlement agreement. This may include an entitlement to compensation In respect of their statutory rights under employment
protection legislation and such reasonable reimbursement of fees for legal and/or tax advice in connection with such agreements and/or costs
of outplacement services

Where an Executive Birector I1s a ‘Good Leaver’, the Committee reserves the discretion to approve any or all of the following additional benefits
« continuation of private health insurance or ife assurance for a peried of time following termination;

- use of business premises for a period after termination,

+ retention of IT equipment by the Executive Director; and/or

+ use of a company car and/er driver for a period after termination.

Consideration of pay and employ ment conditions elsewhere across the Group

The Committee considers pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group when making decisions on remuneration matters affecting
the Directors. The Committee receives a report annually on the salary budget for each business The Committee makes reference, where

appropriate, to pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group {whilst remaining aware of the variety of jurisdictions and markets
in which It operates) when determining annual salary increases and to external evidence of remuneration levels in other companies.

The Committee makes reference to data provided by and advice sought from internal and external advisers when making decisions on
remuneration matters affecting the Directors It does not specifically consult with employees over the effectiveness and appropriateness
of the Remuneration Policy and framework.

Consideration of shareholder views

The Committee receives annual updates on the views and best practices of shareholders and their representative bodies and, notwithstanding
the Company shareholder structure, takes these into account. The Committee seeks the views of shareholders on matters of remuneration
that 1t thinks shareholders are interested in. An example of this was the adoption of the 2012 LTIF, when major shareholders were consulted.

Implementation of Policy for Non-Executive Directors FY 2018

Non-Executive Directors’ fees An increase in base directors fees to £50,000 p.a. was agreed by the Chairman and the CEQ, these were
effective 1 July 2017. The actual fees paid to Non-Executive Directors in FY 2017 are shown in table 8 on
page [+].

There is currently no intention to increase fees or aliowances in FY 2018 but fees may be reviewed within
the policy terms,

This report covers the reporting penod to 30 September 2017 and has been prepared in accordance with the relevant requirements of the
Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (the Regulations) and of the Listing Rules of the
Financial Conduct Authority.
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Statutory Information

Directors’ Report

Other statutory informatian

Required information can be found in the
Strategic Report on pages 2] to [41], which
1s incorporated into this Report by reference.
Information on employees, community and
social issues is given in the Our People and
Our Communities section on pages {38]

to 141].

In accordance with the UK Financial Conduct
Authority’s Listing Rules (LR 9.8.4C), the
information te be included in the Annual
Report, where applicable, under LR 9.8.4,

1s set out in the Governance section, with
the exception of details of transactions with
controlling shareholders (if any) which are
set out In Note [45]

Forw ard-looking statements

This Annual Report contains certain
forward-looking statements with respect to
orninaipal nisks and uncertainties facing the
Group. By their nature, these statements
involve risk and uncertainty because they
relate to events and depend on circumstances
that may or may not accur in the future.
There are a number of factors that could
cause actual results or developments to
differ materially from those expressed
orimplied by those forward-looking
statements No assurances can be given
that the forward-looking statements are
reasonable as they can be affected by a
wide range of variables.

The forward-looking statements reflect the
knowledge and information availabie at the
date of preparation of this Annual Report
and will not be updated during the year.
Nothing in this Annual Report should be
construed as a profit forecast.

Tangible fixed assets and invesiments
The Company’s subsidiaries are set out on
page [178]. Changes to the Group’s tangible
fixed assets and investments during the year
are set out in Notes [23 to 26]. There was no
materiai difference in value between the
book value and the market value of the
Group’s land and burldings

Directors

The names of the Directars, plus brief
biographical details are given on pages [42]
and [43]. Directors held office throughout
the year with the exception of Tim Coller,
Nichalas Berry, Stephen Daintith, John
Hemingway, Suresh Kavan and Frangois
Morm. In accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code, all existing Directors will
stand for re-election at the Annuat General
Meeting (AGM) on 7 February 2018.

Tim Collier will stand for election at the AGM
Frangois Morin was elected at the AGM on
the 8 February 2017,

Principal activities

A description of the principal activities of the
Group and likely future developments and
important events occurring since the end

of the year are given in the Strategic Report
on pages [2 to 41]

Results and dividends

The profit for the year of the Group
amounted to £{342 million. After excluding
the £2 million loss element attnbutable to
non-controlling interests, the Group profit
for the year attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to £[345] million. The
Board recommends a final dvidend of

" pence per share If approved at the 2018
AGM, the final dividend will be paid on

9 February 2018 to shareholders registered
in the books of the Company at the close of
business on 8 December 2017. Together with
the interim dividend of [6 9] pence per share
paid on 30 June 2017, this makes a total
dividend for the year of [ | pence per share
(2016 22.0 pence).

Directors’ interests

The number of shares of the Company and
of secunties of other Group companies In
which the Directors, or their families, had
an interest at the year end, are stated in
the Remuneration Report on page [60].

Employee Benefit Trust

The Executive Directors of the Company,
together with other employees of the Group,
are potential beneficiaries of the DMGT
Employee Benefit Trust (Employee Trust)
and, as such, are deemed to be interested

in any A Shares held by the Employee Trust
At 30 September 2017, the Employee Trust’s
shareholding totalled 3,710,764 A Shares.

Between 30 September 2017 and

30 November 2017 the Employee Trust
transferred no” A Shares to satisfy the
exercise of awards under employee
share plans

Significant shareholdings

As at 30 November 2017, the Company had
been notified of the following significant
interests of the 1ssued Ordinary Shares

Rothermere Continuation Limited 100%
The Beard regards holdings in the
Company's securities of greater than 15%

to be significant. There are ne significant

heoldings in the Company’s A Shares other
than those shown in the Remuneration
Report on page [60].

Share capital

The Company has two classes of shares
Its total share capital 1s comprised of 5%
Ordinary Shares and 95% A Shares Full
details of the Company’s share capital are
given in Note [39)

Holders of Ordinary and A Shares are entitied
to receive the Company’s Annual Report.
Hotders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to
attend and speak at General Meetings and

to appoint proxies and exercise voting rights.

During the year, the Company transferred 5.3
miliion shares out of Treasury, representing
1.6% of calied-up A Shares, n order to satisfy
incentive schemes. The Company held
8,523,183 shares in Treasury and the DMGT
Empleyee Benefit Trust with a nomenal value
of £1.1 million at 3C September 2017. The
maximum number of shares held in Treasury
and by the DMGT Employee Benefit Trust
dunng the year was 9,887,935, which had a
nominal value of £1.2 million. The Company
alsc purchased 3.9 million shares for holding
in Treasury having a nominal value of

£0.5 million in order to match obligations
under various incentive plans, The
consideration paid for these shares was
£28.6 million. Shares purchased during

the year represented 1.2% of the called-up

A Share capital as at 30 September 2017

On 30 November 2017 the Company held
4,812,419 Treasury Shares

Details of allotments of share capital which
arose solely from the exercise of options are
given at Note [38].

Authority to purchase shares

At the Company’s AGM on 8 February 2017,
the Company was authorised to make
market purchases of up to 34,201,672

A Shares representing appreximately 10%

of the total number of A Shares in issue.
During the period from 9 December 2016 to
30 September 2017, the Company purchased
nil shares into Treasury, at a total cost of £nl
{see Note [38]).

TIxternal Auditor and disclosure of
information to the External Auditor

So far as the Directors are aware, there s
no relevant audit infermation of which the
Company’s External Auditor 15 unaware.
The Directors have taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directors in
order to make themselves aware of any
relevant auditinformation and to establish

81

IIUBUIBACDH



Governance

Governance

Statutory Information

that the Company’s Externai Auditor is aware
of that information

The Company’s External Auditor PwC

has indicated 1ts willingness to serve and,

In accordance with Section 489 of the
Companies Act 2006, a resolution proposing
the reappointment of PwC will be put to

the AGM on 7 February 2018.

Directors’ indemmnity

A qualifying third-party indemnity (QTPI),

as permitted by the Company’s Articles of
Association and Sections 232 and 234 of the
Companies Act 2006, has been granted by
the Company toc each of the Directors of the
Company. Under the provisions of the QTPI,
the Company undertakes to indemnify each
Director against liability to third parties
{excluding cniminal and regulatory penalties)
and to pay Directors’ defence costs as
incurred, provided that they are reimbursed
ta the Company If the Director 1s found guilty
or, In an action brought by the Company,
Judgment 1s given against the Director.

Going concern

A full description of the Group’s business
activities, financial position, cash flows,
hiquidity position, commutted facilities and
borrowing position, together with the factors
likely to affect its future development and
performance, 1s set out In the Strategic
Report, particularly the Financial Review

on pages [32] to [37] and in the Notes to the
accounts on page [102].

The Group has significant financial resources
and the Directors, having reviewed the
Group’s operating budgets, investment plans
and financing arrangements, have assessed
the future funding requirements of the Group
and compared this to the level of committed
facilities and cash resources. The Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the
Company and the Group have adequate
rescurces to continue in operaticn for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors
are satisfied that it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the
Annual Report.

Viability Statement
A Viability Statement in respect of the
Company can be found on page [35].

Directors’ respansibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report, the Directors’
Remuneration Report and the Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.
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Company law requires the Directors to
prepare Financial Statements for each
financial year. Under that law, the Directors
have prepared the Group Financial
Statements in accordance with international
Financial Reporting Standards (JFRS) as
adopted by the European Union, and the
parent Company Financial Statements in
accordance with applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice}

Under company law, the Directors must not
approve the Financial Statements uniess
they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the Company and of the profit or loss of
the Group for that penod. In preparing these
Financial Statements, the Directors are
required to:

« Select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently,

+ Make Judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

+ State whether IFRS as adopted by the
European Union and applicable United
Kingdom Acceunting Standards have
been followed, subject to any materal
departures disclosed and explained in
the Group and parent Company Financial
Statements respectively; and

« Prepare the Financial Statements on
the going concern basis unless it 1s
inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial pesition

of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the Financial Statements
and the Directors’ Remuneration Report
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and,

as regards the Group financial statements,
Article 4 of the International Accounting
Standards Regulation. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasgnable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsibie for the
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other juriscictions. Each of

the Directors confirms that, to the best
of hisfher knowledge:

« The Group Financial Statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit of the Group; and

» The Strategic Report contained on
pages 2 to 41 includes a fair review of
the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Group,
together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties that it faces

Relationship agreements

Daily Mait and General Trust plc entered
into a Relationship Deed with Euromoney
Institutional Investor PLC on 8 December
2016, and Zoopla Property Group Plc on
5 June 2014, in each case in accordance
with the Listing Rules and have acted in
accerdance with the terms of the Deeds
since execution.

Political donations

No political donations were made during
the period.

Principal risks

The principal risks and how they are being
managed or mitigated are shown aon pages
|28 to 31). The Directors have reviewed the
Group’s principal risks including those that
would threaten the Group’s business model,
future performance, solvency or iquidity

Events after the balance sheet date
of 30 November 2017

Details are provided in Note [46].

Material contracts

Group companies undertake business with

a range of customers and suppliers. There is
no dependence on any particular contractual
arrangement cther than those disclosed in
Note [42] as regards ink and printing, where
arrangements are in place until FY 2021

and FY 2023 respectively in erder to obtain
competitive prices and to secure supplies.

Arrangements are made biannually with
arange of newsprint suppliers to ensure
the security of supply at the best available
prices, having regard to the need for the
necessary quality. Particularly in light of its
strategy to create a diversified international
portfolio of businesses, the Group is not
dependent on any supplier of other
commodities for 1ts revenue or any particular
customer, Distribution arrangements are in
place to ensure the delivery of newspapers
to retail outlets



Fmplovees

Detalls in respect of employees are in the
Qur People and Our Communities section
on pages [38 and 41].

Human rights

The Company believes that our exposure to
the associated risks in the context of human
rights framewarks 1s mimimal. DMGT does
net have a specific human rights policy but
has a number of policies that cover areas
such as health and safety, modern slavery,
bribery and corruption, and a questionnaire
for evaluating whether new suppliers are
ethical and lawful

Group policies

The Company upholds equal cpportunities
and does not discriminate, DMGT’s
businesses are required to follow DMGT
policies that safeguard the welfare of our
employees, These include policies on equal
opportunities, anti-bribery, entertainment
and gifts, information security, share dealing,
and hezlth and safety, in additicn to cur Cede
of Conduct. We have an active and ralling
training programme to reinforce compliance
and to ensure there Is a high level of
awareness of the Company’s standards

Gender breakdown of our employees

The table below sets out the gender
breakdown of our employees. Our aim is to
promote equality and diversity in accordance
with our Group Code of Conduct

Male Female

At 30 September 2017

Board Directors 11 B5% 2 15%
Operating business

CEDs and other

direct reports to

the Group CEQ* 8 57T% 6 43%
All employees™ 4,307 58% 3,075 42%

“  Excluding Executive Board Directors

Carbon footprint

The Company's most significant
environmental impact comes from the
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newspapers are now produced at plants
designed to be as efficient as possibie; this
reduces energy usage, vehicie movements
and the volume of waste generated Theres
also a considerable effort to maximise the
volume of waste recycled including
newsprint waste, water and heat recovery

The Company 1, and has for many years
been, committed to comprehensive and
transparent reporting of its environmental
performance. The Company has collected CO,
emissions data from each of its businesses.
This data 1s collated and imdependently
reviewed by environmental consultancy ICF
International, which calculates the Group's
emissions following the Greenhouse Gas
Pratocol The Group’s carbon footprint can
be seen in the table below.

Articles of Association

The appointment and replacement of
Directors s governed by the Company’s
Articles of Association. Any changes to the
Articles of Association must be approved
by the sharehoiders in accordance with
the legislation in force from time to time

The Directors have authority to 1ssue and
allot A Shares pursuant to Article 9 of the
Articles of Association and sharehoider
authority 1s requested at each AGM The
Directors have authority to make market
purchases of A Shares. This authority is also
renewed annually at the AGM.

Conflicts of interest

The Articles of Association permit the Board
to authorise a conflict of interest in respect
of any matter which would otherwise involve
a Director breaching his duty under the
Companies Act 2006 to avoid conflicts

of Interest.

When authorising a conflict of interest the
Board must de so without the conflicting
Director counting as part of the guerum.

In the event that the Board considers it
appropriate, the conflicted Director may be
permitted to participate in the debate, but

therr respansibility to inform the Board of
any potential conflicts as soon as possible.
Procedures are In place to facilitate
disclosure. The Board reviews its pesition
on conflicts of interest annually and at
such other times as are appropriate.

Change of control

The Company is not party to any significant
agreements that would take effect, alter or
terrminate upen a change of control of the
Company following a takeover bid. However,
certain of the Group’s third-party funding
arrangements would terminate upon

a change of control of the Company.

The Company does not have agreements
with any Director or employee praviding
compensation for loss of office or
employment that occurs because of a
takeover bid, except for provisions in the
ruies of the Company’s share schemes
which may result in options or awards
granted to employees vesting on a takeover,

FIUBUIBADD)

Transactions with Directors

No transaction, arrangement or agreement
required to be disclosed 1n terms of the
Companies Act 2006 and |AS 24, ‘Related
Parties’, was outstanding at 30 September
2017, nor was entered into during the year
for any Director and/or connected person
except as detaled in Note [45, {2016 none}.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held

at 9.00 am on Wednesday 7 February 2018
at Northcliffe House, 2 Derry Street, London
W8 5TT The resolutions to be put to the
meeting are set out on page [89]. A notice
of meeting will be 1ssued to the holders of
Ordinary Shares and their nominees only.
Only Ordinary Shareholders will be entitled
to attend.

Aresolution to reappoint the Group’s
External Auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, will be proposed at the 2018 AGM.

By order of the Board

will neither be permitted to vote nor count ¥ Sallas

printing plants in our consumer media in the quorum when the decision is being

. Company Secretar
businesses The majority of the Company's agreed The Directors are aware that it 1s pany y
Carbon footprint
The table below shows the evolution of our carbon footprint since 2015.

Tonnes of C0,e tCO,e/fmillion revenue
Scope 1t Scope 2: Scope 3:

Combustion of fuel and

Electricity, heat, steam and

Business travel and
outsourced delivery

Total scope 1,2 &3
emissionsfrevenue

Year operation of facilities cooling purchased for own use
2015 . 1,900 19400

016 1,800 18,000

2017 1,500 B T 18000 B

16300 w3
15,000 18 2
16,100 18.1
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Annual General Meeting 2018: Resolutions

The Company's Annual General Meeting
(AGM) will be held at 9 00 am on Wednesday
? February 2018 Only the holders of
Ordinary Shares are entitled to attend

and vote. For information, below are the
resolutions that will be put to the Ordinary
Shareholders at the AGM. The results will be
posted on the Company’s website foilowing
the meeting in the usual way.

As ordinary business

Report and Accounts

1. Toreceive the Directors’ Report, the
Accounts and the Auditor’s Report for the
financial year ended 30 September 2017

Remuneration Report

2. Torecewve and approve the Directors’

Remuneration Report (other than

the part containing the Directors’
Remuneration Policy) as set out on pages
[+] to [+] of the Annual Report for the
financial year ended 30 September 2017,

in accordance with Section 439 of the
Companies Act 2006.

The Dajly Mail and General Trust PLC
2006 Executive Share Option Scheme

3. That the rules of the readopted and

revised The Daily Mail and General Trust
PLC 2006 Executive Share Option Scheme
(ESOP}, be approved and the Directors be
authorised to do all such acts and things
necessary to operate the ESOP, including
making such modifications as the
Directors consider appropriate to take
accaunt of the requirements of the UK
Listing Authority, legislative changes in
relation to tax advantaged options and

best practice

Dividend

4.
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To declare a final dividend on the
Ordinary and A Ordinary Non-Voting
Shares (A Shares).

Directors
5. Tore-elect Viscount Rothermere as
a Director

. Tore-elect Mr Zwillenberg as a Director.
TJo re-elect Mr Beatty as a Director

. To re-elect Mr Dacre as a Director

0w W N o,

. Tore-elect Lady Keswick as a Director.
10, To re-elect Mr Lane as a Director.
11.To re-elect Mr Morin as a Director.
12.To re-elect Mr Nelson as a Director
13.To re-elect Mr Parry as a Director

14 To re-elect Ms Roizen as a Director

15 To re-elect Mr Trempont as a Director

) the higher of the price of the last
independent trade and the highest
current independent bid as
stipulated by Regulatory Technical
Standards adopted by the
European Commission under
Article 5(6) of the Market Abuse
Regulation (EU) No 596/2014; and

{d) the authority conferred by this

Resolution shall expire on the date of
the AGM next held after the passing of
this Resolution (except in relation to
the purchase of shares the contract for
which was concluded before such date
and which would er might be executed
wholly or partly after such date).

16, To elect Mr Collier as a Director.

17. To elect Mr Rangaswami as a Director.

Auditor

As Ordinary Business

21.That the Directors be generally and
unconditionaily authorised pursuant
to Section 551 of the Act to:

(a) allot A Shares in the Company, and

18 To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP as the Company’s auditors until the
end of the next general meeting at which
accounts are laid before the Company

19, To authorise the Directors to determine
the Company’s auditors’ remuneration.

to grant nghts to subscnbe for or to
convert any security intc A Shares
in the Company up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £2,138,542 for
a pericd expining (unless previously
renewed, varied or revoked by the

As Special Business
20.That the Company be and 1s hereby

generally and unconditionally authorised
to make market purchases (within the
meaning of Section 693(3} of the Act)

on the London Stock Exchange provided
that:

{a) the maximum aggregate number of
A Shares of 12.5 pence each in its
share capital which may be purchased
1534,216,678;

{b) the mimmum price which may be paid
for each A Share of 12.5 pence each In
its share capital is not less than 12.5
pence per share {excluding expenses),

(c) the maximum price {excluding
expenses) which may be paid for
each A Share of 12.5 pence eachin its
share capital does not exceed the
higher of

{i} 5% above the average of the
middle market quotation taken
from the London Stock Exchange
Daily Official List for the five
business days immediately
preceding the date of purchase;
and

Compary In a general meeting) at the
next AGM of the Company after the
date on which this Resolution is
passed or on 7 May 2018 whichever

is the earlier; and

(b} make an offer or agreement which
would or might require A Shares to
be allotted, or rights to subscribe for
or convert any security into A Shares
to be granted, after expiry of this
authority and the Directors may allot
A Shares and grant rnights in pursuance
of that offer or agreement as if this
authonty had not expired.

This authority revokes and replaces all
unexercised authorities previously granted
to the Directors to allot A Shares but
without prejudice to any alletment of

A Shares or grant of rights already made,
offered or agreed to be made pursuant

to such authority.



As Special Business

22.1f Resclution 21 is passed, that the
Directors be generally empowered
pursuant to sectien 570 and section 573
of the Act to allot A Shares or grant rights
to subscribe for or to convert any security
Into A Shares, for cash, or sell A Shares
held by the Company as treasury shares
for cash, pursuant to the authority
conferred by Resolution 21, as If section
561(1) of the Act did not apply to the
allotment. This power:

{al expires (unless previously renewed,
varied or revoked by the Company in
a general meeting) at the next AGM of
the Company after the date on which
this Resolution Is passed or on 7 May
2018, whichever is the earlier, but the
Company may make an offer or
agreement which would ar might
require such securities to be aflotted
after expiry of this power and the
Directors may allot such securities in
pursuance of that offer or agreement
as if this power had not expired; and

{b} shall be imited to the allotment of
such A Shares or sale of treasury
shares for cash up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £2,138,542.
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23.1f Resolution 21 1s passed, that the
Directors be generally empowered, in
addition to any authonty granted under
Resolution 22, pursuant to section 570
and section 573 of the Act to allot A
Shares or grant rights to subscribe for
or to convert any security into A Shares,
for cash, or sell A Shares held by the
Company as treasury shares for cash,
pursuant to the authority conferred by
Resolution 21, as if section 561(1) of the
Act did not apply to the allotment.
This power:

{a) expires (unless previously renewed,
varied or revoked by the Company In
a general meeting) at the next AGM
of the Company after the date on
which this Resolution 1s passed or on
7 May 2018, whichever (s the earlier,
but the Company may make an offer
or agreement which would or might
require such securities to be allotted
after expiry of this power and the
Directors may allot such securnities in
pursuance of that offer or agreement
as if this power had not expired:

(b} shall be imited to the allotment of
such A Shares or sale of treasury
shares for cash up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £2,138,542; and

shall be used only for the purposes
of financing (or refinancing, if the
authority 1s to be used within six

=

months after the original transaction)

a transaction which the Board
determines to be an acquisition or
other capital investment of a kind
contemplated by the Statement of

Principtes on Disapplying Pre-Emption
Rights most recently published by the

Pre-Emption Group prior to the date
of this notice.

Notice

24, That, a general meeting other than an
annual general meeting may be called
on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.

By order of the Board
F Sallas
Company Secretary

Daily Mail and General Trust plc
Northcliffe House, 2 Derry Street,
London W8 5TT

30 November 2017
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Daily Mail and General Trust plc

Report on the audit of the
financial statements
Opinion

In our opinion;

+ Daily Mail and General Trust plc’s Group
financial statements and parent Company
financial statements (the “financial
statements”) give a true and fair view of
the state of the Group’s and of the parent
Company'’s affairs as at 30 September 2017
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows
for the year then ended,

« the Group financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

+ the parent Company financial
statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
{United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable law); and

+ the financial statements have been
prepared In accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and, as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements,
included within the Annual Report, which
comprise: Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position; Conschdated Income
Statement, Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income; Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity;
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement; and
the notes to the financial statements,
which include a description of the
significant accounting policies.

Our apinion 1s consistent with our reporting
to the Audit Committee,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing {UK)
(“ISAs {UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 1SAs {UK) are further
described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section
of our report. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a bass for

our apinion.
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Independence

We remained independent of the Group in
accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the
FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to
listed pubiic interest entities, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

In accordance with these requirements,

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we
declare that non-audit services prohibited by
the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the parent Company.

Other than those disclosed in note 5 to the
financial statements, we have provided no
non-audit services to the Group or the parent
Company In the period from 1 October 2016
to 30 September 2017

Our audit approach

Overview

Materiahty

« Overzll Group materiality: £9 million
(2616: £10 midlion;j, based on 4% of
adjusted profit before tax.

« Overall parent Company matenality:
£9 miliion (2016: £10 million), being the
lower of 19 of total assets and Overall
Group matenality.

Audit scope

« Of the Group’s four trading reporting
divisions, we identified that dmg media
required a full scope audit due to Its size.
In addition we obtain fuil scope audit
opinions for the RMS and dmg events
divisions.

+ For dmg informaticn we scoped our
audit at a business level, and identified
six businesses over which we performed
either a full scope audit or specified
audit procedures on certain balances
or transactions.

+ Full scope audits were also performed
for the Group's two material associates
(ZPG Pic and Euromoney Institutional
Investor PLC), and in the case of
Euromoney, specified audit procedures
were performed on certam balances
and transactions for the three month
pericd prior to deconsolidation.

« We used local teams in the UK, US and
Dubai to perform those full scope audits
or specified procedures relating to the
relevant overseas businesses within RMS,
Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC,

dmg infarmation and dmg events
divisions. The Group audit team held
regular meetings with these locations

to ensure sufficient involvement and
oversight of the work of these local teams
and to make sure that we had a full and
comprehensive understanding of the
results of their waork - particularly insofar
as it related to the identified areas

of focus.

Key audit matters
» Impairment of intangible assets and
goodwill.

« Accounting for Euromoney disposal.
+ Presentation of adjusted profit.
« Capitalisation of development costs.

= Accounting for deferred taxation and
uncertain tax positions.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we
determined materality and assessed

the risks of material misstatement in the
financial statements. In particular, we locked
at where the directors made subjective
judgements, for example in respect of
significant accounting estimates that
involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently
uncertain As in all of our audits we also
addressed the risk of management override
of internal controls, including evaluating
whether there was evidence of bias by the
directors that represented a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
in the auditors’ professional judgement,
were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period
and include the most significant assessed
risks of material misstatement {whether or
not due to fraud) ilentified by the auditors,
including those which had the greatest effect
on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation
of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team. These
matters, and any comments we make on
the results of our procedures thereon, were
addressed in the context of our audit of

the financial statements as a whole, and

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not pravide a separate opinion on these
matters. This is not a complete hst of all
risks identified by our audit.
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Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

impairment of intangible assets and goodwill
Refer to the Audit Commuttee report on pages [54] to [59! and
to notes 21 and 22 in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Group had £363 1m of goodwill and a further £213m of
intangible assets on the balance sheet at 20 September 2017.

Impairment charges of £117 0m to goodwill and £36 4m to
intangible assets have been taken in the year principatly in
relation to Genscape, Sitecompli and Xceligent.

The carrying values of the remaining goodwill and intangibles
are contingent on future cash flows of the underlying CGUs and

there is a risk that if these cash flows do not meet the directors’

expectations that the assets will be impaired.

We focused our testing on those CGUs where the directors had
identified an impairment or where headroom was limited. The
directors’ iImpairment reviews also identified limited headroom
in relation to the RMS({one) intangible asset.

As part of our audit of the directors’ impairment reviews (for both
goodwill and intangible assets} we evaluated future cash flow
forecasts and the process by which they were drawn up This

included companng them to the latest Board approved budgets and
management’s three year plans, and testing the underlying calculations.

For the impairment assessment of goodwill and mtangible assets
we tested all key assumptions, including:

+ revenue and profit assumptions included within budgets and future
forecasts, by considering the historical accuracy of budgets against
actual results,

« key assumptions for long term growth rates in the forecasts by
comparing them to historical results, economic and industry
forecasts, and comparable companies;

« the discount rate by comparing the cost of capital for the Group with
comparable organisations, and assessed the specific risk premium
applied to the business in question, and

» the directors’ potential bias through performance of our own
sensitivity analysis on key assumptions particularly those driving
underlying cash flows,

We engaged our valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
appropriateness of key market related assumptions in the directors’
valuation models, including discount and long term growth rates.

In addition, with regards te Genscape we

« reviewed the implied earmings multiple and compared these against
comparable companies, and

« considered the third party valuation obtained, which had
incorporated vanous valuation methodologies and compared
them to management’s on value in use calculations.

As part of our testing over the underlying caiculations, we recalculated
the impairment charges recognised.

Having undertaken these procedures we consider management’s
impairment charge to be appropriate.

With regards to RMS{one) we met with relevant directors and sales
staff to obtain corroborative evidence of expected pricing packages
and client uptake and to confirmed our understanding of the product
development roadmap. We have corroborated pricing assumptions
with reference to signed third party contracts.

We considered the need for additicnal sensitivity disclosures for CGUs
with imited headroom as required by |AS 36 ‘Impairment of assets’
and we agree with the directors’ decision to provide these additional
disciosures for Landmark and Hobsons,

For those assets where the directors determined that ne impairment
was required and that no additional sensitivity disclosures were
necessary, we found that these jJudgements were supported by
reasonable assumptions that would require significant downside
changes before any additional material impairment was necessary
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Daily Mail and General Trust plc

Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

Accounting for Euromoney disposal
Refer to the Audit Committee report on pages [« to -] and to note 19
in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

©n 31 December 2017, the Group reduced its stake in Furomaoney
from 67.9% to 49.9% from which point Euromoney was treated
as an assoclate

The reduction in holding to 48.9% resulted in a gain on disposal
of £509.3m, comprising both a gain on the 18% holding sold of
£151.9m, and a gain on the fair value of the retained interest

of £357.4m.

The calculation of the profit an disposal 1s complex

We considered whether DMGT exercises de facto control over
Euromoney after the completion of the transaction given its 43.9%
shareholding and having considered factors such as DMGT’s ability
to control Euromoney through the Board or ather means.

We determined that the Group does not have control over Euromoney
and treatment as an assoCiate was appropriate.

with regards to the calculation of the profit on disposal, we:

= obtained and recalculated the directors’ calculation of the profit
on disposal,

» recalculated the allocation of gain between the holdings disposed
and gain on the fair value of retained interest;

verified the far value of consideration received to underlying
support including cash transactions and the Share Purchase
Agreements, and

» recalculated foreign exchange differences that were appropriately
recycled on disposal

Based on the procedures performed, we conciuded that the
accounting for the disposal was accurate.

Presentation ofadjusted profit

Refer to the Audit Commuttee report on pages [54] to [59) and to
note 13 1n the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Group presents adjusted profit before taxation to enable users
of the financial statements to gain a better understanding of the
underlying results,

in arnving at adjusted profit a number of items are considered
‘exceptional’ by management and are excluded from underling
earnings. Current year exceptional charges relate to the closure
of the Didcet printing plant, other restructuring initiatives, and
significant, non-recurning tegal costs. The classification of items
as non-trading or exceptional is an area of judgement and the
appropriateness and consistency of the presentation of adjusted
measures of performance continues to attract scrutiny from the
financial reporting reguiators,

We have considered the appropnateness of the adjustments made

to statutory profit before taxation to derive adjusted profit before tax.
We have understood the rationale for ciassifying items as exceptional
or non-trading and considered whether this 15 reasonable and
consistent, in that it includes items that both increase and decrease
the adjusted profit measure, are consistent year on year, and are in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

We considered the appropnateness of those costs determined to be
exceptional, specifically we:

+ verified severance costs and confirmed that these reflect permanent
reductions in head count and where not settled are supported by
approptiate evidence that these redundancies were sufficiently
communicated prior to year-end;

» considered the nature and scape of the consulting engagements and
confirmed the fees classified as exceptional were sufficiently linked
to the Group restructuring initiatives;

+ tested the value of the assets written off and considered the
carrying value of the remaining site assets to third party valuations;

» tested the exceptional legal costs to supporting documentation.

We have also audited the reconciliation of adjusted profit to statutory
profit in note 13, and agreed all materiat adjustments to underlying
accounting records and our audit work performed over other balances,

We have determined that the rationale for including or excluding items
from adjusted profit has been consistently applied across gams and
losses and year on year.

We consider the Group's disclosures setting out the reasons for its use
of alternative performance measures and the reconciliations of these
measures to the statutory amounts to be in line with the FRC guidance
In this area.
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Area of focus

How cur audit addressed the area of focus

Capitalisation of development costs

Refer to the Audit Committee report on pages [+ to [+] and to
note 22 1n the Censclidated Financial Statements

£57.7m of internal costs were capitalised during the year in relation
to projects undertaken by the Group, primarily relating to the
development of new computer software within dmg information.

IAS 38 ‘Intangible assets’ {(“IAS 38”) requires that the Group
demonstrates that internal costs satisfy certain requirements to
qualify for capitalisation some of which require the application
of judgement.

£96.4m of capitalised development costs were impaired during
the year including an amount that had been capitalised during
the year

With regards to the costs capitalised during the year, we tested a
sample to determine whether they meet the criteria of IAS 38, agreeing
the costs selected to supporting evidence

Where these capitalised costs related to time spent by staff developing
intangible assets, we alse

- agreed that these salary costs were directly attributable to the
creation of the asset;

+ agreed the salary costs capitalised to payroll records; and

- verified time spent and the asscciated allocations to individual
projects to timesheets or cther supporting evidence.

We considered the directors’ intention and ability to complete the
project by obtaiming and assessing the business cases and current
pudgets for material intangible asset additions.

We also assessed the consistency of the application of the Group’s
accounting policy across costs capitalised in the different operating
divisions. We found that the Group’s accounting policy for
capitalisation of intangible assets was in accordance with the
requirements of with {AS 38 and had heen consistently applied

PIUBUIBADD

Where costs capitalised were subsequently written off in the vear we
verified that the IAS 38 criteria were met at the time of capitalisation
and that the impairment arose from subsequent strategic decisions
taken as part of the strategic review of the businesses at the end of
the year

Accounting for deferred taxation and uncertain tax positions

Refer to the Audit Committee report on pages [+ to +] and to note [+}
in the Consclidated Financial Statements.

The Group’s recognition of deferred tax assets in respect of trading
and non-trading tax losses in the Group 1s an area of focus due to
the quantum of the losses and the requirement o make estimates
of future taxable profits in determining the valuation of deferred
tax assets

In addition the Group has provisions for uncertain tax positions
relating to both historic and current tax arrangements.

The recognition and measurement of these items in the financial
statements is judgemental, and we focussed on the directors’
forecasts of future profits against which to utiise accumulated
lasses, and the technical interpretation of taxation law in respect
to transactions giving rise to deferred tax assets and uncertain tax
positions

In the period £108.9m of deferred tax assets were written off.

We invotved our in-house tax specialists in our testing of the
appropriateness of the estimates and judgements taken in relation to
deferred taxation and in respect of uncertain tax positions recognised
in the financial statements.

(n assessing the likelihood of the Group being able to generate
sufficient future taxable profits against which to offset accumulated
losses, we considered.

» key inputs to the calculation including revenue and profit
assumptions, in fine with our work over the carrying value of
goedwill and intangible assets; and

+ the directors’ ability to accurately forecast future profits

In understanding and evaluating the directors’ technical interpretation
of tax law 1n respect of specific transactions that gave rise to deferred
tax assets and uncertain tax positions we considered:

» third party tax advice received by the Group;
= the status of recent and current tax authority audits and enguiries;
« the outturn of previous claims;

« judgemental positions taken in tax returns and current year
estimates; and

» developments in the tax environment

We consider the impairment of deferred tax balances in the current
year of £108.9m appropnrate following our evaluation of the technical
interpretations outlined above We consider the amounts written off,
the valuation of the remaining deferred tax assets and the provisions
for uncertain tax positions recognised to be supportable and the
level of provisioning to be acceptable in the context of the Group
financial statements
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Daily Mail and General Trust plc

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure
that we performed enough work to be

able to give an opinion on the financiat
statements as a whole, taking into account
the structure of the Group and the parent
Company, the accounting processes and
controls, and the industry in which

they operate.

The Group consists of a head office

and four trading reporting divisions

RMS; dmg media; dmg information; and
dmg events. As each of these prepares a
sub-consolidation, we considered each

of these to be a separate component, with
the exception of dmg infermation. While
there are consolidated results for dmg
information, each business is run separately
and management primarily reviews the
performance of the individual businesses
rather than the division as a whole. As such
we scoped our audit of dmg information

at a business level.

Of the four dnisions we dentified one,

dmg media, which in our view required an
audit of their complete financial information
due to their size. In order to obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence over the
Group as a whole we also instructed
component teams to complete full scope
audits of the RMS and dmg events divisions.

Within dmg information we identified two UK
businesses, Searchflow Ltd and Landmark
Information Group Ltd, for which we perform
accelerated statutory audits to align with
the Group audit timetable. In addition we
performed a full scope audit of two US
businesses, Hobsons Inc and Genscape Inc.
For two US businesses for which statutory
audits are not required, Trepp LLC and
Environmental Data Resources inc, we
conducted specified procedures over higher
risk financial statement line items, including
revenue and capitalised development spend.

Full scope audits were also performed for
the Group's two material associates (ZPG Plc
and Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC)
For Euromaney Institutional Investor PLC, we
instructed our component team to complete
a full scope audit, For the audit of ZPG Plc
we rely on an audit opinion from Deloitte
LLP, who are Zoopla's auditors, and
performed additional procedures to
calculate the Group’s share of these results.

Taken together, the components where we
performed audit work accounted for 87% of
Group revenue and 76% of absolute adjusted
profit befare taxation.

We sent detailed instructions to all
component aucht teams, which included
communication of the areas of focus above

and other required communications.

In addition, regular meetings were held
with the UK and overseas audit teams and
members of the Group audit team visited
the Searchflow Ltd, Landmark Information
Group Ltd, Hobson inc, Genscape inc,
dmg media and Euromoney component
audit teams

This, together with additional procedures
performed at the Group level (including audit
procedures over impairment of goodwill and
intangibles, material head office entities, tax,
pensions and consolidation adjustments),
gave us the evidence we needed for our
opinion on the Group financial statements

as a whole

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced

by our application of materiality. We

set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative
considerations, helped us to determine

the scope of our audit and the nature, timing
and extent of our audit procedures on the
indwidual financial statement line items
and disclosures and in evaluating the effect
of misstatements, both individually and

in aggregate on the financial statements

as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements

Parent Company financial statements

Overall materiality

£9 million (2016: £10 million].

£9 million (2016: £10 mil\ior_\).

How we determined it

4% of adjusted profit before tax.

Lower of 1% of total assets and Group materiality

Rationale for
benchmark applied

The Group is profit oriented. Adjusted profit
before taxation Is the adjusted performance
measure that is reported to investors and
shareholders and is the measure which the
directors consider best represents the underlying
performance of the Group, Due to the inherent
Judgement in classification of certain items as
non-trading, and therefore non-underlying, we
have applied a 4% ruie of thumb, which 1s lower
than the 5% suggested by 1SAs (UK) for the audit
of profit-oriented entities,

The parent Company is not profit oriented. Total
assets s used as the benchmark as the parent
Company’s principal activity is to held investments,
creditors, and debtors balances. We have applied

a 1% rule of thumb suggested by 1SAs {UK) as the
parent Company is a public interest entity As the
parent Company also contributes to cur Group
audit as a head office entity, we have used the
Group materiality, which is lower than 1% of the
parent Company’s total assets.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a matenality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range of
materiality allocated across components was between £1.0 million and £6.8 million (2016 between £1 2 million and £7.0 million).

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £0.5 million (Group audit)
{2016: £0 5 million} and £6.5 million {parent Company audit) (2016 £0.5 million} as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our
view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons,
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Going concern
In accordance with 1SAs {UK) we report as follows

Reporting obligation Cutcome

We are required to report If we have anything material te add or draw attention to In We have nothing matenal to add or to draw
respect of the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors attention to. However, because not all future
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting im preparing the events or conditions can be predicted, this
financial statements and the directors’ identification of any matenal uncertainties to the statement s not a guarantee as to the Group’s
Group’s and the parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern over a period and parent Company’s ability to continue as
of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financral statements. a going concern.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report cther than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.
The directors are responsible for the other information Qur ¢pinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 15 to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtamed in the audit, or ctherwise appears to
be materially misstated If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or maternal misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to
conclude whether there is a matenal misstatement of the financial statements or a matenal misstatement of the other information i, hased
ort the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this ether information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

aJueulaaon

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act
2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006, (CAO6)
and 1SAs (UK) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below (required by 1SAs (UK) unless otherwise
stated). Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
for the year ended 30 September 2017 1s consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements. {CA0BG)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Greup and parent Company and their environment cbtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report (CAQS)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity

of the Group

As a result of the directors’ voluntary reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), we are required
to report to you if we have anything material to add or draw attention to regarding:

« The directors’ confirmation on page [+] of the Annua! Report that they have carned out a robust assessment of the principal nsks facing
the Group, including those that would threaten 1ts business medel, future performance, solvency or liquidity.

» The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

+ The directors’ explanation on page [+] of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they
have dene so and why they consider that period to be appropnate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its habilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any
related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report in respect of this responsibility

Other Code Provisions
As a result of the directors’ voluntary reporting on how they have applied the Code, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» The statement given by the directors, on page [, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and
understandable, and prowvides the information necessary for the members to assess the Group’s and parent Company’s position and
performance, business model and strategy 1s materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and parent Company obtained
in the course of performing our audit.

« The section of the Annual Report on page +] describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated hy us to the Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of this responsibility

Directors’ Remuneration
In our epinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies

Act 2006 (CAOB}
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
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Responsibilities for the financial
statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors

for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’
responsibilities, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with
the applicable framework and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view,
The directors are also responsible for
such internal contrel as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation

of financial statements that are free from
matenal misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s and the parent Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing
as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liguidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but ta do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit

of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to 1ssue an auditors’ report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
levet of assurance, but 1s not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance

with ISAs (UK} will always detect a matenal
misstatement when 1t exists. Misstatements
can anse from fraud or error and are
considered matenal If, Individually or

in the aggregate, they could reasonably

be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the hasis of
these financial statements.,

A further description of our responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements

is located on the FRC’s website at,

www frc.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our
auditors’ report.
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Use of this report

This report, including the opinions,

has been prepared for and only for the
parent Company’s members as a body

in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006 and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consent in writing,

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are
required to report to you if, in our opimion;

+ we have not recerved all the information
and explanations we require for our
audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not
been kept by the parent Company, or
returns adeguate for our audit have not
been received frem branches not visited
by us; or

« certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration specified by law are not
made; or

the parent Company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are
not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns.

We have no exceptions to repart arising
from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the

audit committee, we were appointed by

the members on 4 February 2015 to audit
the financial statements for the year ended
30 September 2015 and subseguent financial
periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement is 3 years, covering the

years ended 30 September 2015 to

30 September 2017,

Other voluntary reporting

Going concern

The directors have requested that we review
the statement on page ] in relation to going
concern as If the parent Company were a
premium iisted company. We have nothing
to report having performed our review

The directors’ assessment of the
prospects of the Group and of the
principal risks that would threaten
the solvency eor liquidity of the Group
The directors have requested that we
perform a review of the directors’
statements on pages [+] and {] that they
have carried out a robust assessment of
the principal nsks facing the Group and in
relation to the longer-term viability of the
Group, as if the parent Company were a
premium hsted company. Our review was
substantially tess in scope than an audit
and only consisted of making inguiries
and considenng the directors’ process
supporting their statements; checking
that the statements are in abgnment with
the relevant provisions of the Code; and
considering whether the statements

are consistent with the knowledge and
understanding of the Group and parent
Company and their environment obtained
in the course of the audit. We have nothing
ta report having performed this review.

Other Code provisions

The directors have prepared a corporate
governance statement and requested that
we review It as though the parent Company
were a premium listed company. We

have nothing to report in respect of the
requirement for the auditors of premium
listed companies to report when the
directors’ statement relating to the parent
Company’s compliance with the Code does
net properly disclose a departure from a
relevant provision of the Code specified,
under the Listing Rules, for review by

the auditors,

Neil Grimes (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and

Statutory Auditors

Lendon

30 Novemnber 2017
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Financial Statements
Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 30 September 2017

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m £m
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue 2 1,564.3 1,514 2
Adjusted operating profit 3,0 179.0 177.0
Excepticnal operating costs, impairment of internally generated and acquired computer software,
property, plant and equipment 3 (166.2) (41.8)
Amortisation and impairment of acquired intangible assets anising on business combinations and ‘
impairment of goodwill 3,21,22 {158.2}) (49.6)|
dperatingﬂ(ilo‘ss),l‘pmﬁt b;fore sharé Bfil'eislr.lrlts o;jﬁ ;fel;ltures;ﬁarassnciat;si . s (14'.';.74)7 856
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 7 16.9 49
Total operating {loss)/profit {128.5) 905
Other gains and losses ) 8 14.0 130.8
{Loss)/profit before investment revenue, net finance costs and tax (114.5) 2213
Investment revenue 9 2.5 22
Finance expense 10 (43.8) 45.1)
Finance income 10 43.5 273
Net finance costs (0.3} {21.8)
[Loss)/profit before tax (112.3) 2017
Tax 11 {64.7) {19 9}
{Loss)/profit after tax from continuing operations {177.0) 181.8
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 19
Protit from discontinued operations 519.3 32.4
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 342.3 214 2
Attributable to: o o
Owners of the Company 39 345.3 204.2
E;Controllmg Interests” 40 (3.0} 100
Profit for the year 342.3 2142
(Loss)[earniﬁgs per share f - 14
From centinuing operations S - - o -
Basic _ - (49.3)p 48.6p
Diluted (48.5)p 474p
From discontinued operations
Basic 147.1p 3.2p
Diluted 144.8p 30p
From continuing and discentinued opératlons i
Basic o o 7 - ) - 97.8p 578p
Diluted o 96.3p _ S6ap
Adjusted earnings per share o __
Basic 55.6p 56.0p
Diluted - . 54.7p 547p
‘éontmumg aperations (6.4) (] E)
Dlscont_\r)u_ed operations . 3.4 10.3
(3.0) - wo

(1) Adjusted operating profit 1s defined as total cperating profit from continwing operations before share of results of joint ventures and
associates, excepticnal aperating costs, rmpairment of goodwill and intangible assets, amortisation of acquired intangible assets arnising

on business combinations and impairment of property, plant and equipment.
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 September 2017

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
_ Note £m im
Profit for the year 342.3 214.2
Eems that will not be reclgs@ified to Consolidated Income Statement A
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension schemes B 35,39,40 299.1 (1}4_7)
Losses on hedges of net investments in foreign operations of non-controlling nterests 40 {5.5} {14.0)
Foreign exchange differences an translation of foreign operations of non-controlling interests 40 11.4 o312
Tax relating ta items that will not be reclassified to Consolidated Income Statement ~ {49.3) 6.4
Total items that will not be reclassified to Consolidated Income Statement 255.7 7(91.1)
E:m; that may be reclassified subsequently to Consolidated Income Statement N )
Gains/(losses) on hedges of net investments in foreign operations 33 4.5 (72 9)
Cash flow hedges: )
_ Losses arising during the year N ) B 39,40 {0.6) B (9 5)
__Transfer of losses on cash flow hedges from translation reserve to Consolidated Income Statement 39, 40 1.1 22
Share of joint ventures’ and associates’ items of other comprehensive income 7,39 (9.7} -
Translation reserves recycled to Consolidated Income Statement on disposals 18, 39,40 49.4 {06)
Foreign exchange differences on translation of foreign operations L 39 8.7 116 0
Tax relating to derivative finanaal instruments - 14
Total items that may be reclassified subseguently to Consolidated Income Statement i 53.4 366
er comprehensive i_n_come,l(expense) for the ;ear i 309.1 ) (54 5)
ﬂtai comprehensive income for the year 651.4 1597
Ettributable to: ) ﬁ:
Gwners of the Company 645.7 1369
Non-controlling interests 5.7 228
_ _ 651.4 159,7
Continuing operations 51.7 932
Biscontinued operations . 599.7 ~ 665
651.4 159.7
i‘o—tal comprehensive irl-come,'(expense) for the year from continuing operations attributable to:
Owners of the Company 54.2 911
Non-controlling interests - {2.5) 2.1
51.7 93.2
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the vear ended 30 September 2017

Called-up Share Capital attribﬁ?:l;:z Nan-
share premium redemption Own Translation Retained to ownersof controlling Total
capital account reserve Shares reserve earnings the Company interests equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 20 September 2015 T 7 #5418 49 (76.3) (25.9) 339.0 3049  154.9 459.8
Profit for the year 39,40 - - - - - 204 2 204 2 10.0 214.;
Other comprehensive income/(expense} for - )
the year i - 39,40 - B - - 378 {1051  (67.3) 128 (545)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 37.8 991 1363 228 1597
Cancellation of A Ordinary Shares o 39 01) - 01l 65 - 16.5) - - -
Issue of share capital o . L 40 - - - - - - - 0.3 0.3
Dividends . 12,39 - - - - - (164) (764 (127) (891
Cwn shares acquired in the year _?B, 35 . - - (298 - - {29 8) - {298)
Own shares transferred on exercise of share 7
options 33 - - - s - - 109 - 109
Exercise of acquisition put option commitments 39 - - . - - {03) (0.3) - {0.3)
Other transactions with non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 02 02
Adjustment to equity following increased stake -
in controlled entity 39 - - - - - [y (4.9) 49 -
Adjustment to equity following decreased stake N
in controlied entity 39 - - - - - 02) (02) 02 -
Credit to equity for share-based payments 39 - - - - 158 18 02 160
EettleTnent_o_f exe;élsed share options of
subsidiaries o 39 - - - - - (22.1) _£2;1)_ - (12.1)
Intial rardlrgof p-ut cptions granted to
nen-controlling interests in subsidiary
undertakings . ) - - - - - - 05 0.5 {02y (07}
Nen-controlling interest recognised on
acquisition L 39,40 - - - - - - -7 6 76
@oratlon tax on share-based payments B @ - - - - - 5.4 54 - 54
Deferred tax on other items recegnised in equity 37,39,40 - - - - - 14 1.4 - 14
At 30 September 2016 o 453 178 5.0 (88.7) 11.9 359.8 351.1  178.2 529.3
Profit/{loss) for the year 39, 40 - - - - - 3453 245.3 (3.0) 3423
Other comprehensive iIncome S
for the year - 39,40 - - - - €3.0 2374 3004 87 30838
Total cumpm@m;me for the year - - - - 63.0 5827 6457 57 €514
issue of share capital a3 - - - - - - - 0.5 c5
Ql\ﬂdends 12,39 - - - - - (78 3) (78.3) - ({78.3)
Own shares acquired inthe year 38,39 - - - (286 - - (28 6) - [2886)
Disposal of Eﬁg@rtre;sury shares held
by Euromoney 38,39 - - - 1l - - 14.1 - 141
Own shares transferred on exercise of share o
opticns 39 - - - 389 - - 88 - _38.9
Changes in non-controlling u’EsrestoIMugﬁ
disposal of Euromoney 39 - - - - - - (myanig
Other transactions with
non-controlling interests - - = - - - - 01y 01}
Adjustment tc equity following mcreased
stake n controlledentty 39 - - - - - 0.4 04 _(2.6)__ {2.2)
Adjustment to eqmt;followmg decreased
stake in controlled entity 39 - - - - - (03 0.3) L
Credit to equity for share-based payments 33 - - - - - 40 40 01 a4l
Settlement of exercised share options
of subsidiares 39 - - - - - [384) {38 4) - (384)
Deferred tax on other items recognised
In equity 37,39,40 - - - - (0.4) {04 - (04}
At 30 September 2017 45.3 17.8 5.0 (64.3) 74.9 B829.5 908.2 11,0 919.2
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 30 September 2017

At At
30 Sep 20 Septemb

2017 2016

Note £m im
ASSETS ) -
E:n—cun-'ent assets o
Goodwill 21 363.1 9816
Other intangible assets 22 213.0 4992
mperty, plant and equipment 23 103.3 1761
Estments in joint ventures B 24 0.2 48
Investments In associates 24 735.2 14-5.37
Available-for-sale investments 25 30.6 15.187
Trade and other recevables 217 20.5 187
Other financial assets - 28 15.5 21.0
Denwative financial assets 34 4.6 283
@tlrement benefit assets i 35 73.4 401
Bgeferred tax assets B 37 75.9 1774
- ’ - 1,635.3 2,083
Eurrent assets _
Inventories ] 2 26.6 308
Trade a[\d other receivables 27 236.8 3462
Current tax receivable 31 9.6 156
Other financial assets 28 14.5 171
D(aﬂiulve financ!alassets' ) . 34 3.0 04
Cash and cash equivalents 29 14.6 57

Total assets of businesses held for sale 20 107.8 50
) | ) ) 4129 4408
Total assets ’ 2,048.2 2,549.1
LIABILITIES ] ] _
Current liabilities o
Trade and other payables 30 (502.7} (756.2)
Current tax payable ) 31 1.7) (27.0)
Acquisition put eption commitments . 32 (0.6) (18.5)
Borrowings 33 {9.4) (11.0)
Dervative finanaial iabilities 34 {0.4) (11.5)
Provisions 36 (43.6) (54 4)
TL&)lliabﬂl'tles of businesses held for sale 29 (29.0) (57)
7 (587.4) (884 1)

Non-current liabilities )

T(ade and other payables 30 (2.9) 57)
&cqumtlon put option commitments 32 (7.4} (26.2)
Borrowings 33 {470.3) (693.7)
Derivative financial Liabilities 34 (18.8) 47.3)
Retirement benefit obligations 35 {11.0) (286 1)
Provisions ) 36 {19.1} (52.8}
Deferred tax habilities a7 (212.1) (23.8)
- {541.6) 1,135.7)
Total liabilities 1,129.0) [2,019.8)

Net assets 919.2 5293

96



At 30 September 2017

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

At At
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m £m

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - R
Called-up share capital ] - 38 45.3 453
Share prﬁumﬁaﬁccount - _ 39 17.8 178
Share ca_ﬁal B 631 63.1
Capital redemption reserve o B L 50 5.0
Own shares : o ¥ - __w(ﬁﬁ B e
Translation reserve __ 39 - 74.9 11.2
Retained earnings o 39 829.5 353.8
Equity attributable to owners of the Company T o 908.2 3511
Non-controlling interests - 40 11.0 178.2
919.2 529.3

The financial statements of DMGT plc (Company number 184594) on pages [+ to [+] were approved by the Directors and authorised for 1ssue on

30 November 2017. They were signed on their behalf by

The Viscount Rothermere
P A Zwillenberg
Directors
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Financial Statements
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 30 September 2017

Year ended Year ended
30 Septemb 30 b

2017 2016

Note £m £m

Cash generated by bperations i ) B 15 232.7 2610
Taxation pad ) | ) -~ (18.1} i 297)

Taxatign received _ B 4.9 08

Net cash generated by operating activities ) 219.5 232.1
Ewestin g activities ) _ _
Interest received i 2.4 16
Dividends receved from jont ventures and associates 24 35.9 53
Dividends received from available-for-sale investments T 9 0.1 -
Purchase of propérty, plant and equl;sment ) . 23 [21.1) ) 272
Expenditure on internally generated intangible fixed assets 2 (57.7) {58.3)
Expenditure on other intangl-ble assets 2 {0.2) (30}
Mase of available-for-saie investments B ) 25 (19.4) {1.6)
Proceeds on disposal of prc->perty, plant and equipment and Investment property ) 0.7 15
Proceeds on disposal of avattable-for-sale investments ’ - 01
m}se of sub-s|d|aries . - 17 (26.7) (2&
Settlements and collateral payments on treasury denvatives i ) 2.8 {40.4)
Purchase of option over equity instrument o 34 - _{6.5)

Mmem In Joint ventures and associates ) 24 (2.3) a7
Leans advanced to joint ventures and assoclates o {2.7) {02)

Loans to joint ventures and associates repaid 8.6 12
Proceeds on disposai of businesses ) - - 18 215.8 395

Proceeds on disposal ofJoint ventures and associates 8,24 2.4 720
Proceeds from redemption of preferénce share capital B 18 - 4a
Net cash generated by,'(useclTn)Westing activities 138.6 (35 8)
Financing acti i ) . B 7\
Purchase of addiflonal Interests in controlled ehtntles ) 17 (2.1) {02)
Equity dwidends pard 12,39 {18.3) (76.4)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ’ i 40 - {127

Issue of shares by Group companies to non-controlling interests 40 0.5 0.3
Purchase of own shares 39 (28.6) {25.8}
Net receipt/{payment) on settlement of subsidiary share options 0.5 i {1.2)
Interest paid B ’ ) (34.7) (33.9)
Loan notes repaid i B 16 (0.6} {0.5)
Repayments of ghligations under finance lease agreements ’ ’ 16 {0.7) (@
Inception of finance leases 16 0.5 06
Decrease in bank borrowings 16 (224.9) (60.8)
Net cash used in financing activities (368.4) (214.6)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ’ 16 {10.3) (1_@
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 29 i7.5 315
Exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents 16 0.2 43

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year 29 7.4 17.5
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Notes to the accounts

1 Basis of preparation
DMGT plec 1s a company incorporated and domiciled i the United Kingdom. The address of the registered coffice is Northcliffe House,
2 Derry Street, London, W8 5TT.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and related {FRS
interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as adopted by the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to companies preparing their accounts under IFRS.

These financial statements have been prepared for the year ended 3¢ September 2017,

Other than the Daily Mail, The Mail on Sunday and Metro businesses, the Group prepares accounts for a year ending on 30 September. The
Daily Mail, The Mail on Sunday and Metro businesses prepare financial statements for a 52- or 53-week financial period ending on a Sunday
near to the end of September and do not prepare additional financial statements corresponding to the Group’s financial year for consolidation
purposes as It would be impractical to do so. The Group considers whether there have been any significant transactions or events between
the end of the financial year of these businesses and the end of the Group’s financial year and makes any material adjustments as appropriate

The significant accounting policies used in preparing this information are set out in nate 2

The Group’s financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidianes together with the Group’s
share of all of its interests in joint ventures and associates. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except
far the revaluation of certain financial instruments which are held at fair value through profit or loss

The Group presents the results from discontinued operations separately from those of continuing operations. An operation is classed as
discontinued If it has been, or 15 in the process of being disposed and represents erther a separate major line of business or a geographical
area of operations, oris part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or exit a major gecgraphical area
of operations.

Prior period amounts have been re-presented to conform te the current period's presentation, as prescribed by IFRS 5, Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,

All amounts presented have been rounded to the nearest £0.1 million.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the
Financial Review and the Strategic Report

As tughlighted in notes 33 and 34 to the Accounts, the Company has long-term financing in the form of bonds and meets its day-to-day
working capital requirements through bank facilities which expire in March 2019. The Board's forecasts and projections, after taking account
of reasonably possible changes in trading perfoermance, show that the Group is expected te operate within the terms of its current facilities.
Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

2 Significant accounting policies
The following new and amended IFRSs have been adopted during the year

» Amendments to IFRS 10 and |AS 28, Accounting for the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
{effective 1 January 2016)

+ Amendments to IFRS 11, Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (effective 1 January 2016)
+ Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clanfication of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amertisation (effective 1 January 2016)
» Amendment to iAS 1, disclosure initiative (effective 1 January 2018)

« Annual Improvements 2010-2012 cycle and 2011-2013 cycle have been implemented in the prior year and had no material impact en
the Group

EE]
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Notes to the accounts

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Annual improvements 2012-2014 cycle (effective 1 January 2016)
« Amendment to IFRS 5, Nen-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

+ Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments disclosures

« IAS 19, Employee Benefits, discount rates for post-employment benefits

+ |AS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interm financial report’
The above amendments have not had any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements,

The Group has not yet adopted certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards, which have been published
but are only effective for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 October 2017. These new pronouncements are listed below:

« Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows (effective 1 January 2017)

« Amendment to JAS 12, Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (effective 1 January 2017)
« IFRS 15, Revenye from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018)

« IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (effective 1 January 2018)

+ IFRS 16, Leases (effective 1 January 2019)

Annual improvements 2014-2016 cvcle
- Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective 1 January 2018}

« Amendments to IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 1 January 2017}
« Amendments to 1AS 28, Investments In Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 1 January 2018)
A number of new and amended IFRS’s have been adopted in the penod, none had any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements

Other than IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 16 Leases, the adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations
which have been 1ssued but are not yet effective I1s not expected to have a material impact an the Group's financial statements.

IFRS 15, effective for the 2019 fiscal year introduces additional guidance surrounding performance obligations within sales contracts and the
timing of revenue recognition. in 2016 the Group commenced a project to evaluate the impact of IFRS 15 but due to the complexity of this new
accounting standard and the number of different revenue streams in the Group, the impact is still being evaluated.

IFRS 16, effective for the 2020 fiscal year will require lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months
or less or the underlying asset has a low value eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. The new standard will also
replace the operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for the leased assets and an interest expense on the corresponding lease
liability. Lessors will continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged
from its predecessor, IAS 17.

The Group 1s In the process of assessing the impact of this standard. Note 41 provides further information on the Group's operating
lease obligaticns

Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition
is measured at the aggregate of fair values of assets given, liahilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised In the Consclidated income Statement as incurred

Where the consideration for an acquisition includes any asset or iability resulting from a contingent arrangement, this 1s measured at
its discounted fair value on the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted through the Consolidated Income
Statement in Financing. All other changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or hability are measured

at fair value at each reporting date and changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of contingent
consideration classified as equity are not recognised.

Put options granted to non-controlling interests are recorded at present value as a reduction in equity on initial recognition, as the
arrangement represents a transaction with equity holders. Changes in value after initial recognition are recorded in the Consolidated income
Statement in Financing.

if the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting 1s incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusteg during the
measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed as of the date of the acquisition that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period fram the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts and
crcumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and 15 a maximum of one year.
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Business combinations achieved in stages

Where a business combination 1s achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are remeasured to fair value
at the date the Group attains control and the resulting gain or loss Is recognised in the Conselidated Income Statement. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that were recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the Consolidated
Inceme Statement where such treatment would be appropriate if the interest were disposed of.

Purchases and sales of shares in a controlied entity

Where the Group’s interest in a controlled entity increases, the non-controliing interests’ share of net assets, excluding any allocation of
goodwill, is transferred to retained earnings. Any difference between the cost of the additional interest and the existing carrying value of the
non-controlling interests’ share of net assets 15 recorded In retained earnings

Where the Group’s interest in a controlied entity decreases, but the Group retams control, the share of net assets disposed, excluding any
allocation of goodwill, 1s transferred to the non-controlling interests. Any difference between the proceeds of the disposal and the existing
carrying value of the net assets or liabilities transferred to the non-controiling interests is recorded in retained earnings.

Disposal of controlling interests where non-controliing interest retained

Where the Group disposes of a controlling interest but retains a non-centrolling interest in the business, the Group accounts for the disposal
of a subsidiary and the subsequent acquisition of a joint venture, associate or avallable-for-sale investment at fair value on inttial recognition.
On disposal of a subsidiary all amounts deferred in equity are recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement

Contingent consideration receivable

Where the consideration for a disposal includes consideration resulting from a contingent arrangement, the contingent consideration
receivable is discounted to its fair value, with any subsequent movement in fair value being recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement
in Financing,

Discontinued operations

The Group presents the results from discontinued operations separately from those of continuing operations. An operation is classed as
discontinued if it has been, or is In the process of being disposed and represents either a separate major ine of business or a geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or exit a major geographical area
of operations

Assets and liabilities of businesses held for sale

An asset or disposal group is classified as heid-for-sale if 1its carrying amount is intended to be recovered principally through sale rather

than continuing use, is available for immediate sale and 1s highly probable that the sale will be completed within 12 months of classification
as held-for-sale. Assets classified as held-for-sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement and s first allocated to the goodwill associated with the disposal group
and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis No further depreciation or amortisation Is charged on non-current assets
classified as held-for-sale from the date of classification.

Accounting for subsidiaries
A subsidiary 15 an entity controlled by the Group, Centrol is achieved where the Group has power over an investee; exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to use 1ts power over the investee to affect the amount of the returns

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Income Statement from the effective
date control s obtained or up to the date control 1s relinquished, as appropriate, Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring therr accounting policies inte line with those used by other members of the Group.

Allintra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests

Neon-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity therein, either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s share of the net assets of the subsidiary, on a case-by-case basis. The total comprehensive
income of a subsichary 1s apportioned betweert the Group and the non-controlling interest, even if it results in a defiot balance for the
nan-controlling interest.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

[nterests in joint ventures and associates

A Joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint
control, that 1s, when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unamimous consent of the
parties shanng control.

An associate Is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but 1s not control or joint control
over those policies.

The post-tax results of joint ventures and associates are incorporated in the Group’s results using the equity method of accounting Under
the equity method, investments n joint ventures and associates are carried in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the joint venture and associate, less any impairment in the
value of investment. Losses of joint ventures and associates in excess of the of the Group’s interest in that joint venture or associate are not
recognised. Additional losses are provided for, and a hability 1s recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture or associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent hiabilities
of the joint venture or associate recognised at the date of acquisition 1s recognised as goodwill. The goodwill 15 included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Foreign currencies

For the purpose of presenting consclidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of entities with a functional currency other than
sterling are translated into sterling using exchange rates prevailing on the period end date Income and expense items and cash flows are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period and exchange differences arising are recognised directly in equity. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that operation 1s recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

The Group records foreign exchange differences ansing on retransiation of foreign operations within the translation reserve in equity.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functienal currency are
recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. At each pericd end date, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the period end date

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate prevailing an the date when
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of manetary items, are included in the
Consolidated Income Statement for the penod.

Goodwill, intangible assets and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign cperations after transrtion to IFRS are treated as
part of the assets and habilities of the foreign operation and are translated at the closing rate Goodwill which arose pre-transition to IFRS
is not translated.

In respect of all foreign operations, any cumulative exchange differences that have arisen before 4 October 2004, the date of transition to IFRS,
were reset to £nil and will be excluded from the determination of any subsequent profit or loss on disposal

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets acquired arising on the acquisition of an entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiabie assets, liabilities and contingent labilities of the entity recognised at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Negative
goocdwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the Consolidated Income Statement,

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and are translated at the closing exchange rates on the period end date.

On disposal of a subsidiary or a Jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill s included in the determination of the profit
or loss recognised In the Consolidated Income Statement on disposal.

102




Dally Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

Impairment of goodwili
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indicators that goodwill might be impaired. The Group has
no other intangible assets with indefinite lives.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows, known

as cash-generating units (CGUs). If the recoverable amount of the CGU s less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss 1s
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit, prorated on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit, but sutsject to not reducing any asset below its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
recognised far goodwill 1s not reversed in a subsequent period.

When testing for mpairment, the recoverable amounts for all of the Group’s CGUs are measured at the higher of value In use or fair value

less costs to sell. Value in use is calculated by discounting future expected cash flows These calculations use cash flow projections based on
Board-approved budgets and projections which reflect management’s current experience and future expectations of the markets in which the
CGU operates Risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rates used by the Group In its impairment tests range from 11.45% to 19.2% {2016 11 25% to
25.0%) the choice of rates depending on the risks specific to that CGU. The Directors’ estimate of the Group’s weighted average cost of capital
15 8.0% (2016 8.0%). The cash flow projections consist of Board-approved budgets for the following year, together with forecasts for up to five
additienat years and nominal long-term growth rates beyond these periods The nominal long-term growth rates range between 1.5% and
3.0% {2016 1 0% and 5 0%) and vary with management’s view of the CGU’s market pasition, matunty of the relevant market and de not exceed
the long-term average growth rate for the market in which the CGU operates.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill i1s charged immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement and is not subsequently reversed.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities 1s recogrised as an expense in the period in which 1t 1s incurred Aninternally generated intangible asset
arising from the Group’s development activity, including software for internal use, 1s recogrised only if the asset can be separately identified,
1115 probable the asset will generate future economic benefits, the development cost can be measured reliably, the project 1s technically
feasible and the project will be completed with a view to sell or use the asset, Additionally, guidance in Standing Interpretations Committee
{SIC) 32 has been applied in accounting for internally developed website development costs.

Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, when the asset 1s available
for use, and are reported net of iImpairment losses. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, such development
expenditure 1s charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which it s incurred.

Licences
Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the specific software These costs
are amortised over their estmated useful lives, being three to five years

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software preducts controlied by the Group, and that are
expected ta generate economic benefits exceeding costs and directly attributable overheads, are capitalised as intangible assets.

Computer software which 1s integral to a related item of hardware equipment 1s accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred
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Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets with finite lives are stated at cost less accumulated amortrsation and impairment losses, Amortisation 1s charged to
the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets from the date they become
available for use The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Publishing rights, mastheads and titles 7 5-30years
Brands ) 7 e 3 - 20 years
Market and customer-related databases and customer relationships _ _3-20years
Computer software 2 - 5years

Amortisation of intangibles not arising on business combinatiens is included within operating profit in the Consolidated Income Statement.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Impairment of intangible assets

At each period end date, reviews are carried out of the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible assets and goodwill te determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount, which 1s the
higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the impairment loss
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are iIndependent from other assets, value in use estimates are made based on the cash
flows of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than 1ts net carrying amount, the net carrying amount of the asset or CGU
is reduced to its recoverable amount Impairment losses are recognised immediately in the Consclidated Income Statement.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there 1s any indicatien that an impairment loss recogrused in pnior periods,
for an asset other than goodwill, may no longer exist or may have decreased If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of that asset. In assessing whether there 1s any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for an asset other than
goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased, the Group considers, as a minimum, the following indications

{11 whether the asset’s market value has increased significantly duning the penod;

(i} whether any significant changes with a favourable effect on the entrty have taken place during the period, or will take place in the near
future, in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the entity operates or in the market to which the asset is
dedicated; and

(in) whether market interest rates or other market rates of return on investments have decreased during the peried, and those decreases

are likely to affect the discount rate used in calculating the asset’s value in use and increase the asset’s recoverable amount materially
Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings held for use are stated in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at their cost, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated imparrment losses.

Assets in the course of construction are carned at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumaulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where sharter,
over the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 1s recognised in the Consolidated income Statement.,

Depreciation 1s charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than property, plant and equipment under construction using the
straight-line method, aver therr estimated useful lives as follows

Freehold buildings and long leasehold properties o 50 years.
Short leasehold premises o the term of the lease
Plant and equipment o 3 -25years

Depreciation is not provided on freehold land

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisabie value Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and
those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to therr present location and condition. The Group uses the Average Cost
method in the dmg media segment for newsprint and the First In First Out method for all other inventories.

Exhibitions, training and event costs
Directly attributable costs relating to future exhibitions, training and events are deferred within work in progress and measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. These costs are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement when the exhibition, training or event takes place.

Pre-publication costs

Pre-publication costs represent direct costs incurred in the development of titles prior to their publication, These costs are recognised as work
in progress on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position to the extent that future economic benefit is virtually certain and can be
measured reliably. These are recognised in the Consolidated income Statement on publication.
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Marketing costs
Marketing and promotional costs are charged to the Consolidated iIncome Statement in the peried in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Positien includes cash, short-term deposits and other short-term
highly iguid investments with an originai maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement,

cash and cash equivalents are as defined above, net of bank overdrafts.

Revenue
Revenue is stated at the fair value of consideration, net of value added tax, trade discounts and commuission where applicable and is
recognised using methods apprepriate for the Group’s businesses.

Where revenue contracts have multiple elements (such as software licences, data subscriptions and support), all aspects of the transaction
are considered to determine whether these elements can be separately identified. Where transaction elements can be separately identified
and revenue can be allocated between them on a fair and reliable basis, revenue for each element 1s accounted for according to the relevant
policy below. Where transaction elements cannot be separately identified, revenue Ts recognised over the contract period.

The dmg media segment enters inta agreements with advertising agencies and certain clients, which are subject to a minimum spend and
typically include a commitment to deliver rebates to the agency or client based on the level of agency spend over the contract period.

The principal revenue recognition policies, as applied by the Group’s major businesses, are as follows

« subscriptions revenue, including revenue from information services, is recognised over the period of the subscription or contract;
+ publishing and circulation revenue 1s recognised on 1ssue of the publication or report;

« advertising revenue is recognised on issue of the publicaticn or over the period of the online campaign;

+ contract print revenue i1s recognised on completion of the print contract,

» exhibitions, training and events revenues are recognised aver the period of the event,

+ software revenue 1s recognised on delivery of the software or the technology or over a period of time where the transaction 1s a licence
{the licence term). If support ts unable to be separately 1dentified from hosting and revenue 1s unable to be allocated on a fair and reliable
basis, support revenue 1s recognised over the licence term Commissions paid to acquire software and services contracts are capitalised
in prepayments and recognised over the term of the centract;

+ support revenue associated with software licences and subscriptions is recognised over the term of the support contract, and

+ long-term contract revenue 1s recognised using the percentage of completion method according to the percentage of work completed at the
period end date

Adjusted measures
The Group presents adjusted cperating profit and adjusted profit before tax by making adjustments for costs and profits which management
believe to be significant by virtue of their size, nature or incidence or which have a distortive effect on current year earnings

Such terms would include, but are not imited to, closure costs, costs associated with business combinations, gains and losses on the disposal
of businesses, finance costs relating to premia on bond buy-backs, fair value movements, exceptional operating costs, impairment of goodwill
and amortisation and impairment of intangible assets arising on business combinations.

The Board and management team believe these adjusted results, used in conjunction with statutory IFRS results, give a greater insight into
the financial performance of the Group and the way it is managed Similarly, adjusted results are used n setting management remuneration,

A description of each adjustment 1s set out in the Financial Review together with a reconciliation of operating profit to adjusted operating profit.
See note 13 for a reconailiation of adjusted profit before and after tax.

Other gains and losses
Other gains and losses comprise profit or loss on sale of trading investments, profit or loss on sale of property, plant and equipment,
impairment of available-for-sale assets, profit or loss on sale of businesses and profit or loss on sale of joint ventures and associates.

EBITDA

The Group discloses EBITDA, being adjusted operating profit before depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property.
EBITDA is broadly used by analysts, rating agencies, investors and the Group’s banks as part of their assessment of the Group’s performance.
A reconciliation of EBITDA from operating profit is shown in note 15 and the ratio of net debt te EBITDA is disclesed 1n note 34.
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, If tower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments as determined at the Inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as a finance lease obligation Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability Finance charges are
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease, Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Dividends

Dividend income from investments Is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established. Dividends are
recognised as a distribution in the period in which they are approved by the sharehaolders. Interim dividends are recorded in the period in
which they are paid

Borrowing costs

Unless capitalised under IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, all borrowing costs are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in the penod in
which they are incurred. Finance charges, including premia paid on settlement or redemption and direct 1ssue costs and discounts related to
borrowings, are accounted for on an accruals basis and charged to the Consolidated Income Statement using the effective interest method.

Retirement benefits

Pension scheme assets are measured at market value at the period end date Scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit credit
method and discounted at a rate reftecting current yields on high-quality corporate bonds having regard to the duration of the liability profiles
of the schemes.

For defined benefit retirement plans, the difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the present value of the plan liabilities is
recogrised as an asset or liability on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Actuanal gains and losses ansing it the year are taken
to the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. For this purpose, actuarial gains and losses comprise both the effects of changes
in actuarial assumptions and expenence adjustments arising because of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what
has actually occurred. For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits 1s determined using the projected unit credit method,
with actuarial valuations being carried out triennially. In accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries in assessing whether
to recognise a surplus, the Group has regard to the principles set out in IFRIC 14.

Other movements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, including the current service cost,
any past service cost and the effect of any curtailment or settlements. The interest cost less the expected return on assets i1s also charged
to the Consolidated Income Statement within net finance costs.

Following the adoption of FRS 101 and FRS 102 in the prior year, the defined benefit pension schemes’ deficits have been allocated to
Group companies on a buy-out basis - that is, on an estimate of the habilities and assets of the defined benefit schemes as at 30 September

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution pension ptans are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement as they fall due.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax for the year.

The current tax payable or recoverable i1s based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
Consolidated Income Statement because some items of Income or expense are taxable or deductible in different years or may never
be taxable or deductible The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using the UK and foreign tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the period end date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are set off and stated net in the Consoiidated Statement of Financial Pasition when there 1s 2 legally
enforceable night to set off current tax assets against current tax hablities and when they either relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority or on the same taxable entity or on different taxable entities which intend to settle the current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

Deferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable in the future arising from temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. It 1s accounted
for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generalty recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences anse from the initial recognition of goodwil! or from
the initial recognition other than in 2 business combination of other assets and labilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising in investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and 1t is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future

Goodwill ansing on business combinations also includes amounts corresponding to deferred tax liabilities recognised in respect of acquired
intangible assets. A deferred tax hability 15 recognised to the extent that the fair value of the assets for accounting purposes exceeds the value
of those assets for tax purposes and will form part of the associated goodwill on acquisition

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets s reviewed at each period end date, and 1s reduced or increased as appropriate to the extent that
it 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered, or 1t becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Deferred tax 15 calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the perniod when the liability 15 settled or the asset realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end date, and 1s not discounted.

Deferred tax assets and habibties are set off when there is a legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets against current tax habilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle 1ts current assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

Tax is charged or credited to the Consclidated Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,
in which case the tax is also recognised directly in equity.

Actual tax liabilities or refunds may differ from those anticipated due to changes in tax legislation, differing interpretations of tax legislation
and uncertainties surrounding the application of tax legistation, In situations where uncertainties exist, provision 1s made for contingent tax
liabilities and assets when 1t 1s more likely than not that there will be a cash impact. These provisions are made for each uncertainty individually
on the basis of management Judgement following consideration of the avallable relevant information. The measurement basis adopted
represents the best predictor of the resolution of the uncertainty which s usually based on the most likely cash outflow. The company reviews
the adequacy of these provisions at the end of each reporting period and adjusts them based on changing facts and carcumstances

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial habilities are recognised on the Consclidated Statement of Financial Position when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabibties are offset and the net amount reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when there1s a
legally enforceable right to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and liability simultaneously and where the Group intends to net settle

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropnate allowances for estimated
Irrecoverable amounts.

Available-for-sale investments
Investments and financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase cor sale of an investment s under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the time frame established by the market concerned, and are measured at fair

value, including transaction costs.

Investments are classified as either fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale. Where securities are held for trading purposes,

gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in net profit or loss for the period. For available-for-sale investments, gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity, until the security is disposed of or 1s determined to be impaired,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity 1s included in the net profit or loss for the period.

The fair value of listed securities 1s determined based on quoted market prices. Unlisted securities are recorded at cost less provision for
Impairment, as since there is no active market upan which they are traded, their fair values cannot be reliably measured. The recoverable
amount 1s determined by discounting future cash flows tc present value using market interest rates.

Financial liabilitics and equity instruments

Trade payables
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

Financial labilities and eguity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial hability and an equity instrument. An eguity instrument 1s any contract that evidences a residual
Interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial hailities and
eqguity instruments are set out below:

Capital market and bank borrowings
Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are imitially measured at fair value {(which is equal to net proceeds at inception}, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate methad A portion of the Group’s bends are subject to fair value hedge
accounting as explained below and this portion is adjusted for the movement in the hedged risk to the extent hedge effectiveness 1s achieved
Any difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the settlement or redemption of borrowings 1s reccgnised over the term
of the borrowing
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2 Significant accounting policies continued
Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs

Derecognition

The Group derecogrises a financial asset, or a portion of a financial asset, from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position where the
contractual rights to cash flows from the asset have expired, or have been transferred, usually by sale, and with them either substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset or significant risks and rewards, along with the unconditicnal ability to sell or pledge the asset.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been settled, has expired or has been extinguished,

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derwvative financial instruments are used to manage exposure to market risks. The principat derivative instruments used by the Group are
foreign currency swaps, Interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward contracts and options. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes

Changes in the fair value of dervative instruments which do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the Consalidated
Incorme Statement.

Where the dervative instruments de qualify for hedge accounting, the following treatments are applied:

Fair value hedges

Changes In the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement for the year together with the
changes in the fair value of the hedged item due to the hedged nisk, to the extent the hedge 15 effective When the hedging instrument expires
or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued.

Cash flow hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised
directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

If a hedged firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or hability, then, at the time that the
asset or lability 1s recognised, the associated gains and losses on the dervative that had previously been recognised In equity are included
in the initial measurement of the asset or liability

For hedges that do not result In the recognition of an asset or a hiability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the Consolidated Income
Statement in the same period in which the hedged item affects the Consolidated Income Statement.

Hedge accounting i1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, revoked, or no lenger qualifies for
hedge accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity 15 retained in equity until the
forecast transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gai or loss previously recognised

in equity is included in the Consolidated Income $tatement for the period.

Net investment hedges

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in fareign operations are recognised directly in equity in the
translation reserve. Gains and losses arising frem changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments are recognised in equity to the extent
that the hedging relationship is effective, Any ineffectiveness is recognised immediately in the Consclidated Income Statement for the period.

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. Gains and losses accumulated in the translation reserve are included in the Consolidated Income Statement on disposal of the
foreign operation.

Provisions

Prowisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, and it 1s probable that the
Group will be reguired to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure reguired to settle
the obligation at the period end date, and are discounted to present value where the effect 1s material.

Onerous contract provisions are recogmsed for losses on contracts where the forecast costs of fulfilling the contract throughout the contract
period exceed the forecast Income receivable. The provision is calculated based on cash flows 1o the end of the contract, Vacant property
provisions are recognised when the Group has committed to a course of action that will result in the property becoming vacant.

Share-hased payments

The Group 1ssues equity-settled share-based payments to certain Directors and employees, Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of the shares that wili eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions

Fair value 1s measured using a binomial pricing model which is calibrated using a Black-Scholes framework. The expected life used in
the medels has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effect of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behawvioural considerations.
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A liability equal to the portion of the goods or services received 1s recognised at the current fair value determined at each period end date
for cash-settled share-based payments

Investment in own shares

Treasury shares

Where the Company purchases its equity share capital as Treasury Shares, the consideration paid, including any directly attrnibutable
incremental costs {net of income taxes}) I1s recorded as a deduction from shareholders’ equity until such shares are cancelled, reissued or
disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently soid or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction casts and the related Income tax effects, Is recognised in equity, with any difference between the proceeds from the sale and the
original cost being taken to retained earnings.

Employee Benefit Trust

The Company has established an Employee Benefit Trust {(EBT) for the purpase of purchasing shares in order to satisfy outstanding share
options and potential awards under long-term incentive plans. The assets of the Trust comprise shares in DMGT plc and cash balances. The
Trust is administered by independent trustees and its assets are held separately from those of the Group. The Group bears the major nsks and
rewards of the assets held by the EBT until the shares vest unconditionally with employees, The Group recognises the assets and Liabilities of
the Trustin the consolidated financial statements and shares held by the Trust are recorded at cost as a deduction from shareholders’ equity
Consideration received for the sale of shares held by the Trust is recognised in equity, with any difference between the proceeds from the sale
and the original cost being taken to retained earnings

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In addition te the jJudgement taken by management in selecting and applying the accounting policies set out above, the Directors have made
the following judgements concerning the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Adjusted measures
The Group presents adjusted operating profit and adjusted profit before tax by making adjustmenits for costs and profits which management
believe to be significant by virtue of their size, nature or incidence or which have a distortive effect on current year earnings

Such items would include, but are not limited to, closure costs, costs associated with business combinations, gains and losses on the disposal
of businesses, finance casts relating to prermia on bond buy-backs, fair value movements, exceptional operating costs, impairment of goodwill
and amortisation and impairment of intangible assets ansing on business combinations.

The Board and management team believe these adjusted results, used in conjunction with statutory IFRS results, give a greater insight into
the financial performance of the Group and the way 1t 1s managed. Similarly, adjusted results are used in setting management remuneration.

A description of each adjustment is set out in the Financial Review together with a reconciliation of operating profit to adjusted operating profit.
See note 13 for a reconciliation of adjusted profit before and after tax.

The following represent critical judgements, invelving estimations, that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 1n
the financial statements:

Investment in Euromoney

Following loss of control the Group has also considered factors which may indicate de facte control. The Group has determined that it does
not have de facto control over Euromoney since it cannot block any ordinary resolutions, which cemprise the majority of corporate actions,
has no control over the remuneration of Euromoney’s directors and has no control over Euromoney’s day-to-day operations nor budgets

In addition, the Group has no matenal trading activities or relationships which are critical for Euromoney to carry out its business The Group’s
relationship with Euromoney 1s menitored on an engoing basis to ensure no change inthis assessment.

Forecasting

The Group prepares medium-term forecasts based on Board-approved budgets and up to four-year outiooks These are used to support
judgements made in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements including the recognition of deferred tax assets, going concern
assessment and for the purposes of iImpairment reviews. Longer-term forecasts use long-term growth rates applicable to the relevant businesses

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible or other assets are impaired or whether a reversal of an impairment should be recorded requires
a comparison of the balance sheet carrying value with the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU. The recoverable amount s the higher

of the value in use and fair value less costs to sell.

The value in use calculation requires management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the asset or CGU and calculate
the net present value of these cash flows using a suitable discount rate A key area of jJudgement is deciding the long-term growth rate and
the operating cash flows of the applicable businesses and the discount rate applied to those cash flows (note 21) The carrying amount of
goodwill and intangible assets at the year end was £576.1 million {2016 £1,480 8 million) after a net impairment charge of £213.4 million
(2016 £53 6 million) was recognised durning the year {notes 21 and 22}. The key assumptions used and associated sensitivity analysis 1s shown
1n note 21

The key assumptions used and associated sensitivity analysis in relation to Genscape, Landmark, Hobsons and RMS{one} is show in note 21
and 22
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Acquisitions and intangible assets

The Group’s accounting policy on the acquisition of subsidiaries is to allocate purchase consideration to the fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired with any excess consideration representing goodwill. Determining the fair value of assets,
liabiliies and contingent habilities acquired requires significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to cash flows
and unprovided liabilities and commitments, including in respect to tax, to be used. The Group recognises intangible assets acquired as part
of a business combination at fair value at the date of the acquisition. The determination of these fair values I1s based upon management’s
Judgement and includes assumptions on the timing and amount of future cash flows generated by the assets and the selection of an
appropriate discount rate. Additionally, management must estimate the expected useful economic iives of intangible assets and charge
amortisation on these assets accordingly

Contingent consideration and put options payable

Estimates are required in respect of the amount of contingent consideration and put options payabie on acquisitions, which is determined
according to formulae agreed at the time of the business combination, and normally related to the future earnings of the acquired business.
The Directors review the amount of contingent consideration and put options likely to become payable at each perniod end date, the

major assumption being the level of future profits of the acquired business. The Group has made a provision for outstanding contingent
consideration amounting to £17 million {2016 £52.6 million) and put options payable amounting to £8 million {2016 £44.8 million).

Contingent consideration receivable

Estimates are required In respect of the amount of contingent consideration recejvable on disposals, which is determined according to
formulae agreed at the ime of the disposal and is normally related to the future earmings of the disposed business. The Directers review the
amount of contingent consideration likely to be recevable at each period end date, the major assumption being the level of future profits
of the disposed business. The Group has outstanding contingent consideration receivabie amounting to £0.3 million (2016 £1.4 million).
During the year the Group received £nil {2016 £nil) of previously unrecognised contingent consideration.

Taxation

Being a multinational Group with tax affairs in many geographic locations inherently leads to a highly complex tax structure which makes
the degree of estimation and judgement more challenging. The resolution of 1ssues is not always within the control of the Group and actual
tax liabilhies or refunds may differ from those anticipated due to changes in tax legislation, differing interpretations of tax legislation and
uncertainties surrounding the application of tax legislation. Such i1ssues can take several years to resolve,

The Group accounts for unresolved issues based on its best estimate of the final outcome, however, the inherent uncertainty regarding these
items means that the eventual resolution could differ significantly from the accounting estimates and, therefore, impact the Group’s resuits
and future cash flows In situations where uncertainties exist, provision is made for contingent tax habilities and assets when 1t1s more likely
than net that there will be a cash impact. These provisions are made for each uncertainty individually on the basis of management judgement
following consideratian of the available relevant information. The measurement basis adopted represents the best predictor of the resalution
of the uncertainty which is usually based on the most likely cash outflow. The company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the end
of each reporting peniod and adjusts them based on changing facts and circumstances.

in addition, the Group makes estimates regarding the recoverability of deferred tax assets relating to losses based on forecasts of future
taxable profits which are, by their nature, uncertain. in the US there has been a significant reduction in forecast future profits since March 2017
and accordingly it is no longer estimated that the deferred tax asset in respect of US deferred interest will be recovered in the foreseeable
future. This has resulted in a significant exceptional write off of the deferred tax asset. If the forecast future profits in the US increase in future
periods then the level of the recognised deferred tax asset may increase. Further detall is provided in note 37

Retirement benefit obligations

The cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations prepared by the Group’s actuaries. This involves making
certain assumptions concerning discount rates, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the long-term nature of these plans,
such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The assumptions and the resulting estimates are reviewed annually and, when
appropriate, changes are made which affect the actuarial vaiuations and, hence, the amount of retirement henefit expense recognised in
the Consolidated Income Statement and the amounts of actuanial gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity The carrying amount of the retirement benefit obligation at 30 September 2017 was a surplus of £62.4 million {2016 deficit of
£246.0 million). The assumptions used and the assaciated sensitivity analysis IS given in note 35
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3 Segment analysis

The Group's business activities are split into four operating divisions: RMS, dmg information, dmg events and dmg media These divisions are
the basis on which information 1s reported to the Group’s Chief Cperating Decision Maker, which has been determined to be the Group Board
The segment result is the measure used for the purpaoses of resource allocation and assessment and represents profit earned by each
segment, Including share of results from joint ventures and associates but before exceptional operating costs, amortisation of acquired
intangible assets arising on business combinations, impairment charges, other gains and losses, net finance costs and taxation.

Details of the types of products and services from which each segment derives its revenues are included within the Strategic Report.

The accounting policies applied in preparing the management information for each of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in note 2

Less operating

profiti(loss)

Total and Segment of joint Adjusted
external operating ventures and operating
revenue profit associates profit

Year ended 30 September 2017 Note £m £m £m £m
RMS L a - © 2332 320 _{0.8) 32.8
dmg information o 7 S 530.7 _ 69.2 b 69.1
dmg events o o 117.0 30.6 - 30.6
Euromoney ) o B 95.2 67.3 48.0 19.3
dmgmedia - N . 683.4 99,2 22.0 77.2

1,659.5 298.3 69.3 229.0

Corporate costs - (30.7)
Discontinued operations o N 19,1 {95.2) (67.3) (48.0) {19.3)
1,564.3
Adjusted operating profit {i} 179.0
Exceptional operating costs, impairment of internally generated and
acquired computer software, property, plant and equipment {166.2)
Impairment of goodwill and acquired intangible assets ansing on
business combinations 21,22 (131.7)
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets ansing on business combinations 22 {26.5)
Operating loss before share of results of joint ventures and associates {145.4)
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 7 16.9
Total operating loss {128.5)
Other gains and losses o B 8 14.0
Loss before investment revenue, net finance costs and tax (114.5)
Investment revenue ) ) i o 8 2.5
Net finance costs ) ) . I L (0.3)
Loss before tax {112.3)
Tax 11 [64.T)
Profit from discontinued operations o 19 - 519.3
Profit for the year 342.3

() Revenue and adjusted operating profit relating to the discontinued operaticns of Euromoney have been deducted in order to reconcite
total segment result to Group less before tax from continuing cperations
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3 Segment analysis continued

An analysis of the amortisation and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, exceptional operating costs and impairment of property,
plant and equipment and investment property by segment 1s as follows:

Amortisation of

Amertisation of

intangible assets intangible assets

Impairment of
goodwill and

impairment of

internally

not arising arising on intangible assets generated and Impairment
on i busi arising on busi acquired computer of property, plant
combinations combinations combinations software Exceptional and equipment (i}
{Note 22} {Note 22) (Notes 21,22) {Mote 22}  operating costs {Note 23)
Year ended 30 September 2017 Note £m £m £m £m Em £m
RMS o (17.8) - - - (2.8) -
dmg information (20.6) (26.1) (131.7) (81.4) (26.5) -
dmg events {0.1) [0.2) - - 2.6) -
Euromoney {0.9) (5.4} - - (0.9) -
dmg media o {4.8) (0.2) - {0.3) (8.8) (42.0)
{44,2) (31.9} {131.7) {81.7) (41.6) (42.0)
Corporate costs - - - - (1.8) -
(44.2) (31.9} (131.7) (81.7) (43.4) (42.0)
Relating to discontinued
operatin 19 0.9 5.4 - - 0.9 -
Continuing operations (43.3) {26.5} {131.7) (81.7) (42.5) (42.0)

{1} Following continued declines in the UK printing market the Group has decided to close its Didcot print site, resulting m an impairment

charge of £41.3 million.

The Group’s exceptional operating costs are analysed as follows

Severance Consultancy restru:t?ltrii..:; Claims and

costs charges costs legal fees (i) Tatal
Year ended 30 September 2017 £m £m £m £m fm
RMS ’ i 0.5 (3.3) - (2.8)
dmg information {11.2) (1.9} (0.5) (12.9) (26.5)
dmg events B - - (2.6) {2.6)
Euromoney - - (0.1) - (0.8} (0.9}
dmg media (4.0) - {4.8) - (8.8)
Corporate costs B (1.8) - - - (1.8}
Total and continuing operationsk {16.5) {5.3) (7.9} {13.7) {43.4)
Relating to discontinued operations o - 0.1 - 0.8 0.9
Continuing operations {16.5) (5.21 {7.9) (12.9) (42.5)

The Group’s tax charge includes a related credit of £11.1 million in relation to these exceptional operating costs.

(1) Exceptional charges in the dmg infermation segment include dispute settlements and fees paid to the Group’s lawyers in defence of
various claims brought against businesses in this segment.

The charge relates principally to a claim by Costar Inc, (CoStar} against Xceligent, Inc. (Xceligent) asserting, inter alia, misuse by Xceligent
of CoStar’s intellectual property. Xceligent has filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that CoStar's actions are contrary to a Federal Trade
Commussion (FTC) consent order which was put in place when Xceligent was spun out of CoStar’s acquisition of LoopNet The damages

claimed have not been quantified and the Group has made no provision for any claim.
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An analysis of the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property, research costs, investment revenue, and net
finance costs by segment s as follows:

Depreciation of

property, plant Investment Net finance
and equipment revenue costs
{Note 23) Research costs {Note 9) {Note 10}
Year ended 30 5eptember 2017 Note ] £m £m £m £m
RMS I %) B . ) 0.3 {0.1)
dmg information _ L (10.3) {1.8} 0.5 38.5
dmg events - (0.5) - - -
Euramoney . L (0.8} (2.5} - *(Oﬂ
dmg media ) - L {16.8) (1.4) 1.5 {3.5)
(34.3) (46.0) 2.3 342
Corporate costs ) _ {0.2} - 0.2 (35.2)
(34.5) (46.0) 2.5 {1.0)
Relating to discontinued operations 19 0.8 2.5 - 0.7
Continuing operations (33.7) (43.5) 2.5 {0.3)
Less operating
Total and Segment profit/{ioss) Adjusted
external operating of joint ventures aoperating
revenue profit and associates profit
Year ended 30 September 2016 Note £m fm £m £m
RMS o ) 7 B 205.0 355 {0.5) 36.0
dmg information ) . _ - 498.2 B 76.3 {0.3} 76.6
dmgevents - . ) 1054 29.0 - 29.0
Euromoney 4031 104 3 4.3 100.0
dmg media __ o 7056 56.4 194 70
1,9173 3415 22.9 318.6
Corporate costs B L {1 (41.6)
l?lSCOﬂthE‘d operations 14, (ii) (403 1) (104.3) (43) {100.0}
1,514.2
Adjusted operating profit i} 1770
Exceptional operating costs, impairment of internally generated
and acquired computer software, property, plant and equipment
and Investment property (41.8}
Impairment of goodwill and acquired intangible assets arsing
on business combinations 21,22 (24.9)
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets arising on business
combinations 22 } ) (24 7)
Operating profit before share of results of joint ventures
and associates 856
Share of results of joint ventures and associates T - 49
Total operating profit 90.5
Other gains and losses 8 ~ 1308
Profit before investment revenue, net finance costs and tax 221.3
Investment revenue 9 2.2
Net finarce costs 10 (21.8)
Profit before tax 2017
Tax 11 (189
Profit frem discontinued operations 1% . ) 324
Profit for the year 2142

(i) Included within corporate costs is a credit of £0 9 milbon which adjusts the pensions charge recorded in each operating segment from
a cash rate to the net service cost in accardance with I1AS 19 (Rewised), Employee Benefits

{1} Revenue and adjusted operating profit relating to the discontinued operations of Euromoney businesses have been deducted in order
to reconcile total segment result to Group profit before tax from continuing operations.
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3 Segment analysis continued

An analysis of the amortisation and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, exceptional operating costs and impairment of property,

plant and equipment and investment property by segment is as follows

Impairment of

Amortisation Amortisation goodwitl and
of intangible of intangible intangible assets
assets not arising assets arising arising on Impairment of
on business on business business property, plant
combinations combinati inations Exceptional and equipment
{Note 22) {Note 22) (Notes 21,22) operating costs {Note 23)
Year ended 30 September 2916 Note . £m £m £m £m £m{
RMS B 62} - - (27) i -
dmg information (13.3) {237) - (57 -
dmg events - 07) - oy -
Euromaoney (3.7) (17 6) (28:7) (12 9) ) -
dmg media B ) (4 4) 03] {24.9) (23 8)
{276) {42 3) (53.6) {45 8)
Corporate costs ) - ) - - 87 -
(27.6) {42 3) (53.6) (54.5) {02)
Relating to discontinued operations 19 37 176 287 129 -
Continuing operations (238} 247 {24.9) 41 e) Q0 2)

In Euromoney the impairment charge includes £12.9 million relating te Indaba, £8.2 million to Total Derivatives, £5.9 mullion to Hedge Fund
Intelligence and £1.7 million to Euromoney Indices reflecting the challenging market conditions in the energy and financial sectors and

weakness in the commodity markets

In dmg media the impairment charge of £24.9 million relates to Elite Daily following continued poor performance in that business

The Group's tax charge includes a related credit of £2.8 million in respect of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets.

The Group’s exceptional operating costs are analysed as follows:

Contingent

Supplier consideration

Other entering required to be

Severance Consultancy restructuring voluntary Overseas shown as
costs charges <costs administration sales tax {i) Legal fees (i) remuneration Total
Year ended 30 September 2016 £m . £m £m £m 7£m £m £m £m
_Fé_MS . 127 - - - - - - (2.7
dmg tnformation ) (4.4) 0.9) (0.4) - - - - (5.7)
dmg events (0.5) - (0.4) - - - - - (0.9)
Euromoney (33 0.3} - - (7.9) 14 - (12.9)
dmg media . {9.8) (4_.5) 1.2 {(5.1) - - 13.0) {236)
Corporate costs ) 4.1) {4.5) - - - {0.1) - 87)
Total and continuing operations {24.8) (10.2) (2.0} (5.1} (7.9) (1.5} (30) (54.5)
Relatin_gto discontinued operations 33 a.3 - - 79 1.4 - 129
Continuing operations (21 5) 99) (20) (5.1} - 01} (30} (41.6)

The Group’s tax charge includes a related credit of £15.¢ millien in relation to these exceptional operating costs.

(i) Inthe Euromaney segment the provision for overseas sales tax of £7.9 million relates to a claim by tax authorities in the US which is being
challenged. Exceptional legal fees in Euromoney relate to a legal dispute with the previous owners of Centre for Investor Education.
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An analysis of the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property, research costs, investment revenue, and net
finance costs by segment is as follows:

Depreciation of

property, plant Investment Net finance

and equipment revenue costs

{Note 23) Research costs [Note 9] {Note 10}

Year ended 30 September 2016 Note £m £m £m £m
RMS (66) (28 7) 02 -
dmg information (9.5} . (72 0.2 270
dmg events {0.5) N - - -
Euromoney ) o o (2.8) (83 0.3 {11}
dmg media - o (1.8 {1.8) 1.8 13.5)
(36.2) [46.0} 25 224
(_Zo_[P_orate costs i - - - {45 3)
S 7 {36 2) (46,0)7 o 25 122.9)

Relating to discontinued operations 18 2.8 8.3 03) 11
Continuing operations 133 4) (377) 22 1218)

The Group's revenue comprises sales excluding value added tax, less discounts and commisston where applicable and is analysed as follows:

Year ended Year ended
30 September Year ended 30 September Year ended
Year ended 2017 30 September Year ended 2016 30 September
30 September  Discontinued 2017 30 September Discontinued 2016
2017 operations Continuing 2016 operations Continuing
Total (Note 19} operations Total (Note 19) operations
£m £m £m £m £m £Em
Print advertising 203.6 7.1 196.5 2479 393 208.6
Digital advertising 142.7 2.0 140.7 1316 - 1316
Circulation 307.8 - 307.8 3147 - 314.7
Subscriptions 517.4 63.5 453.9 6232 2324 390.8
Events, conferences and traning 140.9 24.7 116.2 2339 1278 1061
Transactions and other 347.1 (2.1) 349.2 3660 36 3624
1,659.5 95.2 1,564.3 1,917.3 4031 1,514 2

Investment revenue 1s shown m note 9 and finance income in note 10.

Transactions and other within discontinued operations include a £3.8 million foreign exchange loss on forward contracts in the
Euromoney segment.

By geographic area

The majority of the Group’s operations are located in the United Kingdom, North America, rest of Europe, and Australia.

The analysis below 1s based on the location of companies in these regions. Export sales and related profits are included in the areas from
which those sales are made.

Year ended Year ended
30 September Year ended 30 September Year ended
Year ended 2017 30 September Year ended 2016 30 September
30 September Discontinued 2017 30 September Discontinued 2016
2017 operations Continuing 2016 operations Continuing
Total {Note 19) operations Total {Note 19} operations
£m £m £m £m £Em £m
UK - 873.8 309 842.9 10230 1756 & 866.4
N_Qt_’lh_;_&_n?e_rlca_ 615.5 50.6 564.9 714 9 203.4 511.5
Rest of Europe _ 43.0 4.4 38.6 47.6 119 35.7
AUStltalla - - 22.6 0.4 22__2 o 17.5 2.5 15.0
RE§t of the World . o 104.6 o B._9 o 95.7 114.3 28.7 85.6
1,659.5 95.2 1,564.3 1,917.3 4031 1,514.2
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3 Segment analysis continued

The aralysis below is based an the geographic location of customers in these regions.

Year ended Year ended
30 September Year ended 30 September Year ended
Year ended 2017 30 September Year ended 2016 30 September
30 September Discontinued 2017 30 September Discontinued 2016
2017 operations Continuing 2016 operations Continuing
Total {Note 19) operations Total {Note 19) operations
. £m £m £m £m £m £m
UK ) 808.1 9.1 799.0 891.2 i 509 840.3
North America B 557.9 43.9 514.0 638.0 1846 4534
Rest of Europe 155.7 18.6 137.1 193.0 N 730 1200
Australia ] 23.3 2.0 21.3 242 67 175
Rest of the World B 114.5 21.6 92.9 170.9 879 830
1,659.5 95.2 1,564.3 1,917.3 4031 1,514.2
The closing net book value of goodwill, iIntangible assets, property, plant and equipment 1s analysed by geographic area as follows:
Closing net Closing net Closing net Closing net
book value book vatue book value of book value of
of goodwill of goodwill intangible assets intangible assets
(Note 21) {Note 21) {Note 22) (Note 22)
2017 2016 2017 2018
£m £m £m £m
Uk 92.0 2344 47.4 122.5
North America 231.2 687.7 145.7 3454
Rest of Europe ) 25.7 30.2 18.2 25.0
Australia 2.3 5.1 - 1.3
Rest of the World 11.9 24.2 1.7 5.0
363.1 9816 213.0 499.2
Closing net Closing net
book value book value
of property, of property,
plant and plant and
equipment eguipment
{Note 23) {Note 23)
2017 2016
. £m £m
UK o 79.1 132.8
North America 193 366
Rest of Europe B 3.3 38
Australia ) 0.6 07
Rest of the World 1.0 2.2
103.3 176.1
The additions to non-current assets are analysed as follows:
Goodwill Goodwill Intangible assets Intangible assets
{Note 21} [Note 21) {Note 22} {Note 22)
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2017 2016 2017 2016
£m £m £m £m
RMS - - - 141
dmeg information 0.4 24.2 56.7 66 4
dmg events - 16 0.2 1.3
Euromoney - 89 0.5 14.0
dmg media - 44 1.2 5.5
0.4 39.1 58.6 101.3
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Property, plant
and equipment

Property, plant
and equipment

{Note 23) (Note 23)
Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
£m £m
RMS B - 25 22
dmg information o - 10.2 ) 11.2
dmg events N 7 - B - 04 04
Euromoney I o 2.8 _7 o ﬁ
dmg media 47 99
Centrally held T : :QE -
o 21,1 275
4 Operating (loss)/profit analvsis
Operating (loss)/profit before the share of results of jeint ventures and associates is further anatysed as follows.
Year ended Year ended
30 September Year ended 30 September Year ended
Year ended 2017 30 September Year ended 2016 30 September
30 September Discontinued 2017 30 September Discontinued 2016
2017 aperations Continuing 2016 operations Continuing
Totat {Note 19) operations Total (Note 19) operations
Note £m £m £m £m Em £m
Revenue © 71,6595 95.2 1,564.3 1,917 3 203 1 15142
Decrease in stocks of finished goods
and work in progress (4.3) - {4.3) {09) - (0.9)
Raw materials, consumables and direct
event costs (236.8) = {236.8} (317 2) - (317 2)
Inventories recognised as an expense
in the year (241.1) - (241.1) 1318.1) - (318 1)
staff costs {588.3) (38.3) {(550.0) (6820) (143 5) {538.5)
Impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets 21,22 (213.4) - {213.4) {53 &} (287} 24.9)
Amortisation of intangible assets ’
arising on business combinations 22 (31.9} (5.4) (26.5) {42.3) _are 24 7)
Amortisation of :nternally generated
and acguired computer software 22 (44.2) 0.9} (43.3) {27.6) 37 (23 9)
Promoticn and marketing costs (41.9) {1.6} {40.3) {59.2) &4) (52 8)
Venue and delegate costs B (41.6) (8.2) (33.4) (69.8) (40.5} (29 3ﬁ}
Editorial and production costs B {111.0) (3.5} (107.5) {117 3) {11.8) (105.7)
Distnibution and transpeortation costs ~_ (a2.5) {0.6) (41.9) (40.4) {2.5) _ (319
Royalties and simiar charges {51.2) - (51.2) (79 5) - (79.5)
Depreciation of property, plant -
and equipment 23 {34.5) (0.8) {33.7) {36 2 {2 8) 334)
impairment of property, plant )
and equipment 23 {42.0) - (42.0) 0.2 - (0.2)
Rental of property (29.5) - (29.5) (23.2) - (237
Cther property costs (26.9) (3.6} (23.3} 136.6) 133 123 5)
Rental of plant and equipment {22.8) - (22.8) (28 4) - T (284
Foreign exchange translation differences o (0.2} (0.3) 0.1 27 19 0.8
Gther expenses . !;28.9) (19.0) (209.9) (179 2) {93.8} (85 4)
Operating (loss)/profit (132.4) 13.0 (145.4) 126 4 40 8 856
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5 Auditor’s remuneration

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
£m £m
F_e\es payable to the Company’s Aurdw'tor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.3 Q
Fees payable to the Comﬁany’s Audrtor and rts associates for the audit of the Company’s subsidiartes
pursuant to legisiation 7 i 2.6
Audit services provided to all Group compan_ies ) - S R 2.9 7
Audst-related assurance services T ) : 0.5 (E
%ICES relating to tax compliance - : - 0.1
%@atmg to tax adwvisory - - T - - _OT
Euranae sms ) ) T - - 0.3 s
ga'wces relating to corpc;rate finance transactions T - _£
ather non-audit services e 0.1 02
B ' ) e 0.9 08
Total remuneration 3.8 35
6 Employees
The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group including Directors is analysed as follows.
Year ended Year ended
30 Septemb 10 b
017 2016
_ . Note Number Number
AMS L1 106
dwginformation 3172 3,501
dmg events e 39 0 342
Euromoney - 2,192 2,262
dmg media 2,417 2,734
DMGT Board and head office L 56 13
9,945 10,108

li) Represents the average monthly number of persons employed by Euromoney for the period ended 31 December 2016 when Euromoney

ceased to be a subsidiary.

The total average number of persons employed by the Group in the year, for the purposes of calculating an average cost per employee,

is 8,301 {2016 10,108).

Total staff costs comprised:

Year ended Year ended

3@ September 30 September

2017 2016

Note £m £im
Wages and salaries 539.7 6046
Lmare—based payments 42 3.9 166
Social security costs 41.3 59.5

Pension costs } 35 13.3 15.3

604.2 696.0
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7 Share of resulits of joint ventures and associates

Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

Nate £m £m
EESmedstea Ope;athg_ilosé_és)[p@ti}im o_pératlons of joint ventures (0.1) 06
Share of aidjustea’opeiratmg profits from cperations of associates 10} 68.6 18.0

Share of profits before exceptional cperating costs, amortisation, impairment of goodwill,

interest and tax - 68.5 18.6
Share of exceptional operating costs of 2ssociates - (6.7} (31)
Share of amortisation of intangibles ansing on business combinations of joint ventures (0.1} -
Share of amortisation of intangibles ansing on business conﬁ)]na%ﬁs of associates o {17.1) (4‘8)_
Share of associates’ interest payable o (4.5) 7(1.11
Share of jcint ventures’ tax o 11,13 - o (0.3)
Share of associates’ tax T 11,13 {5.2) ﬂ(l@
Share of iImpairment of intangibles arising en business combinations of associates 7 13 (13.7) T
lmpalrn;ent of carrying value of joint ventures 13-, E, (ll)_ - “GS)Y —(0_)
IHpa|rFr17ent of carr;mg value of associates 13,24, (m] L __(1.61__ 7(1;)
- S 16.9 Y

Share of associates’ items of other comprehensive income (9.7) -
Share of Fsultgg)fjon:t ventures and associates 72 29
Share of results from operations 6fjoint ventures 7 7625 03
Share of results from operétl&‘lg of associates 21.4 . _E o
Impairment of carryunéﬁfqgoijmg; ventures (3.3) oy
Impairment of carrying value of associates (1.0) {13)

T B 16.9 4.9

Share of assaciates’ items of other comprehensive income o {9.7) -

Share of results of joint ventures and associates ' ' 7.2 4.9

(I} Share of adjusted operating profits from associates includes £47.2 million from the Group’s interest in Euromoney and £24 7 mullion

{2016 £21.4 million) from the Group’s interest in ZPG Plc in the dmg media segment

{n} Represents a £3 0 million write-down in the carrying value of Knowlura in the dmg information segment and a £0 3 million write-down
in the carrying value of Artirnix n the dmg media segment. In the prior period, represents a write-down in the carrying value of Mail Today

Newspapers Pte Ltd in the dmg media segment

{Th) Represents a £0 5 million write-down in the carrying value of Carspring in the dmg media segment and £0.5 million write-down in the
carrying value of iProf Learning Solutions in the dmg information segment. In the prior period, represents a write-down 1n the carrying

value of Spaceway Storage Services UK Ltd in the dmg media segment.
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8 Other gains and losses

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
1 2016
Note £m £m
Rawment of available-for-sale assets 13,25 (D.S)n
Hyairment of held-for-sale-assets 25 {4.1)
ﬁit on disposal of property, piant and equipment 13 - 05
(L?s)/‘proflt on sale and closure of businasses B 13,18, (1) {6.5) 66 4
Recycled cumulative translation differences ) ) 13, 18, 39, 40, {ii) 4.7 06
Gamn on dilution of stake in associate ) 24 (i) 18.0 -
Gainﬁonr change in control ’ ‘ 13 () - 135
Profit on d|spo-sal of joint ventures and assbciates T ) 13, (v) 2.4 ) H
- ' 14.0 1308

There 15 a tax charge of £0.2 million in relation to these other gains and losses {2016 £3 5 million).

{

Principally relates to a £6.2 millien profit on disposal of Elite Daily in the dmg media segment offset by a loss of £6 5 million representing
an adjustment to the net assets sold with Wowcher in the dmg media segment and a loss of £4.4 miilion on sale of various businesses
In the Education sector in the dmg information segment.

In the prior year this principally relates 1o a £60.5 million profit on disposal of Wowcher in the dmg media segment, £5.3 milhon profit
on sale of Gulf Publishing and £1 7 million profit on sale of The Petroleum Economist both in the Euromoney segment.

Represents cumulative translation differences required to be recycled through the income statement on disposals

During the year ZPG Plc (ZPG) placed 5 0% of its1ssued share capital to part fund the acquisition of Hometrack.co.uk Ltd. The Greup did
not participate in this placing and accordingly the Group’s stake in ZPG was diluted. In accordance with |1AS 28, Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures, the dilution in the Group’s share of ZPG has been treated as a deemed disposal. The carrying value of the investment
has increased resulting in a gain on dilution.

During the prior period, the Group increased its interests in Dailymail.com Australia Pty Ltd in the dmg media segment and Instant
Services AG, The Petrochemical Standard Inc and Ochresoft Technologies Ltd, in the dmg information segment and obtained control
In accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations, the difference between the fair value of these investmenits and their carrying value
at the date control passed to the Group 1s been treated as a gain during the relevant period.

Principally relates to the disposal of the Group's holding in Fortunegreen, Spaceway Storage Services in the dmg media segment and
Clipper Data. During the prior period, this principally retates to the disposal of the Group’s 38.7% equity stake in Local World Holdings Ltd,
held by the dmg media segment.

9 Investment revenue

Year ended Year ended

30 b 30 Sep
2017 2016
£m Em
Dividend income 0.1 ~
Interest recevable from short-term deposits 1.0 0.4
Interest receivable on loan notes ) 7 1.4 18
2.5 2.2
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Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

Note £m £m

Interest, arrangement and commitment féé&yable qubonds, bank loans and loan notes - if o (37.2) (375)
Loss on derivatives, or portions thereof, not ci_é3|gnajed for hedge accounting 4& T (1.5
Finance charge on defined benefit pension sc_h_er_nes 13,3 (4.9} o 4.6)
Change in fair value of derivative hedge of bond ) 6 {4.7) IEE!
Change in fair value of hedged portion of bond o . 16 4.7 (2.3)
Finance charge on discounting of contingent consideration payable B - 36, (1) - o1
Fair value movement of undesignated financial instruments T o 13 - (54)
Finance costs {43.8) 145 1)

Falr';riglue moﬂemenf@ptingent consideration payable 13,36,(1) 28.6 12.3

Fair value movement of undesignated financial instruments o 13 7.5 -

Change in present value of aég@smonpimioptlons ) 13,34 T.4 150

Finance mcome 43.5 273
Net finance costs o (0.3) (21 8)

{i} The fair value movement of contingent consideration anises from the requirement of IFRS 3, Business Combinations, to measure such

consideration at fair vatue with changes in fair value taken to the income Statement

The finance iIncome/charge on the discounting of contingent consideration arises from the unwinding of the discount following the
requirement under IFRS 3, Business Combinations, to record contingent consideration at fair value using a discounted cash flow approach.

11 Tax
Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m £m
The charge on the profit for the pertod consists of - -
o ) s
Corporation tax at 19 5% (2016 20 0%) - _ [o.&)
Amstme}it—s in respect of prior years - 0.3 (19)
- 0.3 (2.5)
Overseas tax N L L
Corporation tax - o _ (12.0) (330)
Adjustments in respect of prior years - 0.8
o (12.0) (32.2)
Total current tax {11.7) (34.7)
Deferred tax _ 37 . 7
Ongination and reversals of temperary differences (62.4} {12.0}
Adjustments in respect of prior years ) 5.4 14.0
Tetal deferred tax (57.0} 2.0
Total tax charge (68.7} (327}
Relating to discontinued eperations. o 19 4.0 128
} {64.7) {19.9)

121

SIUaLIFNeIS jeIaueUly



Financial Statements

Financial Statements
Notes to the accounts

11 Tax continued

In the March 2016 Budget the UK Government announced plans to introduce new rules with effect from 1 April 2017 which would restrict the
deducubility of net interest costs and restrict the amount of tax losses that can be cifset against taxable profits to 50% of those losses The
proposed changes were substantively enacted after the balance sheet date in Novemnber 2017 and therefore their effects are not included in
these financial statements. If the changes had been substartively enacted by the balance sheet date, they would have had no matenal effect
on the deferred tax assets and deferred tax expense.

The current and deferred tax implications of Brexit on the Group have been considered by management and are not expected to have any
matenal impact

A deferred tax credit of £49.3million (2016 £6.4 milhon charge) relating to the actuarial movement on defined benefit pension schemes and
a deferred tax credit of £mil (2016 £1.4 million) relating to derivative financial instruments were recognised directly in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive income. A deferred tax charge of £0.4 million (2016 credit of £1.4 million) and a current tax credit of £nil

{2016 £5.4 million} were recognised directly in equity (notes 39 and 40.

Legislation was passed in November 2015 to reduce the UK corporation tax rate from 20.0% to 19.0% from 1 April 2017, A further 2.0%
reduction was enacted in September 2016. UK deferred tax balances therefore have been measured at 17.0% as this 1s the tax rate that will
apply on reversal unless the timing difference is expected to reverse before Apni 2020, in which case the appropriate tax rate has been used.

The tax charge for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.5% {2016 20.0%) representing the weighted
average annual corporate tax rate for the fuil financial year. The differences are explained below

Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

Note £m £m

Ljoss before tax - continuing operations - ) {112.3) ) 20L 7
Profit before tax - discontinued gperations 523.3 452

Total profit befare tax B ) 411.0 2469
Tax on profit on ordinary activities at the standard rate _(80.1) (49 4)

Effect of: ) ) B

Amortisation and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (28.4) {79)
Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes ) 0.4 01)

Additional items deductible for tax purposes i i - 7.7 170
Derecognition of previously recognised deferred tax assets ) (109.9) {302
Effect of overseas tax rates o ) 7 ) 21.6 i (05}
Effect of associates B 4.5 0.8
Unrecognised tax losses utilised 7.7 01
Write off/disposal of subsidiaries ) 102.3 E
Effect of change in tax rate 7 B 7 ) (0.2) (2.4)

Adjustment in respect of prior years i i 5.7 7 12.9

Other (0.1) 1.8
Total tax charge on the profit for the year 13 68.7 {327)

The net prior year credit of £5 7 million {2016 £12.9 million) arose largely from a reassessment of temporary differences.

Additional items deductible for tax purposes of £77 million (2016 £17.0 millien) primarily relate to financing arrangements that result
In asymmetrical tax treatments in the territories involved. Some of these are expected to recur in the short term.
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Adjusted tax on profits before amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, restructuring costs and non-recurning rtems (adjusted tax
charge) amounted to a charge of £29.0 miliion (2016 £37 4 million) and the resulting rate 1s 12 8% (2016 14 4%,). The differences between the
tax charge and the adjusted tax charge are shown in the reconciliation below:

Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

Note £m £m

Total tax charge on the profit for the year ) _(88.7) 132.7)
Share of tax in Joint ventures and assoclates o 7,19 (4.9) i (2.5)
Deferred tax on intangible assets o o _ {29.6) {12 0}
Reassessment of temporary differences ) 7 i 108.9 240
Tax an other adjusting items N (34.7} 114 2}
Ad|usted tax charge on the profit for the year 13 (29.0) (374)

In caiculating the adjusted tax rate, the Group excludes the potential future impact of the deferred tax effects of intangible assets (other than
internally generated and acquired computer software), as the Group prefers to give users of its accounts a view of the tax charge based on the
current status of such items, Deferred tax would only crystallise on a sale of the relevant businesses, which is not anticipated at the current
time, and such a sale, being an exceptional item, would result in an exceptional tax impact

Reassessment of temporary differences includes a net charge of £100.4 million (2016 £31.4 million] relating to the derecognition of overseas
tax losses and a net charge of £8 5 million (2016 credit of £9 7 million) relating to the derecognition of UK tax losses which are treated as
exceptional due to their distortive impact on the Group’s adjusted tax charge

Uncertain tax positions

At 30 September 2017 the Group's 48.9% associate, Euromoney held provisions for uncertain tax of £10.2 million (30 September 2016

£12 5 million} relating to permanent establishment risk and challenges by tax authorities. The maximum potential additional exposure to
Euromoney In relation to challenges by tax authorities not provided for is approximately £28.0 million if all cases were to be settled at their
maximum potential liability. These additional exposures include challenges by: the Canadian Revenue Agency ('CRA’) on a foreign currency
trade in 2009, which has a maximum exposure of £20 0 millien; and the UK’s HMRC on a share-for-share exchange with Euromoney’s
investment in Dealogic, which has a maximum exposure of £11.0 million of which £2 8 million has been provided On 23 October 2017, the
CRA issued a Notice of Reassessment to BCA Research Inc ('BCA') based on the CRA view that the loss sustained by BCA on an intra-group
derivative transaction cannot be deducted in computing income, We are confident that we will be able to set aside these reassessments

through the normal itigation process, which has already begun Nonetheless, BCA is obligated either to pay one-half of the consequential tax 3
owing or to provide security for payment satisfactory to the CRA. E
.. . o
12 Dividends paid s
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended %
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 3
2017 2017 2016 2016 [
S L Pence p_e_rfhare £m I'-fence per share £m E,
Amounts recognisable as distributions te equity holders in the year - e S
Ordinary Shares - final dividend for the year ended 30 September 2016 15.3 3.0 - -
A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares - final dividend for the year ended 30 September 2016 15.3 50.9 - -
Ordinary Shares - final dividend for the year ended 30 September 2015 - - 14.9 3.0
A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares - final dvidend for the year ended 30 September 2015 - - 14.5 49.7
53.9 52.7
Ordinary Shares - interim dividend for the year ended 30 September 2017 6.9 1.4 - -
A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares - intenim dividend for the year ended
W?[ 2017 - o _ o ___6.9 o 23.0 B - -
Ordinary Shares - interim dividend for the year ended 30 September 2016 - €7 13
A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares - intenim dividend for the year ended
30 September 2016 o - - 6.7 N 224
24.4 23.7
78.3 76 4

The Board has declared a final dividend of 15.8 pence per Ordinary/A Crdinary Non-Voting Share {2016 15.3 pence) which will absorb an
estimated £55.8 million {2016 £55.4 million) of shareholders’ equity for which no liability has been recognised in these financial statements.
It will be paid on 9 February 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 8 December 2017.
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13 Adjusted profit
Year ended Year ended
0 ! S
1017 2016
Note £m £m
{Loss)/profit before tax - continuing operations i 3 {112.3) 2017
Profit before tax - discontinued operations 19 14.0 45.2
Profit 6}1 disposal of discontinued operations including recycled cumulative translation differencgs 19 509.3 -
Adjus;foiri -
Amaortisation of intangibie assets in Group profit, including joint ventures and associates,
arising on business cormbinations B 3,7,19 50.3 51.5
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations 3,18 1317 53.6
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations of joint ventures
and associates - 7 13.7 -
_E-xceptronal operating costs, impairment of internally generated and acquired computer software,
property, plant and equipment 3,19 167.1 54.7
Share of exceptional operating costs of joint ventures and associates 7,19 6.7 - 3.5
Impairment of carrying value of joint ventures and associates 7 4.3 15
Other gains and losses: ' W_ ~ a
Impairment of available-for-sale assets 8 0.5 -
Impairment of held-for-sale-assets . 8 4.1 -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment S 8 __ - {0 5)
Profit on disposal of businesses, j;)lnt ventures, associates, change of control and recycled
cumulative transtation differences L 8,19 (21.0) (1374)
Profit on disposal of discontinued L;E'atlons including recycled cumulative translation differences 19 {509.3) -
Finance costs: T - }
Finance charge on defined benefit peHSIon schemes _ } 10 4.9 46
Fair value movements including share of joint ventures and assoctates 1), 10, 19 (42.8) (21 3)
Tax: B N
Share of tax in joint ventures and associates 7, 11 4.9 25
Adjusted profit before tax and n;n-l:ontl'olliﬂg interests B 226.1 259.6
Total tax charge on the profit for the year . 11 (68.7) (327)
Adjust for: o
Share of tax in joint ventures and assoclates ) 7 (4.9} {2 5)7
Detferred tax on intangible assets 11 [29.6) i (12‘0)_
Reassessment of temporary differences 11 108.9 24,0
Tax on other ad)usting items (34.7) (14.2)
Nan-controlling interests (i} (0.8) (24 4)
Adjusted profit after taxation and non-controlling interests 196.3 1978

{i} Fair value movements include movements en undesignated financial instruments, contingent consideration payable and receivable and

change in value of acquisition put options.

{11} The adjusted non-controlling interests’ share of profits for the year of £0 8 million {2016 £24.4 million} is stated after elminating a charge

of £3.8 million (2016 £14.4 million), being the non-controlling interests’ share of adjusting items.
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14 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share of 97 8 pence (2016 57.8 pence} and diiuted earnings per share of 96.2 pence (2016 56 4 pence) are calculated,
in accordance with IAS 33, Earnings per share, on Group profit for the financial year of £345.3 mullion (2016 £204.2 million) as adjusted

for the effect of dilutive Ordinary Shares of £0.1 million {2016 £0 9 million) and earnings from discontinued operations of £519.3 million
(2016 £32.4 million) and on the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in 1ssue during the year, as set out below

As in previous years, adjusted earnings per share have also been disclosed since the Directors consider that this alternative measure gives

a more comparable indication of the Group’s underlying trading performance. Adjusted earnings per share of 55.6 pence (2016 56 Q pence)

are calculated on profit for continuing and discontinued cperations before exceptional operating costs, impairment of goodwill and intangitle
assets, amortisation of intangible assets arising on business combinations, other gains and (osses and exceptional financing costs after
taxatian and nan-controliing interests associated with those profits, of £196 3 million (2016 £197.8 million}, as set out in note 13 and on the
basic weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in 1ssue during the year.

Basic and diluted carnings per sharc:

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September

2017 2016 2017 2016

Diluted earmings  Diluted earnings Basic earnings Basic earnings

£m £m £m £m

{Losses)/earnings from continuing operations o o (174.0) 171.8 {174.0) 171.8
Effect of dilutive Ordinary Shares L 7 ) {0.1) {09} - -
Earnings from discontinued operations o 519.3 324 519.3 324
345.2 2033 345.3 204.2

Adjusted earrings from continuing and d_lgcé)ntmuet-i operatlorjs:’ ) 196.3 157 8 196.3 1978
Effect of dilutive Ordinary Shares L {0.1) (0.9) - -
196.2 196 & 196.3 197.8

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September

2017 2016 2017 2016

Diluted Diluted Basic Basic

pence pence pence pence

per share per share per share per share

{Losses)/earnings per share from continuing operations (48.5) 47.6 {49.3) 48.6
Effect of dilutive Ordinary Shares - _ {0.2) - -
Earnings per share from discontinued operations 144.8 9.0 147.1 9.2
Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations 96.3 56.4 97.8 57.8
Adjusted earnings per share from continuing and discontinued c-Jpgr;a_tl_or]S i .j.:,_..___ 54,7 54.9 55.6 - 560
Effect of dilutive Ordinary Shares S - {02} - -
Adjusted earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations 54.7 54.7 55.6 56.0

The weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in 1ssue during the year for the purpose of these caiculations i1s as follows

Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

Number Number

m m

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue e o o - 3821 3624
Own shares held i L {9.0} . 20
Basic earnings per share denominator . 353.1 3534
Effect of dilutive share options ) o 5.5 72
Dilutive earnings per share denominator 358.6 606
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15 EBITDA and cash generated by operations

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Continuing operations T o )
Adjusted operating profit 3 179.0 1770
Non-exceptional depreciation charge 3,19 33.7 334
Amortisation of internally generated and acquired computer software . - 3,22 43.3 239
Operating profits from joint ventures and associates - - o I 68.5 185
Share of charge of depreciation and amortisation of internally gen;arated and acquired co?puter T T
software of joint ventures and associates 4.0 -
Dividend income o . I s 0.1 -
Discontinued operations S - B -
Adjusted operating profit 1% - 19.3 100.0
Non-exceptional depreciation charge o B . 1 0.8 2.8
Amortisation of internally generated and acquired computer software o 13 09 -
Share of profits from operations of joint ventures and associates 19 0.8 ~ _ 43
EBITDA 350.4 3637
Adjustments for: -
Share-based payments 39, 40 4.1 160
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 04
Pension charge less than cash contributions 3 - 09
Share of profits from joint ventures and associates 7,19 (69.3) (22 9)
Exceptional operating costs 3 (43.4) (54.5)
Dividend income 9 (0.1) -
Share of depreciation charge of joint ventures and associates (4.0)7 -
Decrease in Inventories o 3.6 ’ 42
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 8.0 ui.z)
Increase In trade and other payables o . 0.4- 5.6
Decrease In provisions 7 ” o {3.9) 2.4
Additional payments into pension schemes o R ) {13.1) (3.0
Cash generated by operations ) T 232.7 2610
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Fair value
At hedging Foreign Other At
310 September adjustments exchange non-cash 30 September
2016 Cash flow Note 10 ents ts (i) 2017
Note im £m im £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 29 257 (11 2} - 01 - 14.6
Bank overdrafts 28,33 823 g8 - 01 - - (7.21
Net cash and cash equivalents 17.5 (10 3} - 02 - 7.4
Debt due within one year ) B ) _ )
Loan notes 33 (2.4} 0.6 - - - (1.8}
Finance lease obligations 33 {0.4) 0.2 - - {0.2) (0.4)
Debt due after one year
Bonds 33 {425.3) - 47 - (2.9) {423.5)
Bank loans 33 (267.7} 2249 B (35 - (46.3)
Finance lease obligations 33 (0.7} 05 - - {03} {0.5)
Net debt before effect
of derivatives (675 0) 2158 47 (33} (34) {465.1)
Effect of derivatives on debt fu) {16 8) {6 6) (47 144 - {13.7)
Collateral deposits 28 171 12.6) - - - 14.5
Net debt at closing exchange rate (678 7} 2067 - 111 (3.4 (464.3)
Net debt at average exchange rate o _@3 9)__ T (482.2)

The net cash outflow of £10.3 million (2016 £18.3 million) includes a cash outflow of £45.8 million (2016 £26.1 million) in respect of operating

exceptional items.

() Other non-cash movements compnse the unwinding of band issue discount amecunting to £2.6 million (2016 £2.5 million), amortisation
of bond 1ssue costs of £0 3 million {2016 £0.3 million}, accrued collateral payments of £ril (2016 £3 0 million) together with the inception
of new finance leases of £0.5 million (2016 £0 & million)

(i) The effect of derivatives on debt 1s the net currency gain or loss on derivatives entered into with the intention of economically converting
the currency borrowings inte an alternative currency.
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17 Summary of the effects of acquisitions

On 22 February 2017, the dmg events segment acquired 100% of the assets refating to the Coatings for Afnica Sympasium and Expo (CFA}
for total consideration of £0.2 millan The Coatings for Africa Show is a biennial trade show held in Johannesburg, South Africa for paints,
wallpaper and lacquer industry sectors.

CFA contributed £nil to the Group’s revenue, Frul to the Group’s operating profit and £nil to the Group's profit after tax for the penod between
the date of acquisition and 30 September 2017

If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial period, CFA would have contributed £nil to the Group's revenue,
£nil to the Group's operating profit and £nil to the Group’s adjusted profit after tax.

On 12 September 2017, the dmg information segment acquired 100% of the assets of Cerulean Analytics (CA) for total consideration
of £0.9 miillion. CA offers a web-based, interactive scftware platform used to monitor collateralised lean obligation performance

CA contributed £nil to the Group’s revenue, £nil to the Group’s operating profit and £nil to the Group's profit after tax for the peried between
the date of acquisition and 30 September 2017.

If the acguisition had been completed on the first day af the financial period, CA would have contnbuted £nil to the Group’s revenue,
£rul to the Group’s operating profit and £nil to the Group’s adjusted profit after tax.

Provisional fair value of net assets acquired with al) acquisitions:

CFA CA Total
Note £m £m £m
éoodwﬂl i - 7 21,01 ST ) 0.4 - E]ti_
LTtanglble assets 7 22 02 0.5 O‘i
G;oup share of net assets acquired B 0.2 0.9 1.1
Cost of acquisitions:
CFA cA Total
Note £m £m £m
Es_ﬁ paid in current year 02 03 a.5
_Citlngent consideration 7 ) 36, () ) - 06 0.6
Total consideration at fair value 0.2 0.9 1.1

(1} The amount of goodwill which is deductible for the purposes of calculating the Group's tax charge is £nil.

Goodwill arising on these acquisitions 1s principally attributable to the anticipated profitability relating to the distribution of the Group's
products in new and existing markets and anticipated operating synergies from the business combinations.

The contingent consideration recognised during the period is based on future business valuations and profit multiples and has been
estimated using available data forecasts. Itis expected to fall due as follows: £0.1 million within one year, £0.1 million between one and
two years and £0.4 milllon between two and five years,

i

The estimated range of undiscounted outcomes for contingent consideration relating to acquisitions in the year 1s £nil to £1.1 million.

The contingent consideratien has been discounted back to current values in accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations. In each case,
the Group has used acquisition accounting to account for the purchase.

All of the companies acquired during the period contributed £nil to the Group’s revenue and £nil to the Group’s profit after tax for the period
between the date of acquisition and 30 September 2017.

Acquisition-related costs, amounting to £0.2 million, are charged against profits for the period in the Consolidated income Statement.

If all acquisitions had been completed on the first day of the period, Group revenues for the period would have been £1,564.3 million and
Group profit attributable to equity holders of the parent would have been a profit of £357.1 million, This information takes into account the
amortisation of acquired intangible assets together with related income tax effects but excludes any pre-acquisition finance costs and should
not be viewed as indicative of the resuits of operations that would have occurred if the acquisitions had actuaily been completed on the first
day of the period.
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Purchase of additional shares in controlled entities:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 3D September
2017 2016
. £im £m
Cash consideration 2.1 0.2
During the year, the Group acquired additional shares in controlied entities amounting to £2.1 million (2016 £0.2 million).
Reconciliation to purchase of subsidiaries as shown in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement:
Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Nate £m £m
Cash consideration L 0.5 374
Cash paid to settle contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions. o 36, (1) 8.2 0.3
Cash paid to settle acquisition put options B o 18.0 -
Cash and cash equivalents acquired with subsidiaries o - (8.2)
Purchase of subsidiaries 26.7 295

{1} Cash paid to settle centingent consideration in respect of acquisitions includes £7 5 million {2016 £0.3 million) within the dmg information

segment, £0 2 million {2016 £nil} within the dmg events segment and £0.5 million {2016 £} in the Euromoney segment.

18 Summary of the effects of disposals

On 8 December 2016, the Group announced its intention te reduce its holding in Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC (Euromaney) by the

sale of approximately 32.3 million shares in Euromoney. The sale compnsed two parts:
(1 aplacing and

{(n} abuy-back by Euromoney and subsequent cancellation of the bought-back shares.

The effect of the sale was to reduce the Group’s holding from 67 9% of Euromoney’s issued share capital to 49.9% after which Euromoney

ceased to be a subsidiary and 1s accounted for as an associate.

Following loss of control the Group has also considered factors which may indicate de facto control. The Group has determined that it does
not have de facto control over Euromoney since it cannot block any ordinary resolutions, which comprise the majority of corporate actions,
has no control over the remuneration of Euromaney’s directors and has no control over Euromoney’s day-to-day operations nor budgets.

tn addition, the Group has no matenial trading activities or relationships which are critical for Eurcmoney to carry out its business The Group's

relationship with Euromoney 1s monitored on an ongeing basis to ensure no change in this assessment,

0On 1 February 2017, the dmg information segment disposed of the assets in Beat the GMAT (BTG) for consideration of £0.4 mullion.

On 17 April 2017, the dmg media segment disposed of the assets and brand of Elite Daily for total consideration of £7.2 million.

On 29 September 2017, the dmg information segment disposed of the Adrmissions software business. The consideration received comprised

a£15 7 million 2.0% loan note.
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18 Summary of the effects of disposals continued
The impact of the disposal of businesses completed during the period on net assets is as follows:

Prior year Adjustment
assets held on sale of
forsaie  assets held
disposed in for sale in

Euromoney BTG  Elite Daily Admissions Other Sub Total currentyear currentyear Total
Note £Em £m £m £m £im £m £m £m £im
Goodwil 22 4338 12 - 5.4 02 4406 40 - 4446
intangible assets 22 147.7 0.2 - 106 26 161.1 - - 1811
Property, plant and equipment 23 127 - - 07 E 134 - - 134
Investments in joint ventures 24 0.2 - - - - 02 - - 02
Investments in associates 24 29.8 - - - - 29.8 o - 298
Available-for-sale mvestm_ent:c, 25 _ 58 - - - - 5.8 - - 58
Tr_a(:ieiaf;d other recewables i 1412 0l - 114 06 153.3 02 0.2 1537
Dinﬁtlve financial assets ) 04 - - - - o4 - - 04
Cash and cash equivalents 320 - - - - 32.0 - - 320
Trade and other payables _ (26.) - - (11.8)  (1L0) (253.0) (4.4 05 {262.9)
Current tax payable ) 119 - - - - Ly - - (L9
@;vatlve financial habilities (2.9) - - - - {9.9) - - (9.9}
Retirement benefit obligations 35 {11} - - - - (1) - - 01
Provisions 36 (2.4) - - - (01} {3.5) - - 35)
Deferred tax babilities L {106) - - - - {08 - - {106
Treasury shares o 39 141 - - - - 141 - - 141
Net assets/({liabilities)disposed 534.6 1.5 - 16.3 2.3 554.7 {0.2) 0.7 555.2
Non-controlling interest share of net
assets disposed } 40 (171 1) - - - - (171.1) - - (171 13
Galh on remeasurement of retained
Interest in Euromoney . 3574 - - - - 3574 - - 3574
Profit on sale of businesses including
recycled cumulative exchange differences 1518 (0.8} 62 0.8 (8.0 150.1 - 2.4 1525
B © 8128 0.7 6.2 171 (s7) 8911 {0.2) 3.1 894.0
Satisfied by:
Cash received 2528 01 22 - 2551 0.6 255.7
Directly attributable casts paid ] R (L.0) 32) - 78 ) oL (7.9)
Deferred consideration B - 0.3 - - - 03 24 2.7
Fair value of available-for-sale investment
n BDG Media inc. 25 - - 3.4 - - 34 - 34
Fair value of associate investment 7
In Euromoney retained 1,24 6131 - - - - 6131 - 6131
@}company loan forgiven 64.5 - - - - 64.5 - §4.5
Loan notes ) - - 16 157 - 13 - 13
Wiol’_kl;'lg capital adjustment ’ - - - - 54 (53 } - {5.3)
Recﬁgd cumulative translation o
differences 39 (54.1) 04 ~ 4.6 0.3 {45 4) - {49 4)
872.8 0.7 6.2 17.1 {57) 8911 2.9 894.0
(i) This was measured in accordance with IFRS 10, as the fair value of this listed investment 1s quoted in an active market.
Recanciliation to disposal of businesses as shown in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement:
Year ended Year ended
30 b 30 Septemb
2017 2016
£m £m
Cash consideration net of disposal costs 2418 39.5
Cash and cash equivalents disposed with subsidiaries (32.0) -
Praceeds on disposal of businesses 215.8 395
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In addition, the Group's Interest in Euromoney, before Euromoney ceased to be a subsidiary undertaking, was diluted during the period by
0.1%, Under the Group’s accounting policy for the disposal of shares in controiled entities, no adjustment has been recorded to the fair value
of assets and liahilities already held on the Condensed Censelidated Statement of Financial Position. The difference between the Group’s
share of net assets before and after this dilution is adjusted in retained earnings. The adjustment to retained earnings in the period was

a charge of £0.3 million {2016 £0.1 muilion),

The Groug’s tax charge includes £4.4 million in relation to these disposals.

All of the businesses disposed of during the period generated £15.6 million of the Group’s net operating cash ftows, paid £3.0 million
In investing activities and paid £0.8 millian in financing activities.

Proceeds from redemption of preference share capital

During the prior period the Group received £14.4 million relating to preference share capital following the prior year sale of Capital DATA Ltd
in the Euromoney segment,

19 Discontinued operations

On 8 December 2016, the Group announced its intention to reduce its holding in Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC (Euromoney) to 48.9%
by a sale of approximately 32.3 mitlion shares in Euremoney. The sale comprised two parts:

i} aplacing and
{n) a buy-back by Euromoney and subseguent cancellation for the bought-back shares.

The effect of the sale was to reduce DMGT’s holding from 67.9% of Euromoney’s issued share capital to 49.9% after which Euromoney ceased
to be a subsidiary and 1s accounted for as an Associate The results of Euromoney up to the point of disposal are included in discontinued
operations for the current perod.

The Group’s Consolidated Income Statement includes the following results from discontinued operations:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Revenue B 3 952 403.1
Expenses . {74.2} (296.6)
Depreciation T 3 {0.8} {2.8)
Amortisation of intangible assets no{ arsing on business combinations 3 (0.9} 3.7
Adjusted operating profit B 3 19.3 _1oo.o
Exceptional aperating costs o o ’ 3,13 {0.9} (12.9)
Impairment of goodwill énd in{énglble assets o o 3 - (28 7)
Amortisation of intangible assets ansing on husiness combinations o - 3,13 {5.4) (1@
Operating profit before share of results of joint ventures and associates 13.0 40.8
Share of adjusted operating pro_f_\g from operations of joint ventures and associates 0.8 4.3
Share of exceptional operating costs of associates o o o - 10.4)
Share of impairment of intangibies arsing on business combinations of associates 13 = [0.1)
Share of amortisation of |ntang|btesér[5|}1g on business combimations of associates 13 {1.2) (4.4)
Share of Interest péyabte of associates o {0.6) (2.1)
Share of tax in associates . o 13 0.3 08
Total operating profit o 12.3 389
Other gans and losses 13 2.4 71
Profiﬂ)j(;re net finance costs and tax ) 13 14.7 45,0
Investment revenue o o - 0.3
Interest, arrangement and co_mmltmeTWQs payable on bonds, bank loans and lean notes ) - (©5)
Change in present value of acqusition put options (0.7) (0.6}
Finance costs - . o7y 1y
Profit before tax . - o 140 45.2
Tax charge i o o . 11 (4.0) {12 8}
Profit after tax attributable to discontinued operations 10.0 32.4
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations - 13,18 563.4 -
;q:cléd cumulative translation differences on disposal of discontinued operations . 13,18 {54.1) B
Profit attributable to discontinued operations 519.3 324

During the period as a subsidiary undertaking Euromeney generated £15.3 milien (2016 £87 1 millon) of the Group’s net operating cash
flows, paid £3.0 million (2016 received £6 1 million} in respect of mvesting actiaities and pard £0 8 million (2016 £10.5 million) in respect

of financing actvities
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20 Total assets and iiabilities of businesses held for sale

At 30 September 2017, the assets and liatulities held for sale principally relate to EDR and Hebsons Solutions, both of which are included

in the dmg information segment. The main classes of assets and liabilities comprising the operations classified as held-for-sale are set out

in the table below. These assets and liabilities are recorded at their fair value with all losses taken to the Consolidated Income Statement.
The impairment charge recorded in the period in relation to these assets and liabilities amounted to £6.5 million, of which £2 4 mitlion relates
to goodwilt and intangible asset impairment and £4.1 million relates to impairment of other net assets (note 8)

During the prior year, the assets and labilities held for sale principally related to Euromaney indices, HedgeFund Inteligence and the assets
of Il Searches, all within the Euromoney segment. The main classes of assets and liabilities comprising the operations classified as held-for-
sale are set cut in the table below. These assets and liabilities were recorded at their fair value with all losses taken to the Conschdated
Income Statement.

At At

30 September 30 September

2017 2016
) Note £m £m

Goodwill ) 21 70.9 40
Intangibie assets 22 8.6 ) Di
Property, plant and equipment 7 ) ) 7 23 8.7 o -
Inventories ~ ’ B . 27 0.1 ) -
Trade and other receivables 28 19.5 0T
Total assets associated with businesses held for sale | 107.8 50
Trade and other payables ’ 7 30 {16.8) (55}
Current tax ) ) 31 {5.3) 7—
Deferred tax ) 7 (6.9) T
Total liabilities associated with businesses held for sale ) (29.0) Y
Net assets/(liabilities) of the disposal group ’ 78.8 i {0.5)
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21 Goodwiil
Goodwill

Note £m
Cost - - S o
At 30 September 2015 o - 966 3
Additions - B 17 381
Disposals ) 18 i 71
Classified as held-for-sale i - 20 _(147)
Exchange adjustment N 90.3
At 30 September 2016 1,073.9
Additions 17 0.4
Disposals . 8 (504 2}
Classified as held-for-sale o 20 (72.7)
Exchange adjustment i o 8.8
Aa0lceptemborzoiy, - 506.2

Goodwill

Note £m
Accumulated impairment losses o S
At 30 September 2015 o ) o 576
Impairment i 3 46 8
Disposals i o - ) B 18 (19)
Classified as held-for-sale 20 {107)
Exchange adjustment o 05
At 30 September 2016 923
Impairment A 3 117.0
Disposals - 18 (63 6}
Classified as held-for-sale 20 {1.8)
Exthange adjustment 10.8)
AtB0September2 010N R 143.1
Net book value - 2015 908 7
Net book value - 2016 981 &
Hetibooklva Veny2 017 363.1

Goodwill impairment losses recognised in the year amounted to £117.0 million (2016 £46.8 miluon).
The Group’s policy on impairment of goodwill Is set out In note 2.

Further disclosures, in accordance with paragraph 134 of {AS 36, Impairment of assets, are provided where the Group holds an individual
goodwill item relating to a cash generating unit (CGU) that s significant. The Group considers this to be the case when the goodwill carrying
value of the indwidual CGU 15 15.0% or more of the Group's total carrying value of goodwili.

Using this critena the only sigmificant items of goodwill included in the net book value above relate to Genscape, Landmark and Hobsons
in the dmg information segment.

Genscape goodwill has a carrying value of £100.5 mitlion {2016 £126 3 million) together with intangible assets with a carrying value of
£40.4 million (2016 £97.3 million) The recoverable amount of Genscape has been determined using a value in use calculation in line with
IA5 36 The methodology applied to the value in use calculations reflects past experience and external sources of information including:

{1} cash flows for the business for the following year derved from budgets for 2018. The Directors believe these to be reasonably achievabie;
(1) subsequent cash flows for four additional years increased in line with growth expectations of the business;
{n} cash flows beyond the four-year period extrapolated using a long-term nominal growth rate of 2 5%, and

(v} a pre-tax discount rate of 19.2%.

Using the above methodology the recoverable amount was lower than the carrying value by £140.3 million {2016 exceeding carrying value
by £10.3 million). Accordingly animpairment charge was recorded in the year amounting to £14¢.3 milhon.
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21 Goodwill continued

Landmark goodwill has a carrying vaiue of £80.9 million (2016 £80.9 million) together with intangible assets with a carrying value of

£22 0 million (2016 £20.5 million) The carrying value of Landmark has been determined using a value in use calculation in line with IAS 36.
The methodology applied to the value in use calculations refiects past experience and external sources of information including:

(1) cash flows for the business for the following year derived from budgets for 2018 The Directors believe these to be reasanably achievable;
(i} subsequent cash flows for two additional years increased in ine with growth expectations of the business;

(it} cash flows beyond the three-year period extrapolated using a long-term nominal growth rate of 2.0%; and

{iv) a pre-tax discount rate of 13.3%.

Using the above methodology the recoverable amount exceeded the total carrying value by £169.9 million {2016 £292.8 millien) For this
business the Directors performed a sensitivity analysis on the total carrying value of the CGU. For the recoverable amount to be equal to the
carrying value the discount rate would need to be increased by 15.47 % to 26 47% (2016 by 25.78% to 35.78%), the long-term growth rate
would need to decline by 22 69% to -20.69% (2016 by 31.51% to -28.51%), or the CGU would need to miss budget by 62.4% (2016 77.4%)}.

Hobsons goodwill has a carrying value of £69.6 million (2016 £76 1 million} together with intangible assets with a carrying value of £22.4 million
{2016 £37 4 million). The carrying value of Hobsons has been determined using a value in use calculation in line with IAS 36. The methodology
applied to the value in use calculations reflects past experience and external sources of information including:

(i) cash flows for the business for the following year derived from budgets for 2018. The Directors believe these to be reasonably achievable;
() subsequent cash flows for two additional years increased in line with growth expectations of the business;

{1i) cash flows beyond the three-year penod extrapolated using a long-term nominat growth rate of 3 0%, and

(iv) a pre-tax discount rate of 18.3%.

Using the above methodology the recoverable amount exceeded the total carrying value by £25.2 million (2016 £302 9 million) For this
business the Directors performed a sensitivity analysis on the total carrying value of the CGU. For the recoverable amount to be equal to
the carrying value the discount rate would need to be increased by 1.96% to 12.96% (2016 by 20 27% to 30.27%), the long-term growth rate
would need to decline by 2.23% to 0.77% (2016 by 24.66% to -21.66%), or the CGU would need to miss budget by 21.3% (2016 71 8%).

The impairment charge is analysed by major CGU as follows:

2017 2016
Intangible pre-tax pre-tax
Goodwill asset Recoverable discount discount
impairment impairment amount rate rate
cGu Segrnent £m £m £m % % Reason for impairment charge
Genscape  dmg information 85.6 54.7 140.9 19.2 20,0 A weaker performance than expected and a significantly

reduced forecast since March 2017 when a recovery in
revenue growth plus a reduction in costs was envisaged.
HGenscape’s financial performance however continued
to decline and new management forecasts have resulted
in a reduction in value in use and have led to the
L impairment charge.

SiteComplb  dmg information 175 6.4 0.0 183 16.7 Lower than anticipated customer demand and the
abondonment of the national retail proguct roll-out
in the second half of the year.

Xceligent  dmg information 117 298 0.0 183 250 Weaker revenues and renewal rates in the second half
of the year.

Other 22 55

Total 117.0 96.4 140.9

Recoverable amounts have been determined using value in use calculations for all of the above CGUs.

134




22 Other intangible assets

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

Market- and

Publishing custamer-related
rights, databases and
mastheads customer Computer
and titles Brands relationships software (i) Other Total
Note £m £m £m £m £m im
Cost
At 30 September 2015 2546 841 2191 376 2 10.4 944 4
Additions from business combinations 7 18 59 242 80 - 400
Other additions i - - - 386 - 10
Internally generated n - - - 583 - 583
Disposals 18 - (0.) - (50) - {5.1)
Classified as held-for-sale 20 - B 3.4} - 1.2} 4 6)
Exchange adjustment 18.6 9.4 204 521 2.0 102 5
At 30 September 2016 2751 99.3 260.3 492 5 11.2 1,1385
Additions from business combinations 17 - 01l 01 05 - a7
Other additions - - - 0.2 - 02
Internally generated f1) - - - 57.7 - 577
Disposals 18 1185 1) (48 9) 1150.9) (114 8) {47} (504 4)
Classified as held-for-sale 20 {0.2) 12 (8.0) 90 - (18 4)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 23 - - - 147 1) - {4r1)
Exchange adjustment 6.1 (0 8) 41 {76} - 1.8
ATROlSeptemben2017] 95.9 48.5 105.6 372.5 6.5 629.0
Market- and
Publishing customer-related
rights, databases and
mastheads customer Computer
and titles Brands relationships software (i} Other Total
Note £m £m £m £ £m £m
Accumulated amortisation i} ' B :77777 ,,7, i L
At 30 September 2015 1795 _ 387 112.4 1858 41 5205
Charge for the year 3 8.3 5.4 18.9 36.7 06 69.9
Impairment 3 - 5.2 0.6 - 10 68
Disposals 17,18 - - - {3.9 - 139)
Classified as held-for-sale 20 - - By B {L2) [4.3)
Exchange adjustment 9.6 5.2 11.1 23.5 0.9 503
At 30 September 2016 1974 54.5 139.9 2421 5.4 639.3
Charge for the year 3 4.1 42 137 526 1.5 761
Impairment 3 1.0 0.6 104 817 2.7 96 4
Disposals 17,18 (124 4 (13.9) {105.6) (94.8) {4.9) (343.6)
Classified as held-for-sale 20 02) 1.2) 33) (51) - (9.8)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 23 - - - {411) - 4y
Exchange adjustment 3.1 (1.0) 26 ) 62) 02 (1.3)
At 30 September 2017 810 43.2 57.7 229.2 4.9 416.0
Net book value - 2015 75.1 45.4 106.7 1904 63 423.9
Net book value - 2016 777 44.8 120.4 250.5 5.8 4592
Net book value - 2017 14.9 5.3 47.9 143.3 1.6 213.0
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22 Other intangible assets continued
(1 Computer software includes purchased and internally generated intangible assets, not forming part of a business combination, as follows:

Note £m
Cost
Ktjp September 2015 - ~ 3158
,Kdd_lt!c_ms . - 61.3
agp_)osals ) (5.0
aﬂanée adjustment B . 427
AL 30 September 2016 ] B 414 8
Kdgltlbn_s ) . ) _ 578
ELszals . ) - B (88.0)
Analysis reclassifications - (39 5)
Classified a5 held-forsale _ B - 20 74)
Exchange adjustment o (7.8)
At 30 September 2017 ) 330.0
Accumulated amortisation . o _ _
At 30 September 2015 . 166.6
a1arge forthe yéar . 7 7 . ) 27.6
Disposals ’ ) (3.9
achange adjustment ) o ) 20.2
At 30 September 2016 2105
aarge for the year h _ T sz
analrment _ - B o ’ - 578
Disposals - i 7 o {69 5)
Ealysis reclassificatrons 7 i {335
Ciassified as held-for-sale ' i 20 4.
Exchange adjustment o i (57)
At 30 September 2017 B 199.7
Net book value - 2015 149.2
Net book value - 2016 204 3
Net book value - 2017 130.3
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The following table analyses intangible assets in the course of construction included in the internally generated intangibles above, on which
no amortisation has been charged in the year since they have not been brought Into use

£m
Cost
At 30 September 2015 867
Additions 21
Projects completed ~ _ (78 0)
Exchange adjustment o B 2.6
At 30 September 2016 - o o 40.4
Additions ) _ _ o 18 4
Impairment {21.9)
Projects completed . o (16 9)
Exchange adjustment 5
FEOS e premben 017! 19.5

The Group's most significant ndividual internatly developed intangible asset is RMS(one) The development of RMS{one]} was compieted
during the prior period and the asset was transfered out of the assets in the course of construction category and amortisation commenced.
The RMS(one} intangible asset has a carrying value of £71.3 mullion (2016 £89.1 millien) which has been assessed for recoverability using

a value in use calculation in line with |AS 36, Impairment of assets. The methodology applied to the value in use calculations reflects past

experience and external sources of information including

(i) budget and forecast data which the Directors believe to be reasonably achievable,

(i) cash flows over five years post-launch;

{n) the rate at which core clients start using RMS{one) platform;

(v} a pre-tax discount rate of 17 4% for platform & software and 15.2% for models & data; and

(v} average annual growth rates of 4.0%-15.0% in the core underlying business.

Using the above methodology the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value and accordingly no impairment charge was recorded

in the year

The methodologies applied to the Group’s CGUs when testing for impairment and details of the above impairment charge are set out in note 2

The carrying values of the Group’s larger intangible assets are further analysed as follows:

At At

30 September 30 September

At At 2017 2016

30 September 30 September Remaining Remaining

2017 2016 amortisation amortisation

Carrying value Carrying value period period

Segment £m £m Years Years

RMS(one} RMS 713 89,1 4.3 58

DIIG customer relationships dmg information 22.8 26.5 1.0 8.0

Genscape intellectual property o dmg information 9.8 11.3 8.5 9.5

instant Services customer relationships dmg information 8.7 9.6 8.5 9.5

Genscape real ume power platform dmg information 5.3 5.2 4.8 58
Genscape tradenames dmg information 5.2 60 7.6 86

Petrotranz proprietary knowledge dmg information 4.5 51 7.1 81

Estate Techmical Solutions customer relationships dmg information 4.1 46 7.4 8.4

Starfish customer relationships dmg infermation 3.7 43 8.0 9.0

Higher Education student matching platform dmg mformation 3.4 02 - -
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23 Property, plant and equipment

Freeheld Longleasehold  Short leasehold Plant and
properties properties properties equipment Tatal

Note £m £m £m £m £m
Cost o B
At 30 September 2015 ) 589 08 379 2961 3937
afvned by subsidiaries acquired ’ 1w - - - _0 3 03
Addtions i - 01 13 252 272
Disposals - - - (6.9) (69}
Owned by 5-lJb5Id|ar|ES disposed B 18 - - - 11) (1.1}
Reclassifications o {1.0) - - 1.0 -
E;change adjustment - 0.2 ) 3.5 21.0 247
At 30 September 2016 579 17 427 3356 437.9
Additions ’_ - 02 19 190 _ 211
Disposals - - 0.1 01 (10 4) {10.5)
Classihed as hetd-for-sale T m - - - (215 {275)
Owned by subsidiaries disposed 18 - {1.3) {16 3) Ry @47
Transfers from intangible fixed assets - 22 - - - 471 47.1
Reclassifications 7 - - {1.6 1.6 -
Exchange adjustment o - 01 {0 3) (1.8) (2 0)
At 30 September 2017 57.9 0.6 26.3 3365 4213

Freehold Long leasehold  Short leasehold Plant and
properties properties properties equipment Total

Note £m £m im £m £m
Accumulated depreciation and impairment T B
At30 September2015 140 04 187 1785 2126
Charge for the year 3 18 0.1 3.2 311 362
Impairment ) - - - - 0.2 02
Disposals - - - {54 (5.4)
Qwned by subsidiaries disposed - - - (0.5) {05
Reclassifications - {1 Gji - - ) 16 -
Exchange adjustment B - 02 2.3 16.2 18.7
At 30 September 2016 B 142 0.7 252 T2217 261.8
Charge for the year i 3 18 01 2.8 297 34.5
Impairment ) 3 224 - 06 19.0 420
Impairment of assets held for sale ) - - - 0.4 04
Disposals - - (0.1} {01) (9.8) QQQ
Classified as hglcj fro_r sale B 20 - - - (18.8) (18 &)
Owned by subsidiaries disposed 18 - (0.6) B 19 3) (21.4) 31.3)
Transfers from intangibie fixed assets ’ 22 - - - 411 411
ﬂq55|flcatlons B - {15) 1.5 -
Exchange adjustment 01 (0.1} - {17) 17
At 30 September 2017 38.6 - 17.T 261.7 318.0
Net book value - 2015 449 04 18.2 1176 181.1
Net book value - 2016 43.7 10 17.5 113.9 176 1
Net book value - 2017 19.3 0.6 8.6 74.8 103.3
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24 Investments in joint venturcs and associates

Share of
paost-acquisition

Cost of shares retained reserves Total
Note £m £m £m
Joint ventures __ T T
At 30 September 2015 o 126 11.3) 13
Additions - cash - 03 - 03
Additions - non cash I 28 - 2.8
Disposals - T - . 21 T 21
Impairment T c.1) - (O.l-)_
Share of retained reserves - - 0.2 02
Reclassification from other debtors 2.4 {3.4) (1.0)
Transfer to investment in subsidiaries fin} - {14} {1.4)
Exchange adjustment 17 1.1} 06
At 30 September 2016 L 19.7 {14 9} 4.8
Reanalysis o 1.0 {1.0) -
Additions - cash - 03 - 03
Disposals o 7 7 - (v} {10 5) 10.5 -
Owned by subsidiaries disposed - 18 147 4.5 02)
Share of retained reserves o 7 - {05) 10.5)
Dividends received __ - i - (0.6) {0e}
mpairment I 33 - (33}
Exchange adjustment S N i 03 (06) (0 3)
R 0Centempe oLy S 2.8 {2.6) 0.2

(i) The Group received dividends from Decision First in the dmg infermation segment.

{ii} During the prior year, the dmg information segment disposed of the assets of Enralment Management Services in exchange for a 50.0%

interest in Knowlura, Inc.

{in) During the prior year the Group increased its interest in Instant Services AG, held by the dmg information segment and abtained control

(v} During the year the Group disposed of Mail Today Newspapers Pte Ltd in the dmg media segment
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24 Investments in joint veatures and associates continued
Summary aggregated financial information for the Group’s joint ventures, extracted on a 100% basis from the joint ventures’ own financiat

information, is set out below

Tatal

Operating Total Profit for comprehensive

Revenue profitf{lass) expenses the year income

Year ended 30 September 2017 B Em Em £m £m Em
dmg information 10.9 1.6 {9.5) 1.4 1.4
dmg media - (1.9} (1.9) {1.9) (1.9)
10.9 {0.3) (11.4) (0.5} (0.5)

Nen-current Current Total Current Tatal

assets assets assets liabitities liabilities Net assets.

At 30 September 2017 £m £m £m £m £m £m

dmg infarmation 0.6 3.1 3.7 {1.8) {1.6} 2.1
dmg media 7 - - - (1.9) (1.9} (1.9)

0.6 3.1 3.7 (3.5) (3.5) 0.2

Total

Operating Total Profit/{loss)  comprehensive

Revenue profit/{loss) expenses for the year income/{expense)

Year ended 30 September 2016 £m £m £m £m £m
dmg information 197 21 _ {18.3) 14 1a
Ei_romoney 01 Q1) 10.2) B 01 (H

158 2.0 (18.5) 1.3 13

Non-current Current Total Current Total Net assets/

assets assets assets liabilities babilities [Labilities)

At 30 September 2016 £m £m £m £Tm £m £m
dmg information 6.1 4.7 10.8 (2.7} (2.7) 81
Euromoney - - - 0.1) 0.1) 0.1

61 a7 10.8 (2.8) (2.8) 80

At 30 September 2017 the Group’s jomt ventures had capital commitments amounting to £nil (2016 £rul). There were no material contingent

assets (2016 none).

Information on principal joint ventures:

Description

Segment Principal activity Year ended of holding Group interest %
Unlisted - - -
The Sanborn Map Company, Inc. ) Photogrammetric mapping 30 September
{incorparated and operating in the US) dmg information and GIS data conversion 2017 Preferred stock 49.00
Knowiura, Inc. Prowider of online 30 September
(Incorporated and operating in the US) dmg information educational services 2017 Common 50.00
Daily Mail On-Air LLC {(DailyMailTV) 30 September
{(incorporated and operating in the US) dmg media Producer of DailyMailTV 2017 Common 50.00
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Share of
post-acquisition
Cost of shares retained reserves Total
Note £m £m £im
Associates - o B
At 30 September 2015 - . 1623 (20.4) 1419
Reanalysls 3.6 36 -
Additions - cash o T 4.4 - 44
Additions - non cash o o T T 0.1 - 01
Share of retained reserves o S 7 - 43 43
Dividends recerved (1) - 15.3) (53
Imparrment 7 14 - (1.4}
Transfer to investment in subsicharies 17, fii) (3.8) 17 o (Z.ﬂ
Exchange adjustment 3.4 - 34
At 30 September 2016 161 4 f16.1) 1453
Reanalysis 02 {02) -
Additions - cash 20 - 2.0
Additions - non cash Euromoney ] o 18 6131 - 613.1
Additions - non cash o 0.2 - 0.2
Share of retained reserves T = 113 o 11.3
Dividends received 0] - {35.3) a (35.3)
Impairment 7 i I (1.0 - (1.0
Deemed disposal of investment in associates - ] 18.0 o T 18.0
Transfer from available-for-sale investments o 25 _ 1.4 T 14
Transfer from derivatives ~ -~ 10.2 - w2
Disposals o 7 fin) 0.6} 0.7 0.1
Owned by subsidiaries disposed S 18 {32.4} 2.5 129.8)
Exchange adjustment T o (1.3) 0.8 {0.3)
At 30 September 2017 771.3 (36.1) 735.2

The cumulative unrecognised share of losses of the Group’s associates principally comprises £23.5 million (2016 £14 7 million) in relation to the
Group’s investment in ITN,

Joint ventures and assaciates have been accounted for under the equity method using unaudited financial information to 30 September 2017

{1} Diwidends received in the current and prior year principally relate to the Group’s investments in Zoopla (2017 £7 3 million, 2016
£5.2 million} in the dmg media segment, RGJ Destiny LLC {previously named Axiometrics LLC) (2017 £9.2 milhion, 2016 £nil) in the
dmg information segment and Euromoney (2017 £18.8 mullion, 2016 £nil} in the Euromoney segment.

{(n} Durnng the prior year the group increased its interest in Ochresoft Technologies Ltd, held by the dmg information segment, and World Bulk
Wine Exhibition $.L., held by the Euromoney segment and cbtained control.

{m} Dunng the year the Group disposed of its investment in Clipper Data in the dmg information segment and Fortunegreen, IntoStuff and
Spaceway Storage Services UK in the dmg media segment.
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24 Investments in joint ventures and associates continued
Summary aggregated financial information for the Group’s associates, extracted on a 100% basis from the associates’ own financial

information is set out below:

Other Total

Operating Profit/{loss) comprehensive comprehensive

Revenue profit/{loss) Total expenses for the year income (expense)fincome

Year ended 30 September 2017 £m £m £m £m £m £m
RMSA 3.8 (2.8} (7.5) (3.7} - {3.7)
dmg information 38.0 {10.8} {49.4) {11.4) - {11.4)
dmgevents 1.6 0.1 (1.5) 0.1 - 0.l
Euromoney 386.9 43.4 (343.7) 43,2 3.5 46,7
dmg media 379.5 49,5 (357.6) 21.9 1.1 23.0
809.8 79.4 {759.7) 50.1 4.6 54.7

Non-current Non-current

assets Current assets Total assets Current liabilities liabilities Total liabilities Net assets

At 30 September 2017 £fm £m £m £m £m £m £m
RMS 3.1 6.5 9.6 {1.3) 4.7 A_A__(GJP)_, 3.6
dmg information 16.6 36.7 53.3 {24.8) (8.5) (33.3) 20.0
dmg events - 0.3 0.3 {0.2) . - (0.2) 0.1
Euromoney 648.7 127.9 776.6 {267.5) (212.3) (479.8) 296.8
dmg media 511.5 152.5 664.0 (105.2) {436.5) (541,7) 122.3
1,179.9 323.9 1,503.8 {399.0} (662.0) (1,061.0) 442.8

Profit/{loss) for

the year and total

Operating comprehensive

Revenue profit/(loss) Total expenses incomef{expense)

Year ended 30 September 2016 £m £m £m £m
RMS L 36 09 (54) (18}
dmg |nformatronr B 358 {12.1) (49.7) (13.9)
dmgevents 09 - {0.9) -
Eurcmoney B 1059 07 {115 4} (95)
dmg media o o 3003 502 (263 3) 370
4465 379 (4347} 118

Non-current MNen-current

assets Current assets Total assets Current liabilities liabilities Total liabilities Net assets

At 30 September 2016 £m £m £m £m - 775[1! B £m £m
RAMS 34 83 117 (1.1) (3.1} 4.2 7.5
dmg information 125 523 64.8 (24.4) 6.7) {31.1) 337
dmg events - 05 05 {02) - {02) 0.3
Euromaney 505.4 58.6 564.0 {280 1) (5 3) (285 4) 2786

dmg media 3286 @6.2 414 8 (106 9) (238 8) (345.7) 891
845.9 205.9 1,055.8 {412.7) {253.9) (666 B) 3892

At 30 September 2017 the Group’s associates had capital commitments amounting to £nil (2016 £nil). There were no material contingent

liabilities (2016 none).
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Description Group

_ L §£_g_ment __m_:_(e Principal activity Year ended of holding Interest %
Listed ~ . - -
ZPG Plc (incorporated and operating 30 September
in the UK} dmg media n Online property portal 2017 Ordnary 29.84

Provider of information focused
on the global asset management,

Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC capital markets and 30 September
lincorperated and operating in the UK) Euromoney (D} commodities sectors 2017 Ordinary 4990
Unlisted
Excalibur Holdco Ltd Operator of online discount 30 September
(Incorperated and operating in the UK) _dmgmedia_ o businesses 2017 B Ordinary 23 90%
Real Capital Analytics, Inc {(incorporated Provider of real estate 30 September
and operating in the US) dmg information information 2017 Preferredstock  3973%
Independent Television News Ltd 31 December
{incorparated and operating in the UK} dmg media Independent TV news provider 2016 Ordinary 20 00%
Praedicat, Inc. {incorporated and Provision of catastrophe 30 September
operating in the US) RMS risk analytics 2017 Preferred stock 2960%
Propstack Services Private Ltd Prowvider of commercial real 31 March
{incorporated and operating in India) dmg information estate information 2017 Ordinary 21.83%

(i) The market value of the Group's investment in ZPG at 30 September 2017 was £473 7 million (2016 £426 © millien). The Group dees not
have the power to control the majority of shareholder voting nights nor the Board of Directors. With an effective interest of 29.84% the
Group has treated this investment as an asseciated undertaking.

Summary financial information for Zoopla, extracted on a 100% basis from Zoopla's own financial statements, for the year te 30 September

2017 15 set out below:

£m
Revenue ﬁ_ T 244.5
D]eae?atlon ana éhorysatlon o {18 4)
Profit from continuing operations B 53.7
Interest expense o - {56)
Tax charge _ o - (1en
Post-tax profit from operations o 374
QOther comprehensive iIncome - 11
Total comprehensive income 38.5
£m
Non-current assets B - i o 5020
Cash and cash equivalents : _ 754
Other current assets ~ B 385
Total assets 615.9
Current habitities (71 4)
Non-current liabilities L {304 6)
Total biabilities . 376 Q)
Net assets 2399
G_ro_up Interest {29.84%;) 716
Goodwill and intangibles carrying value 7 :f 376
1092

Group carrying value

{1} On 8 December 2015, the Group announced its intention to reduce its bolding in Euromoney Institutional Investor PLC {Euromoney) by the
sale of approximately 32.3 million shares in Euromoney. The sale comprised two parts: (1) a placing and (i) a buy-back by Euromoney and
subsequent cancellation of the bought back shares The effect of the sale was to reduce the Group’s holding from 67.9% of Euromoney's
1ssued share capital to 49.9% after which Euromaney ceased to be a subsidiary and 1s accounted for as an associate
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24 Investments in joint ventures and associates continued
The market value of the Group’s investment in Eurcmoney at 30 September 2017 was £627.0 million,

Summary finanaial mformation for Euromoney, extracted on a 100% basis from Euromeney’s own financial statements, for the year to
30 September 2017 15 set out below

£m
Revenue ' ] 386.9
Depreciation and amortisation B - ' {28.0}
Profit from continuing operations B B - 434
Share of results in joint uent-ures and associates (1.9)
Interest income i ) ) 33
Interest expense B 7 ) (4.1)
Tax charge ] B i 3 {34
Post-tax profit from discontinued operations B B - 5%
Post-tax profit from aperations ] ~ 43.2
Other comprehensive income i ] ) i 35
Total comprehensive income B 46 7
o £m
Non-current assets 7 6487
Cash and cash equivalents ] B 44
Other current assets 7 ) 7 i ) 1235
Total assets ) B ) 7766
Ciu;rént hiabilities i ) (2675)
Non-current liabilities i . ) {212 3)
Total lahilities {479.8)
Net assets ’ ) ) 296 8
Group interest (49.9%) B | 1481
Goodwill and intangibles carrying value ) _ ) 4498
Group carrying value 7 " 5979
25 Available-for-sale investments

Unlisted
- Note £m
At 30 September 2015 ] 138
Additions - cash ) ) ) ) 16
Disposals ) {5
Exchange adjustment 0.5
At 30 September 2016 ] 15.8
Additions - cash B B ) 194
Additions - non cash ) 18 34
Owned by subsidiaries disposed o ) 18 (5.8)
Transfer to investment in associates 24, (i) (1.4)
Impairment charge ) o 8 B {0.5)
Exchange adjustment {0.3)
At 30 September 2017 ) | 30,6

The investments above represent unlisted securities, which are recorded as non-current assets unless they are expected to be sold within
one year, In which case they are recorded as current assets. Since there is no active market upan which they are traded, unlisted securities
are recorded at cost less provision for impairment, as their fair values cannot be reliably measured.

(i} During the year, the Group acquired an additional Interest in PropStak Services Limited (PropStak), taking its overall holding to 23.17%.
By virtue of the Group’s board representation and shareholder rights the Group now has significant influence over PropStak and has
treated this investment as an associate (see note 24).
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Available-for-sale investments are analysed as follows:

At At
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
NBV NBY
Note Class of holding  Group interest % im £m
Unlisted
Yopa Property Ltd {incorporated and operating in the UK) 0] Ordinary 174 15.4 05
Brit Media, inc (lncorporated and operating In the US) {11} Ordinary 101 5.3 15
BDG Media, Inc. (iIncorporated and operating (n the US) () Common stock 28 3.2 -
Taboala.com Ltd (incerporated and operating in Israel) v Ordinary 0.4 2.0 2.0
Pascal Metrilg,ilirlicf(lnéb’rpoirafed and operating in the US) B {v) Ordinary 43 1.5 B 15
Cue Ball Capital (mcorporatea and aperating in the US) {w] Limited Partner 2.5 1.4 1.1
CompStak (incorporated and cperating in the US) funn) Ordinary 2.0 0.5 a.5
Evening Standard Ltd {incorporated and operating in the UK) T _(vn-l-j | h “Ordlnar-y N 24.9 0.3 Q0.3
Shanghai Maili Marine Technology Co Ltd (incorporated and o T
operating in China) {1x) Preferred 20.0 0.1 0.1
Other T 0.9 T 83
306 158

(1) Yopa Property provides an online estate agency service

(i} Brit Media, Inc. owns and operates an online media and e-commerce platform that provides tools to teach, inspire, and enable creativity
among women and girls.

(in} BDG Media, Inc. operates a website with news, entertainment, fashion and beauty, books and lifestyle content.

(iv) Taboola.com Limited provides a content marketing platform that provides a web widget to content creators on their website to show
contents that include relevant links within the site and from other publishers.

{v} Pascal Metrics, Inc. is used by healthcare organisations including hospitals to improve patient safety and clinical reliability by measunng
and using workforce and clinical data.

{vi) Cue ball Capital LLC 1s a venture capital and private equity firm specialising in start-ups, early-stage, mid-venture, growth equity scale-ups
and buy-out investments.

{vii) CompStak provides commercial real estate information to brokers, appraisers, researchers, landlords, lenders and investors

{vii) The Group has no Board representation and no influence over the day-to-day management of the Everung Standard Limited Accordingly
the Group has treated this investment as an available-for-sale investment

(i) Shanghal Maili Marine Technology Co Ltd provides maritime infermation services.

Interest analysis of available-for-sale investments is as follows

At At

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

£m £m

Non-interest bearing 30.6 15.8

26 Inventories

at At

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

Note £im £im

Raw matenals and consumables B o o i 7.5 70
Work In progress o 178 208
Fimshed gpods B 1.6 30
26.7 30.8
Classified as heid-for-sale B . 20 {0.1) e
26.6 30.8
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27 Trade and other receivables

At At
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Current assets )
Trade receivables ] 1704 245.9
Allowance for doubtful debts i _ o (5.1) (16.1)
165.3 2298
Prepayments and accrued income 72.2 208
Other receivables B - . 18.8 263
I | 256.3 3469
Classified as held-for-sale 20 {19.5) o)
) 236.8 345 2
Non-current assets
Trade receivables 7 ) . 3.6 80
Prepayments and accrued income B 1.3 34
Other receivables B 15.6 73
] 20.5 187
257.3 364.9
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:
At At
30 September 20 September
2017 2016
£m £m
At 30 September 2016 . (16.1) (14 6)
impairment losses recognised ) (4.3) 87
Amounts written off as uncollectable 6.6 5.1
Amounts recovered during the year 0.8 37
Owned by subsidiaries disposed o 1.9 01
Efchange adjustment o - - (1.7)
30 September 2017 {5.1) (16.1)
In determining the allowance for doubtful debts the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date
credit was initially granted up to the period end date.
Ageing of impaired trade receivables:
At At
30 September 30 September
2027 2016
£m £m
0 - 30 days T o 0.2 18
31-60days B B 0.1 0.6
61 - 90 days 0.1 13
91 - 120 days . 0.2 08
121+ days - - 4.5 116
Total 5.1 16.1

Included in the Group's trade receivables are debtors with a carrying value of £94.8 million {2016 £85.8 million} which are past due at
30 September 2017 for which no allowance has been made. The Group is not aware of any deterioration in the credit quaiity of these

customers and considers that the amounts are still recoverable.
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Ageing of past due but not impaired recevables is as follows

At At
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
_ o ) £m £m
1 - 30days overdue . o . i ) 323 356
31 - 60 days overdue - o o B 9.8 18.0
61 - 90 days overdue o o o ) o 34.3 12.0
91+ days overdue N o N 18.4 202
Total 94.8 858
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair vaiue
28 Other financial assets
At At
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m Em
Current assets B
Collateral {i) 14.5 171
14.5 171
Non-current assets
Loans to associates and joint ventures } 15.5 210
15.5 21.0

{1 The Group deposits collateral with its bank counterparties with whom it has entered into a credit support annex te an ISDA (International

Swaps and Derivatives Assoctation] Master Agreement. This represents cash that cannot be readily used in operations.

29 Cash and cash equivalents

At At
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Cash and cash equvatentss T ) 14.6 257
14.5 T ast
Cash and cash equivalents 14_.?_“ 257
Unsecured bank cverdrafts 33 {7.2) (8 2)
Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement 16 7.4 175
Anaiy;is of cash and cash equi_valents by currency: B .
Sterling 7 ) ﬁ; o 0.9 B 24
US dollar o o 2.9 2.3
Austrailan dollar j o - 0.2 0.3
Canadian dollar o B 0.4 0.8
Euro ’ T 1.7 3.9
Other - o 6.5 16.0
) N 14.6 257
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents by interest type: - ~ _
Floatl_ng rate interest 14.6 257

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents equates to their fafr values.
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30 Trade and other payables

At At
30 30 Septemb
2017 2016
- ) Note £m ) El
Current liabilities ) B
Trade payables 83.1 679
Interest payakle 14.2 14.7
Other taxation and social security ) 10,7 17.8
Other credltori ) ) 13.5 34.1
Accruals ) 154.8 2530
Deferred income 243.2 374.2
. ] 519.5 7617
Classihied as held-for-sale ] o ) 20 (16.8) (5.5)
) 502.7 756 2
Non-current liabilities ) B )
Other creditors 2.9 57
505.6 761.9
The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.
31 Current tax
At At
30 Septemb 30 Septemb
2017 2016
B Note £m £im
Corparation tax payable - ) 7.0 270
Classified as held-for-sale B ) N 20 {5.3} -
1.7 270
Corporation tax recevable {9.6) 156}
(7.9) 11 4
32 Acquisition put option commitments
At At
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
_ £m £m
Current 9.6 18.5
Non-current 7.4 263
3.0 44.8

The carrying amount of put option commitments approximates to theur faic value
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The Group’s borrowings are unsecured and are analysed as follows:
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Overdrafts Bank loans Bonds Loan notes Finance leases Tatal
£m £m £Em £m £m £m
At 30 September 2017 - B
Within one year 12 TS - 1.8 0.4 9.4
Between ane and two years __— B - 216.2 - 0.3 T 2165
Between two and five years - 46.3 105_“ - 0.2 56.5
Over fiveyears - - 1973 - = 197.3
- 46.3 423.5 - 0.5 470.3
7.2 46.3 423.5 1.8 0.9 479.7
At 30 September 2016 T T
within one year 82 - - 24 0.4 110
Between one and two years - - - - 01 01
Between two and five years o ; B 2677 2236 - 0.6 491.9
Over five years - - - 201.7 - - 201.7
o - T 7 435 3 - 07 593.7
8.2 2677 4253 24 11 7047
The Group’s borrowings are analysed by currency and interest rate type as follows:
Sterling Us dollar Total
£m £m £m
At 30 September 2017 T ) o
Fixed rate interest o T 423.5 0.9 423.5
Floating rate interest - T 28.2 271 562
- as1.7 28.0 a79.7
At 30 September 2016 T I o
Fixed rate interest - : T 4253 11 426.4
Floating rate interest - 98.9 1794 - 275:@
o T a2 1805 " 1047

The Group’s borrowings, analysed by currency and interest rate type, adjusting the principal borrowed and interest rate type by the notional
amount of interest rate swaps and by the notional amount of currency derivatives, are as foliows:

Sterling Us doltar Tatal
£m £m £m
At 30 September 2017 - - - -
Fixed rate interest - 21;.7 334.5 _ 5:92_
Floating rate interest ~ (7L3) 18 (69.5)
143.4 336.3 4797

AL30 September 2016 - - ]
Fixed rate |ntérf.£ : o 2319 _34:5‘2 -
Floating rate interest 36.0 91.6 12786
) - 2679 4368 7047
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33 Borrowings continued

Committed borrowing facilities

The Group’s bank loans bear interest charged at UBOR plus a margin The margin varies by bank and is based on the Group’s ratio of net debt
to EBITDA or the Group’s credit rating, Each committed bank facility contains covenants based on a maximum 3.75 times net debt to EBITDA
ratio and a minimum interest cover ratio of 3.0 times. EBITDA for these purposes 1s defined as the aggregate of the Group’s consclidated
operating profit including share of results of Joint ventures and associates before deducting depreciation, amortisation and impairment of
goodwill, intangibie and tangibie assets, before exceptional items and before interest and finance charges, and the ratio 1s shown in note 34.
These covenants were met at the relevant test dates during the year.

The Group’s total committed bank facilities amount to £611.4 million. Of these facilities £195.0 million are denaeminated in sterling and
£416 4 milban (US$558.0 mitlion) are denominated in US doliars. Drawings are permitted in ail major currencies

The Group's committed bank facilities analysed by maturity are as follows:

At At

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

£m £m

Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years . ~ 611.4 -
Expiring in more than two years but not more than three years ) - . 6242

Total bank facilities 611.4 6242

The following undrawn committed borrowing facilities were available te the Group in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met:

At At
30 Sep 30 Sep
2017 2016
£m £m
Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years ) 565.1 -
Expiring in more than two years but not more than three years - - 366 5
Total undrawn committed bank facilities 565.1 366.5
The Group has issued standby letters of credit amounting to £3.5 millien (2016 £3.8 miltion).
Bonds
The nominal, carrying and fair values of the Group’s bonds and the coupons payable are as follows
at at At At At At
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Fair value Fair value Carrying value Carrying value Nominal value Nominal value
Maturity Coupon % £m £m £im £im im £m
2018 5.75 3 229.4 2374 216.2 214.1 218.5 21858
2021 10.00 9.0 9.6 10.0 9.5 7.2 7.2
2027 6 375 235.8 2515 197.3 2017 200.0 200.0
474.2 458.5 423.5 4253 425.7 4257

The Group's bonds have been adjusted from their naminal values to take account of the premfa, direct issue costs, discounts and movements
in hedged nisks. The 1ssue costs, prermia and discounts are being amortised over the expected lives of the bonds using the effective interest
method The unamortised issue costs amount to £0.9 million (2016 £1.2 million) and the unamortised premia £4,1 million (2016 £6.8 million).

The fair value of the Group’s bonds have been calcuiated on the basis of quoted market rates
Further details of the Group's borrowing arrangements are set out in the Financial Review.

Loan notes
The Group has issued loan notes which attract interest at rates which range between approximately 6.0% to LIBID mirus 1.0%. The loan notes
are repayable at the option of the loan note holders with a six-month notice period and are treated as current liabilities.
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34 Financial instruments and risk management
The Group 1s exposed to credit, interest rate and currency nisks ansing in the normal course of business. Derivative financial instruments are
used to manage exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates but are not employed for speculative purposes

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital, defined as equity shareholders’ funds and net borrowings, to ensure that entities in the Group are able
to continue as going concerns for the foreseeable future

Debt management

The Group borrows an an unsecured basis and arranges its debt to ensure an appropriate matunty profile. The Group’s principal sources of
funding are the long-term sterling bond market and committed bank facilities. The Group 1s mindful of its credit rating, currently BBB- and
ensures it has sufficient committed bank facilities in order to meet short-term business requirements, after taking into account the Group’s
holding of cash and cash equivalents together with any distribution restrictions which exist. The Group aims to maximise the term and
flexibibity of indebtedness and retain headroom in the form of undrawn commutted bank facilities of approximately £100.0 mullion,
Additionally, the Group arranges 1ts currency barrowings in order that they are in proportion to the ratio of earnings in that particular currency
to total Group earnings.

The Directors consider that the Group’s bond issuances together with its bank faciities are sufficient to cover the likely medium-term cash
requirements of the Group.

Associates, joint ventures and other investments in general arrange and maintain their own financing and funding requirements in all cases
such financing 1s on a non-recourse basis to the Company

Whilst the Group's internal target of a 12-month rolling net debt to EBITDA ratio of no greater than 2.0 times at any point, the imit imposed by
its bank covenants 15 no greater than 3.75 times measured in March and September. The bank covenant ratio uses the average exchange rate
in the calculation of net debt The resultant net debt to EBITDA ratio 1s 1.38 times {2016 1 77 times) Using a closing rate basis for the valuation
of net debt, the ratio was 1 33 times (2016 1.87 times).

Cash and liquidity risk management

The Group monitors its cash balances to ensure that sufficient resources are available to meet operational requirements as they fali due.
Short-term money market deposits are used to manage iquidity whilst maximising the rate of return on cash resources, giving due
consideration to credit risk A detalled maturity analysis of both derivative and nen-derivative financial instruments are anatysed in the table
on page [+] of this note.

Market risk management
The Group's primary market nisks are interest rate fluctuations and exchange rate movements.

Interest rate risk management
The imit impesed by the Group’s bank covenants s at least 3.0 times EBITDA to net interest. The actual ratio for the year was 10 07 times
{2015 9.4 times).

Group debt is largely comprised of floating rate sterling (GBP) and US dollar {USD} bank borrowings and fixed GBP bond debt.

The Group's interest rate exposure management policy 1s aimed at reducing the exposure of the consolidated businesses to changes
In interest rates Group policy is to have 70.0% to 80 0% of interest rate exposures fixed with the balance flaating

This 1s achieved by 1ssuing fixed rate GBP bond debt and entering nto denvative contracts that economically swap fixed rate interest into
floating rate Dervatives are used to hedge or reduce the risks of interest rate and exchange rate movements and are not entered into unless
such risks exist.

To meet policy the Group

« swaps a portion of its fixed GBP bond debt into GBP floating debt using interest rate swaps;

« swaps a portion of its fixed GBP bond debt into USD fixed bond debt by using cross-currency fixed to fixed swaps;

» buys USD caps to fix 1ts USD debt; and

« enters forward contracts, selling USD and buying GBP to swap its GBP floating rate debt into USD floating rate debt.
The derivatives in place to meet Group policy are as foliows:

{1} Fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps hedging a portion of the Group’s bonds; changes in the fair value of the swaps are recogmised in
the Income Statement and at the same time the carrying value of the hedged bonds is adjusted for movements in the hedged risk to the
extent effective and those adjustments are also recognised in the Income Staternent. The notional value of these interest rate swaps
amounts to £33.1 million (2016 £73.9 millien) with the Group paying fleating rates of between 0.23% and 0 95% (2016 0.38% and 1 05%).

(n) Floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps which are not designated as hedging instruments; changes in the fair value of the swaps are
recognised in the Income Statement The notional value of these interest rate swaps amounts to USS67 0 million (2016 US$67.0 million)
with the Group receving floating US dollar interest at rates of between 0.86% and 1.33% (2016 0 35% and 0 86%).
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34 Financial instruments and risk management continued

{fl) Cross-currency fixed-to-fixed interest rate swaps. The notional value of these cross-currency swaps amounts tc £36 3 milhon/
US$155.0 million {2016 £96 3 mililen/US5155 0 milbon) resulting in the Group paying fixed US dollar interest at rates of between 5.56%
and 6.99% (2016 5.56% and 6.99%).

{iv) The Group also had a number of outstanding interest rate caps. These amounted to U55225 0 million notional (2016 US$225.0 mullion)
at rates of between 1.00% and 2.75% (2016 1.00% and 2.75%)

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value at the date the derivatives are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to
fair value at each reporting date. The fair value i1s determined by using market rates of interest and exchange as at 30 September 2017 and the
use of established estimation techrmiques such as discounted cash flow and option valuation models. The fair value of long-term borrowings
has been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at market rates,

Foreign exchange rate risk management

Translation exposures arise on the earnings and net assets of business operations 1n entities with functional currencies other than that

of the parent company The net asset exposures are economically hedged, to a significant extent, by a policy of denominating borrowings
In currencies where significant translation exposures exist, most notably US dollars.

The Group also designates currency swaps, forward contracts and US dollar bank borrowings as net investment hedges, hedging the Group’s
overseas investments.

Credit risk management
The Group’s principal credit risk relates to its trade and other receivables and non-performance by counterparties to financial
instrument contracts.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s customer base is diversified geographically and by segment with customers generaily of a good financial standing. Before
accepting any new customers, the Group assesses the potential customers’ credit quality and sets credit imits by customer The average
credit period is 32 days {2016 39 days). The Group considers the credit nsk of trade receivables to be low, although the Group remains vigilant
in the current economic climate The Group reserves the right to charge interest on overdue recervables, although the Group does not

hold collateral over any trade receivable balances. The Group makes an allowance for bad and doubtful debts specific to individual debts
This provision is reviewed regularly in conjunction with a detailed analysis of historic payment profiles and past default experience.

The Group’s receivables are stated net of allowances for doubtful debts and allowances for impairment are made where appropriate,

The maximum exposure to credit nsk from trade and other receivables at the reporting date 1s the amount of each class disclosed in the table
on page [+i.

Institutional counterparty risk

The Group seeks to limut interest rate and foreign exchange risks, described above, by the use of financial instruments. As a resuit, credit risk
arises from the potential non-performance by the counterparties to those financial instruments, which are unsecured The amount of this
credit risk is normally restricted to the amounts of any hedge gain and not the principal amount being hedged. The Group atso has a credit
exposure to counterparties for the full principal amount of cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk 1s controlled by monitoring the credit quality of these counterparties, principally licensed commaercial banks and investment banks
with strong long-term credit ratings, and of the amounts outstanding with each of them

The credit risk on short-term deposits and derivative financial instruments 1s considered low since the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings. Group policy 1s to have no more than £20.¢ milion deposited {or at nisk) with any ‘AA’ counterparty or £10.0 million for ‘A’ rated
counterparties. The Group has no significant concentration of nsk with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk from derivative assets and cash and cash equivalents at the reporting date is the amount of each class
disclosed in the table on page [s].

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as:

(i} hedges of the change in fair value of recognised assets and liahilities (far value hedges), or
{ii) hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges), or
(i} hedges of net mvestment in foreign operations {net investment hedges).

To qualify for hedge accounting, each individual hedging relationship must be expected to be effective, be designated and documented
at its inception and throughout the life of the hedge relationship.
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Fair value hedges
The Group's policy is to use interest rate swaps to convert a propeortion of its fixed rate debt to floating rates in order to hedge the interest
rate risk

Gains and losses on the borrowings and related derivatives designated as fair value hedges included in the Consclidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2017 were:

At Fair value At Fair value At

30 September  movement gain/ 30 September movement gain/ 30 September

2015 ({oss) 2016 {loss) 2017

£m £m £m £m £m

Sterling interest rate swaps ) 52 23 15 4.7) 2.8
Sterlingdebt (52) {2 3) (75) 47 (2.8)

Total - - - - -

Cash flow hedges
The Group’s policy is to use certain derivative financial instruments in order to hedge the foreign exchange nisk arising from certain firm
commitments or forecast highly probable transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant Group entity.

All cash flow hedges were effective throughout the year ended 30 September 2017.

Net investment hedges

The Group seeks to manage the foreign currency exposure arising on retranslation of the reporting entity’s share of net assets of foreign
operations at each reporting date by designating certain derivative financial instruments and foreign currency borrowings as net investment
hedging struments.

All net investrment hedges were effective threughout the year ended 20 September 2017

The Group’s derivative financial instruments, other than acquisition option commitments, and ther maturity profiles are summarised

as follows:

Derivative financial assets;

Derivatives-

Net not qualifying Option Derivative

Fair value Cash flow mvestment - for hedge over equity financial

hedges hedges hedges accounting instrument (i) assets
£m £m £m £m _&'.1 ) £m ;
At 30 September 2017 [ = 3
Within one year - - 3o - - 3.0 E.L'
Between one and two years 1.4 - - - - 1.4 E
Between two and five years 2.7 - - 0.4 - 31 o
Over five years - - - 0.1 - 0.1 E
4.1 - - 0.5 - 1.6 @

4.1 - 3.0 0.5 - 7.6

At30 September 2016 - i

whthin one year - 04 - _ _ 0.4

Between one and two years - - - ) - - -

Between two and frve years 4.4 = - o4 71 118

Over five years 16.4 - - - - 16.4

208 - T T 04 71 283

20.8 0.4 - 04 71 287

{1y During the prior year the dmg information segment purchased an option to acquire an 18 7% equity instrument in RGJ Destiny LLC
{previously named Axiometrics LLC) The option does not represent an equity interest since dmg information 1s not entitled to any
economic benefits associated with this option

The option was recognised as a dertvative asset and recorded at a fair value of £7 1 million. Changes in the fair value of this instrument
were recognised in the Consolidated Income $tatement in Financing.
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34 Financial instruments and risk management continued
Derivative financial liabilities:

Derivatives

Net not qualifying Derivative

Fair value Cash flow wmvestment for hedge financial

hedges hedges hedges accounting liabilities

£m £m £m £m £m

At 30 September 2017 }

Within one year - - {0.4) - {0.4)
Between one and two years ) ) - - {5.7) - (5.7
Between two and five years - - - - -
Over five years (1.3) - (11.8) - (ILIJ
T ) (1.3) - (17.5) - (18.8)
(1.3} - (17.9) - (19.2)
At 30 September 2016 -
Within one year ) - {9.7) (1.8) - {11.5)
Between one and two years . - {08 - - 08
Between two and five years ) ) - - {6 9) - {6 9)
Over five years ) - - {16 1) i [23.-5) (39 6)
B ) - (0.8} 230) {23.5) T @r3)
- 110.5) (24 8) (23.5) (58 8)

In managing the Group’s Interest rate and currency risks, the Group aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations. However, changes

in foreign exchange rates and interest rates may have an impact on the Group’s statutory results

At 30 September 2017 1t 1s estimated that an Increase of 1 0% in interest rates would have decreased the Group's finance costs by £3 7 miliion
(2016 £4.6 million). There would have bieen no effect on amounts recognised directly in equity. This sensitivity has been calculated by applying
the interest rate change to the Group’s variable rate borrowings, net of any interest rate swaps, at the year-end date.

At 30 September 2017 it 1s estimated that a decrease of 1.0% in interest rates would have increased the Group’s finance costs by £3.0 million
{2016 £3.8 mullion). There would have been no effect on amounts recognised directly in equity. This sensitivity has been calculated by applying
the interest rate change to the Group’s variable rate borrowings, net of any interest rate swaps, as at the year-end date,

At 30 September 2017 it is estimated that a 10.0% strengthening of sterling against the US doilar would have decreased the net loss taken
to equity by £33.2 million (2016 £50.8 million) with no change to the net gain taken to Income (2016 decreased the net loss by £2.1 million).
A 10.0 % weakening of sterling against the US dollar would have increased the net loss taken to equity by £40.5 million {2016 £60 5 million)
and increased the net gain taken to income by £0.1 million (2016 increased the net toss by £2 6 million) This sensitivity has been calculated
by applying the foreign exchange change to the Group’s financial instruments which are affected by changes in foreign exchange rates.

At 30 September 2017, it is estimated that an increase of 1.0% in the rate used to discount the expected gross vatue of payments would lead

to a decrease in the present value of acquisition put option commitments of £rl (2016 £1.0 million).

At 30 September 2017, 1t Is estimated that a decrease of 1.0% in the rate used to discount the expected gross value of payments would lead
to an Increase In the present value of acguisition put option commitments of £nil {2016 £1.0 million).
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At Year ended Year ended At Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September 30September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016
Carrying Gain/{loss) [Loss)/gain Carrying Gain/{loss) (Loss)/gain
ameunt to income 1o equity amount toincome to equity
£m £m £m im £m £Em
Investments 30.6 {0.5) {0.3) 158 - 05
Available-for-sale investments 30.6 {0.5) {0.3) 15.8 - 0.5
Trade recevables 149.4 (3-1) (r.7) 2371 0.1) 214
Other receivables 341 00 - (1.6} o322 - 11.5
Other financial assets ) 300 R 381 18 -
Cash and cash equivalents 14.6 1.0 0.1 257 0.4 4.8
Loans and receivables o o 228.1 (0.7) {3.2) 3331 2.1 37.7
Option cver equity instrument ) - 2.9 - 71 - -
Contingent consideration 0.3 - - 1.4 - 0.1
Assets at fair value through profit or loss 0.3 2.9 - 8.5 - 0.1
Interest rate swaps 4.1 (1.4) - 208 58
Forward foreign currency contracts 3.0 {1.7} (2.8) 0.4 - (9.4}
Derivative assets in effective hedging relationships 7.1 (3.1} {2.8) 212 58 4)
Interest rate swaps 0.1 1.8 - - -
Interest rate caps 0.4 - - 04 {07) -
Derivative assets not designated as hedging instruments 0.5 L8 - 04 on -
Trade payables (66.3) - 0.6 62.4) - (2.6}
Bank overdrafts (7.2) - 0.1 82 - {0 5)
Bonds (423.5) {24.2) - {425 3) (3L.1) -
Bankloans ) . (46.3) (6.6) (3.5) (267.7) {8 9) (21.6}
Loan notes B {1.8) {0.2) - 2 4) 01) {0.4)
Amounts payable under finance leases (0.9) {0.2) - 1y @1) 10.1)
Liabilities at amertised cost (546.0) {31.2) (2.8) (767 1) 40 2) {25.2)
Contlnéeﬁt consideration o (17.05 - 28.6 (0.6) o (52 6) 12.2___ 9
Liabilities at fair value throuéh profit or loss (17.0} 28.6 16.6) { 26)7 12.2 {7 5}
Interest rate swaps (1.3} - - - o -
Fixed-to-fixed cross currency swaps {17.5) {1.7} 5.5 123.0) {0.6) {18.1}
Forward foreign currency contracts {0.4) - (3.2} {12.3) (0.8} (66.6)
Derivative liabilities in effective hedging relationships {19.2) {1.7} 2.3 {35 3} {1 4) (84.7)
Acquisition put oE)_i_l-on commitments o {8.0} 7.4 (0.9) (44.8) 150 (7.5)
Interest rate swaps - - - {23 5} 179) -
Derivative liabilities not designated as hedging instruments (8.0} 1.4  (0.9) 68 3) 71 (75)
Total for financial instruments T a2z 3.5 (8.3) (544 3) (15.1) (95.0)
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34 Financial instruments and risk management continued
Reconciliation of net {loss}/gain taken to equity 15 as follows:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 Septermber
2037 2016
Note £m £m
Change in fair value of hedging deri\arati\.re_sj B 39,40 (3.7) N (96 4)
Translation of financial Instruments of overseas operations B (7.9) -
Transfer of gain on cash flow hedges from transtation reserve to the Consolidated Income
Statement B 39,40 (3.3) 22
Totat loss on financial instruments to equity (8.3) {96.0}
Reconciliation of loss taken through income to net finance costs is as follows:
Year ended Year ended
20 September 30 September
207 2016
Note £m £m
Total gain/(loss) on financial instruments to income X 3.5 (15.1)
Add back.
impairment of trade recervables } 7 31 0.1
impairment of available-for-sale assets o 8 0.5 -
Dl_\udgpd ncome 9 {0.1) -
interest receivable o B 9 (2.4) (2.5)
interest on pension scheme liabilities less expected return on pension scheme assets 10 {4.9) (4.6}
Net finance costs 10 (0.3) (21.8)
Reconciliation of amounts due under finance lease agreements is as follows:
Due in less Due between one
Total than one year and five years
At 30 September 2017 £m £m £m
Future minimum lease payments B 0.9 0.4 0.5
Present value of minimum lease payments 1.0 0.4 0.6
Due in less Due between one
Total than one year and five years
At 30 September 2016 £m im £m
Future mimimum lease payments 11 04 07
Present value of minimum lease payments 1.1 0.4 o7
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The remaining undiscounted contractual liabilities and their maturities are as follows:

Within Between one Between two Between five Bf:r‘:v::g
one year and two years and five years and ten years fifteen years Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 30 September 2017 -
Trade payables . _(e6.3) - - - - (66.3)
Bank loans - - _ (47.6) - = (47.6)
Bank overdrafts {7.3) - - - = {7.3)
Baonds (26.0) (234.3) (46.5) (260.2) - (567.0)
Loan notes {1.8) - - - - {1.8)
Finance leases (0.4} (0.3) (0.2) - ) - {0.9)
Contingent consideration {3.4) (6.9) {7.8) - - {18.1)
Acquisiticn put option commitments {0.6} - (7.4) - - (8.0}
interest rate swaps _ o 0.4 0.4 1.1 1.7 - 3.5
Currency swaps {7.2) {35.7) (16.6) {112.1) - (171.6)
Ferward contracts {36.9) - - - - {36.9)
{149.5) (276.8) {125.0) {370.6) - {921.9)
AL30 September 2016 ]
Trade péya bles ’ (62.4) - - - (62.4)
Bank loans S - - (278 2) - - (278.2)
Bank overdrafts (8.4} - - - - {84)
Bonds ) (26 0) (268 1) 63 8) 209 2) {593 1)
Loan notes ~ N 2. - - - - (24)
Finance leases 0.4} 01) o6 - - 111)
Contingent consideration (8.3} o 15.0) (385 - - (52.8)
Acguisition put option commitments {18.5) - 7 (35 4) - - (53.9)
Interest rate swaps {2.5) (2 5) ) (76) {12 &) {19) (27 1)
Currency swaps {7.4) (7 4) (48.1) {28 5) (927) {184 1)
Forward contracts (210.0) (2?1} L - - 232 1)
(347.3) {63.1) {(676.9) {104.9) {303.8) (1,495.6)

Included in the maturity table above are interest rate swaps with a notional value of US$67.0 rmullion (2016 US$67.0 million) and currency
swaps with a notional value of US$30.0 million {2016 US$90.0 million) with mutual break clauses at fair value every five years
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34 Financial instruments and risk management continued
Reconciliation of undiscounted liabilities to amounts on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is as follows:

Undisceunted Discounting
value of Discount/ and mark-  Undiscounted
financial Unamortised premium ta-market value of
liabilities Interest issue costs onissue adjustments financial asset Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 30 September 2017 )
Trade payables (66.3) - - - - - (66.3)
Bank loans (47.6) 1.3 - - - - (46.3)
Bank overdrafts (7.3} 0.1 - - - - {7.2)
Bonds {567.0} 141.4 0.9 4.1 (2.9) - (423.5)
Loan notes (1.8) - - - - - (1.8)
Finance leases {0.9) - - - - - (0.9}
Contingent consideration {18.1) - - - 1.1 - {17.0}
Acguisition put option commitments o (8.0 - - - - - (8.0)
Interest rate swaps 3.6 {3.6) - - {1.3) - {1.3)
Fixed-to-fixed cross currency swaps {171.6) 9.1 - - 2.0 143.0 (17.5)
Forward foreign currency contracts | (36.9) - - - {0.3) 36.8 (0.4)
(921.9) 148.3 0.9 4.1 {1.4) 179.8 {590.2)
At30 September2016 _ L
Trade payables (62 4) - - B - - {62.4)
Bank loans o (278 2) 105 - - - - (267.7)
Bank overdrafts _(8.4) 02 - - - - o (82)
Bonds 5w 1673 12 68 (7.5 - (425.3)
Loan notes 24 - - - - - {2.4)
Finance leases 7 7 B - o (—1.1) - - - - - (1.1)
Contlnge_n_t cpn_S[dg_r:g-thp; o (52 8) - - - 0.2 - (EZ?}
Acquisition put option commitments (539 - - - 31 B {44.8)
Interest rate swaps {271) - 2711 - - {23.5) - (23.5)
Fixed-to-fixed cross currency swaps {184.1) - 188 - - (6.5) 148.9 {23.0}
Forward foreign currency contracts (232.1) ) - - - 06 219.2 (12.3)
{1,495.6) 223.9 1.2 68 (27.7) 368 1 {923.3)
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Valuation technigues and assumptions applied for the purpose of measuring fair value
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into

levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value 1s observable

+ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadiusted) 1n active markets for identical assets or habilities;

+ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i e as prices) or indirectly (1.e. dernved from prices}; and

+ Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuaticn technigues that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based

on observable market data (unobservable inputs}

Level 1 Level 2 {i) Level 3 (ii} Total
At 30 September 2017 Note £m £ £m £m
Financial assets o T T
Available-for-sale financial assets o - 25 - - 30.6 30.6
Fair value through profit and loss B
Dervative instruments not designated n hedge o
accounting relationships - 0.5 - 0.5
Prowision for contingent censideration receivable - - 0.3 0.3
Dernvative instruments in desn_gn-aga_h:aqge accounting relationships - 7.1 - 7.1
- 7.6 30,9 38.5
Financial liabilities
Fair value through profic andloss
Provianrlfoﬂricignt|ng-eni consideration payahle 36 - - (t7.0) 7 (17.0)
Dervative instruments in desr_gnated hedge accounting relationships - {19.2) - (19.2)
- (19.2) {17.0) {36.2)
Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 30 September 2016 Note £m £m £m £m
Financial assets o T
Available-for-sale financial assets - 25 - - 158 15.8
Fair value through profit and loss L ’ n
Dervative Instruments not designated in hedge accounting g
relationships o - - 0.4 - 0.4 o
Option over equity instrument . B - - 7.1 71 "
Provision for contingent consideration recewable L - - 14 14 g
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships - 21.2 - 212 'BD
- 216 243 45.9 %
Financial liabilities
Fair value through profit and loss
Dervative instruments not designated in hedge accounting
relationships - {233 - {23.5)
Pravisian for contingent consideration payable 36 - {(52.6) (52 6)
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships - (353) - - {353)
- 58.8) (52.6) {111 4)

There were no transfers between categories in the period.

{1} The fair value of dernivative instruments Is determined using market rates of interest and exchange, and established estimation techmiques

such as discounted cash flow and opticn valuaticn models.

(i} Avallable-for-sale financial assets are recorded at cost less provision for impairment, as since there 1s no active market upen which they
are traded their fair values cannot be reliably measured. The recoverable amount 1s determined by discounting future cash flows to

present value using market interest rates,

Contingent consideration is valued based on the future profitability of the businesses to which the cantingent consideration relates,

discounted at market rates of interest.

159



Financial Statements

Financial Statements
Notes to the accounts

34 Financial instruments and risk management continued
Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurement of financial labilities 1s as follows,

Note £m
At 30 September 2015 __ ECE)
Cash paid to settle contingent consideration In respect of acquisitions 0.3
Change In fair value of contingent consideration in income - i2.3
Finance c_h_é-}ge on discounting of contingent consideration 7 B {c1
Additions to contingent consideration L - (53)
Release ofiba;f;;ﬁts made in advance in prior year o 20
Exchange adjustment L {7.5)
At 30 September 2016 - . (52 6)
Cash péﬂ, settle contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions o 36 8.2
Change In fair value of contingent consideration in income ;W _ 10 286
Add[tlgn;;z: contingent consideraticn o 36 0.5
Exchange adjustment_ L {0.8)
At 30 September 2017 ’ (17.0)

The key inputs into the significant level 3 financial labilities are the future profitability of the businesses to which the contingent consideration
relate and the discount rate. The estimated range of possible outcomes for the fair value of these liabiliies 1s £1.1 million to £233.0 million
{2016 £2 2 million te £311 3 million}.

The reduction in fair value of contingent consideration of £28.6 million {2016 £12.3 million increase} and finance charge on discounting
of contingent consideration of £nil {2016 £0.1 million) were charged or credited to the Income statement within net finance costs {note 10)

A one percentage point increase or decrease In the growth rate used in estimating the expected profits, results in the contingent consideration
lizbility at 30 September 2017 increasing or decreasing by £1.7 mullion and £1,3 million respectively (2016 £0.5 million increase and £0 6 million
decrease}, with the corresponding change to the value at 30 September 2017 charged or credited to the Consolidated Income Statement in
future periods

The rates used to discount contingent consideration range from 0.0% to 0.2% (2016 0 0% to 1.3%;. A one percentage point increase or
decrease in the discount rate used to discount the expected gross value of payments, results in the liability at 30 September 2017 decreasing
or increasing by £8.3 million and £0.1 million respectively (2016 £1 1 million and £0.3 millien), with the correspending change to the value

at 30 September 2017 charged or credited to the Consolidated Income Statement in future peniods

35 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a number of pension schemes under which contributions are paid by the employer and employees The total net pension
costs of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2017 were £18.2 million {2016 £19.9 million).

The schemes include a number of defined contrbution pension arrangements, in addition to funded defined benefit pension arrangements
which are closed to future accrual. The defined benefit schemes in the UK, together with some defined contribution plans, are administered
by Trustees or Trustee Companies

Defined benefit schemes

Background

The Company operates two main defined benefit schemes, the Harmsworth Pension Scheme {HPS} and the Semior Executive Pension Scheme
(SEPF), both of which are closed 1o new entrants and to further accrual.

full actuanal valuations of the defined benefit schemes are carried out triennially by the scheme actuary. Prior to its closure to future
accrual on 1 January 2016, the Group made annual contributions of 12.0% or 18.0% of members’ basic pay (depending on membership
section} to HPS. Following the results of the latest trienmial valuation as at 31 March 2016, the Company agreed a Recovery Plan involving
a series of annual funding payments, of £13.0 million on 5 October 2016 to 2018, £16.2 million on 5 October 2019 to 2025 and £76.2 million
on 5 Gctober 2026. The Company considers that these contribution rates are sufficient to eliminate any deficit over the agreed period
This Recovery Plan will be reviewed at the next triennial funding valuation of the main schemes which 1s due to be completed with an
effective date of 31 March 2019.

In addition the Company has agreed with the Trustees that, should it make any permenant reductions in the Company’s capital, including
share buy-backs, it will make additional contributions to the schermes amounting to 20.0% of the capital reduction. Contributions of Enil
{2016 £3.5 million) relating to this agreement were made in the year to 30 September 2017.

160



Daily Mail and General Trust ple Annual Report 2017

Limited Partnership investment vehicle

HPS owns a beneficial interest in a Limited Partnership investment vehicle (LP). The LP has been designed to facilitate annual payments of
£10.8 million as part of the deficit funding payments descrnibed above over the period to 2026. In addition, the LP 15 required to make a final
payment to the scheme of £14% 9 million, or the funding deficit within the scheme on an ongoing actuanal valuation basis, at the end of
the period te 2026 1f this s less. The Recavery Plan above assumes £60 0 million of the £149 9 mullion final payment is required. For funding
purposes, the interest of HPS in the LP 15 treated as an asset of the scheme and reduces the actuarial deficit within the scheme However,
under 1AS 19, Employee benefits, the LP is not included as an asset of the scheme and therefore 1s not included in the disclosures below

The Trustee has developed a comprehensive approach to managing the Scheme’s investment strategy to ensure it 1s always aligned with
the Strategic Plan of becoming fully funded on a gilts+0 5% funding basis by 2028. This approach 1s defined in the Trustee’s Strategic Plan
whose overnding objective Is to set ocut a framework for reducing investment nisk as and when the improvement in the Scheme’s funding
positien allows.

This framework defines a senes of tnggers which present opportunities for the Trustee to reduce nisk either by reducing the allecation to
return seeking assets, such as equities and increasing the interest rate and mflation hedge or a combination of the two

The figures in this note are based on calculations using membership data as at 30 September 2017 along with asset valuations and cash flow
information from the schemes for the year to 30 September 2017.

A reconciliation of the net pension obligation reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 1s showrt in the following table:

At At At At

30 September 30 September At 30 September 30 September At

2017 2017 30 September 2016 2016 30 September

Schemes Schemes 2017 Schemes Schemes 2016

in surplus in deficit Total in surplus in deficit Total

£m £m fm £m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit cbligation (2,631.9) {58.8) {2,690.7) (2968 (2,7021) - {2,998

Assets at fair value 2,705.3 47.8 2,753.1 3369 24160 2,752 9
Surplus/ideficit] reported in the Consolidated

Statement of Financial Positicn 73.4 (11.0} 62.4 40.1 (286 1) (246 0)

The 1AS 18 accounting surplus/ideficit} data above differs to the triennial actuanal surplus/{deficit) calcuiation used in the assessment of
future funding obligations There are a number of reasons for this ~ the actuarial valution 15 as at the Schemes’ year end date of 31 March
and is calculated triennially based on more prudent assumptions including those covening discount rates and mortality 1AS 18 requires the
Company to use best estimate assumptions

The international Financial Reporting Interpretations Commuttee, inits docurment IFRIC 14, has interpreted the extent to which a company
can recognise a pensicn surplus on its Statement of Financial Position.

In relation to HPS and the SEPF, having taken account of the rules of the Schemes, the Company has an unconditional right to a refund of any
surplus under IFRIC 14 and considers that the recognition of surpluses in these Schemes on 1ts Statement of Financial Position 1s in accordance
with the interpretations of IFRIC 14 In relation to the AVC, having taken account of the rules of the Scheme, the Company does not have an
unconditional nght to a refund under IFRIC14. However, at 20 September 2017 the AVC Plan showed a deficit and no contributions are payable
into the AVC Plan. Therefare no asset ceiling needs to be applied to restrict surplus on the balance sheet and no additional minimum funding
lhiability 1s needed under IFRIC 14.

IFRIC 14 15 in the process of being revised which may lead to a reassessment of the Company’s recognition of any pensien surplus on its
Statement of Financial Position.

The surplus/{deficit) for the year, set out above, excludes a related deferred tax asset of £9 9 million {2016 £42.8 million).
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35 Retirement benefit obligations continued
A reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation is shown in the following table:

!ear ended Year ended

T 2017 30ep 2016

Note £m £m

ﬁefined benefit obligation at start of year {2,998.9) (2,437.4)
Attnibutabie to subsidianes disposed ) ) 18 72.2 -
éurrent service cost - {L7)
Current service cost in respect of salary sacnfice - {0.6}
Interest cost ’ {62.6) (88 3)
Net benefit payments ) " 106.8 104.0

Actuarial gam/(lossl as a result of. ) ’

- changes in financial assdmptions ) | 39, 40 140.7 {720.3)
s changes in demographic assumptions i B 39, 40 ) 47.3 T 274
- membership experience ) 35,40 3.8 118.0
Defined benefit obilganonrat end of year {2,690.7} (2,998.5}

A reconciliation of the far value of assets is shown in the following table:

Year ended

Year ended
30 Sept 305 b

2017 T 2016

Note £m £m

;a!r value of assets at start of year - - : i 2,752.9 2,278 1
Attributable to subsidiaries disposed 18 (71.1) T
Interest income on scheme assets - - - 5.7 83_7
Companyrw[ons - ) . 15 ) 13.1 ) E
Net benefit payments ) i ] (106.8) (104—.0)
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest iIncome on scheme assets 39,40 107.3 4607
Fair value of assets at end of year 7 2,753.1 B 2,?SZT
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September

2017 2017 2016 2016

Note £m % £m Yo

Q_uotgequ_mes_ - (1) Eonshmergoodi_aﬁeﬂes_ 131.9 4.8 162.2 5.9
- Financials__ 166.3 6.0 1883 6.8
- Healthcare o 52.1 L9 61.2 2.2
Industrials ] B 157.2 5.7 1877 68

Technolog;t anditelecommumcations’ L 8.7 2.9 978 B 36

Private equlty-;r_md |F1f-rast_ructure - - - - - -

Other - 698 25 9Ll EE

Unquoted equities (1l Censumer goods and services 409 15 453 776
Financials 33.4 12 310 I

- Healthcare 35.0 1.3 388 14
o Industrials 109.3 4.0 109.2 40
_ Technology and telecommunications 58.9 2.1 T Texs 23
Private equity and infrastructure 67.9 2.5 628 2.3

] ~_ Other 36.9 13 38 14
Bong§/Cr£ci|t o (n)  Government gilts 4.9 0.2 5.7 0.2
S Investment grade 422.7 15.4 277.0 o 101
o Non-investment grade 321.0 11.7 2908 _ 108
LD () Quoted 1.7 o4 - -
o - Unquoted 495.6 18.0 617.0 224
Property (v Industnal 70.0 2.5 524 19
- Retall - 73.2 27 672 23
. oOffice 102.2 3.7 77 26

B - Letsure/Mixed . 154.4 5.6 104.5 38
~ Forests 0.0 0.0 10 04
T other - 14.4 0.5 13.9 05
Other assets Quoted - - 44.5 1.6 574 21
~ Unquoted - - - 2.3 01

Total Quoted - 1,139.7 41.4 1,128.4 a0
Unquoted . 1,613.3 58.6 1,624 5 59.0

Total 2,753.1 100.0 2,152 9 100.0

il Equities include hedge funds and infrastructure funds. Quoted securities in active markets are vaiued at the latest available bid price

at the reporting date.

Private equity and infrastructure funds are valued by investrment managers using appropriate valuation techniques. These are derved
from market based multiples and discount rates of comparable quoted businesses or market transactions which have been determined
by the Trustees’ investment advisors to represent fair value.

{iy Bonds and credit assets include corporate bonds, distressed credit and loans. Corporate bonds are held in unitised pooled investment
vehicles and are valued at the latest available bid price provided by the pooled investment manager. Distressed credit and toans are

valued by the investment managers using relevant valuation techmques.

i

Liability Driven Investment funds (LDI) are a collateralised portfolio of gilt repo and swap contracts designed to hedge circa 50% (by value

of assets) of the scheme’s inflahion and discount rate risks These are independently valued using quoted prices and for OTC instruments
by the investment manager using recognised discounting techrugues,

(v} The Schemes’ property pertfolio represent a mixture of industrial , retail, office and leisure. These assets are independently valued at
open market value at 31 March each year with subsequent changes in value based on changes in the Investment Proprty Databank Index
(IFD) which tracks retail, office and industnal property transactions

The value of employer-related assets held an behalf of the schemes at 30 September 2017 was £nil {0 0 % of assets), (2016 £nil, 0.0 % of assets).
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35 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The main financial assumptions are shown in the following tabie:

Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

% %

Price inflation 3.2¢ 2.95
Pension increases 3.00 . 280

Discount rate 2.60 2.15

The discount rate for both scheme Liabilities and the fair value of scheme assets reflects yields at the year-end date on high-quality corporate
bonds and are based on a cash flow-based yreld curve, calculating a single equivalent discount rate reflecting the average duration of the
schemes’ liabilities, rounded 1o the nearest 0.05% p.a. This methodology incorporates bonds given an AA rating from at least two of the main
four rating agencies (Standard and Poors, Moody’s, Fitch and DBRS)

RPI inflation 1s denved in a similar way to the discount rate but with reference to the Bank of England spot curve at the duration of the schermes’
weighted averaged duration with an appropriate allowance for inflation risk premium (0.20% p.a ), rounded to the nearest 0.05% p.a..

Mortality assumptions take account of scheme experience, and also allow for further improvements in life expectancy based on the
Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) projections but with a iong-term rate of improvement in future mortality rates of 1.25% p.a.
Allowance 1s made for the extent to which employees have chosen to commute part of their pension for cash at retirement

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 1s approximately 20 years (2016 20 years).

The table below illustrates examples of the assumed average (ife expectancies from age 60 for the principal schemes

Year ended

Year ended
30 Sep 205 b

2017 T 2016
Future life Future life
expectancy expectancy
fram age 60 from age 60
(years) (years)
For acurrent 60-year-old male member of the scheme - 26.4 265
For a current $0-year-old female member of the scheme B i 28.3 286
For a current 50-year-old male member of the scheme . ) . i 26.8 272
For a current 50-year-oid female member of the scheme 29.2 29.8

The amounts charged to the Consolidated Income Statement relating to the Group's defined benefit schemes, based on the above
assumptions are shown in the following table:

Year ended Year ended
30 Septemb 30 Septemb

2017 2016

i Note £m fm
Current service cost - 1.7}
Current service cost In respect of salary sacrifice ) - (s
Charge to operating profit - (2.3}
Finance cost 10 (4.9) (46)
Total charge to the Consolidated Income Statement (4.9) (6 9)
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Pension costs and the size of any pension surplius or deficit are sensitive to the assumptions adepted The table below indicates the effect
from changes in the principal assumptions used abaove:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September
2017 2016
£m £m
Mortality o
Increase In pension obligation at 30 September 2017 from a cne-year increase In life expectancy 78.9 89.4
Change in pension cost from a one-year increase +/- 0.1 19
Inflation Fite T T T
Decrease in r_;enswon obligation at 30 Sepﬁten?ﬁeriﬁi? from a 0.1% p.a. increase o 46.5 54.1
Change in pension cost from a 0 19 p a. increase +f- 0.8 1.1
Discount rate
Decrease in pension obligation at 30 Septernber 2017 from a 0 1% p a decrease 53.2 617
Change in pension cost froma 0 1% p a decrease +/- 0.6 10

There are significant risks in connection with running defined benefit schemes, and the key risks are highlighted below

Inflation rate risk

A significant proportion of the defined benefit cbligation 1s iinked to inflation, therefore increased inflation wall result in a higher pension
obligations. The Trustees have sought to acquire certain assets with exposure to inflationary uplifts in order to negate a proportion of this risk,
inciuding the LDl investment funds which reduce this rnisk by 50.0%.

Life expectancy risk

The present value of the defined benefit obligation 1s calculated with reference te the best estimate of the mortaiity of scheme members.
Anincrease in assumed life expectancy will result in an increase in the defined benefit obligation. Regular reviews of mortality experience
are performed to ensure life expectancy assumptions remain appropnate.

Investment risk

lhisis a measure of the uncertainty that the return on the schemes’ assets meet the return necessary to fund pension obligations

The schemes hold a significant proportion of equities, but during the period have been reallocating some of these investrments into credit
and property investments which exhibit lower volatility of return and the LDIhinvestments

Discount rate risk

The present value of the defined benefit obligation 1s calculated using a discount rate set with reference to high-quality corporate bond yields.
A decrease In corporate bond yields will increase the present value of the defined benefit obligation, although this will be partially offset

by the LD! investment funds which reduce the gilt rate nsk by 50.0% and an increase in the value of corporate bonds held by the schemes.

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) are shown in the following table:

Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

£m £m

Actuarial gain/(lossirecognised in SGﬁCIV L B 299.1 1114.7)
Impact of asset ceilingon AVC Plan o o o - -
Total gain/{loss) recogrused in SOCI o 299.1 {1147
Cumulative actuanal loss recogrised in SOCI at beginning of year ) . _(151.9) 136 7)
Cumulative actuanial gain/(loss) recognised in SOCI at end of year 147.7 (151 4)
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35 Retirement benefit obligations continued
A history of experience gains and losses is shown in the following table:

At At At At At

30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 3 October

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

£m £m £m Em £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation (2,690.7) [2,998.9) (2,437.4) (2,381.9) 7§§31_ES_9_7')
Fair value of scheme assets 2,753.1 2,152 9 2,278 1 2,170.1 1,962.0
Combined surplus/{deficit) in schemes 62.4 {246.0) (159 3) {211.8) (207.7)
Experience adjustments on defined benefit obligation 191.8 (574 9) (47 0) (195.7) (73.8)
Experience adjustments on fair value of scheme assets 107.3 460.2 545 145.8 168.1

The Group expects to cantnbute approximately £13.0 million to the schemes during the year to 30 September 2018 inciuding the deficit

funding payments described above.

UK defined contribution plans

The Group has introduced a number of PensionSaver group personal pension plans that have replaced the trust-based defined contnbution
pension plans previously offered to employees. These plans create a consistent pensions savings vehicle across all Group segments. The
benefits for atll members of the trust-based plans have been transferred to individual policies held in the member’s own name and the scheme
is now wound up. Insured death benefits previously held under this trust have already been transferred to a new trust-based arrangement

specifically for ife assurance purposes.

The aggregate value of the Group personal pension plans was £130.5 milhon (2016 £105.4 million) at the year end The pension cost
attributable to these plans duning the year amounted to £13.1 million (2016 £14.0 mullion).

Overseas pension plans

Overseas subsidiaries of certain Group segments operate defined contribution retirement benefit plans, primanly in North America.
The pension cost attributable to these plans during the year amounts to £4.5 million {2016 £4.2 million)

36 Provisions

Contract Claims
discounts Coupon Onerous Reorganisation Contingent and
and rebates discount leases costs consideration legal Other (1) Total

Note £m £m £m £Em im £m £m £&m
Current liabilities o _ﬂ__—
At 30 September 2015 S 256 1.0 18 49 52 34 11, 53.2
Owned by subsidianes acquired 17 ),, B - - - - - - _.l ) 0.1
Additions 7 - - - - 13 - - 13
Charged during year 17.6 T - 50 - 4.6 316 30.8
Utilised during year [22.4) 0.4) S KQ:B) 4 9) - (32) {1.5) (33.2)
Owned by subsidiaries disposed 18 - - - - - 0.9} {0.9)
Transfer (to)/from non-current liabilities - - Q.5 - 1.8 - 08} 15
Reclassification of amounts held in escrow - - - - - (-2. - - 2.0
Contingent consideration paid 17 - - - - (03 - - {0.3)
Fair value adjustment to contingent o
consideration 10 - - - - 2.2 - 22
Exchange agjustment 01 - - 0.1 11 - 04 17
At 30 September 2016 _ 20.9 0.6 1.5 5.1 9.3 4.8 12. 54.4
Additions o - - - - 0.1 - - or
Charged during year T 207 EECE ~ 13c 06 338
Utilised during year 121.9) - {0.6) 38 - 92) (35) (38.8)
Owned by subsidiaries dispoesed 18 - - c.2) - - - 01) 03)
Transfer {to)/from non-current habilities - - 0.4 N 5.3 - o4 61
Contingent consideration paid 17 - - - - - ’(8.2) - - {82)
Fair value adjustment to contingent
consideration 10 - - - - 33 - - {3.3)
Exchange adjustment - - 0.2 {0.1} 0.2 {0 3) 10.2) i02)
At 30 September 2017 19.7 0.5 0.8 1.5 3.4 8.3 9.4 436
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Onerous Reorganisation Cantingent
leases costs consideration Legal Other {i) Total
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-¢urrent liabilities B ) -
At 30 September 2015 79 01 491 - 39 510
Additions 17 - - 40 - = 40
Charged during year - - - - 07 07
Utilised during year - 34 010 - - 0.1) (3.6
Transfer (to)/from current liabilities {0.5) - {1.8) - 0.8 (1.5)
Notional interest on contingent consideration o 10 - - o1 - - 01
Fair value adjustment to contingent consideration 0 - - {14y - - {14.5)
Exchange adjustment 0.1 N 6.4 - 0l 66
At 30 September 2016 - a1 - 433 - 54 BE
Additions v - - s - - 05
Charged during year B - - - - - 03 03
Utilised during year - - - - 01 01
Owned by subsidiaries disposed 18 (0.5) - - - (27) (3.2)
Transfer {to}/from current habilities - [0 4) o - 53 - {0.4) 51
Fair value adjustment to contingent consideration 10 - - (23 3) - - {25.3)
Exchange adjustment 7 0.1 _ - 04 - (53) o2
A 0lceptembe 01y 33 - 13.6 - 2.2 19.1

(i) Other current provisions principally comprise provisions for VAT of £1 8 million (2016 £1 1 mullion), end of service provisicn

sof £3.1 million

(2016 £2.1 million), dilapidation provisions of £2.3 million (2016 £2 1 milhion} and provisions for the future funding of a joint venture of £nil

{2016 £1.3 million).

Other non-current provisions principally compnse dilapidation provisions of £0.9 million {2016 £3.8 million), end of service provisions
amounting to £0.5 million {2016 £nil) and a provision for amounts payable to the Newspaper Society following the cessation of

membership on disposal of Northchiffe Newspapers Ltd in 2012 of £0.8 mullion {2016 £0.8 million)

The matunity profile of the Group’s contingent consideration prowvision is as follows

At At

30 September 30 September

2017 2016

£m £m

Expinng in one year or less N . 3.4 9.3
Expiring between one and two years - 5.8 5.1
Expiring between two and five years L 1.8 38.2
171.0 52.6

The contingent consideration 1s based on future business valuations and profit multiples and has been estimated using availa
forecasts, The estimated range of undiscounted outcames for contingent consideration relating te acquisitions in the year s £

ble data
nil to

£1.1 million. Certain contingent consideration arrangements are not capped since they are based on future business performance
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37 Deferred taxation

Accelerated Goodwiliand Trading Pension
capital intangible Share-based  Deferred losses and scheme

allowances assets payments interest tax credits deficit Other Total

Note £m £im £m £m £m £m £m £m

Disclosed within nan-current habilities (0.2) (38.1) - 29 48 0.4 .1 {24.1)
Disclosed within non-current assets 3186 {91.1) 144 1446 19.4 427 6.5 168.1
At 30 September 2015 314 (129.2) 144 1475 24 2 431 12.6 144.0
Credit/(charge) to ncome 11 68 (5.5) 01 (28 8) 9.2 13 189 2.0
Credit to equity ) 39, 40 - - 14 - - 6.4 14 9.2
Owned by subsidiaries acquired ) - (6.8) - - - - - 68)
E)wned by subsidiaries sold {0.2) - - - - - (0.2} (0.4)
Exchange adjustment 1.0 {14.5) 14 12.2 50 - 05 5.6
At 30 September 2016 390 {156.0) 1.3 1309 384 50.8 33.2 1536
Disclosed within non-current iabilities - (23.9) - ) - 03 - 0.2) (23.8)
Disclosed within nan-current assets 39.0 (132.1) 173 1309 381 508 334 1774
Credit/ficharge) to Income 11, 4) 12.9 437 (55) 92 6) (5 4) (6.4) (3.7) (57.0)
Charge to equity 39,40 - - {04y - i - {49 3) - (49.7)
Owned by subsidiaries sold 18 (0.5) 36.2 101 (43) (5.4) (1.7) (13.8) 10.6
Classified as held-for-sale 20 0.7 7.6 - - - - (1.4) 6.9
Exchange adjustment - 10.2) - - 01} - (0.3) (0.6)
At 30 September 2017 52.1 {68.T) 11.3 34.0 27.5 (6.6) 14.2 63.8
Disclosed within non-current liabilities 8.6 (61.9} 9.5 - 19.1 - 12.6 (12.1)
Disclosed within non-current assets 43.5 {6.8) 1.8 34.0 8.4 {6.6) 1.6 75.9
At 30 September 2017 52.1 {68.7) 11.3 34.0 27.5 (6.6) 14.2 63.8

{1} All attributable to continuing operations.

The net deferred tax asset disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in respect of deferred interest, tax losses and tax

credits 1s analysed as follows:

UK

Rest of Europe
North America

Ajstralia

At At
30 b 30 b
2027 2016
£Em Em
41.2 552
1.5 15
18.3 1016
B - 1.0
61.5 169.3

These losses have been recognised on the basis that the Directors are of the opinion, based on recent and forecast trading, that sufficient
suitable taxable profits will be generated in the relevant territories in future accounting periods, such that it is considered prohable that these
assets will be recovered. Of these assets £18.8 miilion (2016 £21.1 million} have expiry dates between 2017 and 2036.

Included within other deferred tax are £nil (2016 £1.7 muliion) in respect of financial instruments. The £nil credit to equity (2016 £1.4 million}

relates entirely to financial instruments.

There 1s an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £75.4 million (2016 £72.2 million) which relates to revenue losses and £131.4 miliion
{2016 £34.3 million) which relates to deferred interest where there is insufficient certainty that these losses will be utilised in the foreseeable
future. There 1s an additional unprovided deferred tax asset relating to capital losses carried forward of £127.4 million (2016 £131.2 million)

Of these assets £40.1 million {2016 £42.7 million) have expiry dates between 2022 and 2036.

No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of £58.8 million {2016 £321.5 million) relating to the unremitted earnings

of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that they
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The temporary differences at 30 September 2017 represent only the unremitted earnings of those
overseas subsidiaries where remittance to the UK of those earnings may still result in a tax liability, principally as a result of dividend
withholding taxes levied by the overseas tax Jurisdictions in which these subsidiaries operate.

168



38 Called-up share capital

Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

Allotted, iSsucdf  Aflotted, issued

and fullyjpaid] and fully paid

At 30 Septermberg At 30 September

20186

£em

Ordinary Shares of 12 5 pence each 2.5
A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares of 12 5 pence each - o 42.8 42 8
45.3 453

Allotted, issued

Allotted, issued

and fully paid and fully paid

At 30 September At 30 September

2017 2016

Number Number

of shares of shares

Ordinary Shares e S o 19,890,364 1,890,364
A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares i 342,204,470 342,204,470
362,094,834 362,094,834

The two classes of shares are equal in all respects, except that the A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares do not have voting nghts and hence their
holders are not entitled to vote at general meetings of the Company,

A recenciliation of the movements in the number of shares during the year 1s provided below:

A Ordinary

Ordinary Non-Voting

Shares Shares

At 30 September 2016 and at 30 September 2017 19,890,364 342,204,470
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39 Reserves

Year ended Year ended
30 - 30 ber
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Share premium account
At start and end of the year 17.8 178
Capital redemption reserve
At start of year 5.0 49
On cancellation of A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares - t1
At end of year 5.0 50
OQwn shares
At stari?yéér S (88.7) (76.3)
Purchase of DMGT shares 38, (i} {28.6) (29.8)
Disposaﬂ:fié;c;uprsh;e ofTEEEJFr{c;\e; own shares acquired 18 14.1 -
Own shan;é}ﬁeﬁageoiqr{ ygsgﬁéﬁéf?siﬁé}g options o 0] 38.9 109
On cancellation ofAiordlrnary Non-Voting Shares T (i - 5.5
At end of year (64.3) (88.7)

The Group’s investment in its own shares represents shares held in treasury or shares held by an employee benefit trust to satisfy
incentive schemes.

() During the year the Company utilised 5.3 million A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares in order to satisfy incentive schemes, This represented

1.6% of the catled-up A Ordinary Non-Voting Share capital at 30 September 2017.

(i} The Company also purchased 3.9 million A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares having a nominal value of £0.5 miliion to match obligations under

incentive plans. The consideration paid for these shares was £28 6 million.

(ini

During the prior period the Company cancelled 0.9 million A Ordinary Non-Voting shares held in treasury.

At 30 September 2017, this investment comprised 4,812,419 A Grdinary Non-Voting Shares {2016 5,000,000 shares) held in treasury and
3,710,764 A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares {2016 4,887,935 shares) held in the employee benefit trust. The market value of the Treasury
Shares at 30 September 2017 was £31.2 million {2016 £37.2 million) and the market value of the shares held in the employee benefit trust

at 30 September 2017 was £24.1 million {2016 £36.4 million).

The employee benefit trust is independently managed and purchases shares in order to satisfy outstanding share options and potential

awards under long-term incentive plans.

At 30 September 2017 options were cutstanding under the terms of the Company’s Executive Share Option Schemes, Long-Term Incentive

Plans and nil-cost options, over a total of 4,052,581 A Ordinary Non-Voting Shares (2016 5,841,614 shares).

Year ended
30 Sep b

Year ended
0 Sep b

2017 2016
Note £m £m

Translation reserve T T
At start of year B T 11.9 {25 9)
Foreign exchange differences on translation of foreign bbgfatlons 8.7 116.0
Translation reserves recycled to Consolidated Income Statement on disposals 7 T Ejé, 19 49.4 {0.4)
Transfer of loss on cash flow hedges from translation reserve to Consolidated Income Statement 2.2 15
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges o (1.8) (6.4)
Gain/{loss} on hedges of net investments in foreign operations 4.5 (729)
At end of year S 74.9 L8

170



Daily Mail and General Trust plc Annual Report 2017

The translation reserve arises on the translation into sterling of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations, offset by changes in fair value

ot financial iInstruments used to hedge this exposure.

Year ended Year ended
30 september 30 September
2017 2016
Nete £m £m
Retained earnings B
At start of year 355.8 335.0
Profit for the year - 345.3 204.2
Dividends paid ) 12 (r8.3) (76.4)
Expenses incurred in relation to scheme of arrangement o
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension schemes . 3B 296.4 {112.0)
Credit to equity for share-based payments 15 4.0 158
Settlement of exe